The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 104 *Series Editors:* Damià Barceló · Andrey G. Kostianoy

Manuel Jerold Santhiagu Arockiasamy Velmurugan Sivasubramanian *Editors*

Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation

Valorization and Management Techniques



The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Volume 104

Founding Editor: Otto Hutzinger

Series Editors: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Editorial Board Members: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C. Jones, Thomas P. Knepper, Abdelazim M. Negm, Alice Newton, Duc Long Nghiem, Sergi Garcia-Segura In over three decades, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has established itself as the premier reference source, providing sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Written by leading experts with practical experience in the field, the series continues to be essential reading for environmental scientists as well as for environmental managers and decision-makers in industry, government, agencies and public-interest groups.

Two distinguished Series Editors, internationally renowned volume editors as well as a prestigious Editorial Board safeguard publication of volumes according to high scientific standards.

Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches in topical volumes, the scope of the series covers topics such as

- local and global changes of natural environment and climate
- anthropogenic impact on the environment
- water, air and soil pollution
- remediation and waste characterization
- environmental contaminants
- biogeochemistry and geoecology
- chemical reactions and processes
- chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment
- environmental modeling

A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

The Handbook of Envir onmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via http://link.springer.com/bookseries/698. Articles are published online as soon as they have been reviewed and approved for publication.

Meeting the needs of the scientific community, publication of volumes in subseries has been discontinued to achieve a broader scope for the series as a whole.

Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation

Valorization and Management Techniques

Volume Editors: Manuel Jerold · Santhiagu Arockiasamy · Velmurugan Sivasubramanian

With contributions by

A. Annam Renita · K. Bisaria · B. Dhandapani · A. A. Gado ·
I. Ganesh Moorthy · R. T. Kapoor · G. Kulshreshtha · S. Mahadevan ·
T. Mehrotra · M. Minimol · M. Muthuchamy · A. Muthukumar ·
R. Muthuraj · S. Niju · S. R. Ravichandran · M. B. Saidutta ·
K. J. Samuel P N · K. Sankar · K. V. V. Satyannarayana ·
M. Sengottian · P. Senthil Kumar · V. Shetty K · V. Shetty Kodialbail ·
R. Singh · S. Sinha · M. R. Soosai · S. Sophia · B. Srinivasan ·
M. Swathika · E. Thangaraju · T. M. Thompson · C. D. Venkatachalam ·
R. Vinoth Kumar · D. Vishnu



Editors Manuel Jerold Department of Biotechnology National Institute of Technology Warangal Warangal, Telangana, India

Velmurugan Sivasubramanian Department of Chemical Engineering National Institute of Technology Calicut Kozhikode, Kerala, India Santhiagu Arockiasamy School of Biotechnology National Institute of Technology Calicut Kozhikode, Kerala, India

ISSN 1867-979X ISSN 1616-864X (electronic) The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISBN 978-3-030-57910-4 ISBN 978-3-030-57911-1 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-57911-1

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Series Editors

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcgam@cid.csic.es

Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky Pr. 117997 Moscow, Russia and S.Yu. Witte Moscow University Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@gmail.com*

Editorial Board Members

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer VU University Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues Université de Bordeaux, Talence Cedex, France Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu Guangdong Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, Shantou, Guangdong, China Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones Lancaster University, Lancaster, UK Prof. Dr. Thomas P. Knepper Hochschule Fresenius, Idstein, Hessen, Germany Prof. Dr. Abdelazim M. Negm Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt Prof. Dr. Alice Newton University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal Prof. Dr. Duc Long Nghiem University of Technology Sydney, Broadway, NSW, Australia Prof. Dr. Sergi Garcia-Segura Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA

Series Preface

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last four decades, as reflected in the more than 150 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via www.springerlink.com/content/110354/. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editors-in-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Series Editors

Preface

The current generation society is moving ahead from the primordial conception of "take, make, and dispose of" to "reuse and recovery" of potentially available resources to attain a "healthy-wealthy environment" and "prospective socioeconomics." Bioprocessing is a key platform in the establishment of circular bioeconomy through the valorization of biowaste, organic residuals, and bio-industrial side streams into value-added products of low cost and sustainable aspects. Waste biorefinery is gaining more attention nowadays because waste is used as the renewable feedstock for the recovery of bioproducts and bioenergy by means of sustainable biotechnology. The traditional approach of waste management is focused on the removal or reduction of pollutants to protect the environment and mammals from the harmful effects. However, scientific advancement has led to the remediation that can be pursued by using waste as an alternative feedstock toward refining the waste for the recovery of the valuable resource products. In a nutshell, all kinds of wastes including solid, liquid, and gas have inbuilt potential resources that can be valorized for the development of bio-based products and biofuels through an intensive bioprocess cascade system that enables the transformation toward a low-carbon circular bioeconomy. Therefore, circular bioeconomy paves way for the reuse, recycle, and remanufacture via the idea of utilizing the bio-based materials for the production of high-value products and fuels. The perception of biorefinery is similar to the petroleum refineries in which an array of bioproducts is derived from biomass feedstocks. Thereby, biorefinery is the integration of several components such as itinerary of bioconversion, bioprocess design, and equipment development for the sustainable processing of biomass into a spectrum of marketable value-added products like biomaterials, biochemicals, and bioenergy. Bioprocessing and biorefinery have gained a successful routine for the bioremediation. In order to enhance the proper utilization and recovery of value-added products from biowaste and organic waste products, there is a need for detailed and broad-spectrum technical knowledge. This book "Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques" conceived keeping view of the social importance to deliver the available up-to-date technical

information to the researchers and engineers working on bioremediation and pollution control. The content of the book is the net outcome of eminent researchers and academicians in the field of biotechnology and chemical engineering. Today, more focus is given to green techniques and technology to overcome the limitations of conventional methods and reduce the global level pollution.

This book contains 14 chapters related to bioprocess and biochemical engineering and its application in bioremediation. More focus is given to address the solid and liquid waste management. This book highlights the importance of waste valorization in a sustainable and eco-friendly approach. The readers would be able to gather more information on biomass valorization in a cost-effective method. Herein, in this book, algal biomass and its diversified value-added products such as biofuel, bioplastics, bioactive compounds, biosorbents, and nano biopolymer are reviewed in detail. Lignocellulosic biomass, a second-generation biofuel feedstock, is reviewed and explained to explore for the production of sustainable green fuels. Further, agricultural biomass valorization for organic acid production using microbial bioprocessing is reported in detail with recent advancements. Few other chapters related to biological wastewater treatment, bioleaching of e-waste, and phytoremediation of soil for metal and organic pollutant removal are added to give an outline about the green techniques in waste management. This book also gives information about the municipal solid waste supercritical water gasification technology. Hydrothermal liquefaction technology, considered as an emerging method in the conversion of biomass into fuels and fine chemicals and seen as green remediation, will also give a detailed knowledge on biomass valorization. In a nutshell, this book is an interdisciplinary work focused on green chemistry that will give essential information on R&D perspective to the readers working on sustainable bioremediation specialization. Moreover, this book is written by reputed authors from various technical institutions based on their expertise and research outcomes. So, we believe this book will be a driving force for the young budding engineers as well for the experts searching for the valorization and waste management techniques. Interestingly, this book will address the treatment of waste using advanced bioprocess techniques. Therefore, the readers would be happy to find the alternative approach to the conventional chemical methods in an eco-friendly route. It is assured that this book will be a handbook for students, researchers, academicians, and engineers who are involved in various scientific areas related to waste management. Today, waste management is a challengeable task for the public as well as for the private sectors. We ensure our book would provide an affordable and innovative method of bioremediation for the present scenario.

Warangal, India Kozhikode, India Kozhikode, India Manuel Jerold Santhiagu Arockiasamy Velmurugan Sivasubramanian

Contents

Membrane Technology in Bioprocess Engineering Randeep Singh, K. V. V. Satyannarayana, R. Vinoth Kumar, and I. Ganesh Moorthy	1
Process Engineering Aspects in Bioleaching of Metals from Electronic Waste	27
M. Minimol, Vidya Shetty K, and M. B. Saidutta	
Phytoremediation of Soil for Metal and Organic Pollutant Removal Sedevino Sophia and Vidya Shetty Kodialbail	45
Recent Advances in Organic Acid Production from Microbial Sources by Utilizing Agricultural By-Products as Substrates for Industrial	
Applications	67
Lignocellulosic Sugarcane Tops for Bioethanol Production:	89
Subramaniapillai Niju and Mani Swathika	07
Recent Developments in Food-Based Bioplastics Production Babuskin Srinivasan and Garima Kulshreshtha	107
Valorization of Waste Algal Boom for Value-Added Products A. Annam Renita and P. Senthil Kumar	129
Algal Biomass for Biofuels and Bioproducts Babuskin Srinivasan and Garima Kulshreshtha	139
Applications and Efficacy of Exceptional Bioactive Compounds from Microalgae	161
Surbhi Sinha, Kavya Bisaria, Tithi Mehrotra, and Rachana Singh	

Supercritical Water Gasification (SCWG) Technology for MunicipalSolid Waste (MSW) TreatmentA. A. Gado, Anbazhagi Muthukumar, Muthukumar Muthuchamy,and Terrell M. Thompson	177
Hydrothermal Conversion of Biomass into Fuel and Fine Chemicals Chitra Devi Venkatachalam, Mothil Sengottian, and Sathish Raam Ravichandran	201
Biopolymer-Based Nanofibrous Membrane for Water Purification Treatment	225
Material and Process Selection for Biosorption	241
Removal of Acid Magenta Dye by Fly Ash: A Sustainable Tool for Textile Effluent Treatment	261

Membrane Technology in Bioprocess Engineering



Randeep Singh, K. V. V. Satyannarayana, R. Vinoth Kumar, and I. Ganesh Moorthy

Contents

1	Intro	duction	2	
2	Membrane Types and Their Importance in Bioprocesses			
	2.1	Pressure-Driven Membrane Separation Processes	5	
	2.2	Concentration-Driven Membrane Separation Processes	7	
3	Membrane Processes for Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology			
	3.1	Virus Purification	8	
	3.2	Sterilization	9	
	3.3	Racemic and Azeotropic Separations	10	
	3.4	Filtration of Valuable Products	11	
	3.5	Hemodialysis	12	
4	Membrane Processes for Food Industries			
	4.1	Protein Purification and Concentration	13	
	4.2	Fruit Juice Clarification	14	
	4.3	Skim Milk and Cheese Production	15	
	4.4	Milk Sterilization	16	
	4.5	Beer and Wine Production	16	
5	Future Perspectives of Membranes in Bioprocess Engineering			
	5.1	Artificial Organs	19	
	5.2	Drug Delivery	20	

Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Guwahati, Guwahati, Assam, India

e-mail: er.randeepsingh12@gmail.com

K. V. V. Satyannarayana and R. Vinoth Kumar Department of Chemical Engineering, National Institute of Technology Andhra Pradesh, Tadepalligudem, Andhra Pradesh, India

I. Ganesh Moorthy

Department of Biotechnology, Kamaraj College of Engineering and Technology, Virudhunagar, Tamil Nadu, India

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 1–26, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_505, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 7 July 2020

R. Singh (🖂)

Institute of Environmental Engineering and Management, National Taipei University of Technology, Taipei, Taiwan

	5.3	Stimuli-Responsive Membranes	22
6	Sum	nary	24
Re	ferenc	es	24

Abstract This chapter discusses about the role of membrane processes, namely, microfiltration, ultrafiltration, nanofiltration, and reverse osmosis in the field of bioprocess engineering. Membrane processes are widely accepted and used techniques in separation and filtration applications because of their unique and beneficial properties, such as low cost, environment friendliness, ease to scale up, ease to integrate with other processes, and compactness. Therefore, their use and implementation in various fields of bioprocess engineering helps in saving a lot of energy and resources. The basic concept and fundamentals along with the classification of different types of membranes and membrane systems are explained with suitable examples. The important applications of membrane technology in various fields of bioprocess engineering, such as food, pharmaceuticals, and biotechnology, are also discussed along with their advantages over other conventional separation techniques. The main applications where membrane processes proved their worth are virus purification, sterilization of heat labile products, concentration of food and dairy products, separation and filtration of racemic and azeotropic mixtures, fruit juice clarification, and beer and wine production. Hence, this chapter provides complete details about the importance, applications, and benefits of membrane technology in the field of bioprocess engineering.

Keywords Bioprocess engineering, Membrane separation processes, Membrane systems, Membrane technology, Separation and filtration

1 Introduction

The basic definition of a membrane states that a membrane is a thin barrier present between two phases that allow selective passage of components under the influence of an appropriate driving force [1]. Initially, membranes are employed on analytical scale; however, the advancements in the field of membrane science increase their use in commercial processes. These advancements and developments in membrane technology brought a dramatic change in the field of separation science due to the exceptional advantages associated with membrane separation processes. The conventional separation processes are failed by membrane separation processes due to their ease to use, no additional chemical requirements, exceptional product quality, energy efficiency, effectiveness, economical, and environment friendliness. Nowadays, membranes are widely used in various industries and processes, such as food, pharmaceutical (pharma), biotechnology (biotech), desalination, and separation and purification of industrial effluents [1-3].

The reason behind the importance and integration of membranes in the field of bioprocess engineering lies in the fact that membranes are capable to carry out significant amount of work in different processes and applications under different capacities in fermenters and bioreactors, such as gas transport, transfer of selective nutrients, separation and purification of value-added products, as sensors to analyze the concentration of analyte, downstream processing of proteins and other products, and for sterilization of heat labile compounds. Downstream applications of membranes include sterile filtrations of buffer, gases, and end products. Membrane chromatography can be used for purification of raw materials and products. Further, upstream applications include sterile filtrations of fermenter media, pH controllable solutions, and gases, such as air and oxygen. Membrane filters with 0.1 µm pore size can provide retention of mycoplasma and larger organisms, and tangential flow microfiltration is used for medium exchange [4]. The different membrane separation processes, such as microfiltration, ultrafiltration, reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, pervaporation, and electrodialysis are playing important role in various capacities in different industrial and commercial applications [5]. Enantiomeric separations, artificial organs, hemodialysis, milk and fruit juice clarification, protein purification, beverage production, and drug delivery are few of the important applications where membrane separation processes are employed for effective and efficient operations [6].

This chapter discusses in detail about the role of membrane science in the field of bioprocess engineering by explaining various applications. Further, basics of membranes are discussed in the initial sections of the chapter, and emphasis is given on the types of membranes based on the driving force. Later, the membrane processes in different bioprocess industries by giving selective examples of various applications are explained for better understanding. Lastly, the future of membrane separation processes in the field of bioprocess engineering is explained with relative topics and examples.

2 Membrane Types and Their Importance in Bioprocesses

The membranes are classified mainly based upon their nature, structure, and separation principle or mechanism. Structurally, membranes are either symmetric or asymmetric [1]. Furthermore, symmetric membranes can be porous, dense, and charged. The porous membranes, as the name suggests, consist of voids and pores. The porous membranes follow size exclusion principle for separation of the feed components. Microfiltration and ultrafiltration are two common examples of membrane separation processes where porous membranes are used. Dense membranes, as the name suggests, are nonporous membranes. The separation of feed components takes place by diffusion mechanism in nonporous membranes. The driving force for the diffusion of the feed components may be pressure, concentration, temperature, magnetic, or electrical potential gradient. Nanofiltration and gas separation are two commonly used membrane separation processes to employ dense membranes. On the other hand, charged membranes consist of a charge (negative or positive) and may be porous or dense depending upon the application. Again, the separation mechanism is diffusion and selectivity based upon the charges present on the membrane and feed particles. Electrodialysis is the most common example to use charged membranes.

Microfiltration membrane separations are mainly used for separation, removal, and concentration of cells and bacteria. Microfiltration membranes are being used for retains cells and cell debris while allowing proteins and other small solutes to pass into filtrate [4]. These are used for the removal of contaminants and particulates from solutions in advance of chromatographic processing and for the clarification of monoclonal antibody solutions. The microfiltration membranes are especially sterile filtrations, and they do not concern the quality of the product or solutions. Sterile membrane processes are the most important from an economical point of view [7]. Ultrafiltration is extensively applied in biopharmaceutical industries to concentrate and diafilter biological particles, commonly proteins. The membrane selection generally depends on the cleanability and compatibility. Ultrafiltration membranes are typically used in cross-flow filtration devices. Membranes are used extensively throughout the production, purification, and formulating biotechnological products. Ultrafiltration membranes are used when there is requirement of high retention of protein and other big size molecules (macromolecules) and used for highperformance tangential flow filtrations (HPTFF) [4]. Membrane chromatography modules are the new technology in the field of pharmaceuticals. Membrane chromatography can be used for purification of products and materials, e.g., the separation of endotoxins from raw materials before using them in downstream processing. The removal rates of these membranes depend on adsorptive and size-based retention mechanism [8]. Diafiltration and ultrafiltration are used for removal of thymidine and glycine. Virus filtrations used to protect cell cultures and introduction of viral contaminants into medical raw materials [4].

Asymmetric membranes consist of two layers of different thickness, pore sizes, and porosity [1]. The top layer is a dense membrane with thickness in the range of $0.1-0.5 \mu m$. In contrast, the bottom layer consists of a porous membrane of thickness in the range of 50–150 μm . The top dense layer offers selectivity, and strength is given by the porous bottom layer [6, 9]. The bottom layer is kept porous so as to reduce the flux resistance. The asymmetric membranes are named differently based upon their constituents. For example, layers formed of two different materials are known as composite membranes. Furthermore, the layers can be optimized independently based upon the requirements. Asymmetric membranes are the most commonly used membranes in various membrane separation processes due to their advantages of selectivity, productivity, and life span.

Furthermore, membrane processes are classified based upon their mechanism of separation as reported in Table 1. The different categories are explained below.

Membrane process	Feed phase- permeate phase	Driving force	Size of retained compounds	Type of retained compounds
Microfiltration (MF)	L-L	ΔP	0.1–100 μm	Fine solids, bacteria
Ultrafiltration (UF)	L-L	ΔΡ	5 nm to 100 µm	Suspended solids, viruses, natural organic matter
Nanofiltration (NF)	L-L	ΔΡ	1 nm to 100 µm	Surfactants, dyes, sugars, inorganics
Reverse osmosis (RO)	L-L	ΔΡ	0.1 nm to 100 µm	Minerals, metal ions salts
Pervaporation	L-G	ΔΡ	0.5 nm to 100 µm	Liquids
Dialysis	L-L	ΔC	-	-
Electrodialysis	L-L	$\Delta \phi$	-	Ions
Membrane distillation	L-L	ΔΤ	-	Liquids

Table 1 Membrane processes are classified based upon their mechanism of separation

L-L liquid-liquid, *G-G* gas-gas, *L-G* liquid-gas, ΔP pressure difference, ΔC concentration difference, $\Delta \phi$ electric potential difference, ΔT temperature difference



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of pressure-driven membrane separation processes [1] (Reproduced with permission from Taylor and Francis)

2.1 Pressure-Driven Membrane Separation Processes

The membrane separation processes where pressure acts as the driving force are known as pressure-driven membrane separation processes [1]. The common examples of pressure-driven membrane separation processes are microfiltration, ultrafiltration, nanofiltration, and reverse osmosis. Figure 1 shows a representative pressure-driven membrane separation process. These membrane separation processes are commonly used in various bioprocess-associated industries, such as biotechnology, chemical, pharmaceutical, food, and dairy. The membranes used in these membrane separation processes are either polymeric, ceramic, or metallic. Furthermore, these processes are classified based upon the pore size, charge, or pressure range used. The overall membrane separation efficiency (MS_e) depends upon various factors, such as feed and membrane type, feed particle size, and



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of flow pattern of membrane separation processes

physicochemical process parameters. These factors give rise to total membrane resistance (R_t). Further, it can be calculated by using the following relation.

$$MS_e = 1 - \frac{P_c}{F_c} \tag{1}$$

where MS_e represents the membrane separation efficiency (%), P_c the permeate concentration (mg/L), and F_c the feed concentration (mg/L).

The membrane separation efficiency lies in between 50 and 90% for various industrial processes. The total membrane resistance can be calculated by using the following relation.

$$R_{\rm t} = R_{\rm r} + R_{\rm ir} \tag{2}$$

where R_r represents the reversible membrane resistance and R_{ir} the irreversible resistance. The reversible and irreversible resistances are also due to the reversible and irreversible membrane fouling, respectively. The reversible fouling as can be deciphered from the name is removable by simple hydraulic washings. However, irreversible fouling, as the name suggests, is difficult to get rid of from the membranes and lastingly adds to the total membrane resistance.

There are two types of flow patterns and filtration arrangements in UF and MF membranes as shown in Fig. 2 [1]:

Dead-End Filtration In a dead-end filtration system, the feed flow is perpendicular to the membrane surface. The solute or the rejected particles remain on the membrane, forming a gel or cake layer. This phenomenon enhances the accumulation of particles on the membrane surface and causes increase in membrane resistance. The resistance can only be minimized by applying pressure to maintain the flow.

Cross-Flow Filtration In the cross-flow filtration arrangement, feed flows in the parallel direction to the membrane surface. Most of the retained particles or the solutes are swept away with the flowing feed side liquid. Recirculation of the retentate to enhance the concentration can be achieved in this arrangement. This flow pattern involves less or negligible accumulation of solid particles on the membrane and is favored.

2.2 Concentration-Driven Membrane Separation Processes

Concentration-driven membrane separation processes are the membrane separation processes where concentration is the driving force [1]. The concentration and pressure-driven membrane separation processes are similar in function with only difference that in concentration-driven membrane separation processes the permeant's chemical activity remains the same on the feed side and decreases drastically on the permeate side. However, in case of pressure-driven membrane separation processes, the chemical activity of the permeant increases on the feed side on application of increased pressure. Gas separation, pervaporation, and dialysis are some of the common examples of concentration-driven membrane separation processes [1, 2]. Figure 3 represents a concentration-driven membrane separation processes.



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of concentration-driven membrane separation process (Pervaporation) [1] (Reproduced with permission from Taylor and Francis)

3 Membrane Processes for Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are major users of membrane science due to their specific requirements and advantages associated with membranes. In this section, some of the applications of membranes in the field of pharma and biotech industries are discussed for better insights into the use and advantages of membranes. Major applications of membranes in pharma and biotech sector are based on the filtration and separation of heat labile compounds and purification of blood and other liquids. In addition to biotechnological industry, membranes can also be used in biomedicine. Further, biotechnological products can be produced with recombinant DNA technology. Transgenic animals and plants are modern alternatives of common animals and plants to produce quality animal and plant products, such as milk, eggs, corn, and tobacco [4].

3.1 Virus Purification

Centrifugation and ultrafiltration techniques were frequently employed techniques for the virus purification in the bioprocesses; however; both techniques are labor intensive, time taking, and expensive. In the last decade, membrane chromatography was widely utilized for the purification of viruses due to several limitations on using the traditional resin chromatography. The separation can be achieved owing to distinctive chemical/physical properties of defective/inactive and bioactive virus particles in the membrane chromatography technique. It was reported that the binding capacity of membrane adsorber is strongly influenced by the size of the biomolecules, which demonstrated using thyroglobulin (MW 660 kDa, ~20 nm), Aedes aegyptidensonucleosis virus (AeDNV, ~20 nm), lysozyme (MW 14 kDa), and bovine serum albumin (MW 67 kDa) [10]. The membrane ligand density can also be related by the effect of biomolecule size on ligand accessibility within the pores of the membrane. In order to achieve the enhanced purification of the recovered virus, ligand density can be reduced appropriately [11]. In the membrane chromatography, specific factors related to viruses, including point of zero charge (PZC) and affinity, may decide the separation characteristics and type of the ligand and capture. Bioactivity of separated viruses and mobile phase conditions may be altered while using chemicals to remove the virus particles from the membrane adsorbers [12]. The decrement in the ion strength (pH) of the mobile phase results in the infection of baculovirus. Most importantly, virus purification required proper protections of virus structure and production of attenuated viral vaccine [13].

3.1.1 Purification of Biologicals

Membrane filtrations are preferred because of low costs and increased process performance in case of large-scale productions and thickening of bacterial toxins. In the direction of keeping production costs, the following two filtration steps are needed [7]:

- 1. Fermentation broth is required to be clarified by using microfilterable membranes.
- 2. Toxins should be concentrated by ultrafiltration.

In comparison to organic membranes, inorganic membranes have high chemical, mechanical, biological, and thermal resistances. Also, they have a long life, low membrane friction, and high performance of filtration [14]. Bacterial toxins must be purified and detoxified by formalin or heat to get toxoid as product. High flux, regeneration capacity, and along life cycle are needed to reduce necessary membrane area, which further reduces the overall process costs. Regarding these requirements, ceramic membranes are well suitable for biologicals. Apart from this membrane fouling is a major problem.

Stationary phases for purification of big molecules have designed as membranes and monoliths. Their advantages lie in their ability to be used at high flowrates, while exceeding the conventional flow rates. Adsorptive and monoliths are disposable and scalable, which eliminates the needs for cleaning and sterilization. ATMPs (advanced therapy medicinal products) are upcoming class of biologicals for gene therapy and tissue paper repair including cancer treatment. All these molecules, cells, and VLPs (virus-like particles) require extensive purification to meet regulatory standards. Therefore, this membrane-based technology is promising, especially for its efficiency in downstream processes [14].

3.2 Sterilization

The reagents and compounds, such as antigens, antibodies, enzymes, human plasma fractions, parenteral drugs, vaccines, and culture medias, are required to be sterilized in the field of bioprocess engineering. Additionally, these reagents and compounds are generally heat and pressure sensitive. Therefore, conventional sterilization methods, such as heat sterilization, are not suitable for their sterilization. Henceforth, membrane separation technique proves to be the best sterilization solution for such reagents and compounds. However, the separation and purification indirectly the sterilization via membrane separation process should be perfect because in case single microorganism or impurity may spoil the whole compound completely. For example, if a single microorganism is permeated across the membranes, then overnight it can grow into thousands. Furthermore, the clinical data shows that particulate matter present in IV solutions points to severe health risks, such as clotting resulting in the direct blood vessel blocking or partial arteries occlusion.

Thus, US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) strictly regulated the conditions of mean porosity (0.45 μ m) of the membranes for the sterilization of parenteral drugs.

Additionally, membranes are also used to sterilize the air and gases used for various applications in the health care industry. The harmful microorganisms and particulate matter are removed from the air or gas to make it deemed to be fit for use. Furthermore, FDA also recommended the installation of air vents and filters at places where microorganisms are handled or controlled environment is required, which is the requirement of bioprocess engineering in various processing and manufacturing processes of different products. Similarly, this explains the use of vent filters as retentive filters in case of bioreactors and fermenters.

The sterilization of the membranes is also important and should have capabilities to be installed aseptically. Otherwise, they can infect the feed to be sterilized. Further, the membranes should be tested for their cleanliness and sanitization prior to use. This demand gives rise to the development of autoclavable and sterilizable membranes for their continuous use and reuse. It is also important to note that for gas and liquid separations, hydrophobic and hydrophilic membranes are recommended, respectively. However, the hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity of the membranes depend upon the nature of the feed.

3.3 Racemic and Azeotropic Separations

Sugars and amino acids are important part of bioprocess engineering. They are key components and starting material for many important products of bioprocess industry. Therefore, there separation and purification are important as they are required to be in their purest of form for the product formation. There are several separation processes, including membrane separation processes, that can be used for their separation and purification. However, the problem arises when they are present in their chiral form. This means that the sugars or amino acids are present in their two different enantiomer forms. Further, these enantiomers of a material consist of similar crystalline states and chemical qualities. Thus, it is difficult to separate such compounds with conventional separation processes. Also, only one of the enantiomer of the compound is useful toward a particular function, and the other might have weak functionality or would be toxic. For example, thalidomide is a racemic drug used during pregnancy for the cure of nausea. The dexter (D) form of thalidomide being a safe sedative is useful. However, its laevus (L) form results in birth defects and deformities.

Membrane separation processes, such as pervaporation, ultrafiltration, and liquid membranes are suitable for the separation of racemic and azeotropic mixtures [1, 2]. The membranes used for this purpose are either enantioselective or non-enantioselective. The difference between the two types of membranes is that the enantioselective membranes are made up of enantioselector components, such as antibodies, antigens, and enzymes. On the other hand, non-enantioselective membranes are normal membranes integrated with other chiral separation processes.

Further, the enantioselective membranes are either inherent or functionalized chiral. The difference lies in the fact that chiral materials, such as diphenylacetylenes, disubstituted acetylene, and norbornadiene, are used to synthesize the inherent chiral membranes and functionalized chiral membranes, as the name suggests are functionalized with chiral materials. The enantioselector components show affinity toward a selective enantiomer. Therefore, the enantioselective membranes are capable of selectively separating enantiomers effectively and efficiently without any outside assistance. The enantioselectors are incorporated into the membranes by grafting, in case of pervaporation or ultrafiltration membranes and immobilization, in case of liquid membranes. Further, the enantioselective membranes based on their mechanism of separation can be categorized into diffusion enantioselective and adsorption enantioselective membranes. The inherent chiral and functionalized chiral membranes come under diffusion and adsorption enantioselective membranes category, respectively. The chiral materials present in the inherent membranes support the diffusion enantioselective mechanism of separation, and on the other hand, the chiral materials present on the functionalized chiral membranes aids in adsorption enantioselective mechanism.

3.4 Filtration of Valuable Products

Membrane technology is capable of extracting all the available reserves from a source in an efficient and effective manner. Therefore, the use of membranes for the filtration and separation of value-added products from different sources is highly recommended. The best example is the separation of whey protein from milk during cheese production [1]. Whey which is a byproduct of cheese production due to its high oxygen demand is used to create a huge disposal problem. However, with the use of membrane science, this waste is used for the extraction of whey protein which is an energy-rich nutrient and widely used for its nutrient values. Additionally, lactose is produced from the whey permeate by using different membrane separation processes, such as reverse osmosis. Similarly, in beverages industry membrane processes are used for the recovery of microorganisms (e.g., yeast) from the bottom of the fermenters for their reuse. In case of beer industry, this process of yeast recovery also revives 1% of the total beer produced in a year, which used to get wasted at the bottom of the fermenters. Therefore, not only the microorganisms used for fermentation of the beverages are recovered but also the remaining beverages left at the bottom of the fermenters. Thus, membrane processes are important for the filtration, separation, and recovery of the valuable products.

Furthermore, the membrane separation processes are efficient in the separation of heat labile products. Therefore, the valuable products will not be denatured or harmed during their filtration and separation. Thus, the valuable products will be available in their natural form and flavor. This is one of the important advantages of using membrane separation processes for the filtration, separation, and recovery of valuable products from different processes and source. These are some of the reasons that membrane separation processes are nowadays widely used in different bioprocess engineering applications. Further, the use of membrane science will increase many folds in coming years due to the fast growth, advancement, and development in the field of membrane science.

3.5 Hemodialysis

Hemodialysis, as the name suggests, is the dialysis of blood. This procedure is required in case kidney failure occurs in a person. Membranes imitating physiological functions and superior hemocompatibility are desirable. Additionally, enhanced flux and selectivity along with better antifouling nature are the prerequisites. These membrane properties improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the membranes in a hemodialysis process. Therefore, novel membranes with improved hemocompatibility, self-cleaning, and flux are required to be developed. Similarly, there is a need to develop membrane materials with desired properties because these materials are solely responsible for the prerequisite membrane properties.

In early stages of development, hydrophobic membranes of polymers, such as polyamide, polyacrylonitrile, polyarylethersulfone, and polysulfone, are used [1]. These membranes are researched for enhancing the permeability for better purification rate. However, with time and progress in the field of membrane science, focus is given to the development of hemocompatible membranes with improved flux and antifouling behavior. Presently, main focus is on the development of living membranes that can imitate complete functions of the natural organs. Researchers working on this domain developed renal tubule cell assist device (RAD) that can imitate functions of a natural kidney. Membranes are used to adhere human renal cells to mimic a kidney and carry out other physiological functions of a kidney, such as managing metabolic activities and endocrine processes, including separation and purification. Hemofilter along with the RAD device is used as an artificial kidney performing separation, purification, metabolic and endocrine activities, and reabsorption of useful nutrients [1].

Membrane technology is advancing at a very good pace; therefore, membranebased techniques are both safe and secure. Henceforth, hemodialysis a membranebased procedure is also in its advanced stages. Mainly because of the developments in the ancillary equipments and the inclusion of automation in the devices responsible for safety. Therefore, the improvements in the membranes, water quality, dialysate, and computer controls makes hemodialysis a fully automatic and safe to operate procedure. The progress and growth in hemodialysis procedure help to improve the survival rate. Therefore, there is immense scope of development in the field of membrane science for the betterment of health and life.

4 Membrane Processes for Food Industries

This section discusses about the importance and use of membranes in different applications of food industry. Membranes are employed for the separation and purification of food products, such as proteins, fruit juice, milk, and other beverages. In this section, the role and use of membranes for the separation and purification of these food products are discussed in detail.

4.1 Protein Purification and Concentration

The membrane separation processes, especially ultrafiltration, are widely used for the protein separation, purification, and concentration [1]. This section is divided into following subsections for better understanding of the topic.

Protein Concentration

Membrane processes separate proteins from a feed, and the resultant remains is the protein concentrate. This helps in recovering of protein in its intact form and from any dilute feed. Additionally, protein content is adjusted with the help of membranes in pharmaceutical formulations. The conventional processes of protein purification, such as chromatography, crystallization, and precipitation, can be employed after the step consisting of membrane processes. This will help in keeping the natural form and composition of the proteins intact. In addition to this, it also makes the whole process economical.

Protein Desalting

The solution containing proteins also contains salts and some impurities. Therefore, membrane separation processes are also employed for the desalting of the protein solution. This results in the protein of pure quality. Membrane separation processes can also be used in combination with other salt removal techniques, such as salt-induced precipitation in case the salt concentration is very high. This combination is useful as high salt concentrations result in fouling of the membranes.

Protein Purification

Proteins are separated from other impurities, such as bacteria, viruses, salts, and other unwanted compounds; this results in proteins with high quality and quantity in their intact form. Nowadays, ultrafiltration membranes are commonly used for the separation of prions.

Protein Fractionation

In case two or more numbers of proteins are present in a solution, then membrane separation processes are used for the separation of one protein from other. This process of protein separation from each other is known as protein fractionation. The major factors playing important role in protein fractionation are pH and ionic

strength of the solution, protein-protein and protein-membrane interactions, and flux and mass transfer across the membrane.

The protein purification and concentration are carried out in the above mentioned steps by using membrane separation processes. The major advantages of using membranes in protein purification and concentration are that they are efficient, effective, economical, and consume low energy.

4.2 Fruit Juice Clarification

Fruit juices are rich in cellulose, protein, fibers, pectin, polysaccharides, lignin, gum, and starch including many other constituents. The fruit juice is very cloudy and viscous due to the presence of these compositions. The processed fruit juices should have the following requirements for consumer satisfactoriness: (1) fruit juice with low viscosity and higher clarity, (2) should have natural flavor, (3) and long shelf life of the juice. Several separation and conservation methods have been in use to make the treated fruit juice more concentrative for the consumers [1].

Membrane separation techniques are one of the most profitable methods, as they do not require addition of any chemical agents and it is a room temperature process. Additionally, they need low maintenance to maintain the original flavor, taste, smell, and nutritional parameters of the fruit juice. However, they have a limitation of fouling, as the accumulation of fouling layer on the membrane surface reduces the permeability flux [15]. Consider that pectin is one of the key gel forming agent in the presence of Ca²⁺ ions at low pH, which is present in fruits. Pectin is mostly found in citrus fruits and enzymatic treatment of guava juice at 45 °C with various enzyme concentrations [16]. Among these bananas has high content of pectin. Pectins are polysaccharides which are rich in galacturonic acid. The molecular weight of pectin is in the range of 30,000–130,000 Da, based on separation conditions. In the extraction process, the juices are viscous because of the presence of pectin, thus affecting the flux of the filtration process. Therefore, it needs depectinization to give long shelf life to the fruit juice as well as the membranes.

Clarification/Depectinization

Amylase and pectinase enzymes are used for the clarification of fruit juices conventionally to reduce the high pectin concentrations as shown in Table 2. Membranebased separation processes are used for clarification of fruit juices because they are high-pressure resistant, operated at high temperatures, and resistant to highly corrosive fluids. In 1991, Chamchang et al. reported that by using pectinase enzyme at constant temperature tangerine juice had been depectinized [18]. Rai et al. (2004) stated that mosambi fruit juice clarification varies with concentration of enzyme (pectinase) and temperature [19]. Apple juice clarification is reported by Onsekizoglu et al. (2010) that a series of membrane processes ultrafiltration, membrane distillation, and osmotic distillation were employed, with combined application of bentonite and gelatin (fining agents) that gives high permeability flux,

Fruit juice	Enzyme	Filtration process	Transmembrane pressure (kPa)
Lemon	Novozym 33,095	Filter paper	By gravity
Pomegranate	Fungus (F. fomentarius)	Carbosep M2	200
Kiwifruit	Pectinex ultra SP - L	PVDF UF membrane process	85

 Table 2
 Depectinization of fruit juices with membrane-based processes [17]

 Table 3
 Membrane distillation applications in fruit juice processing [17]

Membrane type	MD configuration	Fruit juice
Hollow fiber, polypropylene	DCMD	Apple
MFK3, flat sheet, polyvinylidene fluoride	DCMD	Apple
K150, flat sheet, polytetrafluoroethylene	VMD	Blackcurrant
Millipore, flat sheet	DCMD	Orange juice
Enka Microdyn, hollow fiber, polypropylene	DCMD	Apple

recovered the nutritional and physicochemical properties after integrated membrane separation processes [20]. K.S. Youn et al. (2004) developed a series of microfiltration and ultrafiltration membrane processes for clarification of apple juice concentrate (cloudy, 45° Brix). Permeability flux increases with filter aid (bentonite) pre-treatment and produced good quality of apple juice with lower membrane fouling [21]. B. K. Nandi et al. (2009) studied the microfiltration membrane processes for mosambi juice with low cost kaolin-based ceramic membranes. Various pore blocking models had been used to analyze the decline in permeate flux [22]. Membrane distillation (MD) employs microporous hydrophobic membrane to separate two liquids which are at different temperatures; it is temperature-driven process and operated at atmospheric pressure, since MD keeps a good potential as an alternative to the pressure-driven processes [23]. A few of the major issues hindering the development of membrane operations for juice clarification, such as microfiltration and ultrafiltration in the fruit juices clarification, are primarily related to the membrane fouling. Fouling can affect membrane life span and results in decrease of permeate flux. Novelty in cleaning methods can benefit in extensive applicability of these methods in the juice industry. Some applications of membrane distillation processes are given in Table 3.

4.3 Skim Milk and Cheese Production

Skim milk production is nowadays carried out by using various membrane separation processes, such as ultrafiltration. The skim milk is standardized, concentrated, and fractionated as per need by using membrane separation processes while keeping the natural milk flavor and contents intact. This enhances the customer satisfaction and provides profit to the producer. The standardization of milk is carried out by using ultrafiltration membrane separation process, whereas microfiltration, nanofiltration, and reverse osmosis membrane separation processes are commonly used for the concentration and fractionation of the milk. These membrane-based processes are alternative of conventional energy-intensive processes, such as heating and evaporation. The output of these processes are used for the production of various other milk products, such as concentration of milk results in the production of milk concentrate that is used in the production of milk proteins of various concentrations and other milk products; milk fractionation results in various products that are used in the production of ice cream, cheese, and other milk proteins [1]. For example, the outcome of the ultrafiltration membrane separation process for concentrating the milk is used for the production of different types of cheese, namely, cream cheese, feta cheese, and quark. Furthermore, the permeate part of this process is given to reverse osmosis membrane separation process for lactose recovery, and the permeate of this process is further used for flushing the whole system. Therefore, membrane separation processes make it possible to use single fraction of milk to produce various products, and the waste generated is negligible. Additionally, the advantage of membrane separation processes is that they conserve the original taste, texture, composition, and flavor of milk during all these processing of milk, which was not possible with conventional techniques. Hence, membrane separation processes are highly recommended in milk industry due to their efficiency, effectiveness, and economy.

4.4 Milk Sterilization

Milk sterilization is an important task so as to preserve milk for longer duration. Also, it is important to remove any foreign particles, agents, and microorganisms from milk as they are responsible for its fouling and quality degradation. The milk composition changes due to the presence of such impurities and use of conventional sterilization techniques, such as heating that alters its taste and smell. Membrane separation processes provide unaltered sterilization of milk without using any energy-intensive process and degeneration of the milk quality [1]. This helps in consumption and production of direct milk and milk products with original taste and flavor. Therefore, membrane-based separation, purification, and sterilization of milk are recommended.

4.5 Beer and Wine Production

Beer and wine are two alcoholic drinks used worldwide on a very large scale. That is why they play an important role in the economy of any country. Further, there use depends upon their quality and flavor. These two factors depend upon the production procedure and steps followed. The separation and purification of unwanted compounds from beer and wine play an important role as any type of impurity may hamper the overall quality and flavor of the beverages. Therefore, membrane separation processes play an important role in beer and wine industry as they are capable of separation of unwanted compounds from the beverages without hampering their original flavors [1].

The beer production starts with heating the malt with fermented water, which results in the production of wort. This wort has to be clarified, before keeping it for fermentation process, to remove the hot trub (mixture of precipitated hops, malt, and proteins). The membrane separation processes, such as microfiltration, are employed for the clarification of wort. This results in better fermentation and production of flavored beer. Further, cross-flow microfiltration is used after the secondary fermentation process of beer production. In this stage, the beer is clarified of biomass and other unwanted solid compounds. Presently, hollow fiber membranes in continuous microfiltration process are used in beer industry for the separation of yeast and other microorganisms, haze, and hot trub while keeping the quality and flavor intact. The use of membrane separation processes in beer industry is useful not only in terms of flavor and quality but also reduces health associated risks and waste disposal problems. Thus, membrane separation processes are better than the conventional kieselguhr filtration used. Thereafter, the alcohol concentration in the beer is regulated by using reverse osmosis membrane separation process. Lastly, the beer pasteurization process is used for the sterilization of the beer, but here also membrane separation processes can be used. The membrane separation processes will help to store the beer flavor, freshness, and quality for a longer period of time. The beer sterilized by using the membrane separation processes is known as "cold beer" due to the nonuse of any heat treatment process. Furthermore, it costs the same as a pasteurized beer and appreciated by the consumers. Additionally, the remaining beer and yeast mixture at the bottom of the fermenters can be separated by using microfiltration. This may result in better output and utilization of the resources. Membrane processes, such as pervaporation and membrane contactors, are finding use in beer industry due to the advantages associated with them [2]. Pervaporation is used for the extraction of beer flavors so that they can be added to nonalcoholic drinks and can be sold as beer with no alcoholic content for profit. On the other hand, membrane contactors are used for the removal of carbon dioxide and oxygen for better life expectancy of the product [1, 2]. Membrane contactors are also used for the deoxygenation of water used for the high-gravity brewed beer dilution.

Grapes are crushed, pressed, and centrifuged to make grape must from which wine is produced. The alcohol content plays an important role in the quality of the wine, and alcohol production directly depends upon the sugar content present in the grape must. For example, grapes with high sugar content will produce high alcohol quantities during the fermentation process. This increased alcohol content will mask the taste of other flavors present in the wine. Therefore, it is important to regulate the sugar content, and this can be done by using reverse osmosis membrane separation process. Furthermore, in case of high sugar content, both ultrafiltration and microfiltration membrane separation processes can be used together. Additionally, nanofiltration membrane separation process can be used for the acid enrichment. This product is then fed to the fermenter.

Wine is required to be filtered after primary fermentation, and microfiltration or diafiltration is commonly used for this purpose. Thereafter, the wine is kept for secondary fermentation in wood barrels or stainless steel tanks. The wine is again filtered after the completion of the secondary fermentation process by using conventional kieselguhr filtration or microfiltration. However, microfiltration due to its advantages is recommended for better results. Microfiltration membrane separation process is carried out by using polymeric hollow fiber or ceramic tubular membranes with pore size in the range of $0.2-0.65 \,\mu\text{m}$. Thus, the wine is successfully separated, purified, and sterilized by using membrane separation processes. Moreover, electrodialysis is also employed before the bottling of wines so as to remove the tartrate salts that affect the wine quality. Electrodialysis is better and efficient method than the conventional method of tartrate salts removal. Conventionally, the wine is cooled to remove the tartrate salts, but this method is not efficient enough. Therefore, electrodialysis is recommended for better wine production. Furthermore, membrane contactors can also be used for the direct removal of alcohol from the wine and for the production of dealcoholized water. This water can be used for different purposes in the wine industry. Likewise, pervaporation membrane separation process is also effective and efficient for alcohol removal from wine, but it is not recommended as higher chances are there of the loss of characteristic flavors of the wine. In addition, microfiltration membrane separation process can also be used for the wine recovery from wine lees, the left out sediments (yeast, fining agents, seeds, and little amount of wine) at the bottom of the storage tanks making the whole process of wine making effective and efficient. Lastly, the membrane separation processes are also used for either rejuvenating or adding extra colors, flavors, and antioxidants to the produced wine. This will aid in enhancing the overall quality and flavor of the produced wine which results in its high demand and profit.

5 Future Perspectives of Membranes in Bioprocess Engineering

This section discusses about the role of membranes in the future of bioprocess engineering. Including, the areas where expertise of membrane science will be useful and appropriate for the growth and development of bioprocess engineering. Some of the main areas in this field, namely, development of artificial organs, selective drug delivery, and responsiveness to an external stimulus, are discussed. Membranes play an important role in the sustainable development of these areas and help in the advancement of the bioprocess engineering in the future.

5.1 Artificial Organs

Artificial organs, as the name suggests, are man-made organs for the patients requiring an organ transplant. Worldwide there are numerous patients who are in the waitlist of an organ transplant due to the unavailability of a suitable organ. Therefore, this situation demands the development of devices that can replicate the function of natural organs. Additionally, these artificial organs need to be developed in way such that they should not be having any compatibility issues. In the recent years, membranes are successfully used for the development of artificial organs, namely, the kidney, pancreas, lung, and liver. Moreover, research is also going on in the development of an artificial heart. Many breakthroughs were achieved in the recent past in this mission of development of an artificial heart [1]. However, still a lot of research and development are required to be successful due to the complexity and vitality associated with this organ. Anyhow, great success is achieved in case of other stated artificial organs. Some of the important artificial organs where membranes have proved their mettle are discussed below.

Artificial Kidney

Human beings are creatures with very efficient and complex machinery. This machinery consists of various organs and vessels that take care of the organism. Kidneys are one of the vital organs that sustain the organism by regulating its fluid and salts. Humans are so efficient that they can sustain with only single kidney on failure of one out of the two kidneys. However, in case of failure of both the kidneys, artificial kidneys are required due to the unavailability of a suitable donor. Nevertheless, dialysis is the commonly used procedure before the development of artificial kidneys. Dialysis is also a membrane-based device. The blood coming from the body is permeated across a membrane, and the waste and excessive fluids are rejected. The treated blood then again infused back to the body. Abel et al. were the first to demonstrate the process of dialysis in early twentieth century [24]. They carried out blood purification by using handmade collodiun tubes of cellulose. Dialysis was first used on a patient in the year 1925 by Haas [25]. It was the year 1943, when the first artificial kidney was developed by Kolff et al. [26]. Rotating drum dialyzer using cellophane tubing membrane was used to develop the first artificial kidney. The cellophane membrane wrapped wooden drum rotates in a dialysate solution, and the blood arrives in it from the patient's body for purification. It was a simple device, but now dialysis is a well-developed blood purification procedure used across the world.

Artificial Liver

Human body depends upon many organs for its various functions. Liver is one of the important organs out of many in a human body. The main function of the liver in a human body is to keep it safe and free from various toxins. This function depends on hepatocytes, the mature cells of the liver. Hepatocytes are parenchymal cells that maintain contact with the body via other nonparenchymal cells, namely, Kupffer, pit, sinusoidal endothelial, and stellate cells and bile duct. Liver failure occurs in case of the autoimmune disease, hepatocellular cancer, long exposure to toxins, and viral

hepatitis. The only way to sustain an acute or chronic liver failure is a liver transplant. Liver transplant faces same problems as other organ transplants, such as organ shortage or suitable donor availability. Therefore, in this case too, there is a need of development of artificial liver that may help in rejuvenating the life of a patient with acute or chronic liver failure.

Nowadays, with the advancements in membrane science, the development of an artificial liver is made possible. The previously used blood purification techniques, like hemofiltration, hemodialysis, hemoperfusion, and plasmapheresis, are seldom used alone. Initially, cellophane and polyacrylonitrile membranes, with high rejection of lower molecular weight toxins, were used to detoxify the body. However, recently with the advancements and developments in the field of membrane science, various advanced processes and devices are into use, namely, molecular adsorbent recirculation system (MARS), single-pass albumin dialysis (SPAD), and the Prometheus system [1, 27]. These advanced systems employ novel materials made up of charcoal and polymers for the detoxification process. Hollow fiber membranes with high flux are the choice for said processes and devices. For example, polysulfone hollow fiber membranes with molecular weight cutoff of 50 kDa are used in MARS and SPAD along with albumin dialysis. However, the Prometheus system employs a 250 kDa molecular weight cutoff albumin permeable polysulfone membrane. These systems and processes show effective and efficient results over a short period of time. Therefore, these membrane-based systems play an important role and provide a patient time to arrange an organ or suitable donor in case of an acute or chronic liver failure. Nevertheless, these systems are not able to carry out other functions of the liver; therefore, there is a need to develop bioartificial liver.

Recently, the bioartificial liver system based on the hepatoma cells (primary hepatocytes) attached over the surface of a flat or hollow fiber membrane is developed. This system is termed as bioartificial liver support (BALS) system. Polyether ether ketone, polyethersulfone, and polytetrafluoroethylene are some of the commonly used membrane materials for culturing the hepatoma cells. The membranes are fundamental part of the BALS system. Hydrophilic and hydrophobic membranes are employed for better mass and gas transport, respectively, in the system to successfully carry out the function of a liver. However, there is still scope for further improvement and development to make the artificial liver truly a natural liver.

Similarly, membrane-based systems are used to develop other important organs, namely, lungs and pancreas as reported by Purkait and Singh [1].

5.2 Drug Delivery

The effective and efficient treatment of a disease depends upon the proficient delivery of the required drug dose. The conventional methods use oral or intravenous administration. This method offers drug delivery only at a particular time. This results in high drug usage, and the patient has to take the drug regularly over a

period of time until the disease persists. Therefore, there is a need of a capable and effective drug delivery system that can provide the drug on specific time in required dosage at a given site. Nowadays, membrane separation processes are used for the development of an efficient and effective drug delivery system [1-3]. Mainly, there are two types of membrane systems based on the mechanism of drug delivery, namely, diffusion and osmotic drug delivery systems. These membrane-based drug delivery systems are discussed below.

Diffusion Drug Delivery System

This system works on the Fick's law of diffusion. The drug diffuses across the membrane, and thus the membrane thickness plays an important role in its effective and efficient delivery. This system is widely used on commercial scale due to its advantages. Commonly, it uses drugs in any of the available forms, such as tablets, implants, and patches.

The drug delivery system is developed based on the interactions and feasibility between the materials of the systems, consisting of the drug and delivery mechanism. In membrane-based drug delivery systems, the effectiveness and efficiency of the drug delivery depend upon the diffusion of the drug across the polymeric membrane. Predictive methods, such as Hildebrand's and Flory-Huggins theories, are used for the prediction of drug diffusion across the membrane. The Hildebrand's theory helps in predicting the drug's solubility in a solvent, and Flory-Huggins theory is used to predict the drug's solubility in a polymer [1]. These predictive membranes help in predicting the course of the drug in the drug delivery system ranging from its melting to permeation across the membrane by formulating a relation between these two processes, thereby, facilitating the effective and efficient controlled delivery of the drug.

Osmotic Drug Delivery System

This drug delivery system, as suggested by the name, is similar to osmosis. In this system, a membrane is used as a drug reservoir as it allows permeation of water but not of the drug. However, when the reservoir is filled with water, it releases the drug, thereby, making it an efficient drug delivery system that delivers drugs at a higher rate. The system is generally in the form of a capsule made from a hydrophilic polymeric membrane. These systems are various osmotic drug delivery systems developed over the time, namely, Rose-Nelson (1955), Higuchi-Leeper and Higuchi-Theeuwes (1970), and Theeuwes (1987) system [28].

In these systems, as discussed, membranes are employed in different forms for drug delivery, such as reservoirs or matrix. Both active and passive modes of diffusion are used under these systems. Under active diffusion, a driving force, such as pH or electric potential, regulates the drug delivery. On the other hand, under passive diffusion, generally concentration difference is the only driving force responsible for the drug delivery. Furthermore, the development in stimuli-responsive membranes allows better use of membranes for the effective and efficient drug deliveries. The detailed discussion on stimuli-responsive membranes is presented in Sect. 1.6.3.

5.3 Stimuli-Responsive Membranes

The stimuli-responsive membranes are the most advanced membranes with response to an external stimulus, such as pH [29], temperature [30], light [31], biological [32], magnetic [33], or electrical [34] by inducing changes to their structural or functional properties [1, 35]. Stimuli-responsive membranes can be synthesized by either direct blending or grafting of compounds containing stimuli-responsive groups [3]. These groups show responsiveness to a specific external stimulus, thereby making the membranes stimuli-responsive in nature. Therefore, these membranes get capabilities to these open various domains of fascinating applications for membrane separation processes, such as controlled drug delivery, wastewater treatment, sensor development, gas separations, antifouling, and artificial organ development.

The development and advancement in this field of stimuli-responsive membranes come from the better understanding of the fundamentals of stimuli-responsiveness in terms of concept and mechanisms. Generally, the external stimulus works as a bulk stimulus that is the stimulus will be present on the whole system and not at a particular area or point. This is both good and bad in terms of efficiency and effectiveness, good in terms of area governed and bad as it results in the wastage of energy as well as resources. For example, a particular drug is to be delivered on arrival of a particular cell type in the body, but the bulk stimulus, such as pH, will make the whole process inefficient in a way that it will trigger the delivery of the drug even when the said cell type is not present. Therefore, there is need of development of more accurate, efficient, and effective local stimulus for the betterment of stimuli-responsive membrane separation processes. Furthermore, the external stimuli are categories into three categories, viz., direct, indirect, and field stimulation, and are shown in Fig. 4. In case of direct stimulation, the external stimuli come in direct contact with the membranes. Consequently, in indirect stimulation, the membranes respond to the external stimuli, where the stimulus is pressure or temperature making a thermodynamic environment. On the other hand, membranes respond to an external stimuli field, like electromagnetic.

Presently, the applications of stimuli-responsive membranes make them fascinating in the field of bioprocess engineering. The major applications are in the field of food, pharmaceutical, and biotechnology industries. The applications, such as protein separation, sterilization, acidification or deacidification of beverages, fruit juice clarifications, antibiotic and other valuable products separation and purification, and whey protein and cheese production [1–3]. The stimuli-responsive membranes show better flux, antifouling, and separation efficiencies under the required external stimulus. For example, Sinha and Purkait showed that the dual, pH and temperature, responsive polysulfone polymeric ultrafiltration membranes show better antifouling nature, increased pure water flux, and enhanced bovine serum albumin flux (3.37 L/ m² h) and rejection (90%) with change in external stimuli (pH and temperature) [36]. Further, Singh et al. showed that the photoresponsive Cu₂O-modified polysulfone mixed matrix membranes successfully removed ibuprofen from the feed under the influence of visible light at a rate of $32.63 \times 10^{-3} \text{ min}^{-1}$



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of three types of external stimuli [13] (Reproduced from S. Darvishmanesh, X. Qian, and S. R. Wickramasinghe, Responsive membranes for advanced separations, Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering, 8 (2015) 98–104 with permission from Elsevier)

[35]. Additionally, the membranes show better flux and antifouling profile with pure water flux enhanced from 34.24 L/m² h⁻¹ to 179.54 L/m² h⁻¹ and static water contact angle improved from 71.5° to 45.3°. Figure 5 interprets these results for better clarity.

The above discussion illustrates the importance and benefits of stimuli-responsive membranes in the present-day bioprocess engineering field. These membranes not only make the downstream processing easy, fast, and effective but also bring novelty to the domain, which can further be used for the betterment and rise of new ideas and processes.



Fig. 5 (a.i) SWCA and (a.ii) BSA adsorption; (b) antifouling profile and BSA rejection (inset) results of the membranes [35] (Reproduced from R. Singh, V. S. K. Yadav, and M. K. Purkait, Cu₂O photocatalyst-modified antifouling polysulfone mixed matrix membrane for ultrafiltration of protein and visible light-driven photocatalytic pharmaceutical removal, Separation and Purification Technology, 212 (2019) 191–204with permission from Elsevier)

6 Summary

The chapter discussed about the basics and advancements of membrane science in the field of bioprocess engineering. The advantages of using membranes in the field of bioprocess engineering are discussed in detail, while evaluating the need and role played by membranes. The role of membranes in pharma and biotech sector, importance of membranes in the food industry, and significance of membrane science in the development and advancements in the future of bioprocess engineering discussed extensively. Membranes show better, effective, and efficient performance compared to other conventional separation processes in the field of bioprocess engineering. This strives the demand for further development and advancement in the field of membrane science for the betterment of not only bioprocess engineering but other fields associated with the field of membrane science.

References

- 1. Purkait MK, Singh R (2018) Membrane technology in separation science. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton
- 2. Purkait MK, Singh R, Mondal P, Haldar D Thermal induced membrane separation processes. Elsevier, Academic Press, Amsterdam
- 3. Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) Stimuli responsive polymeric membranes. Elsevier, Academic Press, Amsterdam
- 4. van Reis R, Zydney A (2007) Bioprocess membrane technology. J Membr Sci 297:16-50
- Singh R, Purkait MK (2018) Microfiltration membranes. In: Ismail AF, Rahman MA, Othman MHD, Matsuura T (eds) Membrane separation principles and applications: from material selection to mechanisms and industrial uses. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 111–146
- Nandi BK, Rahaman M, Singh R, Purkait MK (2018) Microfiltration membranes: fabrication and application. In: Sridhar S (ed) Membrane technology: sustainable solutions in water, health, energy and environmental sectors. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, pp 190–210
- Shimizu Y, Shimodera K-I, Watanabe A (1993) Cross flow microfiltration of bacterial cells. J Ferment Bioeng 76(6):493–500
- Frohlich H, Villian L, Melzner D, Strube J (2012) Membrane technology in bioprocess science. ChemieIngenieurTechnik 84(6):905–917
- Singh R, Purkait MK (2016) Evaluation of mPEG effect on the hydrophilicity and antifouling nature of the PVDF-co-HFP flat sheet polymeric membranes for humic acid removal. J Water Process Eng 14:9–18
- 10. Boi C (2019) Membrane chromatography for biomolecule purification. In: Basile A, Charcosset C (eds) Current trends and future developments on (bio-) membranes, membrane processes in thepharmaceutical and biotechnological field. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 151–166
- Vicente T, Fáber R, Alves PM, Carrondo MJ, Mota JP (2011) Impact of ligand density on the optimization of ion-exchange membrane chromatography for viral vector purification. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:1347–1359
- Opitz L, Lehmann S, Reichl U, Wolff MW (2009) Sulfated membrane adsorbers for economic pseudo affinity capture of influenza virus particles. Biotechnol Bioeng 103:1144–1154
- Darvishmanesh S, Qian X, Wickramasinghe SR (2015) Responsive membranes for advanced separations. Curr Opin Chem Eng 8:98–104
- Orr V, Zhong L, Young MM, Chou CP (2013) Recent advances in bioprocessing application of membrane chromatography. Biotechnol Adv 31:450–465
- Willats WGT, Knox JP, Mikkelsen JD (2006) Pectin: new insights into an old polymer are starting to gel. Trends Food Sci Technol 17(3):97–104
- Ninga KA, Sengupta S, Jain A, Desobgo ZSC, Nso EJ, De S (2018) Kinetics of enzymatic hydrolysis of pectinaceous matter in guava juice. J Food Eng 221:158–166
- Karmakar S, De S (2019) Pectin removal and clarification of juices. In: Galanakis CM (ed) Separation of functional molecules in food by membrane technology. Elsevier, Academic Press, Amsterdam, pp 155–194
- Chamchone M, Noomhorm A (1991) Effect of PH and enzymatic treatment on microfiltration and ultrafiltration of tangerine juice. J Food Process Eng 14(1):21–34
- Rai P, Majumdar GC, DasGupta S, De S (2004) Optimizing pectinase usage in pretreatment of mosambi juice for clarification by response surface methodology. J Food Eng 64(3):397–403
- Onsekizoglu P, Bahceci KS, Acar MJ (2010) Clarification and the concentration of apple juice using membrane processes: a comparative quality assessment. J Membr Sci 352(1–2):160–165
- Youn KS, Hong J-H, Bae D-H, Kim S-J, Kim SD (2004) Effective clarifying process of reconstituted apple juice using membrane filtration with filter-aid pretreatment. J Membr Sci 228:179–186
- Nandi BK, Das B, Uppaluri R, Purkait MK (2009) Microfiltration of mosambi juice using low cost ceramic membrane. J Food Eng 95:597–605
- Bhattacharjee C, Saxena VK, Dutta S (2017) Fruit juice processing using membrane technology: a review. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 43:136–153
- Abel JJ, Rowntree LG, Turner BB (1914) Plasma removal with return of corpuscles (Plasmapheresis). J Pharmacol Exp Ther 5(6):625–641
- 25. Haas G (1925) Versuche der Blutauswaschung am LebendenmitHilfe der Dialyse. KlinWochenschr 4(1):13–14
- 26. Kolff WJ, Berk HTJ, Welle M, van der Ley AJW, van Dijk EC, van Noordwijk J (1944) The artificial kidney: a dialyser with a great area. J Intern Med 117(2):121–134
- 27. Annesini MC, Marrelli L, Piemonte V, Turchetti L (2017) Artificial organ engineering. Springer, London

- 28. Baker RW (2004) Membrane technology and applications, 2nd edn. Wiley, Hoboken
- 29. Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) pH-responsive membranes. Interface Sci Technol 25:39–66
- Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) Temperature-responsive membranes. Interface Sci Technol 25:67–113
- Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) Photoresponsive membranes. Interface Sci Technol 25:115–144
- 32. Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) Biologically responsive membranes. Interface Sci Technol 25:145–171
- Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) Magentic-responsive membranes. Interface Sci Technol 25:193–219
- 34. Purkait MK, Sinha MK, Mondal P, Singh R (2018) Electric field-responsive membranes. Interface Sci Technol 25:173–191
- 35. Singh R, Yadav VSK, Purkait MK (2019) Cu₂O photocatalyst modified antifouling polysulfone mixed matrix membrane for ultrafiltration of protein and visible light driven photocatalytic pharmaceutical removal. Sep Purif Technol 212:191–204
- 36. Sinha MK, Purkait MK (2014) Preparation and characterization of stimuli-responsive hydrophilic polysulfone membrane modified with poly (N-vinylcaprolactam-co-acrylic acid). Desalination 348:16–25

Process Engineering Aspects in Bioleaching of Metals from Electronic Waste



M. Minimol, Vidya Shetty K, and M. B. Saidutta

Contents

E-Waste Management		28		
Bioleaching of E-Waste for Metal Recovery				
Process Engineering Aspects in Bioleaching				
3.1	Biotic Factors Involved in Bioleaching	31		
3.2	Abiotic Factors that Influence Bioleaching of E-Waste	33		
3.3	Bioreactor Design and Its Operational Parameters	34		
Conclusion				
References				
	E-Wa Bioles Proce 3.1 3.2 3.3 Concl	E-Waste Management Bioleaching of E-Waste for Metal Recovery Process Engineering Aspects in Bioleaching 3.1 Biotic Factors Involved in Bioleaching 3.2 Abiotic Factors that Influence Bioleaching of E-Waste 3.3 Bioreactor Design and Its Operational Parameters Conclusion		

Abstract Obsolete electronic devices and their components majorly contributed by the computer and mobile phone printed circuit boards (PCBs) constitute the electronic waste (e-waste). The e-wastes pose an environmental threat due to their eco-toxicological characteristics, thus making its management a mandate through an ecologically sustainable process. Further, the high concentration of metals in the e-waste makes it a secondary ore for metal recovery. Bioleaching is a bio-hydrometallurgical process, which is microbe-mediated dissolution of metals. Different nutritional classes of microorganisms like autotrophs and heterotrophs are active bioleaching agents of e-wastes. The mode of action of microbes for bioleaching of metals is obscure and is believed to ensue through redox reactions, protonic attack, or chelation. The process of bioleaching is influenced by biotic factors like the group and class of microorganism, growth rate, metabolic activity, etc. However, there are several abiotic factors that strongly affect the bioleaching efficiency.

Development of a bioleaching process would need the study of various biological, nutritional, and engineering factors that influence the process. This chapter

Department of Chemical Engineering, National Institute of Technology Karnataka Surathkal, Mangalore, India

e-mail: vidyaks95@nitk.edu.in; vidyaks68@yahoo.com

M. Minimol, V. Shetty K (2), and M. B. Saidutta

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 27–44, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_575,

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 14 July 2020

presents the critical analysis of various process engineering aspects in the bioleaching of metals from e-waste. To engineer a bioleaching process, (1) various biological, nutritional, and physicochemical factors, such as media composition, pH, e-waste loading, particle size, oxygen requirement, inoculum size, etc., should be optimized and (2) suitable bioreactor choice considering the microbial type, phases to be contacted, and the pattern of contacting followed by optimization of bioreactor operational parameters. This paper brings out a critical review of these bioprocess engineering aspects in bioleaching of metals from e-waste, directing the reader to the future scope of research on bioleaching, a bioremediation strategy to save and conserve environment for sustainable development.

Keywords Abiotic factors, Bioleaching, Bioreactors, Biotic factors, E-waste, Optimization

1 E-Waste Management

Rapid evolution in the quality of living has imparted several technological innovations, especially in the use of electronic gadgets. Consequently, these gadgets have a short life span, and the obsolete ones are disposed of as e-wastes. The composition of e-wastes includes non-hazardous and hazardous constituents like plastics, glass, ceramics, and metals. Informal handling of these constituents causes environmental issues by the release of noxious gases, toxic leachate, and effluents posing health risks to the ecological niche [1]. Vaccari et al. [2] has presented a detailed statistics on the generation and collection of both electrical and electronic wastes, according to which Asia produces the highest amount of e-waste. Only one-third of the waste generated is collected for recycling. The challenges in e-waste treatment are due to the lack of infrastructure to recycle the large quantities of waste generated, the flow of e-wastes from the developed to the developing countries, inadequate knowledge about the toxicity and impact of the e-waste, improper segregation of e-waste from municipal solid waste, etc.

A major portion of the computer and mobile phone e-wastes are printed circuit boards (PCBs). The metallic fraction of PCBs contains substantial quantities of precious metals, base metals, and heavy metals, making it a suitable secondary ore for urban mining. The most common strategies for the recovery of these metals is through (1) mechanical separation by dismantling, pulverization followed by magnetic or electrostatic separation techniques resulting in a poor quality yield [3], (2) pyrolysis at high temperatures which releases hazardous emissions and is not an economically feasible technique [4, 5], and (3) hydrometallurgical methods by the use of chemical leaching agents with complete dissolution of metals [6]. The drawbacks of these techniques, like natural resource pollution, low purity, and the use of high-cost operations and energy, necessitate an eco-friendly and cost-efficient recovery strategy [7]. A green technology to confront the shortcomings of the conventional strategies is the alternative use of biological leaching agents in hydrometallurgy termed as "biohydrometallurgy." The benefits of this technique are the flexibility of the organism to acclimatize to extreme conditions, being inexpensive, easier, and environmental friendly [8], though a relatively slow process. The different mechanisms involved in biohydrometallurgy for metal recovery are bioaccumulation, bio-oxidation, reduction, bioleaching, bioprecipitation, biosorption, bioflocculation, etc. These processes occur individually or in combinations or can be employed as one of the steps in extraction of metals from e-wastes [9].

2 Bioleaching of E-Waste for Metal Recovery

Bioleaching is the microbe-mediated transformation or mobilization of metals from the ores or metal wastes into the lixiviant [10]. The abiotic factors that affect bioleaching are pH, temperature, substrate concentration, oxygen requirements, etc. The microbial genera, its nutritional type, inoculum size, metal resistance, and adaptability contribute to the biotic factors of bioleaching [11].

A primary requirement for the microbe is to acclimatize itself to the metalcontaining e-waste. To establish this, the organisms express the cryptic metalresistant gene clusters present in the plasmids or chromosomal DNA [12]. Further, metal resistance is also attained through an active efflux of metal ions or entrapment by metal chaperones [13]. Three main principles [14] that govern the microbial leaching of metals from e-waste are:

- 1. *Redoxolysis* accounts for metal solubilization through oxidation and reduction reactions. Under aerobic and acidic conditions, the microorganism oxidizes ferrous to ferric ions that act as oxidants for the insoluble metal forms. Additionally, ferric ion catalyzed sulfuric acid formation in case of metal sulfides and dissimilatory reduction of ferric to ferrous ion result. This takes part in the next cycle of reaction [15, 16].
- 2. *Complexolysis* is a consequence of the secretome of the organism complexing with the metals. The extracellular metabolites of the microbial cells either act as ligands, aid in chelation, or directly complex with the metals. Siderophore-mediated iron chelation, peptides binding the metals, and carboxylate anions from the carboxylic acids complexing with the metals churn out soluble forms of metal complexes [17].
- 3. *Acidolysis* is the generation of inorganic and organic acids and dissolution of metals from the surface. The inorganic acid produced by the microorganisms is usually sulfuric acid that plays a role in solubilizing metal sulfides. Another group of organisms excretes organic acids like citric, glutamic, and oxalic acids. The metals are displaced from their surfaces by the protons from these carboxylic acids [15].

Bioleaching of metals from the solid substrate is accomplished by contact mode through chemotaxis and cell attachment to preferred sites of imperfection on the metal surface forming biofilm [15]. The bacterial cells form a biofilm, by the production of extracellular polymeric substances (slime) on the material. The metals bind to the functional groups of the carbohydrates and proteins that constitute the proteinaceous surface layers [18, 19]. On the contrary, the presence of metals in the environment of the planktonic state cells triggers the production of various secondary metabolites including organic acids, enzymes, etc., for non-contact mode of bioleaching [20]. The release of CO_2 leads to carbonic acid attack on solid surfaces [21]. The increase in Fe²⁺ to Fe³⁺ conversion and vice versa in the solution is expected to increase the redox potential and in turn bioleaching [22].

3 Process Engineering Aspects in Bioleaching

Bioleaching like other bioprocesses can be efficiently applied to recover metals from e-waste in various scales of application. Bioleaching involves the use of microbes, and hence the biotic factors to be considered for its implication include the type of microorganism, the inoculum concentration, its growth rate, the cell genotype, the ability of the organism to resist the heterogeneity and toxicity of the e-waste, etc. Various abiotic factors like the physicochemical conditions, the e-waste loading, its size and composition, nutrients required by the microorganism, etc. also affect the bioleaching [11]. Better mixing and process control may be achieved in contained systems such as bioreactors. Industrial scale bioleaching processes are carried out in bioreactors which are better equipped with the phase contact mechanisms and control systems. Based on the complete understanding of the principles and modes of bioleaching by a suitable microbe and bioreactor design, the process can be established by opting for either batch or continuous mode of operation.

One-step bioleaching [23] is where the microorganism and the e-waste metal concentrates are simultaneously added and incubated for solubilization [24]. In this method, (1) the microbial growth may be inhibited by the presence of leached metals in solution, thus reducing the leaching rate; (2) microbes may take longer time for acclimatization in the media containing leached metals, and thus lag phase would be longer; and (3) the leached metals may get adsorbed/utilized or accumulated in the cells, thus reducing the metal recovery [25].

Two-step bioleaching [23, 26] is the addition of metal-containing solids after the precultured microorganism has attained the late exponential phase of growth [27, 28]. This process would reduce the inhibitory effect of the metals on growth, however, and may still lead to adsorption/accumulation of leached metals in the cells, thus reducing recoverability. The lag phase of growth (first step) may also be lesser.

Spent medium bioleaching [26] is the dissolution of metals from the solids in cellfree supernatant that contains the extracellular proteins and secondary metabolites [29]. In this process, the extracellular metabolites and proteins which tend to be secreted only in the presence of metals would not be available for any leaching action. However, this process can also prevent the toxic or inhibitory effect of metals on microbial growth. The time required for growth may be lower during the production of spent medium, owing to lower lag phase period and higher growth rate in the absence of metal-containing wastes.

Choice of these modes of bioleaching process operation depends on the type of microbes chosen, inhibitory nature of the metals, and metal-microbe interaction involved. The bioleaching efficiency can be maximized by adequate optimized process conditions.

3.1 Biotic Factors Involved in Bioleaching

3.1.1 Nutritional Type of Microorganism

Microorganisms are classified into four major groups based on their electron, carbon, and energy source requirements [30] as presented in Table 1. These comprise both bacteria including actinomycetes and fungi (yeasts and molds). The chemotrophs are well studied for their bioleaching abilities. Chemolithoautotrophs have the potential to survive extreme environmental conditions. They are metal resistant and oxidize metals into solution using oxygen from air as the final electron acceptor. Chemolithoautotrophs derive energy from reduced inorganic chemicals (sulfides), using atmospheric carbon dioxide as carbon source and inorganic hydrogen serve to donate electrons. Most of the bioleaching members of the lithotrophs are sulfur and iron oxidizers. The genera of bacteria effective for bioleaching of metals from their surfaces are *Acidithiobacillus* [8, 22, 27], *Leptospirillum* [31], *Acidianus, Sulfolobus*, etc. [15, 32]. Though lithotrophs are the preferred organisms for bioleaching due to their low nutrient requirements, it can be applied only for sulfur-containing compounds [20].

The contribution to the mode of nutrition for heterotrophs is provided by organic compounds which serve as the source of carbon, energy, and electrons. The glycolytic pathway and the tricarboxylic acid cycle in the metabolism of organic compounds generate different types of organic acids that occupy a central position in the heterotrophic bioleaching [33]. These organisms also have the ability to produce

Nutritional type of microorganisms	Energy source	Electron donor	Carbon source
Photolithoautotrophy	Light	Inorganic hydrogen	Carbon dioxide
Photoorganoheterotrophy	Light	Organic hydrogen	Organic carbon
Chemolithoautotrophy	Inorganic chemicals	Inorganic hydrogen	Carbon dioxide
Chemoorganoheterotrophy	Organic chemicals	Organic hydrogen	Organic carbon

 Table 1
 Nutritional classification of microorganisms

amino acids, proteins, and exopolysaccharides which facilitate metal solubilization. Heterotrophs contribute to metal leaching of non-sulfur containing solids and sustain higher pH. The use of fungi has a drawback since the metals would be entrapped in the mycelial network or adsorbed in the cells [7]. Fungi such as *Aspergillus* sp. [24, 34], *Penicillium* sp. [29, 35], etc. have been reported for the bioleaching of metals. The bacterial genera majorly exploited for the bioleaching of metals from e-waste are cyanogenic and include *Pseudomonas* sp. [36–38], *Chromobacterium violaceum* [39–41], and *Bacillus* sp. [12, 42].

3.1.2 Inoculum Size and Growth

The inoculum size has a vital role in the bioleaching of metals from e-waste by influencing the substrate utilization rate and consequently the metabolites released. The increase in size of inoculum was found to increase the production of organic acids to leach metals [24], increase bioleaching of heavy metal [43], and enhance copper recovery [25] from e-waste. Inoculum size beyond a certain limit results in turbidity and clogging in the bioreactor, which limits the contact between the solids and cells and thus the time provided for bioleaching would not be sufficient and incomplete bioleaching of metals would result [25]. The advantage of optimizing inoculum size is to shorten the lag phase and obtain higher growth rate while preventing clogging. The growth rate indirectly triggers the process, analogous to natural biogeochemical pathways at a faster rate and hence bioleaching [44]. Pham and Ting [45] have found that, in the presence of e-waste, *Pseudomonas fluorescens* has higher cyanide production as a result of higher growth rate to achieve better bioleaching efficiency [45].

3.1.3 Omics of Bioleaching Microorganisms

A detailed study on the genome, proteome, and the metabolome of the organism signifies its use in the bioleaching of metals from e-waste. At present the omics approach has revealed the population dynamics in the natural leaching environments and laboratory scale operations using a consortium. Next-generation sequencing technologies will help improve the design and operational control of bioleaching with respect to the organism involved in the process [46]. Additional information on the genotype of the cell including the genomic islands (GI) of metal resistance will give insights into the ability of the organism to adapt to the metal-containing environment, understand the cryptic passive or active regulatory networks for enzyme production, etc. One such example is the discovery of ATPases of *Sulfolobus solfataricus* for copper resistance [47]. Few attempts have been made to identify specific genes that express for bioleaching of metals, by knockout studies. Further, the genes are subjected to heterologous expression for bioleaching, but the limitation with releasing the engineered strains into the natural environment is inevitable, and hence a natural selection is endorsed [13]. The gene expression is

based on cell density and coordinated by the *N*-acylhomoserinelactone (AHL) as the quorum-sensing molecule and results in the formation of biofilms. The formation of biofilms is noteworthy in bioleaching, as the contact mechanism is vital in the recovery of metals [18, 48, 49]. The interphase between the bacteria and the cell comprises of the secretory compounds like the metabolites, membrane-associated compounds, organic acids, and extracellular proteins. These compounds facilitate the process by complex formation, protonation, or electrochemical reactions. Investigation on the biochemistry of iron oxidation is valuable in the construction of bioleaching systems for large-scale applications. The energy conserving genes function to regulate the respiratory pathway resulting in ATP synthesis followed by the expression of *rus* operon for copper bioleaching [16, 50]. Other examples include the organic acid production by fungi to leach metals [51]; licanatase, a lipoprotein contributes to bioleaching in *Acidithiobacillus thiooxidans* [52]; etc.

3.2 Abiotic Factors that Influence Bioleaching of E-Waste

3.2.1 Physicochemical Properties for Bioleaching

The properties like pH, temperature, oxygen requirement, and bioleaching medium composition are organism specific and based on the bioleaching system to be employed in the process. The initial pH and the temperature to be maintained during the bioprocess solely depend on the natural habitat of selection. Most of the wellstudied autotrophic strains are mesophilic, thermophilic, and acidophilic [53]. At higher initial pH, the availability of protons is less and inhibits the microbial oxidation process. Most of the acidophiles require low pH to grow and in the process solubilize metals. A pH below the optimum values may cause static effects. Most of the heterotrophs require approximate physiological pH/temperature for growth and bioleaching. The leaching rate is proportional to the temperature but depends on whether it is a thermophile or mesophile [11]. Reports on the effect of Fe^{2+} concentration, pH [54], temperature, carbon source, energy source [55], and additional supplement [42] optimization for bioleaching of metals from e-waste demonstrate each of its role in the process. Supplementing the media with precursors of cyanide synthesis, where cyanogenic strains are employed, enhances the bioleaching of precious metals from e-waste [27, 40]. Oxygen is the terminal electron acceptor in most of the strains involved in bioleaching and contributes in the redox reactions. In open systems like heaps, the oxygen requirement is met by a network of pipes and not homogeneously distributed. This limits the oxygen mass transfer and anaerobic conditions persist in the interior of the heaps [56]. In engineered systems, the aeration rate can be controlled desirably to achieve effective oxygen transfer for bioleaching [31].

3.2.2 E-Waste Loading and Particle Size

An e-waste loading up to the optimum has a positive effect on the bioleaching efficiency, whereas higher loading will limit the contact between the phases. Further, the available cell concentration will not be sufficient for the bioleaching of the entire loading [25]. An increased loading of e-waste for bioleaching would also result in the increase in pH, toxic metals, and hazardous compounds (above MIC), causing a decrease in the bioleaching rate [27, 57]. To overcome this inhibitory effect on specific growth rate of the organism and the production of organic acids, the bioleaching process can be accomplished by a two-step or spent medium bioleaching process [34]. E-waste loading also affects specific metal dissolution like the increased loading increases copper leaching by non-cyanide leaching agents, whereas gold removal is minimal, attributed to the inhibition of cyanide production [45]. The e-waste loading and particle size to be chosen also depend on the type of bioleaching system operated.

Particle size of the solid is another crucial factor in the hydrodynamics of bioleaching, phase contact for efficient mass transfer, contact surface area, and the collision between the solids and the cells. Coarse particles have lesser surface area for contact, and the fine particles cause collision of particles and attrition on the microbial cells which are detrimental, thereby decreasing the bioleaching efficiency. The metal leaching rate increases with the decrease in the size of e-waste [8, 58, 59]. A study by Li et al. [60] reveals that the set range of particle size was least significant for bioleaching and was not considered for the pretreatment process. The order of significance of the biotic and abiotic factors in their study reports to be pH > e-waste loading > inoculums size > temperature > particle size. However, the significance of parameters may vary with different bioreactor systems.

3.3 Bioreactor Design and Its Operational Parameters

Development of a large-scale bioleaching process necessitates the use of contained systems such as bioreactors. The use of bioreactors like stirred tank reactors, column reactors, etc. improves the efficiency of the bioleaching process. Adequately designed bioreactors allow good mixing conditions and enhance the mass transfer rate which is essential for any multiphase contacting processes such as bioleaching. Bioreactors can be easily operated under controlled environment, and optimized conditions can be maintained to maximize the recovery of metals. The material to be used to construct the reactor should be carefully chosen, as the walls or the internal components of the reactor design, physical components, material used, its capacity, and operational parameters affect the efficiency of the bioleaching. Bioleaching rate vary in different reactors. Some of the commonly used bioreactors include column reactors like mechanically agitated stirred tank reactors, bubble column



Fig. 1 Stirred tank bioreactor

reactors, and airlift bioreactors. The operational factors like pattern of mixing, air distribution, packing of solids, etc. are specific to each type of reactor.

3.3.1 Mechanically Agitated Stirred Tank Reactors

In mechanically agitated stirred tank reactors, the internal moving components as illustrated in Fig. 1 bring about contact between the phases [31, 61]. In this type of reactors, the air distribution is provided from the bottom of the cylindrical vessel [62]. The speed (as revolutions per minute) of the mechanical stirrer plays a significant role in homogeneous mixing of the phases. The temperature is maintained by suitable heat regulatory system [61, 63]. E-waste loaded and the particle size used is relatively high, as the mixing is brought about by an external stirrer and can be controlled for its efficient bioleaching. The reactor can be employed by itself or in combination with other type of reactors for leaching and growth separately [64]. One of the major limitations in the bioreactor is the moving components causing cell disintegration due to attrition of the cells with moving parts in one-step or two-step bioleaching process. The colonization of the organism in the baffles may also occur.

3.3.2 Rotating Drum Bioreactor

Limited studies exist on the efficiency of rotating drum contactors for bioleaching of metals. The rotating drum bioreactor as a whole rotates in the leaching liquor wherein the perforations in the solid containing drum allow solid-liquid contact as shown in Fig. 2. The rotations of the drum establish uniform mixing. It is an efficient alternative to stirred tank reactors with the advantages of using high solid loading,



Fig. 2 Rotating drum bioreactor

higher particle size, lower energy requirement and reduced physical stress on the microbial cells. In view of eliminating the crushing step to achieve size reduction, coarsely ground e-waste can be used in this type of bioreactor [65].

3.3.3 Packed Bed Column

Most of the column bioreactors are set up in series to achieve growth in one column followed by bioleaching in another column/any other reactor. Packed bed reactors have a packed bed of e-waste material providing higher e-waste loading capacities as illustrated in Fig. 3. Ilyas et al. [66] have reported a load of 10 kg e-waste for bioleaching in a packed bed reactor. The temperature control is maintained by water jackets. The efficiency of packed bed reactor in bioleaching depends on the temperature, redox potential, pH, and Fe^{2+}/Fe^{3+} concentrations and allows the leaching media to pass through the bed of solids which limits the mass transfer in the system [22]. The major limitation with the packed bed column for multiphase bioprocess is the bed loading wherein the gaseous and liquid phases contact the solids only through the void spaces. These spaces may be clogged by the growing biomass (cell aggregates or biofilms). This might hinder the air and liquid flow through the packed bed, and a uniform mixing of the solid, liquid, and gaseous phases would not be achieved [67].

3.3.4 Pulsed Plate Bioreactor

In pulsed plate column, the solids are loaded between the reciprocating perforated plates as represented in Fig. 4. The liquid and gas phases contact the solids through the perforations in the plates. Our previous studies have found that in pulsed plate column, higher particle loading resembles the tightly packed bed and consequently reduced the recovery. Lower particle loading has resulted in movement of the particles in the bed and thus improving the phase contacts resulting in higher metal recovery. The significant functional parameters to be considered in this bioreactor are the frequency of pulsation, amplitude, number of plates, and space

Fig. 3 Packed bed column

Fig. 4 Pulsed plate bioreactor





between the plates, packing per stage. Aeration is provided from the bottom of the column and mixing achieved by the reciprocating plates fixed on the central shaft [25].

3.3.5 Bubble Column Reactors

In bubble column reactor, the aeration and mixing are brought about by air flow from the bottom of the column. These are cylindrical columns that are aerated at the bottom where the air produces a random flow pattern and thus similar to pneumatically agitated reactors as shown in Fig. 5 [68]. The desired temperature is controlled by passing water from the bath into the jacket around the column. Air flow rate is the most important factor to be considered in this reactor [24]. Bubble columns in series are reported for continuous generation of biogenic Fe³⁺ to be used as lixiviant in the first column and for the spent medium bioleaching process in the second [69]. The e-waste loading to be used in this reactor should be optimized such that the air can homogeneously pass through the liquid and solid phases. The particle size range should be selected to reduce pressure drop. A comparative study on the stirred tank reactor with the bubble column suggests that the column reactor is closely efficient as the mechanically stirred reactor [31].

Fig. 6 Airlift bioreactor



3.3.6 Airlift Reactors

Airlift reactors [68, 70] are pneumatically agitated reactors. Airlift reactors are distinguished from bubble column reactors by fluid circulation. They provide well-defined fluid circulation with a cyclic pattern that provide a loop liquid recycle. These reactors consist of (1) riser, to which the gas is injected at the bottom and upward flow of the gas and liquid occurs in this section, (2) gas separator wherein gas disengages from the liquid, and (3) downcomer in which the liquid flows down from the top to the reactor bottom [71, 72]. The liquid circulation is determined by a pressure difference created between the riser and downcomer due to difference in the gas volumes retained in them. Conventional airlift reactors may provide internal loop configuration as in the concentric (draft) tube and the split vessel reactors or external loop configuration [71, 73]. A schematic of the airlift reactor that can be used for bioleaching of metals from e-waste is shown in Fig. 6.

Airlift reactors have been used in the bacterial leaching of metals from sewage sludge [74, 75], bioleaching of heavy metals from the sediment by sulfur-oxidizing bacteria [76], and copper recovery from chalcopyrite by *Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans* [77].

These reactors provide high gas dispersion, good mixing efficiency, better heat transfer characteristics, simple in construction, and easier control over sterility [70, 71, 78, 79]. In stirred tank or bubble column reactors, energy dissipation is localized producing heterogeneous shear field, whereas airlift reactors are advantageous as

they provide homogeneity of the stress forces [80–83]. The hydrodynamic environment in stirred tank reactors, bubble column reactors, or pulsed plate reactors may lead to physical damage of the cells caused by moving mechanical parts or fluid turbulence. But the hydrodynamic environment developed in ALR is favorable to prevent such cells damage by agitation or turbulence [71]. Shear stress being lower in airlift reactors, biofilm growth is facilitated [71], and thus rate of reaction occurring during leaching process can be improved [84].

ALRs require less power than STRs to attain a given rate of gas-liquid mass transfer. The investment costs are lower, and operation cost is lower or similar compared to STRs [85]. The ALRs provide better heat and mass transfer characteristics, lower energy consumption for mixing [86] compared to BCRs.

However, ALRs are less flexible to changes in process requirements [86], as they do not have such modifiable features [71]. ALRs offer limitations in handling high-viscosity fluids because wall friction causes high energy dissipation leading to low circulation velocity and reduced mixing [72].

4 Conclusion

To apply bioleaching in an industrial scale for the recovery of metals from e-waste, (a) a suitable microorganism may be chosen; (b) a suitable reactor may be chosen based on (1) the type of microorganism, its oxygen requirements, its shear sensitiveness considering the rheological behavior of the media during the growth; (2) number of phases to be contacted, mixing and mass transfer characteristics; (3) ease of control of temperature, sterility, etc.; and (4) simplicity of construction, operating costs involved along with ease of maintenance; and (c) a suitable mode of operation such as one step, two-step, or spent medium bioleaching may be chosen.

The bioleaching efficiency can be maximized by adequate optimization of the process conditions. Thus, the bioreactor type, its components, and operational parameters play a significant role in the process engineering of e-waste bioleaching. All biotic and abiotic factors based on the bioreactor type should be considered. The operational parameters vary with reactor type. An optimization of all these features will give an effective implication of bioprocess engineering in bioleaching of metals from electronic wastes. The benefits of engineered systems for bioleaching reduce energy and cost, operational conditions can be controlled, and recovery is efficient. On selection of appropriate systems, the bioleaching can be established as a bioremediation strategy in an eco-friendly manner.

References

- Ikhlayel M (2018) An integrated approach to establish e-waste management systems for developing countries. J Clean Prod 170:119–130
- Vaccari M, Vinti G, Cesaro A, Belgiorno V, Salhofer S, Dias MI, Jandric A (2019) WEEE treatment in developing countries: environmental pollution and health consequences—an overview. Int J Environ Res Public Health 16(9):1595
- Awasthi AK, Zeng X, Li J (2016) Integrated bioleaching of copper metal from waste printed circuit board—a comprehensive review of approaches and challenges. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23(21):21141–21156
- Ning C, Lin CSK, Hui DCW, McKay G (2017) Waste Printed Circuit Board (PCB) recycling techniques. Top Curr Chem 375(2):1–36
- Zhou Y, Qiu K (2010) A new technology for recycling materials from waste printed circuit boards. J Hazard Mater 175(1–3):823–828
- 6. Petter PMH, Veit HM, Bernardes AM (2014) Evaluation of gold and silver leaching from printed circuit board of cellphones. Waste Manag 34(2):475–482
- 7. Jain N, Sharma DK (2004) Biohydrometallurgy for nonsulfidic minerals a review. Geomicrobiol J 21(3):135–144
- Willner J, Fornalczyk A (2013) Extraction of metals from electronic waste by bacterial leaching. Environ Prot Eng 39(1):197–208
- 9. He J, Kappler A (2017) Recovery of precious metals from waste streams. Microb Biotechnol 10 (5):1194–1198
- Brandl H (2002) Metal-microbe-interactions and thier biotechnological applications for mineral waste treatment. Recent Res Dev Mircobiol 6(January 2002):571–584
- Priya A, Hait S (2017) Comparative assessment of metallurgical recovery of metals from electronic waste with special emphasis on bioleaching. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24(8):6989–7008
- Monballiu A, Cardon N, Tri Nguyen M, Cornelly C, Meesschaert B, Chiang YW (2015) Tolerance of chemoorganotrophic bioleaching microorganisms to heavy metal and alkaline stresses. Bioinorg Chem Appl 2015:1–9
- Martínez-Bussenius C, Navarro CA, Jerez CA (2017) Microbial copper resistance: importance in biohydrometallurgy. Microb Biotechnol 10(2):279–295
- 14. Das S, Natarajan G, Ting Y-P (2017) Bio-extraction of precious metals from urban solid waste. AIP Publishing, Melville, p 020004
- Bosecker K (1997) Bioleaching: metal solubilization by microorganisms. FEMS Microbiol Rev 20(3–4):591–604
- Vera M, Schippers A, Sand W (2013) Progress in bioleaching: fundamentals and mechanisms of bacterial metal sulfide oxidation-part A. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(17):7529–7541
- Gadd GM (2000) Bioremedial potential of microbial mechanisms. Curr Opin Biotechnol 11 (3):271–279
- Beech IB, Sunner J (2004) Biocorrosion: towards understanding interactions between biofilms and metals. Curr Opin Biotechnol 15(3):181–186
- Pollmann K, Kutschke S, Matys S, Kostudis S, Hopfe S, Raff J (2016) Novel biotechnological approaches for the recovery of metals from primary and secondary resources. Fortschr Mineral 6(2):54
- White C, Sayer JA, Gadd GM (1997) Microbial solubilization and immobilization of toxic metals: key biogeochemical processes for treatment of contamination. FEMS Microbiol Rev 20 (3–4):503–516
- Abdulla H (2009) Bioweathering and biotransformation of granitic rock minerals by actinomycetes. Microb Ecol 58(4):753–761
- 22. Yang Y, Diao M, Liu K, Qian L, Nguyen AV, Qiu G (2013) Column bioleaching of low-grade copper ore by Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans in pure and mixed cultures with a heterotrophic acidophile Acidiphilium sp. Hydrometallurgy 131–132:93–98

- 23. Yang J, Wang Q, Wang Q, Wu T (2008) Comparisons of one-step and two-step bioleaching for heavy metals removed from municipal solid waste incineration fly ash. Environ Eng Sci 25 (5):783–789
- 24. Rasoulnia P, Mousavi SM (2016) Maximization of organic acids production by Aspergillus niger in a bubble column bioreactor for V and Ni recovery enhancement from power plant residual ash in spent-medium bioleaching experiments. Bioresour Technol 216:729–736
- 25. Jagannath A, Vidya Shetty K, Saidutta MB (2017) Bioleaching of copper from electronic waste using Acinetobacter sp. Cr B2 in a pulsed plate column operated in batch and sequential batch mode. J Environ Chem Eng 5(2):1599–1607
- Natarajan G, Ting YP (2013) Two-step bioleaching and spent medium leaching of gold from electronic scrap material using Chromobacterium violaceum. Adv Mater Res 825:270–273
- 27. Işıldar A, van de Vossenberg J, Rene ER, van Hullebusch ED, Lens PNL (2016) Two-step bioleaching of copper and gold from discarded printed circuit boards (PCB). Waste Manag 57:149–157
- 28. Pradhan JK, Kumar S (2012) Metals bioleaching from electronic waste by Chromobacterium violaceum and Pseudomonads sp. Waste Manag Res 30(11):1151–1159
- 29. Ilyas S, Chi RA, Lee JC (2013) Fungal bioleaching of metals from mine tailing. Miner Process Extr Metall Rev 34(3):185–194
- 30. Haug RT (2019) Lessons in environmental microbiology, 1st edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- 31. Foucher S, Battaglia-Brunet F, D'Hugues P, Clarens M, Godon JJ, Morin D (2003) Evolution of the bacterial population during the batch bioleaching of a cobaltiferous pyrite in a suspendedsolids bubble column and comparison with a mechanically agitated reactor. Hydrometallurgy 71(1–2):5–12
- 32. Cárdenas JP, Quatrini R, Holmes DS (2016) Genomic and metagenomic challenges and opportunities for bioleaching: a mini-review. Res Microbiol 167(7):529–538
- 33. Faramarzi MA, Stagars M, Pensini E, Krebs W, Brandl H (2004) Metal solubilization from metal-containing solid materials by cyanogenic Chromobacterium violaceum. J Biotechnol 113 (1–3):321–326
- 34. Narayanasamy M, Dhanasekaran D, Vinothini G, Thajuddin N (2018) Extraction and recovery of precious metals from electronic waste printed circuit boards by bioleaching acidophilic fungi. Int J Environ Sci Technol 15(1):119–132
- Castro IM, Fietto JLR, Vieira RX, Trópia MJM, Campos LMM, Paniago EB, Brandão RL (2000) Bioleaching of zinc and nickel from silicates using Aspergillus niger cultures. Hydrometallurgy 57(1):39–49
- 36. Jujun R, Jie Z, Jian H, Zhang J (2015) A novel designed bioreactor for recovering precious metals from waste printed circuit boards. Sci Rep 5:1–10
- Marra A, Cesaro A, Rene ER, Belgiorno V, Lens PNL (2018) Bioleaching of metals from WEEE shredding dust. J Environ Manag 210:180–190
- Shabani MA, Irannajad M, Azadmehr AR, Meshkini M (2013) Bioleaching of copper oxide ore by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Int J Miner Metall Mater 20(12):1130–1133
- 39. Chi TD, Lee JC, Pandey BD, Yoo K, Jeong J (2011) Bioleaching of gold and copper from waste mobile phone PCBs by using a cyanogenic bacterium. Miner Eng 24(11):1219–1222
- Liu R, Li J, Ge Z (2016) Review on Chromobacterium violaceum for gold bioleaching from e-waste. Procedia Environ Sci 31:947–953
- 41. Tay SB, Natarajan G, Rahim MNBA, Tan HT, Chung MCM, Ting YP, Yew WS (2013) Enhancing gold recovery from electronic waste via lixiviant metabolic engineering in Chromobacterium violaceum. Sci Rep 3:2–8
- 42. Arshadi M, Mousavi SM, Rasoulnia P (2016) Enhancement of simultaneous gold and copper recovery from discarded mobile phone PCBs using *Bacillus megaterium*: RSM based optimization of effective factors and evaluation of their interactions. Waste Manag 57:158–167
- Chen SY, Cheng YK (2019) Effects of sulfur dosage and inoculum size on pilot-scale thermophilic bioleaching of heavy metals from sewage sludge. Chemosphere 234:346–355
- 44. Rehm H (2001) Biotechnology: special processes. Wiley, Weinheim

- 45. Pham VA, Ting YP (2009) Gold bioleaching of electronic waste by cyanogenic bacteria and its enhancement with bio-oxidation. Adv Mater Res 71–73:661–664
- Martinez P, Vera M, Bobadilla-Fazzini RA (2015) Omics on bioleaching: current and future impacts. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99(20):8337–8350
- 47. Völlmecke C, Drees SL, Reimann J, Albers SV, Lübben M (2012) The ATPases CopA and CopB both contribute to copper resistance of the thermoacidophilic archaeon Sulfolobus solfataricus. Microbiology 158(6):1622–1633
- 48. Bosse M, Heuwieser A, Heinzel A, Nancucheo I, Melo Barbosa Dall'Agnol H, Lukas A, Tzotzos G, Mayer B (2015) Interaction networks for identifying coupled molecular processes in microbial communities. BioData Min 8(1):1–17
- 49. Carepo MSP, De Azevedo JSN, Porto JIR, Bentes-Sousa AR, Silva B, Da J, Da Silva ALC, Schneider MPC (2004) Identification of Chromobacterium violaceum genes with potential biotechnological application in environmental detoxification. Genet Mol Res 3(1):181–194
- Ramírez P, Guiliani N, Valenzuela L, Beard S, Jerez C a (2004) Differential protein expression during growth of Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans on ferrous iron, sulfur compounds, or metal sulfides. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(8):4491–4498
- 51. Gadd GM (1999) Fungal production of citric and oxalic acid: importance in metal speciation, physiology and biogeochemical processes. Academic Press, Cambridge
- 52. Bobadilla Fazzini RA, Levican G, Parada P (2011) Acidithiobacillus thiooxidans secretome containing a newly described lipoprotein Licanantase enhances chalcopyrite bioleaching rate. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89(3):771–780
- Ilyas S, Anwar MA, Niazi SB, Afzal Ghauri M (2007) Bioleaching of metals from electronic scrap by moderately thermophilic acidophilic bacteria. Hydrometallurgy 88(1–4):180–188
- 54. Xiang Y, Wu P, Zhu N, Zhang T, Liu W, Wu J, Li P (2010) Bioleaching of copper from waste printed circuit boards by bacterial consortium enriched from acid mine drainage. J Hazard Mater 184(1–3):812–818
- 55. Hu K, Wu A, Wang H, Wang S (2016) A new heterotrophic strain for bioleaching of low grade complex copper ore. Fortschr Mineral 6(1):12
- Pradhan N, Nathsarma KC, Srinivasa Rao K, Sukla LB, Mishra BK (2008) Heap bioleaching of chalcopyrite: a review. Miner Eng 21(5):355–365
- 57. Yang Y, Chen S, Li S, Chen M, Chen H, Liu B (2014) Bioleaching waste printed circuit boards by Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans and its kinetics aspect. J Biotechnol 173(1):24–30
- Arshadi M, Mousavi SM (2014) Simultaneous recovery of Ni and Cu from computer-printed circuit boards using bioleaching: statistical evaluation and optimization. Bioresour Technol 174:233–242
- 59. Zhu N, Xiang Y, Zhang T, Wu P, Dang Z, Li P, Wu J (2011) Bioleaching of metal concentrates of waste printed circuit boards by mixed culture of acidophilic bacteria. J Hazard Mater 192 (2):614–619
- 60. Li J, Liang C, Ma C (2015) Bioleaching of gold from waste printed circuit boards by Chromobacterium violaceum. J Mater Cycles Waste Manag 17(3):529–539
- 61. Xia MC, Wang YP, Peng TJ, Shen L, Yu RL, Liu YD, Chen M, Li JK, Wu XL, Zeng WM (2017) Recycling of metals from pretreated waste printed circuit boards effectively in stirred tank reactor by a moderately thermophilic culture. J Biosci Bioeng 123(6):714–721
- 62. Zhou HB, Zeng WM, Yang ZF, Xie YJ, Qiu GZ (2009) Bioleaching of chalcopyrite concentrate by a moderately thermophilic culture in a stirred tank reactor. Bioresour Technol 100 (2):515–520
- 63. Fu K, Wang B, Chen H, Chen M, Chen S (2016) Bioleaching of Al from coarse-grained waste printed circuit boards in a stirred tank reactor. Procedia Environ Sci 31:897–902
- 64. Nie H, Zhu N, Cao Y, Xu Z, Wu P (2015) Immobilization of acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans on cotton gauze for the bioleaching of waste printed circuit boards. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 177 (3):675–688
- 65. Rodrigues MLM, Leão VA, Gomes O, Lambert F, Bastin D, Gaydardzhiev S (2015) Copper extraction from coarsely ground printed circuit boards using moderate thermophilic bacteria in a rotating-drum reactor. Waste Manag 41:148–158

- 66. Ilyas S, Ruan C, Bhatti HN, Ghauri MA, Anwar MA (2010) Column bioleaching of metals from electronic scrap. Hydrometallurgy 101(3–4):135–140
- Shojaosadati SA, Babaeipour V (2002) Citric acid production from apple pomace in multi-layer packed bed solid-state bioreactor. Process Biochem 37(8):909–914
- Giaveno A, Lavalle L, Patricia C, Donati E (2007) Airlift reactors: characterization and applications in biohydrometallurgy. In: Microbial Processing of Metal Sulfides. Springer, Berlin, pp 169–191
- 69. Hubau A, Minier M, Chagnes A, Joulian C, Perez C, Guezennec AG (2018) Continuous production of a biogenic ferric iron lixiviant for the bioleaching of printed circuit boards (PCBs). Hydrometallurgy 180(July):180–191
- Mendoza-Martínez AM, Escamilla-Silva EM (2013) Airlift bioreactors: hydrodynamics and rheology application to secondary metabolites production. In: Nakajima H (ed) Mass transferadvances in sustainable energy and environment oriented numerical modeling. InTech, Rijeka, pp 387–429
- 71. Chisti Y (1998) Pneumatically agitated bioreactors in industrial and environmental bioprocessing: hydrodynamics, hydraulics, and transport phenomena. Appl Mech Rev 51 (1):33–112
- 72. Merchuk JC (1986) Gas hold-up and liquid velocity in a two-dimensional air lift reactor. Chem Eng Sci 41(1):11–16
- Siegel MH, Hallaile M, Merchuk J (1988) Air-lift reactors: design, operation, and applications. Upstream Process Equip Tech 79(124):301–312
- 74. Couillard D, Mercier G (1991) Optimum residence time (in CSTR and airlift reactor) for bacterial leaching of metals from anaerobic sewage sludge. Water Res 25(2):211–218
- Tyagi RD, Tran FT, Agbebavi TJ (1990) Mesophilic and thermophilic aerobic digestion of municipal sludge in an airlift U-shape bioreactor. Biol Wastes 31(4):251–266
- 76. Chen SY, Lin JG (2004) Bioleaching of heavy metals from contaminated sediment by indigenous sulfur-oxidizing bacteria in an air-lift bioreactor: effects of sulfur concentration. Water Res 38(14–15):3205–3214
- 77. Mousavi SM, Vossoughi M, Yaghmaei S, Jafari A (2006) Copper recovery from chalcopyrite concentrate by an indigenous acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans in an air-lift bioreactor. Iran J Chem Chem Eng 25(3):21–26
- Schugerl K, Lubbert A (1995) Pneumatically driven bioreactors. In: Asenjo JA, Merchuk JC (eds) Bioreactor system design. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 257–303
- Merchuk JC, Siege MH (1988) Air-lift reactors in chemical and biological technology. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 41(2):105–120
- Chisti Y, Moo-Young M (1991) Comments on the communication: on the calculation of shear rate and apparent viscosity in airlift and bubble column bioreactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 38 (2):212–216
- 81. Merchuk JC (1990) Why use air-lift bioreactors? Trends Biotechnol 8(C):66-71
- Merchuk JC, Ben-Zvi S, Niranjan K (1994) Why use bubble-column bioreactors? Trends Biotechnol 12(12):501–511
- Merchuk JC, Berzin I (1995) Distribution of energy dissipation in airlift reactors. Chem Eng Sci 50(14):2225–2233
- 84. Contreras A, García F, Molinaa E, Merchuk JC (1999) Influence of sparger on energy dissipation, shear rate, and mass transfer to sea water in a concentric-tube airlift bioreactor. Enzyme Microb Technol 25(10):820–830
- Ruitenberg R, Schultz CE, Buisman CJN (2001) Bio-oxidation of minerals in air-lift loop bioreactors. Int J Miner Process 62(1–4):271–278
- Siegel MH, Robinson CW (1992) Application of airlift gas-liquid-solid reactors in biotechnology. Chem Eng Sci 47(13–14):3215–3229

Phytoremediation of Soil for Metal and Organic Pollutant Removal



45

Sedevino Sophia and Vidya Shetty Kodialbail

Contents

1	Intro	luction	46		
	1.1	Environmental Toxins and Contaminants	46		
	1.2	Contaminants in the Soil and Its Risks	46		
	1.3	Soil Remediation	47		
	1.4	The Emergence of Phytoremediation	48		
	1.5	Mechanisms of Phytoremediation	49		
2	Facto	rs Affecting the Uptake Mechanisms	56		
3	3 Genetic Engineering in the Plant Species 59				
4	Drawback and Limitations of Phytoremediation 59				
5	Conclusion and Future Prospects				
Ref	References				

Abstract In the recent decades, industrialization and urbanization have increased the concentration of heavy metals, hydrocarbons, and other contaminants in soil. Among the various strategies to tackle the environmental issues, phytoremediation may be applied to combat pollution or recover the contaminated site or limit the degradation of such entities. It is relatively cost-efficient and environmental-friendly and also provides easy public acceptance. Mechanisms for degradation and removal of contaminants, i.e., rhizofiltration, phytoextraction. phytovolatilization, phytostimulation, phytostabilization, and phytotransformation, are available. However, the condition of the soil, microbes residing in the rhizosphere, and the plants to be employed are the important factors to be considered and assessed before implementing the techniques. A wide understanding and appreciation are required to interpret the interactions between the microorganisms, plants, and contaminants involved. Genetic manipulation can also be implemented for better removal and contaminant uptake.

S. Sophia and V. Shetty Kodialbail (🖂)

Department of Chemical Engineering, National Institute of Technology Karnataka Surathkal, Mangalore, India

e-mail: vidyaks95@nitk.edu.in; vidyaks68@yahoo.com

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 45–66, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_576, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 14 July 2020

Keywords Hyperaccumulators, Phytoremediation, Plants, Soil remediation

1 Introduction

1.1 Environmental Toxins and Contaminants

For a functional and a balanced ecosystem, the protection of the environment is a chief factor. Huge number of environmental toxins and pollutants can lead to highlevel degradation impact on the ecosystem, especially soil [1]. About 25% of the global soil is reported to be highly degraded and 44% to be significantly degraded. Various anthropogenic and natural causes lead to degradation of the soil quality by both the organic and inorganic pollutants [2]. Human activities in metalliferous mining, smelting, sewage sludge treatment, agricultural fertilizers, military training and warfare, landfills, electronic industries, electroplating, energy and fuel production [3], etc. lead to an ineluctable release of the pollutants (metals, organic compounds, etc.) to the ecosystem causing a threat to human health [4]. Therefore, the land and water availability, where these pollutants are expected to be localized, is minimalized for agricultural activity or human habitat [5].

1.2 Contaminants in the Soil and Its Risks

Soil is mainly contaminated by metals such as arsenic, lead, and cadmium and organic pollutants such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) and pharmaceuticals. The soil quality deteriorates by the presence of heavy metals and adversely affects the normal metabolism, prevents the vegetation, and interferes the functioning of both the soil and plant biota [6]. The mobility and the toxicity of such metals and organic pollutants in soil depend on many factors like pH; total concentration; soil composition or chemical properties of the soil; soil texture like sand, clay, and silt; soil structure which refers to the arrangement of particles; permeability; specific chemical form of the pollutants; binding state; properties of the pollutant; soil salinity; etc. [7].

Heavy metals are highly persistent which makes the remediation of heavy metalcontaminated soil complex. The inception of soil-borne heavy metals to the ecosystem food chain is dependent on the source and the amount of the metal input, rate and magnitude of uptake, properties of the soil, and the extent of absorption level by the animals [1]. The most common metals found in the soil are chromium, iron, arsenic, lead, nickel, zinc, copper, cadmium, and mercury. The accumulation of heavy metals is found in various forms of its geochemical property, e.g., bound in carbonate phase, sulfides, Fe/Mn oxides, or residual forms [8]. The exposure of heavy metals to human may occur through inhalation of air or by ingestion of food and water. It may lead to chronic accumulation of metals in human kidneys and liver (bioaccumulation). Such contaminants have been observed to affect the biochemical pathways and lead to diseases related to human cardiovascular, nervous, kidney, and bone [9].

Other classes of pollutants present in soil are organic pollutants. Organic pollutants may be hydrocarbons characterized by saturated, unsaturated, linear, or openchain structures and aromatic hydrocarbon or derivative compounds such as pesticides. Some pesticides are non-biodegradable and are persistent organic pollutants. Their behavior in soil can affect their fate, degree of removal, sequestration, and potential intervention to the microflora [10]. Studies show that most of the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons are mutagenic, toxic, and carcinogenic. Their high solubility in lipids facilitates the absorption to the mammalian body. Naphthalene and pyrene can adhere to the kidney, liver, and lung cells [11]. Other organic contaminants like PAH and PCB are found to contaminate the soil too [12]. The degree of retention of pesticides and their transformation products depend on soil-pesticide interactions which in turn depend on the soil characteristics and pesticide properties. The organic matter content, pH, and surface charges of the soil influence the adsorption of pesticides and transformation products [13, 14]. They can harm beneficial soil microorganisms and reduce soil fertility. Pesticides can reach surface water or groundwater through runoff or percolation from treated soil. Many pesticides are highly toxic to fish and cause the death of fish in waterways near treated fields [13]. Organochlorine or organophosphate or carbamate pesticides are considered as endocrine disrupters.

The non-biodegradable organic pollutants and heavy metals present in the soil accumulate in the environment. This leads to the risk to the environment by making the soil unsuitable for agricultural activities. The runoff waters from the soil contaminate the surface water and groundwater, making water unsuitable for drinking. Contaminants in the soil and water enter into the plant bodies or aquatic animals and accumulate in the living tissues of an organism which ascend to a higher living organism through food chain. Thus, remediation of contaminated soil is essential.

1.3 Soil Remediation

Physical, chemical, or biological methods are used to remediate the contaminated soil. The treatment methods may be in situ or ex situ. In in situ methods, contaminated soil is treated at the site of its occurrence [15]. In ex situ methods, the contaminated soil is excavated and taken to the place of treatment for remediation [16]. Chemical and physical treatments of contaminated soil are excavation and removal, extraction, electrochemical treatment, soil washing to remove the contaminants, thermal treatment, oxidation, and reduction [17, 18] However, physical and chemical treatments could potentially [19] cause a deleterious impact on the soil properties. Besides, extraction of contaminants from the soil is laborious because it contains a number of heavy metals like lead, chromium, and mercury; other inorganic ions such as arsenic, cesium, and strontium; organic compounds like trichloroethylene; radioactive materials like uranium; explosives such as 1,3,5-trinitro-

1,3,5-hexahydrotriazine (RDX); hydrocarbons such as benzene, toluene, and xylene (BTX); and pesticides such as atrazine [20].

The use of bioremediation as a treatment strategy for contaminated environments has gained a lot of interest due to its viability and low cost [17, 21, 22]. In bioremediation microorganisms (fungi, bacteria) and plants (phytoremediation) are used for the removal of contaminants from the soil [23, 24]. Microorganisms may mineralize or neutralize the hazardous contaminants. Microbial-based bioremediation uses specialized strains of bacteria with capability of consuming the targeted contaminants [25]. Plants can also be used to consume CO_2 and other gaseous industrial effluents [26]. Remediation using plants is termed as phytoremediation, and it has already received significant scientific and commercial attention.

1.4 The Emergence of Phytoremediation

The employment of the plants alone or in association with microorganism to remediate the soil, water, and air by degradation or stabilization of various environmental contaminants present in them is known as phytoremediation [27]. It is a non-intrusive, effective, and inexpensive means to remediate the soil. The technology is cost-effective than the mechanical or chemical methods for removal or degradation of hazardous compounds from the soil [12]. Every plant extracts the essential nutrients from the soil and water including metals. Plants which have the ability to store huge amount of metals are known as hyperaccumulators. They can uptake even metals that do not appear to be required for their physiological functioning processes [28]. However, the applicability of phytoremediation can be flashed up to low to moderate concentration of contaminant, so as to allow the plant to survive, germinate, and grow at the same time. In regard to plant biological system, there are essential heavy metals which are required by the plant in minute quantities, and they play a vital role in physiological and biochemical function. Essential heavy metals such as Fe, Ni, Mn, Cu, and Zn are essential, whereas the heavy metals which are not needed by the plant for its physiological and biochemical process like As, Hg, Cr, Cd, Pb, etc. are known as non-essential metals. If uptake of such metals becomes higher than its threshold, it may interfere to its normal plant functions [29]. In addition, genetic engineering is now being conducted for the improvement in plant natural capabilities to perform the remediation process better. Advantages of phytoremediation are the following: (1) it is an aesthetically solardriven cleanup technology; (2) minimal disruption to the environment which preserves the top soil in in situ treatment; (3) cost-effectiveness, i.e., 60-80% lesser than conventional methods; (4) suitable, where the contaminants are at low level and shallow sites; and (5) broad-spectrum treatment of environmental contaminants. However, one of the drawbacks is that it is a time-consuming process because the plant may take a lot of time to grow [27].

1.5 Mechanisms of Phytoremediation [30, 31]

The mechanism by which phytoremediation takes place depends on the type of the contaminant being treated. The mechanisms may be broadly classified as phytoextraction, phytodegradation, rhizofiltration, phytostabilization, and phytovolatilization.

1.5.1 Phytoextraction

Phytoextraction is also called as phytoabsorption, phytoaccumulation, and phytosequestration. It removes metals or organics from soils and accumulates them in the biomass of harvestable plants by root and surface shoots. It is the uptake of the contaminant from the soil by the plant roots and can be concentrated and translocated from the soil into the harvestable part [32] of the roots or shoots and above the soil surface [29]. The contaminants are not destroyed but are accumulated in various parts of plant such as shoots, leaves, etc. [33]. Figure 1 presents the schematic representation of phytoextraction. Phytoextraction has been basically divided into two strategies: induced phytoextraction and long term-continuous phytoextraction.



Fig. 1 Phytoextraction

- A. Induced phytoextraction is also known as chelate-assisted phytoextraction. Chelating agent can make the pollutant bioavailable. The chelating agents like ethylene di-amine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) enhance the biosorption and the accumulation ability of non-hyperaccumulating plant. Plants gain affinity toward the metal by the chelate agent, and thus metal accumulation efficiency of the plants gets enhanced. An outline of chelate-assisted phytoextraction of contaminated site is as follows:
 - Evaluation of the site to be treated and determination of chelate and crop combination.
 - Preparation of the site by planting the plants.
 - After the optimal biomass is reached, the soil is subjected to the metal chelate.
 - After the metal accumulation phase starts, the crop can be harvested.

Depending on the plant and its seasons, the plant can be planted in the contaminated or treatment site [34]. Kos and Leštan [35] had investigated the effect of citric acid, EDTA, diethylene-tri-amine-penta-acetate (DTPA), and [S-S]-stereoisomer of ethylenediamine disuccinate (EDDS) on phytoextraction of copper from vineyard soil using *Brassica rapa* var. *pekinensis*. It was found that EDDS showed better result of removal of Cu than the other chelates. Another study showed that EDDS was effective than EDTA in terms of stimulation in translocating metals to the shoots [36]. Metal-chelate complex is transported through the xylem of the plant in the shoots. Water is found to evaporate; however, metal-chelate complex remains. Water evaporates, leaving behind the metal-chelate complex. Thus, the plant acts like a wick that transports the metal ions from the soil into the leaves [34].

B. Continuous phytoextraction

Continuous phytoextraction is the utilization of a metal hyperaccumulating plant which can accumulate, translocate, and also tolerate the high metal concentration over the complete operation cycle. Phytoextraction of organic pollutant depends on the absorption, translocation, and metabolism of organic pollutants in plants [37]. Some organic compounds penetrate through the cell membrane easily and enter into plant cells. *Medicago sativa* and *Tagetes patula* are suitable for the phytoremediation of soils contaminated with phthalic esters and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) [38–40]. Transformation and sequestration of organic pollutants in plants are aided by several detoxification enzymes such as cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP) which catalyze the emulsification of hydrophobic pollutants [41, 42] and glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) which catalyze conjugation of sulfhydryl (-SH) group of glutathione (GSH) and the organic pollutant [43].

Epelde et al. [44] reported that a hyperaccumulator, *Thlaspi caerulescens*, is the most widely studied plant for phytoextraction of metals due to its ability to phytoextract Zn and Cd to a great extent from polluted soil. One of the drawbacks of employing metal hyperaccumulators for metal remediation is that they yield low biomass, the growth rates are slow, and there is scarcity of such hyperaccumulators for growth in metallic pollutant environment rich in lead, uranium, arsenic, etc. [34].

1.5.2 Phytodegradation or Phytotransformation and Phytostimulation

Phytodegradation, or phytotransformation, is the process in which the plants uptake, store, and degrade or transform complex organic pollutants to a lesser harmful substance and simpler organic compounds. Phytostimulation is also known as plant-assisted bioremediation, i.e., the stimulation which is assisted by microbial or fungal. The enzyme or exudates are released to the root zone. Soil organic contaminants can be degraded directly by plant enzyme systems or indirectly by improving living conditions for the soil microorganisms, to enhance their activity and accelerate the degradation of pollutant [45]. The indirect phytotransformation is called as phytostimulation [46]. Phytodegradation process involves the uptake of the contaminants, storing and degrading the contaminants within the tissue. The contaminants can be absorbed by the plant, and the plant enzymes break down the Figure 2 presents the schematic representation contaminants [47]. of phytodegradation process.

Plant-assisted microbial degradation or phytostimulation or rhizodegradation is also categorized as phytotransformation. The root zone of plants is the zones for accelerated biodegradation, due to presence of consortia of microorganisms in rhizosphere, the soil-root interface. Growing of the root stimulates the proliferation of the microbes which utilizes the exudates of plants. The exudates act as a source of carbon and energy [48]. Further, the proliferation of microbes facilitates in the uptake and degradation of components, e.g., hydrocarbon [49]. The rhizosphere region is the soil area of the plant, and it secretes substances that can accelerate the rate of degradation of the organic contaminants. The rhizosphere has 100 times greater quantity of microbes than the surface because of the various nutrients like amino acids, enzymes secreted by the plant, sugars, etc. present in the soil. It also has



Fig. 2 Phytodegradation

the roots which allow larger surface area for the growth of microbes and provide adequate supply of oxygen [50]. The inoculation of *Lewia* sp. which is a fungus associated with Festuca arundinacea has shown the removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon from spiked soil and accumulation of pyrene [51]. In this process, the seeds are inoculated with the plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR), which target the roots to minimize the plant stress caused due to the presence of contaminants and enhance the plant biomass growth. Secondly, the exudates in the soil like organic acids or sugars promote the growth and boost the metabolic activity in rhizobacteria. The well-balanced positive interaction stimulates the degradation of hydrocarbons. However, sometimes root exudates may also result in a repressive effect on the biodegradation. For BTEX hydrocarbons, trees with deep rooting are condign; grasses are usually practical for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. The higher rates of degradation of PAHs were detected at 3 millimeters from the root zone [52]. Some points to be taken into consideration for the improvement and longevity of the tree are by planting the tree before the growing season, making sufficient hole diameter, and turning over the soil or mixed with fresh soil. Plantation of mixed trees and grasses can also improve the efficacy of phytostimulation technique [53].

Chemical fertilizers, e.g., atrazine, can be detoxified by the microbial consortia in the rhizosphere leading to fewer detrimental effect on the plant. Caçador and Duarte [54] used halophytes as phytoconverters for the phytoconversion of hexavalent chromium, which is the toxic form of chromium to the less toxic trivalent form. Lytle et al. [55] reported soluble hexavalent chromium reduction by water hyacinth wherein hexavalent chromium is externally reduced by the lateral fine roots due to oxalate exudation and the plants uptake less toxic trivalent chromium. Newman et al. [56] have found that 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) from contaminated soil can be effectively degraded by a TNT-cometabolizing *Pseudomonas* sp. along with plant species such as *Bromus erectus* Huds. The *Pseudomonas* strain cometabolized TNT through aromatic nitroreduction and sufficiently reduced the phytotoxicity of TNT and allowed plant growth. Stimulation of rhizosphere enhanced the growth of bacterial populations possessing the genes specific for degradation of 2-nitrotoluene and 4-nitrotoluene [56].

During cometabolism biotransformation, numerous reactions which include hydrolysis, reduction, oxidation, rearrangement, and conjugation [57] may occur in the rhizosphere or soil by the action of enzymes from a consortium of bacteria, which are phase I transformations. In plants, oxidative enzymes may act to form hydroxylated metabolites of aromatic rings. These metabolites further conjugate to sugars, amino acids, or glutathione, via glutathione S-transferase. These are phase II transformations. The additional reactions [58], leading to further conjugations followed by sequestration of the metabolites in organelles or incorporation into plant tissues [59], also occur, which are phase III transformations. Thus, microbial-mediated phytotransformation involves three phases [60].

1.5.3 Rhizofiltration

Rhizofiltration or phytofiltration is the process of employing plant biomass for removal of contaminants, primarily toxic metals from the surface waters or wastewater [61]. In rhizofiltration, the removal of pollutants from water sources occurs by plant roots. The heavy metals are removed by absorption, concentration, and precipitation by the root of the plant. Figure 3 presents the schematic representation of rhizofiltration.

Phytofiltration can be conducted in situ. The plants are grown in the contaminated surface water body. Rhizosphere plays an essential role, if the contaminated ground-water is in the vicinity of the root zone to carry out in situ process. In some cases, the contaminated groundwater may be pumped into troughs where larger and longer root plant species is affirmed. This will initiate the significant absorption of the metals or contaminants by the roots. In addition, metals may also be removed from the groundwater through precipitation by the liquid secreted by plant tissues, which triggers the precipitation, and precipitates are removed by filtration after it passes through the plant troughs. Depending on the plant species used, the roots can be harvested, and the shoots may be further transplanted to grow into new roots. For better operational results, the plants in the system can be replaced. Aquatic plants like *Myriophyllym brasiliensis, Juncus xiphioides*, and *Typha latifolia* have showed the ability to phytoremediate Se in wetlands by accumulation and volatilization [60]. Sunflowers were used near Chernobyl to extract radioactive strontium and



Fig. 3 Rhizofiltration

cesium from the surface-contaminated ponds [30]. The terrestrial plants, like *Brassica juncea* (L.) Czern. and *Helianthus annuus* L., and various grasses grown on surface water, effectively remove toxic metals such as Cu^{2+} , Cd^{2+} , Cr^{6+} , Ni^{2+} , Pb^{2+} , and Zn^{2+} through their roots from water [62].

1.5.4 Phytostabilization

The technique in this remediation aims to reduce the amount of pollutants especially metals, percolating through the soil matrix [63] to reduce the bioavailability. Phytostabilization is the use of certain plant species for immobilizing contaminants in the soil and groundwater by means of adsorption and accumulation onto the roots, or to precipitate within the plant root zone. This mechanism prevents the mobility of the contaminant to the ground and lowers the bioavailability of metal into the food chain. To restore the vegetation at contaminated sites, metal-tolerant plant species is to be employed [28]. Thus, it reduces the contaminant exposure, without being destructive to the structure and biological activity of soils. In addition, the generation of by-products is minimized [64]. The association of the plant and the microbes helps in the immobilization mechanisms or in inactive form. Figure 4 presents phytostabilization process.

The mechanisms for metal immobilization in plants are the following:

- 1. The entry of the metal through permeable barrier is prevented/concentration gradient of metal outside the cell.
- 2. The adhesion to the extracellular polymers.
- 3. The transformation where the metal can be chemically modified to less simple active form. The interaction of heavy metals with amine and amide functional group, sulfonate, hydroxyl, carboxyl, and sulfhydryl group leads to the immobilization and the prevention for the entry to the root system.

Metals bind to the extracellular polymers which consist of polysaccharide and proteins [33]. Dense root system stabilizes the soil and soil erosion can be prevented. It is effectual when there is a need of preserving the groundwater and surface water, and the disposal of biomass can be prevented. Plants may be identified or can be engineered. The secreted compounds by the plants could have the ability of immobilizing contaminants by redox processes or by precipitating the insoluble compounds in the rhizosphere, e.g., Pb is precipitated as phosphate, and Cd forms complexes with sulfide in the roots and the rhizosphere of *Agrostis capillaris* and *Silene vulgaris*, respectively [65]. However, the major drawback of this technique is the contaminant remains in soil and therefore requires regular monitoring [66]. The cleanup site must be properly controlled and monitored to achieve such cause [67].

1.5.5 Phytovolatilization

In phytovolatilization [68], the pollutants are taken by the plants from the growth matrix, transformed, and released into the atmosphere. The contaminant is



partitioned into the airspaces within a plant and subsequently diffuses into the ambient air, provided ambient air is less contaminated. For volatile organic compounds (VOCs), phytovolatilization is the major loss mechanism. Figure 5 presents the phytovolatilization process, substantial dilution and photochemical decay of the contaminant in the atmosphere. However, phytovolatilization may cause degradation of air quality and may lead to exposure of human beings to the contaminant released to air and poses risk in the urban areas. Phytovolatilization of both inorganic and organic contaminants have been reported. Volatile forms of several inorganic compounds such as Se [49], As [69–71], and Hg [72] can be volatilized from plants.

In direct phytovolatilization, the contaminants that the plants uptake are translocated and eventually volatilize from the stem/trunk and leaves. In indirect phytovolatilization, volatile contaminant flux from the subsurface increases due to plant root activities. Volatile contaminants like trichloroethylene (TCE) and tetrachloroethylene (PCE) are reported to undergo phytovolatilization from traditional phytoremediation plants such as willow and hybrid poplar [73]. Phytovolatilization of methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) in weeping willows [74] and in hybrid poplar trees [75] has been reported.

Fig. 4 Phytostabilization

Fig. 5 Phytovolatilization



2 Factors Affecting the Uptake Mechanisms

The uptake, accumulation, and distribution of heavy metals in the plant depend on the plant used for phytoremediation, element species which is being taken up, temperature, dissolved oxygen, chemical and bioavailiability, cation exchange capacity, redox potential, pH, and secretion by roots [76]. The uptake of a contaminant is greatly affected by the characteristics of plant species. Therefore, the plant species with superior remediation properties are to be selected after screening. It is important to choose a plant species that can efficiently hyperaccumulate heavy metals and which yields large amount of biomass. A plant which is able to accumulate the heavy metal more than 0.1% in its dry weight is a hyperaccumulator [77]. Meagher [78] has defined that any plant which has the ability to remediate the soil by reducing the contaminant level by 50% in 24 h is termed as a good phytoremediation agent. It is essential that along with the ability to bioaccumulate the metal, the hyperaccumulator should have a tolerance to the heavy metal. Hyperaccumulators should have the metal concentration of 1% for Mn and Zn; 0.1% for metals such as Al, Cr, Co, Cu, Pb, and Ni; 0.01% for Cd and Se; and 0.001% for Hg of the shoot dry weight [79]. The plants from family of *Brassicaceae*, Cunoniaceae. *Caryophyllaceae*, Asteraceae, Euphorbiaceae, Cyperaceae, Fabaceae, Lamiaceae, Violaceae, Poaceae, etc. [19], Alyssum species, Thlaspi species, Brassica juncea, Viola calaminaria, and Astragalus racemosus take up heavy metals and radionuclides in high concentrations [19, 80, 81]. Table 1 presents some of the plants used in phytoremediation.

Plant	Compound	References
Alfalfa (<i>Medicago</i> sativa L.)	Pyrene, phenanthrene	Gao et al. [82]
<i>Azolla filiculoides</i> , an aquatic plant	Sulfadimethoxine at concentrations of 50-450 mg/L	Forni et al. [83]
Chrysopogon zizanioides (vetiver grass)	5–15 mg/L tetracycline	Datta et al. [84]
Calendula officinalis L.	Cd and Pb	Mani et al. [85]
Canola plant	Cr, Co, Ni, and Pb	Adiloğlu [86]
Improved Nicotiana spp. plants	Cu, Cd, Zn	Gardea- Torresdey et al. [87]
Linum usitatissimum (flax)	59–355 mg/L of diclofenac, 41–247 mg/L of ibu- profen, and 30–181 mg/L acetaminophen	Kotyza et al. [88]
Populus nigra	0.03-30 mg/L of ibuprofens	Iori et al. [89]
Rhizobium meliloti	Various PAHs	Teng et al. [90]
Pteris vittata	Arsenic soil	Yang et al.[91]
Typha spp.	0.5–2 mg/L of clofibric acid and ibuprofen	Dordio et al. [92]

Table 1 Some of plants species used for phytoremediation

The application of phytoremediation on large scale is limited by availability of the plants with the remediation potential and size of such plants. Native plants may not have the required ability to tolerate, detoxify, and accumulate contaminants [93]. Plant performance is improved by selective breeding and transgenic approach [4, 94, 95]. Biochemical and genetic mechanisms for important processes involved in phytoremediation are being understood, and the rate-limiting processes are optimized [96]. The soil properties affect the uptake. The higher clay content soils have the capacity to hold higher concentration of elements than sandy soil. The colloidal particle of clay can retain up to 1,000 mg Hg, 317 mg Cu, 560 mg Cd, 1,030 mg Pb, 326 mg Zn, and 173.3 mg Cr(III) for each kg soil. The efficacy of clay to absorb trace elements is dependent on the cation exchange charge of particular clay minerals [50]. The alkaline conditions, high organic matter content, and silty or silty loamy texture of soils may reduce the availability of heavy metals to plants [97].

The root zone is one of the highlighted zones in phytoremediation process. Rhizosphere is a soil microenvironment in which the properties of soil and the activities of the plant roots and microorganisms interact with each other in a coordinated manner [98]. Contaminants can be absorbed and stored or metabolized inside the plant tissue. Plant enzymes are secreted from the roots which facilitate in the degradation of contaminants and assist in phytoremediation mechanism [99]. These enzymes are associated with the wall and catalyze the formation of products. The plant roots or the microorganisms in rhizosphere uptake the products [100–102].

A morphological adaptation to drought stress can promote the enlargement of root diameter and decrease in the root elongation as a response to less permeability of the dried soil. The contaminants in the soil may be immobilized by certain plant species through absorption, accumulation, and adsorption onto the roots or precipitation within the root zone [103]. Phytoextraction occurs in the root zone of plants. The root zone is generally shallow, and bulk of the roots are at shallower regions, which is a limitation for phytoextraction. The remediation was limited to the top 15 cm of soil when lead-contaminated soil was remediated using *Brassica juncea* [104].

For the enhancement in the remediation process, pH plays a significant role in the soil. Lower pH value increases the mobility for cationic species, while the opposite is true for anionic species [50]. The mobilization and immobilization of metals and ligand depend on the pH [105]. To reduce the uptake of lead, the pH of the soil may be adjusted to neutral 6.5 to 7.0. Soil pH determines the solubility of heavy metals and nutrients. The increase in pH results in the formation of less soluble forms of trace elements in the soil and restricts the possibility of their accumulation by plants. Leaching of biogenic components may be prevented by an increase in pH value [106].

The addition of biodegradable chelating agents and micronutrients increases the bioavailability of the metals and the metal uptake by the plants. The heavy metal uptake capacity of the microorganisms in the soil is stimulated by the chelating agents and micronutrients. It facilitates the faster uptake of heavy metals, thus reducing the requirement of remediation time [28]. It has been reported that exposure of the soil to chelating agents such as EDTA and citric acid could improve the uptake of metals [107–109]. The presence of a ligand results in the formation of metal-ligand complexes which influences the leachability of metals from below the root zone [105].

The conditions of the environment affect the vegetative uptake. The temperature in the root and above the soil surface affects the plant growth and consequently the length of the root. Root structure is influenced by environmental conditions.

The seasonal variations in climate create gradients in temperature, light intensity, and light regime [110]. The uptake of phosphorous and arsenic was found to fluctuate during the growing season [111–114]. Plant age affects the metal uptake. Generally, growth of young roots is faster, and they uptake nutrients at higher rates than older roots [115].

Rofkar and Dwyer [110] have observed that the arsenic uptake by *S. pectinata* occurred at a greater rate in summer than in spring, while *C. stricta* showed similar uptake in both the seasons. They suggested that to maximize arsenic removal, (1) a diverse group of warm- and cool-season plant species may be employed to supplement the uptake during seasonal variations, and (2) plants may be allowed to accumulate arsenic during the growing season, and then older plants which has enough time to transfer a large portion of the accumulated arsenic to shoots may be harvested. Plant age was found to affect transfer of arsenic from roots to shoots. In addition, when metals are bound to the soil, the pH, organic matter content, and redox potential influence the metals to exist in ionic and plant-available form

[28]. Plants have the ability to lower the pH and oxygenate the sediment in the soil which affects the availability of the metals [116].

In the soil, the solubility and mobility of heavy metals are reduced naturally through sorption, precipitation, and complexation reactions [117, 118]. Addition of organic compounds to soils increases its cation exchange capacity [119] and accelerates the attenuation process [120]. This increases binding of heavy metals to soil, thus rendering them less transportable.

The effect of high soil moisture content on the growth of plant species and hyperaccumulation of Ni and Zn in *Alyssum murale*, *Berkheya coddii*, and *Thlaspi caerulescens* was studied by Angle et al. [121]. Their results showed that the growth and biomass of hyperaccumulators are higher at high soil moisture content.

3 Genetic Engineering in the Plant Species

Genetic engineering of the plant species is focused on genes whose protein products are involved in the uptake and accumulation of metals. Plant biotechnologists target on chelation and metal transport, making the two key processes for the success of phytoremediation [122]. Genetic manipulation may be applied to plants and the associated microorganisms to uptake or to volatilize the contaminants. Zhao and Mcgrath [123] reported Se uptake by a plant in contaminated soil and drained water from irrigation. When selenium is present as selenate, it is highly bioavailable to plant roots. Some of the reports showed that the transgenic *Brassica juncea* (Indian mustard), whose genes have overexpressed, are involved in sulfur (S)/Se metabolism and have increased in the accumulation and tolerance to Se. The transgenic plants overexpressing adenosine triphosphate sulfurylase (ATPS) catalyze sulfate/selenate activation before they are reduced to sulfite/selenite. Selenite reduction and assimilation can be enhanced by overexpression of APS and/or the APS reductase (APR) [123]. Agata et al. [122] enhanced the phytoremediation of a mercury-polluted soil by integration of merT gene into ppk-transgenic tobacco which resulted in accelerated and enhanced mercury uptake into tobacco. One of the effective methods to ameliorate the process is by introducing a xenobiotic microbe to the rhizosphere to contribute in the secretions of the exudate and promote in the decomposition of contaminants. The aim of this method is that plants need not absorb the contaminants but the secreted enzymes can decompose the contaminants [124].

4 Drawback and Limitations of Phytoremediation

Phytoremediation is a long process and it may take many years to clean up a site from the contaminant; still the site may not be fully remediated. The use of invasive, non-native species can affect biodiversity. The consumption of contaminated plants by wildlife is also a remarkable concern. After the cleanup process, the harvested plant biomass produced may be classified as hazardous waste; thus proper handling and disposal are essential. Unfavorable climate may limit the growth of the plant and phytomass production, thus decreasing process efficiency [125].

5 Conclusion and Future Prospects

Researchers in the past few decades have developed wider and better understanding of how the mechanisms of phytoremediation, the plants, and the microorganisms contributed for the efficacy of these methods [20]. Basic research is still needed to be exploited to offer the best efficient technology. In addition to that, integration of latest molecular tools with known basic pathways is essential. The application of genetic engineering to improvise the phytoremediation potential is important. The physiology and biochemistry of the plant have to be understood in terms of the contaminant degradation. Proper screening and selection of plant species to be employed are the major key for the success of this technology [126].

References

- Emenike CU, Jayanthi B, Agamuthu P, Fauziah SH (2018) Biotransformation and removal of heavy metal: a review of phytoremediation and microbial remediation assessment on contaminated soil. Environ Rev 26(2):156–168
- Ifon BE, Togbé ACF, Tometin LAS, Suanon F, Yessoufou A (2019) Metal-contaminated soil remediation: phytoremediation, chemical leaching and electrochemical remediation. In: Metals in soil-contamination remediat. IntechOpen
- Nouri J, Khorasani N, Lorestani B, Karami AH, Yousefi N (2009) Accumulation of heavy metals in soils and uptake by plant species with phytoremediation potential. Environ Earth Sci 59(2):315–323
- Pilon-Smits E, Pilon M (2002) Phytoremediation of metals using transgenic plants. Crit Rev Plant Sci 21:439–456
- 5. Kramer U (2005) Phytoremediation: novel approaches to cleaning up polluted soils. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16(2):133–141
- Clau C, Fonse R (2015) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in phytoremediation of contaminated areas by trace elements : mechanisms and major benefits of their applications. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 955:1655–1664
- Charlotte M (2017) Phytoremediation of soil contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons and trace elements. PhD thesis, Linnaeus University Dissertations Nr 279/2017, Linnaeus University Press
- Habes AG (2012) Fractionation and risk assessment of heavy metals in soil samples collected along Zerqa River, Jordan. Environ Earth Sci 66(1):199–208
- Ugya AY, Ahmad AM, Adamu HI, Giwa SM, Imam TS (2019) Phytoextraction of heavy metals and risk associated with vegetables grown from soil irrigated with refinery wastewater. J Appl Biol Biotechnol 7(2):14–19
- Gaskin SE, Bentham RH (2010) Science of the total environment Rhizoremediation of hydrocarbon contaminated soil using Australian native grasses. Sci Total Environ 408 (17):3683–3688
- 11. Gitipour S, Sorial GA, Ghasemi S (2018) Treatment technologies for PAH-contaminated sites: a critical review. Environ Monit Assess 190(9):546
- Alkorta I, Garbisu C (2001) Phytoremediation of organic contaminants in soils. Bioresour Technol 79:1994–1997
- Aktar W, Sengupta D, Chowdhury A (2009) Impact of pesticides use in agriculture: their benefits and hazards. Interdiscip Toxicol 2(1):1–12
- Andreu V, Picó Y (2004) Determination of pesticides and their degradation products in soil: critical review and comparison of methods. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 23(10–11):772–789
- Karn B, Kuiken T, Otto M (2009) Nanotechnology and in situ remediation: a review of the benefits and potential risks. Environ Health Perspect 117(12):1813–1831
- Gomes HI, Dias-Ferreira C, Ribeiro AB (2013) Overview of in situ and ex situ remediation technologies for PCB-contaminated soils and sediments and obstacles for full-scale application. Sci Total Environ 445:237–260
- Adetitun D, Akinmayowa V, Atolani O, Olayemi A (2018) Biodegradation of jet fuel by three gram negative bacilli isolated from kerosene contaminated soil. Pollution 4(2):291–303
- Khan NT, Jameel N, Khan MJ (2018) A brief overview of contaminated soil remediation methods. Biotechnol Ind J 14(4):171
- Padmavathiamma PK, Li LY (2007) Phytoremediation technology: hyper-accumulation metals in plants. Water Air Soil Pollut 184(1–4):105–126
- 20. Glick BR (2010) Using soil bacteria to facilitate phytoremediation. Biotechnol Adv 28 (3):367–374
- Akande F, Ogunkunle C, Ajayi S (2018) Contamination from petroleum products: impact on soil seed banks around an oil storage facility in Ibadan, South-West Nigeria. Pollution 4 (3):515–525
- Alam AR, Hossain ABM, Hoque S, Chowdhury DA (2018) Heavy metals in wetland soil of greater Dhaka District, Bangladesh. Pollution 4(1):129–141
- 23. Abbaslou H, Bakhtiari S (2017) Phytoremediation potential of heavy metals by two native pasture plants (Eucalyptus grandis and *Ailanthus altissima*) assisted with AMF and fibrous minerals in contaminated mining regions. Pollution 3(3):471–486
- 24. Makombe N, Gwisai RD (2018) Soil remediation practices for hydrocarbon and heavy metal reclamation in mining polluted soils. Sci World J 2018:5130430
- Volkering F, Breure AM, Rulkens WH (1997) Microbiological aspects of surfactant use for biological soil remediation. Biodegradation 8(6):401–417
- 26. Cunningham SD, Ow DW (1996) Promises and prospects of phytoremediation. Plant Physiol 110(3):715
- Morikawa H (2003) Basic processes in phytoremediation and some applications to air pollution control. Chemosphere 52:1553–1558
- 28. Tangahu BV, Rozaimah S, Abdullah S, Basri H, Idris M, Anuar N, Mukhlisin M (2011) A review on heavy metals (As, Pb, and Hg) uptake by plants through phytoremediation. Int J Chem Eng 2011:1
- Ali H, Khan E, Anwar M (2013) Chemosphere phytoremediation of heavy metals concepts and applications. Chemosphere 91(7):869–881
- 30. Miller RR (1996) Phytoremediation: technology overview report. Ground Water Remed Technol Anal Center 39:80
- 31. Peuke AD, Rennenberg H (2005) Phytoremediation. EMBO Rep 6(6):497-501
- 32. Singh OV, Labana S, Pandey G, Budhiraja R, Jain RK (2003) Phytoremediation: an overview of metallic ion decontamination from soil. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 61:405–412
- 33. Sivarajasekar SMN, Paramasivan JSVT, Naushad M (2018) Phytoremediation of heavy metals: mechanisms, methods and enhancements. Environ Chem Lett 16(4):1339–1359
- 34. Salt DE, Smith RD, Raskin I (1998) Phytoremediation. Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 49:643–668
- 35. Kos B, Leštan D (2003) Induced phytoextraction/soil washing of lead using biodegradable chelate and permeable barriers. Environ Sci Technol 37(3):624–629

- 36. Santos FS, Hernández-Allica J, Becerril JM, Amaral-Sobrinho N, Mazur N, Garbisu C (2006) Chelate-induced phytoextraction of metal polluted soils with *Brachiaria decumbens*. Chemosphere 65(1):43–50
- Chen J, Xu QX, Su Y, Shi ZQ, Han FX (2013) Phytoremediation of organic polluted soil. J Bioremed Biodegr 4:132–134
- 38. Fu D, Teng Y, Luo Y, Tu C, Li S et al (2012) Effects of alfalfa and organic fertilizer on benzo [a]pyrene dissipation in an aged contaminated soil. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 19:1605–1611
- Hamdi H, Benzarti S, Aoyama I, Jedidi N (2012) Rehabilitation of degraded soils containing aged PAHs based on phytoremediation with alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.). Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 67:40–47
- 40. Sun Y, Zhou Q, Xu Y, Wang L, Liang X (2011) Phytoremediation for cocontaminated soils of benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P) and heavy metals using ornamental plant Tagetes patula. J Hazard Mater 186(2–3):2075–2082
- Nwoko CO (2010) Trends in phytoremediation of toxic elemental and organic pollutants. Afr J Biotechnol 9:6010–6016
- 42. Page V, Schwitzguébel JP (2009) The role of cytochromes P450 and peroxidases in the detoxification of sulphonated anthraquinones by rhubarb and common sorrel plants cultivated under hydroponic conditions. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 16:805–816
- 43. Cummins I, Dixon DP, Freitag-Pohl S, Skipsey M, Edwards R (2011) Multiple roles for plant glutathione transferases in xenobiotic detoxification. Drug Metab Rev 43:266–280
- 44. Epelde L, Becerril JM, Hernández-Allica J, Barrutia O, Garbisu C (2008) Functional diversity as indicator of the recovery of soil health derived from Thlaspi caerulescens growth and metal phytoextraction. Appl Soil Ecol 39(3):299–310
- 45. Rasmussen G, Olsen RA (2004) Sorption and biological removal of creosote-contaminants from groundwater in soil/sand vegetated with orchard grass (Dactylis glomerata). Adv Environ Res 8(3-4):313–327
- 46. McIntyre T, Lewis GM (1997) The advancement of phytoremediation as an innovative environmental technology for stabilization, remediation, or restoration of contaminated sites in Canada: a discussion paper. J Soil Contam 6:227–241
- Akpor OB, Muchie M (2010) Remediation of heavy metals in drinking water and wastewater treatment systems: processes and applications. Int J Phys Sci 5(12):1807–1817
- 48. Favas PJC, Pratas J, Varun M, D'Souza R, Paul MS (2014) Phytoremediation of soils contaminated with metals and metalloids at mining areas: potential of native Flora. In: Hernandez-Soriano MC (ed) Environmental risk assessment of soil contamination. InTech Europe, Rijeka, pp 485–517
- 49. Terry N, Zayed AM, de Souza MP, Tarun AS (2000) Selenium in higher plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 51(1):401–432
- Antoniadis V, Levizou E, Shaheen SM, Sik Y, Sebastian A, Baum C, Prasad MNV, Wenzel WW, Rinklebe J (2017) Earth-science reviews trace elements in the soil-plant interface: phytoavailability, translocation, and phytoremediation – a review. Earth-Sci Rev J 171 (2016):621–645
- 51. Cruz-Hernández A, Tomasini-Campocosio A, Pérez-Flores LJ, Fernández-Perrino FJ, Gutiérrez-Rojas M (2013) Inoculation of seed-borne fungus in the rhizosphere of *Festuca* arundinacea promotes hydrocarbon removal and pyrene accumulation in roots. Plant Soil 362:261–270
- Ma B, Lyu X, Zha T, Gong J, He Y, Xu J (2015) Reconstructed metagenomes reveal changes of microbial functional profiling during PAHs degradation along a rice (*Oryza sativa*) rhizosphere gradient. J Appl Microbiol 118(4):890–900
- Schwitzguébel J (2017) Phytoremediation of soils contaminated by organic compounds : hype, hope and facts. J Soils Sediments 17:1492–1502
- 54. Caçador I, Duarte B (2015) Chromium phyto-transformation in salt marshes: the role of halophytes. In: Phytoremediation. Springer, Cham, pp 211–217

- 55. Lytle C, Lytle F, Yang N, Qian J, Hanen D, Zayed A, Terry N (1998) Reduction of Cr (VI) to Cr (III) by wetland plants: potential for in situ heavy metal detoxification. Environ Sci Technol 32:3087–3093
- 56. Newman LA, Doty SL, Gery KL, Heilman PE, Muiznieks I, Shang TQ et al (1998) Phytoremediation of organic contaminants: a review of phytoremediation research at the University of Washington. J Soil Contam 7(4):531–542
- 57. Coats JR (1991) Pesticide degradation mechanisms and environmental activation. In: Pesticide transformation products: fate and significance in the environment, pp 10–29
- 58. Sandermann H (1992) Plant metabolism of xenobiotics. Biol Sci 17:82-84
- 59. Manahan SE (1992) Toxicological chemistry. Lewis Publishers, Chelsea
- 60. Arthur EL, Rice PJ, Rice PJ, Anderson TA, Baladi SM, Henderson KLD, Coats JR, Arthur EL, Rice PJ, Anderson TA (2007) Critical reviews in plant sciences phytoremediation – an overview phytoremediation – an overview. CRC Crit Rev Plant Sci 24(109):109–122
- Kumar K, Gupta N, Kumar A, Reece LM, Singh N, Rezania S, Ahmad S (2018) Mechanistic understanding and holistic approach of phytoremediation: a review on application and future prospects. Ecol Eng 120(November 2017):274–298
- 62. Dushenkov V, Kumar PN, Motto H, Raskin I (1995) Rhizofiltration: the use of plants to remove heavy metals from aqueous streams. Environ Sci Technol 29(5):1239–1245
- 63. Vaverková MD, Adamcová D, Radziemska M, Voběrková S, Mazur Z, Zloch J (2018) Assessment and evaluation of heavy metals removal from landfill leachate by Pleurotus ostreatus. Waste Biomass Valoriz 9(3):503–511
- 64. Ruttens A, Mench M, Colpaert JV, Boisson J, Carleer R, Vangronsveld J (2006) Phytostabilization of a metal contaminated sandy soil. I: influence of compost and/or inorganic metal immobilizing soil amendments on phytotoxicity and plant availability of metals. Environ Pollut 144(2):524–532
- 65. De Knecht JA, Van Dillen M, Koevoets M, Schat H, Verkleij JAC, Ernst WHO (1994) Phytochelatins in cadmium-sensitive and cadmium-tolerant Silene vulgaris. Plant Physiol 104(1):255–261
- 66. Ghosh M, Singh SP (2005) A review on phytoremediation of heavy metals and utilization of it's by products. Asian J Energy Environ 6(4):18
- Bolan NS, Park JH, Robinson B, Naidu R, Huh KY (2011) Phytostabilization: a green approach to contaminant containment. In: Advances in agronomy, vol 112. Academic Press, Cambridge, pp 145–204
- Limmer M, Burken J (2016) Phytovolatilization of organic contaminants. Environ Sci Technol 50(13):6632–6643
- 69. Jia Y, Huang H, Sun G-X, Zhao F-J, Zhu Y-G (2012) Pathways and relative contributions to arsenic volatilization from rice plants and paddy soil. Environ Sci Technol 46(15):8090–8096
- 70. Sakakibara M, Watanabe A, Inoue M, Sano S, Kaise T (2010) Phytoextraction and phytovolatilization of arsenic from as-contaminated soils by Pteris vittata. In: Proceedings of the annual international conference on soils, sediments, water and energy, p 26
- Zhu Y-G, Rosen BP (2009) Perspectives for genetic engineering for the phytoremediation of arsenic-contaminated environments: from imagination to reality? Curr Opin Biotechnol 20 (2):220–224
- 72. Wang J, Feng X, Anderson CWN, Xing Y, Shang L (2012) Remediation of mercury contaminated sites – a review. J Hazard Mater 221–222:1–18
- 73. Gordon M, Choe N, Duffy J, Ekuan G, Heilman P, Muiznieks I, Newman LA (1998) Phytoremediation of trichloroethylene with hybrid poplars. Environ Health Perspect 106 (suppl 4):1001–1004
- 74. Yu X-Z, Gu J-D (2006) Uptake, metabolism, and toxicity of methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) in weeping willows. J Hazard Mater 137(3):1417–1423
- Ma X, Richter AR, Albers S, Burken JG (2004) Phytoremediation of MTBE with hybrid poplar trees. Int J Phytoremediation 6(2):157–167

- 76. Cheng S (2003) Heavy metals in plants and phytoremediation. Environ Sci Pollut Res 10 (5):335–340
- Kirkwood N (2002) Here come the hyperaccumulators. Harvard Design Magazine Fall/ Winter, pp 1–4
- Meagher RB (2000) Phytoremediation of toxic elemental and organic pollutants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 3(2):153–162
- 79. Baker AJM, Brooks R (1989) Terrestrial higher plants which hyperaccumulate metallic elements. A review of their distribution, ecology and phytochemistry. Biorecovery 1 (2):81–126
- 80. Alvarez M (2011) Genetic transformation. BoD-Books on Demand
- Krämer U, Cotter-Howells JD, Charnock JM, Baker AJM, Smith JAC (1996) Free histidine as a metal chelator in plants that accumulate nickel. Nature 379:635–638
- Gao Y, Li Q, Ling W, Zhu X (2011) Arbuscular mycorrhizal phytoremediation of soils contaminated with phenanthrene and pyrene. J Hazard Mater 185(2–3):703–709
- Forni C, Cascone A, Fiori M, Migliore L (2002) Sulphadimethoxine and Azolla filiculoides lam.: a model for drug remediation. Water Res 36(13):3398–3403
- 84. Datta R, Das P, Smith S, Punamiya P, Datta R, Das P, Smith S (2013) Phytoremediation potential of vetiver grass [chrysopogon zizanioides (1.)] for tetracycline. Int J Phytorem 15 (4):343–341
- Mani D, Kumar C, Patel NK (2015) Hyperaccumulator oilcake manure as an alternative for chelate-induced phytoremediation of heavy metals contaminated alluvial soils. Int J Phytoremediation 17(3):256–263
- 86. Adiloğlu S (2017) Heavy metal removal with phytoremediation. In: Advances in bioremediation and phytoremediation. IntechOpen, London
- 87. Gardea-Torresdey JL, Peralta-Videa JR, De La Rosa G, Parsons JG (2005) Phytoremediation of heavy metals and study of the metal coordination by X-ray absorption spectroscopy. Coord Chem Rev 249(17–18):1797–1810
- Kotyza J, Petr Soudek ZK, T. V. (2010) International journal of phytoremediation phytoremediation of pharmaceuticals – preliminary study. Int J Phtorem 12(3):37–41
- Iori V, Pietrini F, Zacchini M (2012) Assessment of ibuprofen tolerance and removal capability in Populus nigra L. by in vitro culture. J Hazard Mater 229–230:217–223
- 90. Teng Y, Shen Y, Luo Y, Sun X, Sun M, Fu D, Li Z, Christie P (2011) Influence of Rhizobium meliloti on phytoremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by alfalfa in an aged contaminated soil. J Hazard Mater 186(2–3):1271–1276
- 91. Yang J, Zheng G, Yang J, Wan X, Song B, Cai W, Guo J (2017) Phytoaccumulation of heavy metals (Pb, Zn and Cd) by 10 wetland plant species under different hydrological regimes. Ecol Eng 107:56–64
- 92. Dordio AV, Belo M, Teixeira DM, Carvalho AJP, Dias CMB, Picó Y, Pinto AP (2011) Evaluation of carbamazepine uptake and metabolization by Typha spp., a plant with potential use in phytotreatment. Bioresour Technol 102(17):7827–7834
- Kraemer U, Chardonnens AN (2001) The use of transgenic plants in the bioremediation of soils contaminated with trace elements. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 55:661–672
- 94. Berken A, Mulholland M, LeDuc DL, Terry N (2002) Genetic engineering of plants to enhance selenium phytoremediation. Crit Rev Plant Sci 21:567–582
- 95. Tong Y-P, Kneer R, Zhe Y-G (2004) Vacuolar compartmentalization: A second-generation approach to engineering plants for phytoremediation. Trends Plant Sci 9:7–9
- 96. Bai W, Mebra RK (1997) Metal-binding characteristics of a phytochelatin analog (Glu-Cys) 2Gly. J Inorg Biochem 68:201–210
- 97. Kayser A, Wenger K, Keller A, Attinger W, Felix H, Gupta SK, Schulin R (2000) Enhancement of phytoextraction of Zn, Cd, and Cu from calcareous soil: the use of NTA and sulfur amendments. Environ Sci Technol 34:1778–1783
- Gianfreda L (2015) Enzymes of importance to rhizosphere processes. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 15 (2):283–306

- 99. Liu R, Dai Y, Sun L (2015) Effect of rhizosphere enzymes on phytoremediation in PAH-Contaminated soil using five plant species. PLoS One 10(3):e0120369. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0120369
- 100. Chroma L, Mackovam M, Kucerovam P, Der Wiesche C, Burkhard J, Macek T (2002) Enzymes in plant metabolism of PCBs and PAHs. Acta Biotechnol 22:35–41
- 101. Gramss G, Voigt KD, Kirsche B (1999) Degradation of polycyclic aromatics hydrocarbons with three to seven aromatic rings by higher fungi in sterile and unsterile soils. Biodegradation 10:51–62
- 102. Harvey PJ, Xiang M, Palmer JM (2002) Extracellular enzymes in the rhizosphere. In: Proceedings of inter-cost workshop on soil-microbe-root interactions: maximising phytoremediation/bioremediation. Grainau, Germany, pp 23–25
- 103. Merkl N, Schultze-Kraft R, Infante C (2005) Phytoremediation in the tropics-influence of heavy crude oil on root morphological characteristics of graminoids. Environ Pollut 138 (1):86–91
- 104. Blaylock MJ, Salt DE, Dushenkov S, Zakharova O, Gussman C, Kapulnik Y, Ensley BD, Raskin I (1997) Enhanced accumulation of Pb in Indian mustard by soil-applied chelating agents. Environ Sci Technol 31:860–865
- 105. Seuntjens P, Nowack B, Schulin R (2004) Root-zone modeling of heavy metal uptake and leaching in the presence of organic ligands. Plant Soil 265(1–2):61–73
- 106. Placek A, Grobelak A, Kacprzak M (2016) Improving the phytoremediation of heavy metals contaminated soil by use of sewage sludge. Int J Phytoremediation 18(6):605–618
- 107. Huang JW, Chen J, Berti WR, Cunningham SD (1997) Phytoremediation of leadcontaminated soils: role of synthetic chelates in lead phytoextraction. Environ Sci Technol 31(3):800–805
- 108. Piechalak A, Tomaszewska B, Barałkiewicz D (2003) Enhancing phytoremediative ability of Pisum sativum by EDTA application. Phytochemistry 64(7):1239–1251
- 109. Turgut C, Pepe MK, Cutright TJ (2004) The effect of EDTA and citric acid on phytoremediation of Cd, Cr, and Ni from soil using Helianthus annuus. Environ Pollut 131 (1):147–154
- 110. Rofkar JR, Dwyer DF (2011) Effects of light regime, temperature, and plant age on uptake of arsenic by Spartina pectinata and *Carex stricta*. Int J Phytoremediation 13(6):528–537
- 111. Asher CJ, Reay PF (1979) Arsenic uptake by barley seedlings. Funct Plant Biol 6(4):459-466
- 112. Jonasson S, Stuart Chapin III, F. (1991) Seasonal uptake and allocation of phosphorus in *Eriophorum vaginatum* L measured by labelling with 32P. New Phytol 118(2):349–357
- 113. Meharg AA, Macnair MR (1990) An altered phosphate uptake system in arsenate-tolerant Holcus lanatus L. New Phytol 116(1):29–35
- 114. Tate KR, Speir TW, Ross DJ, Parfitt RL, Whale KN, Cowling JC (1991) Temporal variations in some plant and soil P pools in two pasture soils of widely different P fertility status. Plant Soil 132(2):219–232
- 115. Yanai RD (1994) A steady-state model of nutrient uptake improved to account for newlygrown roots. Soil Sci Soc Am J 58:1562–1571
- 116. Fritioff Å, Greger M (2003) Aquatic and terrestrial plant species with potential to remove heavy metals from stormwater. Int J Phytoremediation 5(3):211–224
- 117. Farrell M, Jones DL (2010) Use of composts in the remediation of heavy metal contaminated soil. J Hazard Mater 175:575–582
- 118. Kiikkilä O, Perkiömäki J, Barnette M, Derome J, Pennanen T, Tulisalo E, Fritze H (2001) In situ bioremediation through mulching of soil polluted by a copper–nickel smelter. J Environ Qual 30(4):1134–1143
- 119. Bolan NS, Duraisamy VP (2003) Role of inorganic and organic soil amendments on immobilisation and phytoavailability of heavy metals: a review involving specific case studies. Soil Res 41(3):533–555
- Ebbs SD, Lasat MM, Brady DJ, Cornish J, Gordon R, Kochian LV (1997) Phytoextraction of cadmium and zinc from a contaminated soil. J Environ Qual 26(5):1424–1430

- 121. Angle JS, Baker AJ, Whiting SN, Chaney RL (2003) Soil moisture effects on uptake of metals by Thlaspi, Alyssum, and Berkheya. Plant Soil 256(2):325–332
- 122. Agata TN, Akamura AN, Kizawa TA, Ou HPAN (2009) Genetic engineering of transgenic tobacco for enhanced uptake and bioaccumulation of mercury. Biol Pharm Bull 32 (September):1491–1495
- 123. Zhao FJ, McGrath SP (2009) Biofortification and phytoremediation. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12 (3):373–380
- 124. Rostami S, Azhdarpoor A (2019) Chemosphere the application of plant growth regulators to improve phytoremediation of contaminated soils: a review. Chemosphere 220:818–827
- 125. Moosavi SG, Seghatoleslami MJ (2013) Phytoremediation: a review. Adv Agric Biol 1 (1):5-11
- 126. Campos VM, Merino I, Casado R, Pacios LF, Gómez L (2008) Review. Phytoremediation of organic pollutants 1. Bioresour Technol 6:38–47

Recent Advances in Organic Acid Production from Microbial Sources by Utilizing Agricultural By-Products as Substrates for Industrial Applications



Dhanya Vishnu, Balaji Dhandapani, and Surianarayanan Mahadevan

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Orga	nic Acids	69	
	2.1	Organic Acid Production	69	
3	Lacti	c Acid	71	
	3.1	Production of Lactic Acid	71	
	3.2	Microbial Production of Lactic Acid	72	
	3.3	Lactic Acid Is the End Product from Metabolic Pathways	72	
4	Citric	c Acid	74	
	4.1	Production of Citric Acid	74	
5	Itaco	nic Acid	76	
	5.1	Production of Itaconic Acid	76	
	5.2	Biochemical Synthesis of Itaconic Acid	76	
6	Othe	r Acids	76	
	6.1	Succinic Acid Production	76	
	6.2	Gluconic Acid	77	
	6.3	Fumaric Acid	78	
7	Prod	uction of Organic Acids by Genetically Engineered Organisms	78	
8	Appl	ications of Organic Acids in the Removal of Metal Ions	79	
9	Conc	slusion	80	
Re	ferenc	es	82	

Abstract Organic acids are considered to be the third-largest entity among the other chemical substitutes. The worldwide market rate was projected to be US\$6.55 billion, and it was expected to reach about US\$9.29 billion by 2021. These

D. Vishnu and B. Dhandapani (🖂)

S. Mahadevan

Chemical Engineering Department, Central Leather Research Institute, Chennai, India

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 67–88, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_577, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 2 July 2020 67

Department of Chemical Engineering, SSN College of Engineering, Chennai, India e-mail: dbalajii@yahoo.com; balajid@ssn.edu.in

compounds have proven to be used in the numerous applications as additives in the food industries and due to their major demand as the feedstocks in the chemical industries. These compounds are also used as the silages in the perspective of drinking water. Organic acids could be produced through chemical and microbiological processes. But fermentation is considered as the major phenomena in the commercial large-scale production of numerous organic acids. Mostly genetically engineered strains could produce the high yield of organic acids using alternate residues from the chemical feedstocks. The choice of raw material and microbial sources is considered as the major significant factor for the enhanced productivity and yield, especially in the large-scale production. Mainly solid-state fermentation with renewable source as the feedstock was preferred because of the economic factor of low cost and easy availability. Citric acid is considerably produced in large quantities among the other acids with 1.6 million tons, whereas acetic acid and lactic acid constitute to be the second and third place in the productivity of various organic acids. These organic acids are extensively found to be used in the numerous applications of food industries, dairy products, and pharmaceuticals and also in the production of various components like inks, plastics, lacquers, etc.; they play a prominent role as a chelating agent in the removal of various metal pollutants from soil. The cost of the petrochemical derivatives tends to increase the usage and provokes the strong interest toward the agricultural by-products to be used as the major feedstock in the numerous organic acid production. These agricultural by-products are considered to be both renewable and economically cheap material as the feedstock to be easily consumed by numerous microorganisms in the commercial and large-scale production of various organic acids.

Keywords Agricultural by-products, Cost and production, Feedstock, Microbial sources, Organic acids, Petrochemical derivatives

1 Introduction

Organic acids (OA) are considered to be the primary groups in the building block of chemicals. They are synthesized from the numerous renewable materials by using microbial phenomena [1]. Mainly they are produced either as the intermediaries during microbial synthetic pathways else occur as the natural products that could be secreted by the various microbes [2]. OA, as well as their derived products, are extensively used in the chemical industries across worldwide due to their unique functional groups which pave a way to emerge in the market [3]. The production of OA and their derivatives could widely be used as the alternative source of numerous petroleum-derived commodities. Maleic anhydride could be replaced with various organic acids of fumaric, malic, and succinic acids which are considered to be more economical, and it tends to provoke the interest on the production of OA in the markets [4].

Agro-industrial wastes are prominently considered among the various industrial by-products due to their abundant carbon and oxygen contents as well as the presence of bioactive compounds. Processing valuable by-products from waste material have been gained as the key interest that promotes these waste compounds to be considered as the valuable sources [5]. Various agricultural residues such as wheat, cereals, rice, potato, sugarcane, and beet are used as the primary substrates due to the abundant starch content. These carbohydrate-rich feedstocks are numerously used in the food industries as well as in the industrial fermentation phenomena and the synthesis of numerous chemical compounds [6]. Due to their easy availability and low cost, these sources are subjected under various processes like physical, biological, and chemical methods to produce many valuable compounds. The US department of energy has estimated that nearly 500 million tons of these agro-based raw materials are available within the price range of nearly 20–50\$/ton [7].

Various pretreatments of renewable sources for OA production are available with the major factors that should be considered for maximal production. The enhanced concentration level of saccharides and the physiochemical treatment of the multifarious substrates have been targeted for the concerned OA production are the key limiting step in the practical applications. The production of intermediaries like furfural, phenol derivatives, acetic acid, hydroxymethylfurfural, and formic acids during the breakdown of monosaccharides inhibits the OA production [7]. The factors like selection medium, pH maintained with the simultaneous OA accumulation, and production of various metabolites and inhibitors should also be concentrated for the maximum OA production. Though numerous raw materials act as the source and the different microbial communities participate directly or indirectly, this present volume of study focuses on the different agro-based substrates used in the various organic acid productions [8, 9].

2 Organic Acids

Organic acids owing to their extensive shelf life period are used as the preservatives and food additives that prevent the deterioration of nutrients present in them. Normally it could be classified based on functional derivatives like monocarboxylic and multicarboxylic acid. Based on the length of the carbon chain, they could be classified as short-chain constitutes about 1–6 carbon atoms, medium-chain represents 7–10 carbon atoms, and long-chain fatty acids have more than 11 carbon atoms [10]. The commercially important acids such as lactic, citric, itaconic acids, sugar derivative acids of gluconic and ascorbic acids, play a key vital role in various aspects of industrial applications [11], shown in Figs. 1 and 2.

2.1 Organic Acid Production

Organic acids are produced based on the aspects of biochemical pathways and industrial pathways. Microbial sources produce based on the metabolic sequence of the organisms which includes the glycolysis and tricarboxylic metabolic



Fig. 1 Classification of organic acids based on the functional group



Fig. 2 Classification of organic acids based on the carbon chain

pathways. Lactic, citric, malic, and the itaconic acids are subjected to be produced by this method. The other group of acids like gluconic acids is synthesized by the direct glucose oxidation method [11]. Also, the metabolic engineered gene of the various microbial sources is concentrated in OA production. The global market is subsequently increased in the organic acid production by 4\$ billion concerning the demand of various chemicals in the market [12]. China was found to be the largest producer of organic acids and is leading in the production of engineering plastics, vinyl and polyester compounds. India is driving toward the organic acid production by the growth of small- and medium-scale enterprises and found to grow at its superior annual growth rate among the certain period. Though chemical process produces organic acids through fermentation methods, shown in Table 1. Citric acid was mostly produced in the large quantity through submerged fermentation with enhanced productivity and greater yield of about 1.6 million tons with annual production by microbial processes. Next to citric acid, acetic acid is produced with



the annual production of about 7,000,000 t, and lactic acid is produced with 150,000 t [13], depicted in Fig. 3.

3 Lactic Acid

Lactic acid or 2-hydroxypropionic acid is composed of both hydroxyl and carboxylic functional groups that are extensively used in the numerous applications of textile, food, leather, pharmaceutical, and chemical industries [21]. It could also be utilized as the feedstocks for polylactic acid production that have been used in the medical applications, and biodegradable plastics are synthesized from the petroleum resources. The optical isomers of lactic acid exit as D(-) - and L(+)-lactic acids are mostly considered since they could be assimilated in the human body.

3.1 Production of Lactic Acid

Though lactic acid could be synthesized either by fermentation or chemical synthesis, microbial fermentative synthesis is mostly preferred since a pure form could be obtained in this method and a racemic mixture was produced by chemical synthesis. Due to less energy utilization, suitable lower productive temperature, environmental sustainability, and greater purity yield made microbial fermentative method to be dominantly used by the industries [23]. The raw material cost for lactic acid production plays a vital role, and the study has revealed that the fermentative production cost is 34% greater than the overall production cost. So various attempts were made to use agricultural residues, rice bran, green microalga, and paper sludge as the raw materials for lactic acid production [24].

Substrate used	Microbial source	Production of organic acids	Method of production	References
Wheat, rice straw, pine sawdust, aspen	Rhizopus oryzae	Lactic, fumaric and succinic acid	Simultaneous enzymatic sac- charification and microbial fermentation	[14]
Sugarcane bagasse and orange peels	Aspergillus oryzae	D-Galacturonic acid	Fermentation	[15]
Sugarcane vinasse	Clostridium, Lactoba- cillus, Bacillus, Ruminococcus	Butyric acid and butanol	Fermentation	[16]
Kraft black liquor	-	Oxalic, malic, lactic, formic, acetic and propionic acid	Hydrothermal treatment	[17]
Glycerol	Yarrowia lipolytica	Citric or isocitric acid	Fermentation	[18]
Skimmed milk	Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus rhamnosus, Lactoba- cillus plantarum, Lac- tobacillus paracasei, Lactobacillus curvatus	Lactic, acetic, formic, citric, succinic and glutamic acids	Fermentation	[19]
Sugarcane molas- ses, soybean meal hydrolysate, beechwood xylan, glycerol	Escherichia coli	Succinic acid	Fermentation	[20]

Table 1 Various substrate used in the production of numerous organic acids

3.2 Microbial Production of Lactic Acid

Lactobacillus, Streptococcus, Weissella, Oenococcus, Lactococcus, Teragenococcus, Enterococcus, Leuconostoc, Pediococcus, Carnobacterium, Aerococcus, and Vagococcus at both the low temperature (5°C) and high temperature (45°C), pH (4.0–4.5) with the nutrients of minerals, nitrogen, and vitamins show a high yield of lactic acid production [25]. Both wild-type and genetically modified strains are used to synthesize lactic acid with numerous feedstocks [26].

3.3 Lactic Acid Is the End Product from Metabolic Pathways

Lactic acids could be produced via homo- and heterofermentation from different metabolic pathways like pentose phosphate and Embden–Meyerhof pathways with different sugar substrates like pentose and hexose, respectively [26, 27] is shown in Fig. 4.





Feedstock	Microbial source	Method of production	Yield $(g g^{-1})$	Lactic acid production $(g L^{-1})$	References
Wheat straw	Bacillus coagulans MA-13	Saccharification and Fermentation	1.23	1.11	[30]
Rice straw slurry	Lactobacillus plantarum	Simultaneous Sac- charification and Fermentation	0.35	1.0	[31]
Orange peel waste hydrolysates	Lactobacillus delbrueckii	Fermentation	0.86	2.02	[32]
Dairy products	Enterococcus hirae	Fermentation	0.89	13.9	[33]
Sugarcane molasses	Clostridium sensu stricto, Escherichia, Enterococcus	Fermentation	0.81	112.34	[34]

Table 2 Agricultural residues as the feedstocks in the production of lactic acid

The yield of lactic acid also depends on the derivative of sugar that has been used as the source of carbon in the productive metabolic pathways. Though the genetically engineered strains such as *Lactobacillus plantarum* $\Delta ldhL1$ -*xpk1::tkt* and *Enterococcus mundtii* QU25 produce lactic acid from pentose sugar derivative through homolactic acid fermentation, the yield was comparatively low, and also the concentration of pentose sugar was also affected due to the metabolic flux created by the above microbial sources [28]. When xylose was selected, as the carbon source, the yield of production was high in comparison with the other sugar derivatives [29] is shown in Table 2.

4 Citric Acid

Citric acid or 2-hydroxy-1,2,3-propane tricarboxylic acid has been extensively used in the wide industrial applications of food, cosmetics, pharmaceutical, beverage, and nutraceutical products since they found to be the emulsifier, acidulant, preservative, and buffering agent [35]. Citric acid is widely found in fruits, animals, and plants such that it plays a prominent role in the biochemical pathways that were explained in the Krebs cycle [36]. Citric acid is the excellent cross-linking agent when it gets dissolved with glycerol where it shows the enhanced thermal degradable property with stable mechanical properties in starch films [37].

4.1 Production of Citric Acid

Citric acid was initially produced as the commercial source from *Aspergillus niger* and later chemicals like glycerol and 1,3 dichloroacetone act as the primary substrate

for its production [38]. Microbial communities like *Penicillium restrictum*, *Aspergillus niger*, *Aspergillus flavus*, *Aspergillus wentii*, *Aspergillus nidulans*, *Aspergillus luchensis*, *Acremonium* sp., *Trichoderma viride*, *Penicillium janthinellum*, and *Ustulina vulgaris* produce citric acid in the presence of medium that contains inorganic salts and sugars [38]. Some species of fungi like *Candida*, *Saccharomyces*, *Hansenula*, *Kloekera*, *Torula*, *Pichia*, *Yarrowia*, and *Zygosaccharomyces* produces numerous amount of isocitric acid which reduces the final yield of the product. Among various microbial sources, *Aspergillus niger* produces a high yield of about 112 g per 100 g of sucrose [39].

Citric acid was normally produced in industries via three methods which include submerged, solid-state, and surface fermentation methods with the appropriate reaction conditions like media selection, inoculum preparation, suitable nutrients to enhance the growth of the inoculum, etc. Solid-state fermentation has been extensively carried out in incubators, conical flasks, and bioreactors that include both single and multilayered packed bed reactors [40]. Around 80% of citric acid was produced using submerged fermentation technique, and industries prefer this method due to the high productivity and low cost. Submerged fermentation could be carried out via batch, fed-batch, and continuous method [41]. Surface fermentation method is usually preferred by small and medium-scale industries because of its low cost, less energy utilization, and simple installation procedure. The phenomena occur in the fermentation chambers, and the culture is poured in the trays that got arranged in these chambers. These chambers are controlled with proper aeration and humidity. Both physical factors like pH, suitable aeration, and product recovery methods like extraction, adsorption, and solvent precipitation and chemical factors like selection of the microbial source, nutrients, and substrate selection play a major and vital role in the citric acid production [42] is shown in Table 3.

Feedstock	Microbial source	Method of production	Yield $(g g^{-1})$	Citric acid production $(g L^{-1})$	References
Sugarcane bagasse and vinasse	Aspergillus niger and Trichoderma reesei	Solid-state cultivation	1.31	7.34	[43]
Sugar beet molas- ses and chicken feather peptone	Aspergillus niger	Simultaneous sac- charification and fermentation	-	68.8	[37]
Spanish style green olive processing wastewater	Aspergillus niger B60	Fermentation	0.56	85	[44]
Cassava peel substrate	Aspergillus niger	Submerged fermentation	0.8	88.73	[45]

 Table 3
 Agricultural residues as the feedstocks in the production of citric acid

5 Itaconic Acid

Itaconic acid or methylene succinic acid is composed of one carboxyl group conjugated with the additional methylene entities. Itaconic acids are extensively used in the numerous applications as adhesives and plastic coatings, and their sulfonated entities are widely applied to prepare various detergents and shampoos [46].

5.1 Production of Itaconic Acid

Filamentous fungi mainly *Aspergillus* is used as the microbial source to produce itaconic acid. The microbial sources like *Aspergillus terreus* could produce itaconic acid in bioreactors which are inhibited in the presence of numerous metal concentrations. *Candida* and *Rhodotorula* species in the presence of phosphate could yield about 35% itaconic acid under appropriate conditions. *Pseudozyma antarctica* NRRL Y-7808 uses glucose as the substrate in the presence of nitrogen and produces itaconic acid under appropriate conditions. *Ustilago maydis* have synthesized the highest amount of about 68.36 g/L of itaconic acids under appropriate growth conditions [47]. Though *Aspergillus terreus* could produce itaconic acids through the tricarboxylic acid cycle with cis-aconitate decarboxylation, due to the high viscous nature oxygen and the mass of filamentous fungi, the production decreases which results in the synthesis of improvised genetically modified strain [48].

5.2 Biochemical Synthesis of Itaconic Acid

Itaconic acid is synthesized from the glucose molecule via the glycolysis pathway that results in the pyruvate production. One part of carbon dioxide released is coupled with acetyl-coA which results in the formation of compounds like citrate and cis-aconitate. The other part of carbon dioxide is synchronized with oxaloacetate where itaconic acid is produced from aconitate decarboxylase. Itaconic acid is formed as the intermediary products from enzymatic fractionalizations [47]. Table 4 represents the various agricultural sources used for the production of itaconic acid.

6 Other Acids

6.1 Succinic Acid Production

Succinic acid or butanedioic acid with dicarboxylic acid entities is produced from both the microbial sources and the chemical precursors like succinate salts, N-methyl pyrrolidinone, adipic acid, 2-pyrrolidinone, gamma-butyrolactone, and 1,4-butanediol [53]. The current market production of succinic acid is found to be 30–50 kton/year produced from petrochemical precursors through maleic anhydride. So industries tried to

Feedstock	Microbial source	Method of production	Yield $(g g^{-1})$	Itaconic acid production $(g L^{-1})$	References
Potato starch waste	Aspergillus terreus	Fermentation	0.41	29.69	[49]
Wheat chaff	Aspergillus terreus	Fermentation	0.41	27.7	[50]
Corn stover	Aspergillus terreus AT-90	Fermentation	0.13	26.46	[51]
Sweet potato peel	Aspergillus niger and Aspergillus terreus ATCC 20542	Fermentation	0.75	115.67	[52]

Table 4 Agricultural residues as the feedstocks in the production of itaconic acid

develop this compound from the various microbial sources [54]. Microbial sources like succinogenes, Actinobacillus Mannheimia succiniciproducens MBEL55E. Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens, and recombinant strain of Escherichia coli produce an increased amount of succinic acid under suitable environmental conditions [53]. Succinic acid is produced as the intermediary product of tricarboxylic acid and produced as the final product as a result of fermentation when glucose or glycerol is consumed. Numerous microbial sources convert phosphoenolpyruvate to succinate which in turn could produce succinic acid. The production could be enhanced by following these methods alike enhancing substrate concentration, projecting the pathways for direct succinic acid production, to delete the gene corresponding to produce by-product inhibitors [55]. Succinic acid could be extensively used as solvents, plasticizers, lubricants, adhesives, pharmaceuticals, sealants, and coating in numerous industries [54] and its consumption is shown in Table 5.

6.2 Gluconic Acid

Gluconic acid or penta-hydroxycaproic acid is a polyhydroxy carboxylic acid and is a natural compound that is found in most of the humans and other animals. It is composed of carbonic acid entities that could be used in the textile, food, beverage, pharmaceutical, feed, and construction industries. Due to the high demand, the cost of gluconic acid and their derivatives are too high of about US\$ 1.20–8.50/kg [56]. The agricultural residues rich in carbohydrate sources like grape, banana, and sugarcane molasses produce a maximum yield of about 95.8% gluconic acid. Microbial source like *Aspergillus niger* with glucose as the substrate produces the maximum yield of 98% gluconic acid [57]. Other microbial sources include *Penicillium* fungi, *Gluconobacter oxydans*, and bacterial strains like *Acetobacter diazotrophicus* and *Zymomonas mobilis* are also identified to produce gluconic acids [58]. Fermentation industries have improvised the methodology of production to maximize the yield. Altering the microbial source with the appropriate conditions in both submerged and solid-state fermentation with high-energy utilization,

Application	% usage of succinic acid in the market
Plasticizer	9.0
Polybutylene succinate	13.0
Solvent and lubricant	9.5
Polyols	7.0
Pharmaceutical	15.0
Other industrial usages	15.0

Table 5 Numerous applications in the production of succinic acid

maintenance by adding neutralizers with glucose as the substrate, and immobilization technique with the cells or enzymes, the yield could be enhanced drastically than any other methods [59]. The disadvantage in the fermentation process is the purification and separation technique results in the development of the classical methods to reduce the cost of the downstream process [57]. Also, many studies have focused on the agro-based by-products to be used as the substrate to meet the demand and to reduce the cost since they are readily available in abundance with eco-friendlier nature [58].

6.3 Fumaric Acid

Fumaric acid is mainly the intermediary product produced in the tricarboxylic acid and are mainly used as beverages in the food industries. Fumaric acid could either be produced from the chemical synthesis and fermentative methods. Also, these could be produced as the by-products from the microbial sources as the result of oxidative metabolism [60]. *Rhizopus* is mainly used with numerous substrates like starch, molasses, sucrose, and glucose in the fermentation phenomena to produce a sufficient quantity of fumaric acid [60]. It could also be synthesized from the maleic acid isomerization and are mainly used in manufacturing the different resins which could be used in the paper industry [61].

The other acids like glucaric acid, galactonic acid, and lactobionic acid are produced in the very less quantity by the chemical methods and by the microbial sources is shown in Table 6. Glucose is the majorly used substrate used to produce these acids by fermentation phenomena. Microbial sources like *Pseudomonas*, *Gluconobacter*, *Aspergillus niger*, *E. coli*, and *Streptomyces cerevisiae* involved in the large-scale production on commercial purposes [62].

7 Production of Organic Acids by Genetically Engineered Organisms

Numerous approaches like genome shuffling and random mutagenesis have been widely used in the wild-type strain to increase the optimum yield of the various organic acid productions [69]. It is one of the evolutionary methods that limit the

Feedstock	Microbial source	Method of production	Yield (g g^{-1})	Organic acid production $(g L^{-1})$	References
Wheat straw, corn stalk and sugarcane bagasse	Yarrowia lipolytica	Fermentation	Succinic acid – 0.45	Succinic acid -209.7	[63]
Sugarcane bagasse	Aspergillus succinogenes	Fermentation	Succinic acid – 0.81	Succinic acid – 27.7	[64]
Cassava starch	Leuconostoc mesenteroids	Fermentation	Succinic acid – 0.69	Succinic acid -106.17	[65]
Apple pomace	Rhizopus oryzae 1526	Fermentation	Fumaric acid – 0.35	Fumaric acid – 25.2	[66]
Potato waste	Gluconobacter oxydans DSM 2003	Hydrolysis and fermentation	Gluconic acid – 0.82	Gluconic acid – 546.48	[67]
Whey hydrolysate	Gluconobacter oxydans	Fermentation	Galactonic acid – 0.90	Galactonic acid – 61.8	[68]
Sugarcane bagasse and orange peels	Aspergillus oryzae	Fermentation	Galacturonic acid – 0.60	Galacturonic acid – 247	[15]

 Table 6
 Production of other organic acids from agricultural by-products

improvement in normal programs in the classical strain [70]. Though the number of classical methods includes UV and chemical mutagenesis, the advantage of the genome shuffling over multi-parental incorporation of foreign DNA plays a significant role in the inducing or suppressing of the various genes to increase the organic acid production [71]. The gene shuffling depends on the various parameters like the selection of the organisms, characterization of the wild-type strain, diversity, phenotype and genotype characterization, and recombination [72]. The various organisms are genetically engineered to optimize the yield of different organic acid productions is shown in Table 7.

8 Applications of Organic Acids in the Removal of Metal Ions

Heavy metal accumulation in the soil is considered as the most prominent threat to the environment. These metals are not biodegradable, and their persistent accumulation in the soil affects animals, humans, and microorganisms of the biological system. Though various remediations like leaching, soil washing, and immobilization using chemicals methods are there, organic acids like citric acid, tartaric acid, and ethylenediamineacetic acid act as the chelating agent that has been used to remediate the soil from the metal pollutants [82]. Various metal contaminants, when

Genetically modified organism	Feedstock	Organic acid	References
	Carlandar		
GUT1 and GUT2	Crude glycerol	acid	[18]
Raoultella planticola CECT 843	Raw glycerol	2,3-butanediol	[73]
Ustilago trichophora TZ1	Glycerol	Malic acid	[74]
Aspergillus niger LaeA ATCC11414	Glucose	Citric acid	[75]
Aspergillus niger D15	Glucose	Oxalic acid,	[76]
		Gluconic acid.	
Propionibacterium acidipropionici A strain	Glucose	Propionic acid	[77, 78]
Escherichia coli 1650-ME	Glucose and Glycerol	Succinic acid	[79]
<i>Clostridium glutamicum</i> expression of gltA gene	Glucose	Itaconic acid	[80]
E. Coli BW25113 expression of ldhA gene	Glucose	Pyruvic acid	[81]

 Table 7 Genetically modified organisms to produce different organic acids

allowed beyond their permissible limits, cause various ill-effects to the humans and animals present in the ecosystem is shown in Table 8.

Adsorption is the physical treatment method used to remove these heavy metal contaminants from various sources. The contaminants are bind by either electrostatic, Van Der Waals or covalent forces. This phenomenal transfer may occur due to physisorption or chemisorption [83]. Various organic acids interact with the metal and soil in the distinct ways based on their unique functional groups and types of the metal complex they formed on interaction. The different concentrations of citric, malic, acetic, and oxalic acids interact with the metal ions to form a metal complex that undergoes on the various machines in the removal of different metal pollutants from soil [84] is shown in Table 9.

9 Conclusion

Agricultural residues are considered as the major substrate in the numerous organic acid productions because of its excess and easy availability and preferable low-cost material with eco-friendlier nature to the environment. This tends to be a major shift from the dependence toward petroleum-based derivatives as the raw materials for organic acid production. Numerous microbial sources and genetically modified strains could use these agricultural residues as the major feedstock in the organic acid production via various methods like hydrolysis, simultaneous saccharification, and fermentation which are discussed above. These are preferably used by the

Metal contaminants	Permissible limit (mg/L)	Source of contamination	Ill effects
Arsenic	0.05	Production wastes from glass and electronics	Cancer, damage in the cir- culatory system, and skin disease
Antimony	0.006	Contaminants from petroleum refineries, electronics, ceramics waste and fire retardants	Lowers sugar level in blood and enhanced cholesterol level in the blood
Cadmium	0.005	Galvanized pipes getting corroded, waste from metal refineries, batte- ries and paints	Kidney problems
Chromium	0.1	Waste from steel and leather industries	Dermatitis
Copper	1.3	Waste from plumbing and wood industries	Kidney and liver disease with gastrointestinal problems
Lead	0.015	Waste from the plumbing system and natural deposits getting eroded from the ecosystem	Physical and mental disor- der, kidney disease with elevated blood pressure
Mercury	0.002	Waste from factories and refineries and leaching from cropland	Kidney disease
Selenium	0.05	Waste discharge from petroleum, mines, and metal refineries	Blood circulation problems, tiredness, and hair loss

Table 8 The numerous metal contaminants and their effects

industries in the commercial large-scale production. Though genetically modified strains could be used for the organic acid production, several problems are to be considered like by-product formation that acts as the inhibitor for the key organic acid production. So in future, the complex metabolic cellular pathways have to be studied in detail as they are inherently connected with the process performance. Also, microbial stress resistance should be addressed as a vital key factor for the large-scale production process. Thus this study has provided an overview of the organic acid production with numerous microbial strains from various agricultural residues as their main feedstocks. Also, it could be inferred that the agricultural residues could act as the alternative feedstock from the petrochemical derivatives for the organic acid production in the large-scale commercial production. These feedstocks are economically viable from the petrochemical residues, and a large number of biotech products tend to be produced using these agro-based residues. These organic acids due to the presence of unique functional group and properties interact with the various metal ions and act as the chelating agents to form the metal ion complexes. Thus they remove these pollutants and help in the soil remediation.

Removal of metal contaminants	Organic acids used to remove metal contaminants	References
Lead	Citric acid and acetic acid	[84]
Copper, cadmium, zinc, and lead	Salicylic acid	[85]
Cobalt and lithium	Citric acid	[86]
Zinc	Citric acid monohydrate, maleic, tartaric, oxalic acid dihydrate, succinic acid, and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	[87]
Cadmium	Fulvic acid	[88]
Copper, zinc, nickel, lead, and arsenic	Humic acid	[89]
Cadmium, lead, and zinc	Carboxyalkylthiosuccinic acid, the copolymer of maleic and acrylic acid	[90]

Table 9 Removal of metal contaminants from soil using various organic acids

References

- Sauer M, Porro D, Mattanovich D, Branduardi P (2008) Microbial production of organic acids: expanding the markets. Trends Biotechnol 26:100–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2007. 11.006
- Liaud N, Giniés C, Navarro D et al (2014) Exploring fungal biodiversity: organic acid production by 66 strains of filamentous fungi. Fungal Biol Biotechnol 1:1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40694-014-0001-z
- Mondala AH (2015) Direct fungal fermentation of lignocellulosic biomass into itaconic, fumaric, and malic acids: current and future prospects. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 42:487–506. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-014-1575-4
- Werpy TA, Holladay JE, White JF (2004) Top value added chemicals from biomass: I. Results of screening for potential candidates from sugars and synthesis gas. Off Sci Tech Inf:69. https:// doi.org/10.2172/926125
- De Araújo HWC, Fukushima K, Takaki GMC (2010) Prodigiosin production by serratia marcescens UCP 1549 using renewable-resources as a low cost substrate. Molecules 15:6931–6940. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules15106931
- Kamm B, Kamm M (2004) Principles of biorefineries. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 64:137–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-003-1537-7
- Singh Nee Nigam P, Pandey A (2009) Biotechnology for agro-industrial residues utilisation: utilisation of agro-residues. Springer, Berlin, pp 1–466. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9942-7
- Tang J, Wang X, Hu Y et al (2016) Lactic acid fermentation from food waste with indigenous microbiota: effects of pH, temperature and high OLR. Waste Manag 52:278–285. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.03.034
- Das RK, Brar SK (2014) Enhanced fumaric acid production from brewery wastewater and insight into the morphology of Rhizopus oryzae 1526. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 172:2974–2988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-014-0739-z
- Cherrington CA, Hinton M, Mead GC, Chopra I (1991) Organic acids: chemistry, antibacterial activity and practical applications. Adv Microb Physiol 32:87–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0065-2911(08)60006-5
- 11. Sanchez-Riera F (2010) Production of organic acids. Encycl Life Support Syst 5:1094-1101

- Lee JW, Kim HU, Choi S et al (2011) Microbial production of building block chemicals and polymers. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22:758–767
- Vandenberghe LPS, Karp SG, de Oliveira PZ et al (2017) Solid-state fermentation for the production of organic acids. In: Current developments in biotechnology and bioengineering. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 415–434
- Maslova O, Stepanov N, Senko O, Efremenko E (2019) Bioresource technology production of various organic acids from different renewable sources by immobilized cells in the regimes of separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SFF). Bioresour Technol 272:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.143
- Leh DS, Biz A, de Paula DHF et al (2017) Conversion of citric pectin into D-galacturonic acid with high substrate loading using a fermented solid with pectinolytic activity. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 11:214–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2017.07.003
- 16. de Souza MB, Mary dos Santos G, Palladino Delforno T et al (2019) Enriched microbial consortia for dark fermentation of sugarcane vinasse towards value-added short-chain organic acids and alcohol production. J Biosci Bioeng 127:594–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc. 2018.10.008
- Pola L, Collado S, Oulego P, Díaz M (2019) Production of carboxylic acids from the non-lignin residue of black liquor by hydrothermal treatments. Bioresour Technol 284:105–114. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.03.066
- Rzechonek DA, Dobrowolski A, Rymowicz W, Mirończuk AM (2019) Aseptic production of citric and isocitric acid from crude glycerol by genetically modified Yarrowia lipolytica. Bioresour Technol 271:340–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.118
- Zalán Z, Hudáček J, Štětina J et al (2009) Production of organic acids by lactobacillus strains in three different media. Eur Food Res Technol 230:395–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-009-1179-9
- 20. Liu R, Liang L, Cao W et al (2013) Succinate production by metabolically engineered Escherichia coli using sugarcane bagasse hydrolysate as the carbon source. Bioresour Technol 135:574–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.08.120
- Asenjo JA, Andrews BA (2008) Mini-review challenges and trends in bioseparations. Chem Eng 120:117–120. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb
- Abdel-Rahman MA, Tashiro Y, Sonomoto K (2013) Recent advances in lactic acid production by microbial fermentation processes. Biotechnol Adv 31:877–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biotechadv.2013.04.002
- Wee Y, Kim J, Ryu H (2006) Biotechnological production of lactic acid and.Pdf. Food Technol Biotechnol 44:163–172
- Abdel-rahman MA, Tashiro Y, Sonomoto K (2011) Lactic acid production from lignocellulosederived sugars using lactic acid bacteria: overview and limits. J Biotechnol 156:286–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2011.06.017
- Caplice E, Fitzgerald GF (1999) Food fermentations: role of microorganisms in food production and preservation. Int J Food Microbiol 50:131–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1605(99) 00082-3
- 26. Wang Y, Tashiro Y, Sonomoto K (2015) Fermentative production of lactic acid from renewable materials: recent achievements, prospects, and limits. J Biosci Bioeng 119:10–18
- Oshiro M, Shinto H, Tashiro Y et al (2009) Kinetic modeling and sensitivity analysis of xylose metabolism in Lactococcus lactis IO-1. J Biosci Bioeng 108:376–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jbiosc.2009.05.003
- Abdel-Rahman MA, Tashiro Y, Zendo T et al (2011) Efficient Homofermentative l-(+)-lactic acid production from xylose by a novel lactic acid bacterium, Enterococcus mundtii QU 25. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:1892–1895. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.02076-10
- 29. Okano K, Yoshida S, Yamada R et al (2009) Improved production of homo-D-lactic acid via xylose fermentation by introduction of xylose assimilation genes and redirection of the phosphoketolase pathway to the pentose phosphate pathway in L -lactate dehydrogenase gene-deficient lactobacillus plant. 75:7858–7861. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01692-09

- 30. Aulitto M, Fusco S, Nickel DB et al (2019) Seed culture pre-adaptation of Bacillus coagulans MA-13 improves lactic acid production in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation. Biotechnol Biofuels 12:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-019-1382-2
- Wei L, Yang G, Wang R, Ma W (2009) Selective adsorption and separation of chromium (VI) on the magnetic iron-nickel oxide from waste nickel liquid. J Hazard Mater 164:1159–1163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.09.016
- 32. de la Torre I, Ladero M, Santos VE (2019) Production of D-lactic acid by L. delbrueckii growing on orange peel waste hydrolysates and model monosaccharide solutions: effects of pH and temperature on process kinetics. Biomass Convers Biorefinery. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-019-00396-3
- 33. Abdel-Rahman MA, Hassan SE, Azab MS et al (2019) High improvement in lactic acid productivity by new Alkaliphilic bacterium using repeated batch fermentation integrated with increased substrate concentration. Biomed Res Int 2019:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/ 7212870
- 34. Sun Y, Xu Z, Zheng Y et al (2019) Efficient production of lactic acid from sugarcane molasses by a newly microbial consortium CEE-DL15. Process Biochem 81:132–138. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.procbio.2019.03.022
- Ciriminna R, Meneguzzo F, Delisi R, Pagliaro M (2017) Citric acid: emerging applications of key biotechnology industrial product. Chem Cent J 11:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13065-017-0251-y
- Nafissy R (2009) Schematic presentation of the citric acid cycle. J Chem Educ 49:620. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ed049p620
- 37. González Seligra P, Medina Jaramillo C, Famá L, Goyanes S (2016) Data of thermal degradation and dynamic mechanical properties of starch-glycerol based films with citric acid as crosslinking agent. Data Br 7:1331–1334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2016.04.012
- Max B, Salgado JM, Rodríguez N et al (2010) Biotechnological production of citric acid. Braz J Microbiol 41:862–875. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-83822010000400005
- Papagianni M (2007) Advances in citric acid fermentation by Aspergillus Niger: biochemical aspects, membrane transport and modeling. Biotechnol Adv 25:244–263. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biotechadv.2007.01.002
- 40. González-Sáiz JM, Fernández-Torroba MA, Pizarro C (1997) Application of weakly basic copolymer polyacrylamide (Acrylamide-CO-N,N,'-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate) gels in the recovery of citric acid. Eur Polym J 33:475–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-3057(96) 00191-7
- Pallares J, Rodríguez S, Sanromán A (1996) Citric acid production in submerged and solid state culture of Aspergillus Niger. Bioprocess Eng 15:31–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00435524
- 42. Soccol CR, Vandenberghe LPS (2003) Overview of applied solid-state fermentation in Brazil. Biochem Eng J 13:205–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-703X(02)00133-X
- 43. Campanhol BS, Silveira GC, Castro MC et al (2019) Effect of the nutrient solution in the microbial production of citric acid from sugarcane bagasse and vinasse. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 19:101147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2019.101147
- 44. Papadaki E, Mantzouridou FT (2019) Citric acid production from the integration of Spanishstyle green olive processing wastewaters with white grape pomace by Aspergillus Niger. Bioresour Technol 280:59–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.01.139
- 45. Adeoye AO, Lateef A, Gueguim-Kana EB (2015) Optimization of citric acid production using a mutant strain of Aspergillus Niger on cassava peel substrate. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 4:568–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2015.08.004
- 46. Okabe M, Lies D, Kanamasa S, Park EY (2009) Biotechnological production of itaconic acid and its biosynthesis in Aspergillus terreus. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 84:597–606
- Hajian H, Yusoff WMW (2018) Itaconic acid production by microorganisms: a review. Curr Res J Biol Sci 7:37–42. https://doi.org/10.19026/crjbs.7.5205

- Shin W, Kim Y-H, Jeong Y et al (2009) Enhanced production of itaconic acid by transformed fungal cells of Aspergillus terreus harboring Vitreoscilla hemoglobin gene. J Biosci Bioeng 108:S123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2009.08.359
- Bafana R, Sivanesan S, Pandey RA (2019) Optimization and scale up of itaconic acid production from potato starch waste in stirred tank bioreactor. Biotechnol Prog 35:e2774. https://doi. org/10.1002/btpr.2774
- 50. Krull S, Eidt L, Hevekerl A et al (2017) Itaconic acid production from wheat chaff by Aspergillus terreus. Process Biochem 63:169–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2017.08. 010
- 51. Li X, Zheng K, Lai C et al (2016) Improved Itaconic acid production from Undetoxified enzymatic hydrolysate of steam-exploded corn Stover using an Aspergillus terreus mutant generated by atmospheric and room temperature plasma. BioResources 11:9047–9058. https://doi.org/10.15376/biores.11.4.9047-9058
- Tev G, Ben M, Legi M (2010) Enhancing itaconic acid production by Aspergillus terreus. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:1657–1664. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2642-z
- Song H, Lee SY (2006) Production of succinic acid by bacterial fermentation. Enzym Microb Technol 39:352–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2005.11.043
- 54. Tan JP, Jahim JM, Harun S, Wu TY (2017) Overview of the potential of bio-succinic acid production from oil palm fronds. J Phys Sci 28:53–72. https://doi.org/10.21315/jps2017.28.s1.4
- 55. Zhang X, Jantama K, Moore JC et al (2009) Metabolic evolution of energy-conserving pathways for succinate production in Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:20180–20185. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905396106
- 56. Anastassiadis S, Rehm HJ (2006) Continuous gluconic acid production by the yeast-like Aureobasidium pullulans in a cascading operation of two bioreactors. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73:541–548. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-006-0499-y
- 57. Singh OV, Kumar R (2007) Biotechnological production of gluconic acid: future implications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 75:713–722. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-007-0851-x
- Cañete-Rodríguez AM, Santos-Dueñas IM, Jiménez-Hornero JE et al (2016) Gluconic acid: properties, production methods and applications – an excellent opportunity for agro-industrial by-products and waste bio-valorization. Process Biochem 51:1891–1903. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.procbio.2016.08.028
- Singh OV, Jain RK, Singh RP (2003) Gluconic acid production under varying fermentation conditions by Aspergillus Niger. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 78:208–212. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jctb.748
- 60. Tsao GT, Cao NJ, Du J, Gong CS (2007) Production of multifunctional organic acids from renewable resources, vol 65. Springer, Berlin, pp 243–280. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-49194-5_10
- Moresi M, Parente E, Petruccioli M, Federici F (1992) Fumaric acid production from hydrolysates of starch-based substrates. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 54:283–290. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jctb.280540312
- Alonso S, Rendueles M, Díaz M (2015) Microbial production of specialty organic acids from renewable and waste materials. Crit Rev Biotechnol 35:497–513. https://doi.org/10.3109/ 07388551.2014.904269
- 63. Li C, Gao S, Yang X, Lin CSK (2018) Green and sustainable succinic acid production from crude glycerol by engineered Yarrowia lipolytica via agricultural residue based in situ fibrous bed bioreactor. Bioresour Technol 249:612–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.10. 011
- 64. Chen P, Tao S, Zheng P (2016) Bioresource technology efficient and repeated production of succinic acid by turning sugarcane bagasse into sugar and support. Bioresour Technol 211:406–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.03.108
- 65. Andriani A, Nuryana I, Rahmani N et al (2019) The potency of cassava starch (var. kristal merah and var. revita) for bio-succinic acid production using indigenous lactic acid bacteria (Leuconostoc sp). In: IOP conference series: earth and environmental science

- 66. Das RK, Brar SK, Verma M (2015) A fermentative approach towards optimizing directed biosynthesis of fumaric acid by Rhizopus oryzae 1526 utilizing apple industry waste biomass. Fungal Biol 119:1279–1290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funbio.2015.10.001
- 67. Jiang Y, Liu K, Zhang H et al (2017) Gluconic acid production from potato waste by Gluconobacter oxidans using sequential hydrolysis and fermentation. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 5:6116–6123. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.7b00992
- Motte JC, Van Huynh N, Decleire M et al (1990) Monitoring and purification of gluconic galactonic acids produced during fermentation of whey hydrolysate by Gluconobacter oxydans. J Chromatogr A 507:321–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(01)84209-6
- 69. Srirangan K, Akawi L, Liu X et al (2013) Manipulating the sleeping beauty mutase operon for the production of 1-propanol in engineered Escherichia coli. Biotechnol Biofuel 6:1–14
- 70. Li W, Chen G, Gu L et al (2014) Genome shuffling of Aspergillus Niger for improving Transglycosylation activity. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 172:50–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12010-013-0421-x
- Biot-pelletier D, Martin VJJ (2014) Evolutionary engineering by genome shuffling. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:3877–3887. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-5616-8
- 72. Demeke MM, Dietz H, Li Y et al (2013) Development of a D-xylose fermenting and inhibitor tolerant industrial *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain with high performance in lignocellulose hydrolysates using metabolic and evolutionary engineering. Biotechnol Biofuels:1–24
- 73. Bustamante D, Segarra S, Montesinos A et al (2019) Improved raoultella planticola strains for the production of 2,3-Butanediol from glycerol. Fermentation 5:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/ fermentation5010011
- 74. Zambanini T, Buescher JM, Meurer G et al (2016) Malic acid production from glycerol with Ustilago trichophora. Chem Ing Tech 88:1245. https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.201650311
- Andersen MR, Salazar MP, Schaap PJ et al (2011) Comparative genomics of citric-acidproducing Aspergillus Niger ATCC 1015 versus enzyme-producing. Genome Res 21:885–897. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.112169.110.Freely
- 76. Niu J, Arentshorst M, Nair PDS et al (2016) Identification of a classical mutant in the industrial host Aspergillus niger by systems genetics : LaeA is required for citric acid production and regulates the formation of some secondary metabolites. G3 Genes Genomes Genet 6:193–204. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.115.024067
- 77. Gonzalez-garcia RA, Mccubbin T, Navone L et al Microbial propionic acid production. Fermentation 3:1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/fermentation3020021
- Jiang L, Cui H, Zhu L et al (2014) Enhanced propionic acid production from whey lactose with immobilized Propionibacterium acidipropionici and the role of trehalose synthesis. Green Chem 17:250. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4gc01256a
- 79. Mienda BS, Salleh FM (2017) Bio-succinic acid production: Escherichia coli strains design from genome-scale perspectives. Bioengineering 4:418–430. https://doi.org/10.3934/bioeng. 2017.4.418
- Zhao M, Lu X, Zong H et al (2018) Itaconic acid production in microorganisms. Biotechnol Lett 40:455–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-017-2500-5
- Vuoristo KS, Mars AE, Sangra JV et al (2014) Metabolic engineering of itaconate production in Escherichia coli. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-6092x
- Ke X, Li P, Zhou Q et al (2006) Removal of heavy metals from a contaminated soil using tartaric acid. J Environ Sci 18:727–733
- 83. Mishra S, Chowdhary P, Bharagava RN (2018) Conventional methods for the removal of industrial pollutants, their merits and demerits. In: Emerging and eco-friendly approaches for waste management. Springer, Singapore
- 84. Yang JY, Yang XE, He ZL et al (2006) Effects of pH, organic acids, and inorganic ions on lead desorption from soils. Environ Pollut 143:9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2005.11.010

- An F, Gao B, Dai X et al (2011) Efficient removal of heavy metal ions from aqueous solution using salicylic acid type chelate adsorbent. J Hazard Mater 192:956–962. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhazmat.2011.05.050
- 86. Li L, Ge J, Wu F et al (2010) Recovery of cobalt and lithium from spent lithium ion batteries using organic citric acid as leachant. J Hazard Mater 176:288–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2009.11.026
- 87. Abdelrahman EA, Tolan DA, Nassar MY (2019) A tunable template-assisted hydrothermal synthesis of Hydroxysodalite zeolite nanoparticles using various aliphatic organic acids for the removal of zinc(II) ions from aqueous media. J Inorg Organomet Polym Mater 29:229–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10904-018-0982-9
- 88. Li Q, Chen X, Chen X et al (2019) Cadmium removal from soil by fulvic acid-aided hydroxyapatite nanofluid. Chemosphere 215:227–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.10. 031
- Yang T, Hodson ME (2019) Investigating the use of synthetic humic-like acid as a soil washing treatment for metal contaminated soil. Sci Total Environ 647:290–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2018.07.457
- 90. Xia Z, Zhang S, Cao Y et al (2019) Remediation of cadmium, lead and zinc in contaminated soil with CETSA and MA/AA. J Hazard Mater 366:177–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat. 2018.11.109

Lignocellulosic Sugarcane Tops for Bioethanol Production: An Overview



Subramaniapillai Niju and Mani Swathika

Contents

1	Introduction	90
2	Steps Involved in Bioethanol Production	91
3	Different Pretreatment Techniques Employed on SCT	92
4	Dilute Acid Pretreatment	94
5	Alkaline Pretreatment	95
6	Ultrasound Pretreatment	96
7	Enzymatic Pretreatment	97
8	Alkaline Hydrogen Peroxide (AHP) Pretreatment	97
9	Hydrolysis Employed in SCT	98
10	Acid Hydrolysis	99
11	Enzymatic Hydrolysis	100
12	Fermentation Process	102
13	Conclusion	102
Ref	erences	103

Abstract Better living standards, population growth, and expanding urbanization escalate the energy requirement tremendously. Declining stockpile of nonrenewable fossil fuels and its severe impact on environment have created huge consciousness among government, researchers, and industries to develop alternative renewable energy sources. Bioethanol has been considered as one of the most efficient alternative liquid fuels to replace the existing conventional crude oil-based petrol. Among the different lignocellulosic biomass, agricultural residues especially sugarcane tops (SCT) are becoming a promising feedstock for bioethanol production. However, the presence of high amount of lignin possesses a major hurdle in converting this promising feedstock to bioethanol. Hence, this review paper summarizes the various pretreatment methods, hydrolysis, and fermentation techniques reported in the bioethanol production from underutilized SCT. From the overall

S. Niju (🖂) and M. Swathika

Department of Biotechnology, PSG College of Technology, Coimbatore, Tamilnadu, India e-mail: sn.bio@psgtech.ac.in; nijuwillbe@gmail.com

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 89–106, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_621, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 12 July 2020

studies, it was evident that the SCT can be used as a potential renewable feedstock for the production of fermentable sugars and bioethanol.

Keywords Bioethanol, Fermentation, Hydrolysis, Pretreatment, Sugarcane tops

1 Introduction

High population growth, industrialization, and urbanization increase the energy requirement tremendously. Nonrenewable energy sources such as coal, crude oil, nuclear power, propane, and natural gas were utilized to meet the ever-increasing energy demand, and these sources were found to be the major contributors of environmental pollution [1]. To overcome these issues, utilization of the most sustainable renewable resources offers an attractive solution to meet the world's primary energy demand. Biofuels are fuels which are derived from renewable energy resources that provide energy security, strengthen the rural and agricultural economies, and emit no or less toxic gases. Bioethanol is one among the dominant global renewable transport biofuels since it can be produced from a wide range of agricultural residues. Bioethanol produced from sucrose-containing feedstocks (sugarcane, sugar beet, and sweet sorghum) and starch-rich feedstocks (corn, wheat, and cassava) are named as first-generation bioethanol [2]. However, it holds several limitations in producing energy from these substrates owing to its conflicts between fuel and food. Hence, the lignocellulosic biomass has been considered as a potential source for the biofuel production [3, 4].

Biomass is a lignocellulosic-based bio-residue that exists in water-based vegetation, forest or organic waste, crop production, and agro or food industries waste. There are various forms of biomass resources available for the production of biofuels and are mostly available in the form of grasses, woody plants, fruits, vegetables, manures, and aquatic plants. These sources can be majorly classified as residues of an agricultural crop, energy plantation, and municipal and industrial waste [5]. Recently, lignocellulosic biomass especially non-food crops and industrial and municipal waste acquires huge attention among researchers since it has been identified as the low-cost and sustainable feedstock for the production of biofuels and other value-added products [3, 5]. Among various types of lignocellulosic biomass, the agricultural residues or wastes such as rice husks, wheat straw, rice straw, energy grass, corn cobs, sugarcane bagasse, dry sugarcane leaves, etc. are available abundantly. Till date, most of these underutilized agricultural residues are being burnt in the open fields after cultivation of crops thereby creating a severe impact on the environment with huge loss of energy [6].

Sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum*) is a species of tall perennial true grasses of the genus *Saccharum*, tribe Andropogoneae, which has stout jointed fibrous stalks that are rich in sugar and measure 2-6 m tall. Sucrose accumulated in the stalk

internodes of sugarcane was extracted and purified in specialized mill factories and is used as raw material in food industries or fermented to produce ethanol. Ethanol is produced on large scale by the Brazilian sugarcane industry and yet the world demand for sugar is the primary driver of sugarcane agriculture [7].

Sugarcane tops or trash (SCT) is regarded as an agricultural residue that represents the top fragment of the sugarcane plant along with its leaves [8], and the one-third portion of sugarcane plant holds SCT (dry mass basis) [9]. Currently, these unutilized residues were dumped and burnt on the fields after sugarcane cultivation. To some extent, the green SCT obtained immediately after the cultivation was used as animal fodder [4, 10]. This cellulose-rich SCT can be employed to extract the bioethanol by taking advantage of its rich cellulosic matter and the huge availability. Extraction of bioethanol from cellulosic SCT will neither affect food supply nor interfere negatively with sugar-based food or juice extracted from stalks of sugarcane plant.

2 Steps Involved in Bioethanol Production

The process of converting lignocellulosic biomass into bioethanol mainly consists of four unit operations such as pretreatment, hydrolysis or saccharification, fermentation, and product recovery [3, 11, 12]. The overall schematic representation of bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass is presented in Fig. 1. Prior to pretreatment step, the raw lignocellulosic biomass was subjected to size reduction as shown in Fig. 2. Pretreatment is essential to alter the biomass size and structure and its sub-microscopic chemical composition so that hydrolysis of the carbohydrate-rich solid fraction to monomeric sugars can be achieved more rapidly with greater yields. Hydrolysis involves the processing step that converts the carbohydrate polymers into monomeric sugars. Six carbon sugars (hexoses) are readily fermented to ethanol by various naturally occurring organisms. However, the five carbon sugars



Fig. 1 Steps involved in bioethanol production



Fig. 2 Size reduction process employed prior to pretreatment step

(pentoses) were utilized by few native strains to produce ethanol at relatively low yields.

The basic five stages of this process are:

- 1. Pretreatment step makes the raw material amenable to hydrolysis
- 2. Hydrolysis step to break down the cellulose present in solid fraction into sugars
- 3. Collection of liquid hydrolyzate and detection of inhibitory compounds such as furfurals, hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF), and acetic acid
- 4. Fermentation of the five and six carbon containing sugar solution
- 5. Distillation and dehydration step to produce absolute ethanol

3 Different Pretreatment Techniques Employed on SCT

The pretreatment is the most crucial step in biomass conversion as it possesses a huge impact on the efficiency of bioethanol production. Lignocellulosic biomass mainly consists of densely packed cellulose and hemicelluloses along with lignin which serves plant for performing several functions [13]. The aim of the pretreatment is to make cellulose more accessible to the enzymes for the conversion into fermentable sugars which can be done by disrupting the recalcitrant lignin structures using different pretreatment techniques. The removal of lignin mainly depends on the type of pretreatment employed and the optimum conditions



Fig. 3 Different pretreatment technologies available for biomass conversion

maintained. Various pretreatments employed for successful biomass conversion were presented in Fig. 3.

Sindhu et al. [8] performed dilute acid pretreatment on sugarcane tops and observed a decrease in hemicellulose content from 18.9% to 6.16% under the conditions of 3% w/w H₂SO₄, incubation time of 60 min at 121°C with 15% w/w solid loading. Sindhu et al. [6] experimented surfactant-assisted acid pretreatment on sugarcane tops and perceived 50% lignin removal and 53% hemicellulose removal under 2.5% w/w Triton X-100 and 1.5% sulfuric acid concentration with 30% biomass loading for a period of 45 min at 121°C. Sindhu et al. [14] enhanced the sugar release using a novel method of surfactant-assisted ultrasound pretreatment on sugarcane tops. Authors reported 40% lignin removal and 30.2% hemicellulose removal under the conditions of 20% w/w biomass concentration and 3% w/w surfactant (Tween 40) concentration, incubated at 121°C for 60 min followed by 1 min sonication. Sindhu et al. [11] observed a maximum lignin removal of 89.80% and hemicellulose removal of 45.78% on NaOH pretreated SCT under the optimal conditions of 3% NaOH, 15% biomass loading incubated for 60 min at 121°C.

Sherpa et al. [4] carried out statistical optimization on delignification of sugarcane tops using laccase and observed 73.86% lignin removal under 20% w/v of substrate concentration, 6 h incubation time, pH 7, and 500 IU/mL enzyme titer maintained at 40°C. Maurya et al. [15] observed 67% lignin removal on microwave alkalipretreated sugarcane tops under the conditions of 2% (w/v) NaOH and 10% biomass loading with microwave operating at 320 W for 10 min. Srinorakutara et al. [1] performed alkali and acid pretreatment on sugarcane trash for ethanol production

and reported 2% w/v NaOH concentration, 15% w/v biomass loading, autoclaved at 121°C for 15 min, followed by 2% w/v sulfuric acid concentration autoclaved at 121°C for 15 min with 15 lb./in². Raghavi et al. [16] developed a novel sequential pretreatment for the bioethanol production from sugarcane trash. Authors observed 2.3% lignin and 47.5% hemicellulose removal under the optimal conditions of 3% v/v glycerol in presence of 1% NaOH and different transition metal concentration of 1% w/w at 121°C for 60 min. Althuri and Banerjee [17] observed 70–80% lignin removal by performing enzymatic pretreatment on SCT using 500 IU/mL laccase maintained at pH 7 with substrate concentration of 30% (w/v) incubated at 35°C for 6 h.

4 Dilute Acid Pretreatment

Pretreatment of the biomass that acts as feedstock is the first step in the production of bioethanol. It helps to alter the structure of the biomass and the chemical composition so that higher yields of monomeric sugars are obtained from the hydrolysis process. The dilute acid pretreatment helps to disrupt the recalcitrant lignin structures in the feedstock such as the covalent bonds present in it which helps further in the hydrolysis process due to more accessibility of the enzymes. It solubilizes the hemicellulose present in the biomass as well as makes the cellulose more accessible [18, 19]. The xylan and glucomannan are relatively acid stable and hence will not be affected during the acid pretreatment. The hydrolyzation of cellulose and the solubilization of the glucose result in an increase in the crystallinity index (CrI) in the biomass which can be obtained from the XRD spectra [13]. The type of pretreatment employed and the process parameters plays an important role for the basis of lignin removal. Dilute acid pretreatments are widely chosen for the pretreatment by the industries due to its cost and its corrosion properties. The pretreatment efficiency depends on several process parameters such as incubation temperature, biomass loading, and the acid concentration. All these parameters in combination play an important role to give better yield, and hence the optimization of the parameters is considered to be necessary in order to produce high yield of monomeric sugars.

Pretreatment of SCT with sulfuric acid with mixed size particle and incubation time of 60 min gave higher reducing sugar and improved the hydrolysis efficiency fourfold when compared to the yield given by the native SCT. 3% w/w was found to be more suitable in maximum reducing sugar production of 0.611 g/g. The effect of biomass loading on acid pretreatment showed that 15% w/w is the optimum condition and the efficiency decreased with the further increase in the biomass loading which could be due to decrease in the accessibility of the pretreatment agent [8].

The hybrid pretreatment involving surfactant and dilute acid has improved the dissolution and hence the removal efficiency of lignin. It helps in the removal of both hemicellulose and lignin. Triton X-100 as the surfactant in the presence of dilute sulfuric acid was found to be more efficient in producing reducing sugar. The total lignin content was reduced to 50% during the pretreatment process with the increase

in cellulose content to 45.39% which is a twofold increase from the native SCT. Maximum reducing sugar of 0.448 g/g was obtained after pretreatment at optimum conditions like 2.5% (w/w) Triton X-100, 1.5% H₂SO₄ concentration, and 30% (w/w) of biomass loading [6].

5 Alkaline Pretreatment

Alkaline pretreatments are considered to be among the major chemical pretreatment technology besides the acidic pretreatments. It can either use chemicals like sodium hydroxide, calcium hydroxide, or ammonia as the reagent. Pretreatments including sodium hydroxide have enhanced cellulose digestibility. Alkaline pretreatments require lower temperatures and pressures, but the incubation time is recorded in terms of hours or days. It results in the removal of lignin in the solid fraction which can be recovered using appropriate recovery measures, and the solid fraction contains hemicelluloses and celluloses. The residual alkali obtained can be reused by the chemical recovery process. This pretreatment is based on delignification process which includes a high amount of hemicellulose being solubilized. The major aim is to remove the lignin from the biomasses and thus improve the reactivity of the polysaccharides present in it. Apart from it, this pretreatment also helps to swell the cell wall, thus improving the cell wall accessibility for subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis. The reaction mechanism supposed to take place is the solvation and saponification of the intermolecular ester bonds that cross-link with the hemicellulose and lignin leading to the cleavage of the lignin carbohydrate complex and therefore expose the cellulose microfibrils present in it [20]. Alkali helps in the removal of acetyl groups and various uronic acid substitutes, and hence steric hindrance of the enzymes in the hydrolysis process is reduced, thus increasing their accessibility towards the carbohydrates. The formation of furfural and HMF in the hydrolysates is found to be lower when compared to the dilute acid pretreatment. The degree of polymerization of the cellulose is decreased and hence causes swelling of cellulose leads to increase in its internal surface area [13].

Alkali pretreatment on SCT with 15% w/w biomass loading and 3% NaOH and incubation time of 60 min yielded 0.684 g of reducing sugar after the enzymatic hydrolysis. The compositional analysis proved that the amount of cellulose was almost intact during the pretreatment, but substantial amount of lignin (89.80%) and hemicellulose (46%) was found to be removed. SEM images revealed that the pretreated sample had distorted structure and an increase in the surface area in SCT thus improving the hydrolysis efficiency when compared to the native SCT which had a compact rigid structure. X-ray spectrum of native and pretreated SCT showed that the crystallinity index had increased in the preheated sample being 67.4% when compared to the native sample of 37.4% thereby influencing the enzymatic hydrolysis process [11].

Another study on SCT showed that alkaline followed by acid pretreatment yielded the maximum reducing sugar after enzymatic hydrolysis. It was observed

that 2% (w/v) NaOH followed by 2% (w/v) sulfuric acid with autoclaving at 121° C for 15 min produced maximum ethanol of 48.17 g/L [1].

The combination of microwave with alkaline pretreatment studies was also an efficient hybrid method in producing reducing sugars. Pretreatment of SCT using this method was able to remove 67% of the lignin from the biomass and hence increases the cellulose and hemicellulose content making it more accessible for the enzymes for the saccharification process. Furthermore, optimization of hydrolysis process parameters using Box-Behnken design resulted in higher sugar yield of 0.376 g/g which represented 90.24% of the theoretical maximum based on the contents of cellulose and hemicellulose present in the pretreated biomass [15].

6 Ultrasound Pretreatment

Ultrasound pretreatments are considered to be efficient technique due to the fractionation of the lignocelluloses present in the biomass into bioethanol. Most of the other pretreatments including acid, alkali, ionic liquids, and steam are said to form unwanted by-products which then result in the loss of carbohydrates. However ultrasonic irradiation helps in the intensification of various pretreatment methods employed in biomass, the principle behind the ultrasonication is the cavitation, which involves the spontaneous growth and collapse of microsize cavities caused due to the propagation of ultrasonic waves, further causing high temperatures and pressure gradients. This results in the enhanced surface areas and leads to higher transfer rate. It helps to accomplish the necessities for bioethanol production by the formation of reactive cellulose fraction for reducing sugar formation along with reduction in power requirements as well as permitting the usage of sources which are inexpensive. The degree of fractionation can be increased by the combination of ultrasound with conventional pretreatment techniques. The ultrasound when applied to the biomass helps in disrupting the structure of the cell wall, increases the specific surface area, and therefore decreases the degree of polymerization to higher extent thereby enhancing the utilization of lignocellulosic biomass [21].

Yuan et al. [22] showed that the extent of delignification brought about by the ultrasound pre-treatment is 96% as well as 75% removal of the hemicellulose present by the ultrasound-assisted organosolv pretreatment [22].

Studies were also done on SCT based on surfactant-assisted ultrasound pretreatment. Tween-40 being the surfactant produced reducing sugar of 0.661 g/g after enzyme saccharification with process conditions as 3% (w/w) Tween-40 for 60 min, followed by sonication for 1 min and biomass loading at 20% w/w. SEM results showed distorted structure of the pretreated sample since it helps in the removal of some of the fibers present externally which appears to be in the form of a complex [14].

7 Enzymatic Pretreatment

Lignocellulosic biomass being the key building block of plant cell wall comprises of cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, extractives, pectin, and ash. These fractions of components may vary with the plant type, species, their age, and the particular climatic conditions. The plant cell wall is a complex structure comprising of several β-glucan chains that are bound by hydrogen bonds to form elementary fibrils which are further bundled together to form microfibrillar structures. Studies done on biomasses that are pretreated using enzymes have shown that it does not require additional washing due to the absence of inhibitors and pH neutralization steps as needed in other chemical or physicochemical pretreatment methods since it is processed at pH conditions of 11-12. Further it helps to enhance the cellulases and xylanases accessibility to the polysaccharides present in the delignified biomass. Laccase is the enzyme usually used for the enzymatic pretreatment since it is said to fit well with the feedstocks containing higher hemicellulosic content because of the maximum recovery being achieved when compared to other pretreatment techniques. Laccase pretreatment of the biomasses is non-hazardous to the environment and also non-corrosive to the bioreactors with no issues regarding the waste disposal and the recycling of the toxic chemicals, therefore reducing the operational costs to a great extent.

Laccase-mediated pretreatment studies done on SCT using central composite design (CCD) based on response surface methodology (RSM) showed that maximum delignification of 79.1% was obtained when the operational process parameters were processed at temperature of 40°C, pH at 7, biomass loading of 21% (w/v), enzyme titer of 430.3 IU/mL, and incubation time of 6 h [4].

Other studies done on a combination of biomasses including *Ricinus communis* (RC), *Saccharum officinarum* (SCT) top, *Saccharum spontaneum* (KG), *Lantana camara* (LC), *Ananas comosus* (PA) leaf wastes, and *Bambusa bambos* (BB) where laccase enzyme of 500 IU/ml, with substrate concentration of 30% (w/v), 1 g of mixed substrate at 35°C, and incubation time of 6 h followed by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation proved to be efficient in the production of bioethanol of 1.396 g/L/h [17].

8 Alkaline Hydrogen Peroxide (AHP) Pretreatment

AHP pretreatment is one of the most effective pretreatment for delignification and a variety of lignocellulosic agricultural residues such as rice husks or hulls [23, 24], rapeseed straw [25], wheat straw [26, 27], sugarcane bagasse [28–30], sweet sorghum bagasse [31], cashew apple bagasse [32], bamboo [33], olive tree biomass [34], poplar [35], *Jerusalem artichoke* stalk [36], and seaweed *Ulva prolifera* [37]. AHP has oxidative action on the cell wall of biomass and breaks ester linkages with less sugar degradation and increased digestibility. No or very less secondary
product formation was reported during the AHP pretreatment [25, 38, 39]. Thus, it can be employed effectively to achieve higher lignin removal during the pretreatment.

The use of H_2O_2 for the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass is based on the chemical reactions that this oxidizing agent undergoes in the alkaline liquid medium [39]. Its dissociation generates the hydroperoxide anion (HOO–) through Eq. (1)

$$H_2O_2 + H_2O \leftrightarrow HOO^- + H_3O^+ \tag{1}$$

In the alkaline medium, the hydroperoxide anion can react with H_2O_2 , leading to the formation of superoxide and hydroxyl radical, as expressed in Eq. (2).

$$H_2O_2 + HOO^- \leftrightarrow OH + O_2^-H_2O \tag{2}$$

9 Hydrolysis Employed in SCT

Bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomasses includes processes like pretreatment, hydrolysis, and fermentation. Pretreatment helps to alter the biomass structure and chemical composition that aids in rapid and efficient hydrolysis of the carbohydrates into reducible sugars. Hydrolysis is a process that converts the polysaccharides into monomeric sugars which is further taken into fermentation. It is considered as one of the most important steps in the production of fermentable sugars. Fermentation is carried out by organisms that can utilize this monomeric sugar and produce ethanol wherein the organisms can be either naturally grown or genetically modified. Cellulose in the biomass is organized into microfibrils containing thousands of glucose residues. These celluloses can be hydrolytically broken down into glucose either by enzymes such as cellulases or by chemicals like sulfuric or other acids.

Hemicellulose also present in the biomass is composed of pentose and hexose sugars being 5-carbon and 6-carbon, respectively, and they can be hydrolyzed by enzymes such as hemicellulases or by acids to release the sugars which include xylose, arabinose, glucose, galactose, or mannose. There are certain process configurations being carried out in order to obtain better yield of bioethanol. These processes include separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF), simultaneous sacfermentation charification and (SSF), simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (SSCF), and consolidated bioprocessing (CBP). The processes adopted is based on the feedstock and the other process parameters which further helps in giving higher yield of bioethanol. There are two major types of hydrolysis processes being carried out which includes chemical reaction using acids and enzymatic reaction.

10 Acid Hydrolysis

Hydrolytic treatment of lignocellulosic biomasses with acid at higher temperatures will improve the efficiency in producing higher yield of fermentable sugars. Sulfuric acid is the mostly used acid, and it is operated under high temperature and low acid concentration. Higher acid concentration makes it highly corrosive and dangerous. But as a disadvantage, they produce large amounts of gypsum during the neutralization process, thereby increasing the investment and operational costs. Dilute acid hydrolysis is a commonly used method among the chemical pretreatment methods. This method can be used either as a pretreatment of lignocelluloses for the subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis or as a method of hydrolyzing into fermentable sugars. At a higher temperature (140–190°C) and lower acid concentration (0.1–1% sulfuric acid), they can result at high reaction rates and thus improve cellulose hydrolysis and along with it 100% hemicellulose removal. It can be performed in short retention time of 5 min at higher temperature of 180° C or in longer retention time of 30–90 min but at lower temperatures of 120°C. In olive tree biomass when used as the biomass, 75% of maximum total sugars were obtained when it was pretreated by dilute acid at 180°C with 1% sulfuric acid concentration and maximum hemicellulose recovery of 83% [40]. The major drawback is the formation of different types of inhibitors such as carboxylic acids, furans, and phenolic compounds which will inhibit the microbial growth during the fermentation process and results in lesser amount of yield and productivity of ethanol [41].

Dilute acid hydrolysis usually occurs in two stages. The first stage being performed at a lower temperature to maximize the hemicellulose yield, and the second stage involves higher temperature at optimized conditions for the cellulose hydrolysis. Mild process conditions (0.7% H₂SO₄, 463 K) are opted in the first stage to recover the five carbon sugars, whereas in the second stage, the remaining solids containing more resistant cellulose undergo harsher conditions (488 K, but a milder 0.4% H₂SO₄) that help to recover the six carbon sugars. In order to allow adequate acid penetration, the reduction of the size of the feedstocks is necessary where the maximum particle dimension is in the range of a few millimeters. When considering concentrated acid hydrolysis process, it involves an acid (dilute or concentrated) pretreatment to help liberate the hemicellulosic sugars present in the biomass, while the subsequent stage requires the pretreated biomass to be dried followed by the addition of concentrated sulfuric acid (70-90%). The concentration of the acid used in concentrated acid hydrolysis process ranges between 10 and 30%. Reaction times are found to be much longer than the dilute acid process. This process provides a complete and rapid conversion of cellulose to glucose sugars and hemicelluloses to five carbon sugars with degradation level being very less. The critical factors needed to be considered to make this process economically viable are the optimization of the sugar recovery and cost-effectiveness during the acid recovery taken for recycling. The concentrated acid process offers more potential for cost reductions and leads to little sugar degradation than the dilute acid process. However, environment and corrosion problems as well as the high cost of acid consumption and recovery present major barriers to economic success [2].

11 Enzymatic Hydrolysis

Hydrolysis catalyzed by enzymes that helps in favoring 100% selective conversion of cellulose to glucose is known as enzymatic hydrolysis. This process is considered to be a very slow process due to some factors like structural parameters of the substrate, surface area, and the cellulose crystallinity. Utility cost of enzymatic hydrolysis is low when compared to chemical hydrolysis technique since they are usually conducted at mild conditions (pH 4.8) and temperature (318-323 K) and do not produce corrosion. The enzymatic hydrolysis has resulted in high yields (75–85%) with improvements being still developed. It is an environmentally friendly process that involves enzymes like cellulases and hemicellulases to hydrolyze or degrade the carbohydrates into fermentable sugars. Cellulose is typically hydrolyzed by an enzyme called cellulase which is being produced by several microorganisms, like bacteria and fungi. Cellulase is the most commercially used enzymes that actions synergistically hydrolyze cellulose that involves synergistic bv endoglucanses, exoglucanases, and β -glucosidases. These enzymes together help to hydrolyze intramolecular β -1, 4-glucosidic bonds present in the cellulose to release soluble cellobiose or glucose and further hydrolyze cellobiose to glucose in order to eliminate cellobiose inhibition. The different process factors affect the enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose, like the substrates chosen, cellulase activity, reaction conditions (temperature, pH, as well as other parameters), and product inhibition. Therefore, optimization of the hydrolysis process is necessary to improve the yield and rate of enzymatic hydrolysis [2]. Three different enzymes present in cellulase hydrolysis B-1, 4 glucosidic linkages in the cellulose chains thus converting them into simple sugars. Three steps involved in enzyme hydrolysis are shown in Fig. 4.

Sindhu et al. [8] observed a fermentable sugar yield of 0.775 g/g under enzymatic saccharification using 50 FPU cellulase enzyme with 11.25% w/w biomass loading and 0.2% (Tween-80) surfactant concentration incubated at 50°C for 42 h. Sherpa et al. [3] performed enzymatic hydrolysis under the conditions of 14% w/v biomass loading and 19.33 IU/ml enzyme titer with pH maintained at 5 having an incubation time of 7 h with temperature ranging from 45° to 55°C.

Maurya et al. [15] observed 0.376 g/g sugar yield under enzymatic hydrolysis using cellulase enzyme with 10% w/w biomass loading, 0.04% surfactant concentration, and 100 FPU/g enzyme concentration incubating for 72 h. Srinorakutara et al. [1] reported 0.509 g/g sugar yield with 15% w/w biomass loading and 50 FPU/g enzyme titer with pH 5 incubated for 48 h. Raghavi et al. [16] observed 0.796 g/g sugar yield under enzymatic hydrolysis using cellulase having 80 FPU/g activity with 5% w/w biomass loading and 0.05% surfactant concentration incubated for 24 h.



Fig. 4 Steps involved in enzymatic hydrolysis

Sugarcane tops pretreated with different methods such as dilute acid, surfactantassisted acid, and surfactant-assisted ultrasound were subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis, and the optimum conditions of 11.25% (w/w) biomass concentration, 50 FPU enzyme concentration, 0.2% of surfactant concentration, and 60 h incubation time yielded the maximum reducing sugars such as 0.665 g/g [8], 0.711 g/g [6], and 0.649 g/g [14], respectively. Alkaline-pretreated sugarcane tops were subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis with optimum conditions of 11.25% (w/w) biomass concentration, enzyme concentration of 50 FPU, 0.2% of surfactant concentration, and incubation time of 42 h; the yield of fermentable sugars was about 0.779 g/g [11]. Enzymatic hydrolysis of microwave-pretreated SCT with optimum conditions such as biomass concentration of 10% (w/w), cellulase loading of 100 FPU/g, surfactant concentration of 0.04% (w/w), and incubation time of 72 h yielded 0.376 g/g glucose [15].

Enzymatic-pretreated SCT was hydrolyzed with 15% w/v substrate loading; 50 FPU/g enzyme loading maintained at pH 5 for 48 h yielded 117.16 g/L of reducing sugar [1]. Enzymatic hydrolysis on the sequential pretreated SCT showed a maximum reducing sugar yield of 0.796 g/g with 5% (w/w) biomass loading, 80 FPU cellulase loading, 0.25% (w/w) surfactant concentration, and 48 h incubation time [16]. Enzymatic saccharification of laccase enzyme-pretreated SCT yielded 508 mg/g of reducing sugar with the optimal conditions of 14% (w/v) solid loading, 50°C temperature, 7 h incubation time, and 19.33 IU/ml enzyme titer at pH 5 [3]. Enzymatic (laccase)-pretreated SCT showed 3.3-fold increase in fermentable sugars after delignification [4].

12 Fermentation Process

Fermentation is the final step in the ethanol production. A variety of microorganisms like bacteria, fungi, and yeast can ferment the monomeric sugars to ethanol. In general, fermentation is carried out under anaerobic conditions leading to the glycosylation of one molecule of glucose into two moles of ethanol and two moles of carbon dioxide as shown in Eqs. (3) and (4).

$$3C_5H_{10}O_5 \rightarrow 5C_2H_5OH + 5CO_2 + energy(stored as ATP)$$
 (3)

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2C_2H_5OH + 2CO_2 + energy(stored as ATP)$$
 (4)

Saccharomyces cerevisiae is the most commonly used yeast for fermentation, and it is substrate specific. The efficiency of the fermentation depends on the concentration and nature of the substrate, the methods followed for the pretreatment and hydrolysis, and the nature of the organism. It is necessary to maintain proper process conditions such as temperature and pH for the optimal yeast growth. Yeast shows tolerance to high sugar concentrations, is resistant to adverse conditions generated by the presence of ethanol, and is stable at higher temperature [41].

S. cerevisiae can ferment only hexose; co-culturing with other microorganism having the capability to ferment pentose can increase the yield of ethanol. Fermentation of SCT-derived fermentable sugars obtained after dilute acid pretreatment and enzymatic saccharification, with 18 h-old culture of S. cerevisiae incubated at $28 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 72 h, yielded high amount of ethanol of 11.365 g/L [8].

Alkali (NaOH) followed by dilute acid (H_2SO_4)-pretreated SCT yielded 48.17 g/ L of ethanol by using 10⁷ cells/mL of *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5596 strain [1]. Fermentation of the non-detoxified hydrolyzate obtained from the sequential pretreated SCT using *S. cerevisiae* produced 31.928 g of bioethanol/g of dry biomass [16]. Fermentation of liquid hydrolyzate obtained after enzymatic-saccharified SCT using *S. cerevisiae* yielded 27.2 g/L of ethanol [3]. Fermentation of liquid hydrolyzate obtained from separate hydrolysis (SHF) and simultaneous saccharification (SSF) of pretreated lignocellulosic mixture revealed higher ethanol productivity of about 1.396 g/L/h in SSF [17].

13 Conclusion

From the reported studies, it is evident that different pretreatment technologies have been applied to SCT for efficient delignification and hemicellulose solubilization. The application of combined pretreatment technologies needs attention in order to convert the SCT into bioethanol. Also, the developed pretreatment should be effective in delignification with low consumption of energy. From various reports, it was proved that hydrolysis using enzyme efficiently converts the delignified SCT into fermentable sugars. However, most of the SCT-based reports utilized the yeast *S. cerevisiae* to ferment the sugars to ethanol. Application of co-culturing techniques involving different microorganisms should be encouraged for further enhancement of bioethanol yield. Furthermore, limited reports are available regarding the acid hydrolysis, commercial scale production, and economic analysis on bioethanol production from SCT.

References

- Srinorakutara T, Suttikul S, Butivate E, Panphan V, Boonvitthya N (2014) Optimization on pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis of sugarcane trash for ethanol production. J Food Sci Eng 4:148–154
- Balat M (2011) Production of bioethanol from lignocellulosic materials via the biochemical pathway: a review. Energy Convers Manag 52:858–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman. 2010.08.013
- Sherpa KC, Ghangrekar MM, Banerjee R (2017) Optimization of saccharification of enzymatically pretreated sugarcane tops by response surface methodology for ethanol production. Biofuels 7269:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/17597269.2017.1409058
- Sherpa KC, Ghangrekar MM, Banerjee R (2018) A green and sustainable approach on statistical optimization of laccase mediated delignification of sugarcane tops for enhanced saccharification. J Environ Manag 217:700–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.04.008
- Anwar Z, Gulfraz M, Irshad M (2014) Agro-industrial lignocellulosic biomass a key to unlock the future bio-energy: a brief review. J Radiat Res Appl Sci 7:163–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jrras.2014.02.003
- Sindhu R, Kuttiraja M, Binod P, Preeti VE, Sandhya SV, Vani S et al (2012) Surfactant-assisted acid pretreatment of sugarcane tops for bioethanol production. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 167:1513–1526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9557-3
- 7. de Carvalho Macedo I (2005) Sugar cane's energy: twelve studies on Brazilian sugar cane agribusiness and its sustainability. UNICA, São Paulo
- Sindhu R, Kuttiraja M, Binod P, Janu KU, Sukumaran RK, Pandey A (2011) Dilute acid pretreatment and enzymatic saccharification of sugarcane tops for bioethanol production. Bioresour Technol 102:10915–10921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.09.066
- 9. Pandey A, Biswas S, Sukumaran R, Kaushik N (2009) Study on availability of Indian biomass resources for exploitation: a report based on a nation-wise survey. TIFAC, New Delhi
- Sukumaran RK, Surender VJ, Sindhu R, Binod P, Janu KU, Sajna KV et al (2010) Lignocellulosic ethanol in India: prospects, challenges and feedstock availability. Bioresour Technol 101:4826–4833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.11.049
- Sindhu R, Kuttiraja M, Binod P, Sukumaran RK, Pandey A (2014) Physicochemical characterization of alkali pretreated sugarcane tops and optimization of enzymatic saccharification using response surface methodology. Renew Energy 62:362–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. renene.2013.07.041
- Thongkheaw S, Pitiyont B (2011) Enzymatic hydrolysis of acid-pretreated sugarcane shoot. World Acad Sci Eng Technol 60:454–458
- 13. Xu Z, Huang F (2014) Pretreatment methods for bioethanol production. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 174:43–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-014-1015-y
- Sindhu R, Kuttiraja M, Elizabeth Preeti V, Vani S, Sukumaran RK, Binod P (2013) A novel surfactant-assisted ultrasound pretreatment of sugarcane tops for improved enzymatic release of sugars. Bioresour Technol 135:67–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.050
- Maurya DP, Vats S, Rai S, Negi S (2013) Optimization of enzymatic saccharification of microwave pretreated sugarcane tops through response surface methodology for biofuel. Indian J Exp Biol 51:992–996

- Raghavi S, Sindhu R, Binod P, Gnansounou E, Pandey A (2016) Development of a novel sequential pretreatment strategy for the production of bioethanol from sugarcane trash. Bioresour Technol 199:202–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.08.062
- Althuri A, Banerjee R (2017) Separate and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of a pretreated mixture of lignocellulosic biomass for ethanol production. Biofuels 7269:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/17597269.2017.1409059
- Binod P, Sindhu R, Singhania RR, Vikram S, Devi L, Nagalakshmi S, Kurien N, Sukumaran RK, Pandey A (2010) Bioethanol production from rice straw: an overview. Bioresour Technol 101:4767–4774
- Jeong T, Um B, Kim J, Oh K (2010) Optimizing dilute acid pretreatment of rape seed straw for extraction of hemicellulose. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 161:22–33
- 20. Zheng Y, Pan Z, Zhang R (2009) Int J Agric Biol Eng 2:51-68
- Subhedar PB, Gogate PR (2016) Use of ultrasound for pretreatment of biomass and subsequent hydrolysis and fermentation. In: Biomass fractionation technologies for a lignocellulosic feedstock based biorefinery. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 127–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802323-5.00006-2
- 22. Yuan TQ, Xu F, He J, Sun RC (2010) Structural and physico-chemical characterization of hemicelluloses from ultrasound assisted extractions of partially delignified fast-growing poplar wood through organic solvent and alkaline solutions. Biotechnol Adv 28:583–593
- Saha BC, Cotta MA (2007) Enzymatic saccharification and fermentation of alkaline peroxide pretreated rice hulls to ethanol. Enzym Microb Technol 41:528–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enzmictec.2007.04.006
- 24. Ayeni AO, Daramola MO, Sekoai PT, Adeeyo O, Garba MJ, Awosusi AA (2018) Statistical modelling and optimization of alkaline peroxide oxidation pretreatment process on rice husk cellulosic biomass to enhance enzymatic convertibility and fermentation to ethanol. Cellulose 25:2487–2504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-018-1714-6
- Karagöz P, Rocha IV, Özkan M, Angelidaki I (2012) Alkaline peroxide pretreatment of rapeseed straw for enhancing bioethanol production by same vessel saccharification and co-fermentation. Bioresour Technol 104:349–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10. 075
- 26. Qiu J, Ma L, Shen F, Yang G, Zhang Y, Deng S et al (2017) Pretreating wheat straw by phosphoric acid plus hydrogen peroxide for enzymatic saccharification and ethanol production at high solid loading. Bioresour Technol 238:174–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017. 04.040
- Yuan Z, Wen Y, Li G (2018) Production of bioethanol and value added compounds from wheat straw through combined alkaline/alkaline-peroxide pretreatment. Bioresour Technol 259:228–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.03.044
- Ramadoss G, Muthukumar K (2016) Mechanistic study on ultrasound assisted pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse using metal salt with hydrogen peroxide for bioethanol production. Ultrason Sonochem 28:207–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2015.07.006
- Verardi A, Blasi A, Marino T, Molino A, Calabrò V (2018) Effect of steam-pretreatment combined with hydrogen peroxide on lignocellulosic agricultural wastes for bioethanol production: analysis of derived sugars and other by-products. J Energy Chem 27:535–543. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jechem.2017.11.007
- Rabelo SC, Filho RM, Costa AC (2008) A comparison between lime and alkaline hydrogen peroxide pretreatments of sugarcane bagasse for ethanol production. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 148:45–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-008-8200-9
- 31. Cao W, Sun C, Qiu J, Li X, Liu R, Zhang L (2016) Pretreatment of sweet sorghum bagasse by alkaline hydrogen peroxide for enhancing ethanol production. Korean J Chem Eng 33:873–879. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-015-0217-5
- 32. da Correia JAC, Júnior JEM, Gonçalves LRB, Rocha MVP (2013) Alkaline hydrogen peroxide pretreatment of cashew apple bagasse for ethanol production: study of parameters. Bioresour Technol 139:249–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.03.153

- 33. Yuan Z, Wen Y, Kapu NS (2018) Ethanol production from bamboo using mild alkaline pre-extraction followed by alkaline hydrogen peroxide pretreatment. Bioresour Technol 247:242–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.080
- Martínez-Patiño JC, Ruiz E, Romero I, Cara C, López-Linares JC, Castro E (2017) Combined acid/alkaline-peroxide pretreatment of olive tree biomass for bioethanol production. Bioresour Technol 239:326–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.04.102
- 35. Zhang L, You T, Zhang L, Yang H, Xu F (2014) Enhanced fermentability of poplar by combination of alkaline peroxide pretreatment and semi-simultaneous saccharification and fermentation. Bioresour Technol 164:292–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.04.075
- 36. Li K, Qin JC, Liu CG, Bai FW (2016) Optimization of pretreatment, enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation for more efficient ethanol production by Jerusalem artichoke stalk. Bioresour Technol 221:188–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.09.021
- 37. Li Y, Cui J, Zhang G, Liu Z, Guan H (2016) Optimization study on the hydrogen peroxide pretreatment and production of bioethanol from seaweed Ulva prolifera biomass. Bioresour Technol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.04.090
- Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2008) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review. Int J Mol Sci 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms9091621
- 39. Dutra ED, Santos FA, Ribeiro B, Alencar A, Libanio A, Reis S (2017) Alkaline hydrogen peroxide pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass : status and perspectives. Biomass Convers Biorefinery. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-017-0277-3
- 40. Cara C, Ruiz E, Oliva JM, Saez F, Castro E (2007) Conversion of olive tree biomass into fermentable sugars by dilute acid pretreatment and enzymatic saccharification. Bioresour Technol 99:1869–1876
- 41. Rabelo SC, Andrade RR, Maciel Filho R, Costa AC (2014) Alkaline hydrogen peroxide pretreatment, enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation of sugarcane bagasse to ethanol. Fuel 136:349–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2014.07.033

Recent Developments in Food-Based Bioplastics Production



Babuskin Srinivasan and Garima Kulshreshtha

Contents

1	Introduction		108		
	1.1	Global Production and Impact	109		
2	Classification of Bioplastics				
	2.1	Starch	111		
	2.2	Cellulose	112		
	2.3	Polylactic Acid (PLA)	113		
	2.4	Genetically Modified or Naturally Occurring Organism-Based Bioplastics	116		
	2.5	Multilayer Film Systems	116		
3	Active Packaging		117		
	3.1	Antimicrobial Packaging Concept	117		
	3.2	Antioxidant Release	120		
4 Conclusion		lusion	121		
Ret	References				

Abstract The problem of pollution has been rising all over the world right now, and plastics are the one that plays major role in it, which has been in daily use like packaging materials, carry bags, manufacturing of different types of materials, etc. Among them around, 40% are particularly used for the production of food packaging materials. A feasible way to solve this issue is to gradually decrease the consumption of plastics prepared of petrochemical origin and subsequently substitute it with plastics made up of biodegradable materials. The transformation process of bioplastics materials (starch, polyhydroxyalkanoates, cellulose, and polylactide) for food packaging applications by employing traditional plastic manufacturing techniques such as injection molding, extrusion, and compression molding has

B. Srinivasan (🖂)

G. Kulshreshtha

107

Department of Industrial Chemistry, Arba Minch University, Arba Minch, Ethiopia e-mail: buski87@gmail.com

Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 107–128, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_578, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 22 June 2020

been discussed in this chapter. Active packaging is one of the latest packaging techniques which contain active ingredients in them utilized to scavenge free radicals or eradicate undesirable organisms, thereby extending the shelf life of the product. The application of bioplastics materials in the production of active packaging has also been reviewed and discussed in this chapter.

Keywords Active packaging, Barrier, Bioplastics, Food packaging, Polyhydroxyalkanoates

Abbreviations

HDPE	High-density polyethylene
HPMC	Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose
HSAC	α-Hydroxysulfonic acid cellulose
LDPE	Low-density polyethylene
MOI	2-Methacryloyloxyethyl isocyanate
PBAT	Poly(butylene adipate-co-terphthalate)
PBS	Poly(butylene succinate)
PCL	$Poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone)
PE	Polyethylene
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PET	Poly(ethylene terephthalate)
PHA	Polyhydroxy alkanoate
PHB	Polyhydroxy butyrate
PHBV	Polyhydroxybutyrate-valerate
PLA	Polylactic acid
PP	Polypropylene
PS	Polystyrene
PTT	Poly(trimethylene terephthalate)
PUR	Polyurethane
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
TPS	Thermoplastic starch

1 Introduction

Plastics produced from petrochemical sources are in use for a long time in different kinds of applications like packaging, automotive, healthcare, and electronic devices. They are non-avoidable owing to the economic advantage it offers and its versatility, robustness, and aesthetic qualities. In the current scenario, some of the frequently utilized polymers in packaging applications are polyethylene (PE, 29%), polypropylene (PP, 19%), polyvinyl chloride (PVC, 13%), polystyrene (PS, 7%), poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET, 7%), polyurethane (PUR, 6%), and others. However

usages of such polymers have created immense negative impact in the atmosphere, because of their toxic nature after incineration, non-biodegradability and pollution of water bodies [1].

1.1 Global Production and Impact

The demand for polymers in food packaging applications has been constantly on the rise owing to the increase in consumption of convenience foods. Global trades in processed foods have reached more than two trillion US dollars, and packaged foods contribute for half the quantity of that. When compared with other packaging materials like metal, paper, and board, plastic packaging occupies a major share of it (40%) [2]. The packaging materials employed in food industries have very short lifetime, cannot always be recycled, and after their utilization, majority of them accumulate in the landfills and water bodies, causing serious ecological concerns. It has been identified that only less than 3% of the plastic bags (500 billion) that are distributed in the market every year are recycled [3]. The plastic packaging materials used are frequently contaminated by biological substances and by foodstuff, thereby making it complicated for recycling process.

A feasible way to solve this issue is to replace non-natural polymers with eco-friendly materials particularly for packaging applications. However there are stiff challenges faced in using biodegradable polymers owing to their processability, cost, and functional properties when compared with synthetic polymers. The biode-gradable polymers can be produced by utilizing natural resources like plants, animals, and microorganisms or from other renewable resources and are degraded by the enzymatic action of fungi, yeast, and bacteria; and they are compostable by acting as fertilizers and soil conditioner. Some of the important examples are polylactic acid, cellulose, starch, chitosan, lignin, and proteins [4].

2 Classification of Bioplastics

The bioplastics are categorized into four sections depending on their method of synthesis, source, and chemical composition.

Based on their chemical composition, source, and synthesis method, bioplastics can be classified into four categories (shown in Fig. 1): (1) polymers derived straightly from biomass (e.g., protein, starch, cellulose); (2) polymers produced through chemical synthesis by utilizing bioderived monomers (e.g., bio PE, PHB, PLA); (3) polymers produced from microbial fermentation (e.g., polyhydroxyalkanoates); and (4) polymers produced through chemical synthesis by utilization of both petroleum-based and bio-derived monomers (e.g., PTT, PBS) [6].

Bioplastics made out of starch, cellulose, PLA, and PHAs have gained commercial importance in recent times, due to their ease in processing using existing





processing equipment, good functional properties, and they can be manufactured in bulk at competitive costs [6].

2.1 Starch

Starch is a polysaccharide containing vast numbers of glucose units linked together by glycosidic bonds which are made up usually of amylopectin (75–80%) and amylose (20–25%). Starch is produced as reserve material in plants such as corn, rice, cassava, oat, wheat, barley, soybean, and potatoes in granule form, varying in size (0.5–175 μ m) and in composition. They are hydrophilic, and the water content of starch varies with relative humidity. In starch, the amylopectin contributes for crystalline areas and the amylose for amorphous areas. Due to the hydrophilic nature and processability, there are limitations regarding application of starch as a packaging material. This problem can be solved by adding plasticizers like carboxylic acid, sorbitol, or glycerol or by blending with polymers like polyols, epoxides, or poly(*e*-caprolactone) (PCL).

The polymers have distinct chemical structures and it causes immiscibility issues when blended with starch; this can be solved by an alternative approach of grafting vinyl and acrylic monomers on the starch polymer chain, thereby enhancing its hydrophilicity or hydrophobicity; this may depend on the processing condition. A number of essential characteristics such as flexibility or elongation and hardness can be adjusted by modifying the concentrations of plasticizers added.

Flexibility of a blended polymer can be easily enhanced by increasing the plasticizer content. When compared to pure starch or chemically modified starch, thermoplastic starch provides finer phase dispersion in the blend system [7, 8]. Thermoplastic starch can be produced by blending glycerol with starch subsequent to the gelatinization process. Though TPS has excellent oxygen barrier properties, due to their hydroscopic nature, they can't be used for packaging liquid food and high moisture-containing products. Thermal and mechanical properties of thermoplastic starch can be increased by adding aliphatic polyesters like PHBV, PLA, PCL, etc., and the strength of the plastics may vary depending on the polymer blend [9]. Thermoplastic materials from starch can be utilized for manufacturing plates, food wrappings, and food containers and cups [10].

Thermoplastic starch was blended with talc nanoparticles, and by thermocompressing, the films' packaging bags were made. The maximum strength was obtained for films added with 3 wt% of talc; however, the films displayed poor water vapor barrier and mechanical properties when compared to plain starch films. Corn starch can be used to produce 100% biodegradable polymers when blended with plasticizers, and the resin manufactured can be transformed into injection-molded pieces, loose-fill packaging material, and films [11].

The films made up of starch are odorless, colorless, and tasteless, and they have showed low humidity and less permeability to oxygen [12]. When compared with plain starch film, films made by blending PCL (up to 10% wt) with citric acid and

glycerol being added as compatibilizers displayed good water vapor barrier property and also lowered the glass transition temperature [13].

Biodegradable films can be also manufactured by utilizing oxidized or acetylated arracacha starch. Due to the high transparency displayed by films produced from acetylated starch, also because of their good physicochemical properties, these can be used for food packaging applications [14].

The biodegradable packaging film was produced by blending sugar palm starch with plasticizers like sorbitol, glycerol, etc. Water vapor permeability values were observed in the increased range of 4.855×10^{-10} to 8.70×10^{-10} g⁻¹ s⁻¹ Pa⁻¹ irrespective of the plasticizer types in films [15]. Starch can be transformed into foamed material through water steam, thereby substituting polystyrene foam for packaging purposes. The processed material can be transformed into trays and disposable dishes by pressing. The products produced were nontoxic and easily biodegradable in the microbial environment within short period of time leaving CO₂ and water as by-products [16]. Novament produces its own starch blends, and it is one of leading company in manufacturing starch-based products [4].

2.1.1 Starch Composites

Starch-based polymers have displayed deprived mechanical properties and high water vapor permeability when compared with synthetic plastics. Microcrystalline cellulose (MC), carbon nanotubes, carboxymethylcellulose (CMC), nanoclays, fibers, etc. were added to starch-based polymers to improve their properties [8, 17]. The polymer blends produced by blending PLA, PCL, and starch have shown better biodegradation in natural environment when compared to pure PLA [18].

2.2 Cellulose

Cellulose is formed from linear chain of glucose molecules linked by highly polar and hydrophilic glycosidic $\beta(1-4)$ bonds, and it is the most commonly found biopolymer in nature. Cellulose acts as structural component in plant materials, fungi, sea animals, and some amoeba [19]. As cellulose-based films are cost-effective and completely biodegradable, they offer immense scope in replacing petrochemical based plastics [20].

As cellulose are hydrophilic in nature, it encompasses a high crystalline structure and poor solubility, and it is difficult to use them as such for food packaging. But this can be solved by manufacturing cellulose derivatives through esterification reactions where cellulose are derivatized in the solvated state, thereby making it fit for packaging applications. The additives of cellulose esters like cellulose (tri)acetate and cellulose (di)acetate were previously added to convert them into thermoplastic materials. Cellulose ethers like ethyl cellulose when added with plasticizers could be utilized for molding and extrusion applications. A cellophane film was produced by dissolving cellulose in carbon-disulfide and sodium hydroxide mixture to make cellulose xanthate and then recasting them in sulfuric acid solution to produce cellophane film, suitable for food packaging applications [21].

Cellulose acetate-based nanocomposites comprising modified montmorillonite, triethyl citrate (plasticizer), and thymol (antimicrobial) have shown real promise to use it them for food packaging applications [22]. Modified form of cellulose like hydroxypropyl methylcellulose with silver nanoparticle matrix has also shown good ability to use it for food packaging [23]. The modification of cellulose fibers with other polymers or plasticizers increases their tensile strength and mechanical properties, e.g., PVA reinforced cellulose fiber showed increased tensile strength, thereby making composite films more suitable for packaging [24]. Dicarboxylic cellulose and α -hydroxysulfonic acid cellulose (HSAC) both modified cellulose fibers can be transformed into nature-friendly film materials. They have exhibited good mechanical properties like 9.6 GPa modulus and 47.0 MPa tensile strength [25].

Trifluroacetic acids (TFA), which are naturally organic and completely biodegradable, have the ability to transform agro-wastes abundant in cellulose to bioplastics material through aging them in TFA solution [26]. The mechanical property of biopolymers (brittle and rigid, soft and stretchable) varies according to the type of plant species and their chemical composition. Cellulose in TFA solutions can be blended with vegetable waste solutions to attain plasticization, and these plasticized materials are having the ability to replace petrochemical-based plastics [27]. Cellulose acetate, a cellulose derivative produced commercially worldwide, has the great capability to be used for food packaging applications (baked food, fresh food). So far many studies were carried out by adding cellulose fibers to starch-based films [28, 29], PLA (Sanchez-Garcia and Lagaron [30], and PHBV films [31]; it has been proved that they can be potentially be utilized for food packaging applications.

Cellulose fibers can be blended with PLA to produce biopolymer matrix material, but there exists the challenge of uniformly distributing the cellulose fibers in PLA matrix [32]. The hydroxyl groups present on the surface of cellulose fibers sometimes will join together and form agglomerate that results in crack formation and composite breakdown. The addition of surfactants [33], silylation [34], grafting [35], and acetylation [36] were followed to improve the dispersion mechanism, and significant progress has been achieved.

2.3 Polylactic Acid (PLA)

PLA is a completely biodegradable polymer manufactured from both fossil and renewable resources, and it's proven to have potential to replace commercial polymers like HDPE, LDPE, PS, and PET [37]. Bacterial fermentation of corn or cane sugar is performed to manufacture lactic acid (LA), which is then converted to PLA through ring opening polymerization of LA with the use of a catalyst (shown in Fig. 2). This mechanism has been followed because normal method of





polymerization generates more water, where its presence may degrade the formed polymer chain. By adding hydroxylic compounds, it is possible to control the molecular weight of PLA, and PLAs with high molecular weight are certified as GRAS (generally regarded as safe) by US FDA. It is an odorless, colorless, glossy, stiff, low-toxicity polymer, suitable for direct food contact, and this biodegradable polyester has highest melting temperatures, around 160–190°C [39].

The PLAs can structurally be classified into three types, namely, poly(D,L-lactide) (PDLLA), poly(D-lactide) (PDLA), and poly(L-lactide) (PLLA) [40]. Among these, PDLLA is fully amorphous, where the others PDLA and PLLA are semicrystalline. Poly(D,L-lactide) with 90% L-lactide has been widely used for producing packaging materials [41].

PLA is having performance similar to that of PET, so it is feasible to use PLA as a potential substituent for PET in products like pouches, films and bottles, etc. Because of its brittle nature, less elongation (<10%) at break, deprived gas barrier properties, and high modulus and hydrophilic character, primarily its application has been limited to thermoformed packaging [42]. As PLAs have low melt strength, to process them into extruded sheets, foam and films' higher melt strength is required [43].

The PLA has better thermal properties when compared with other biopolymers like $poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) (PCL), PHA, and polyethylene glycol (PEG). The PLA has long crystallization rate, as it takes more period of time to form helical packing structure. The PLA needs to be modified and blended with further biodegradable polymers to use it for a wide variety of packaging applications. Conventional techniques such as blow molding, injection molding, film extrusion, fiber spinning, and thermoforming can be used for processing the blended PLAs [44]. The PLA majorly can be used for producing disposable tableware and especially for packaging foods having short shelf life like juices, yogurt, vegetables and fruits, etc.

For enhancing the properties like ductility and to accelerate crystallization, the PLAs are needed to be blended with fillers or other additives to form PLA composite films. So far many materials like nanoclays [45], plasticizers [46], starch [47], and carbon nanotubes [48] were blended in making PLA matrix. The significant improvements in thermal and mechanical properties were achieved when 2-methacryloyloxyethyl isocyanate (MOI) was blended with PLA [49]. The produced PLA-MOI, when compared with pure PLA, had 20 times higher percentage of elongation. Jiang and Zhang [50] blended PLA with other bioplastics like PBS, PHA, PCL, thermoplastic starch, and PBAT and achieved improved toughness and ductility.

In a recent study carried out by Bandera et al. [51], a latex-coated paper which is suitable for food packaging has been prepared by blending PLA with montmorillonite, surfactants, plasticizers, water, and chloroform via emulsion/solvent evaporation method. Improved water vapor transmission rate (up to 85%) was achieved in coated papers and the latex material is nontoxic, so it can securely be used for food packaging applications.

The properties of PLA may differ considerably from amorphous to semicrystalline based on D-lactide/L-lactide enantiomers ratio. In PLA the amorphous one, having 12% D-lactide enantiomer has the properties similar to polystyrene and can easily be processed via thermoforming. It has been effectively employed in food packaging sector under the name Natureworks-PLA manufactured by Natureworks-LLC (Blair, NB). Currently this has been in use for packaging of short shelf life products [52].

The water vapor and oxygen barrier properties of PLA were enhanced by coating PLA with PEO-Si/SiOx (polyethylene oxide), PCL-Si/SiOx (polycaprolactone), and MAP; these PLA films can potentially be employed for packaging medium shelf life products (vegetables, cheeses, fresh meat, processed meat) [53]. Also significant improvement in oxygen barrier and water vapor properties were achieved for number of polymers (nano-fibrillated cellulose film, PLA film, PHB, PLA-coated board) quoted with thin layer of AlOx (25 nm) Hirvikorpi et al. [54].

2.4 Genetically Modified or Naturally Occurring Organism-Based Bioplastics

Bacteria synthesize polymers like PHB and PHA via fermentation of starch or glucose, and further they are extracted by using solvents like methylene chloride and chloroform [55]. The properties of PHA like tensile strength, chain length, and brittleness depends upon the type of microorganism, carbon source used, and the monomer unit composition [56].

The melting point of PHAs ranges from 40 to 180° C based upon monomers involved in synthesis. PHAs when combined with starch or other bioplastics can effectively be used for packaging applications [57]. Poly(D-3-hydroxybutyrate) (PHB) is one of the monomers of PHA; apart from its brittleness, it has almost similar mechanical properties of PP [58, 59]. The huge crystalline domain is responsible for the brittle nature of PHB, as it has high *Tg* and crystallinity [60].

As the melting temperature $(175-180^{\circ}\text{C})$ of PHB is similar to isotactic polypropylene (iPP), it can be used for intermediate bulk containers and shrink packaging [55]. Though the cost is high, it degrades in microbial environment in the shorter period (5–6 weeks) of time giving out CO₂ and water as by-products under aerobic condition and, under anaerobic condition, it produces methane [61].

2.5 Multilayer Film Systems

In recent times, an alternative strategy of developing multilayer film systems based on PLA and PLA has emerged as the latest trend in improving the technological properties of biopolymers [62].

3 Active Packaging

The emergences in innovative packaging techniques are due to demand from consumer for palatable, mildly processed, and ready-to-eat foods with good quality and long shelf life. The ultimate goal of food packaging technology is to avoid food spoilage during farm to fork and also to eradicate hazards leading to foodborne illness. Recent changes in lifestyle where the consumer has less time to prepare meals have propelled the food packaging sector to develop new and inventive food packaging methods.

Latest techniques in the area of food packaging are intelligent packaging, active packaging, and bioactive packaging, which have shown significant promise in maintaining the freshness and extending the shelf life, thereby improving the quality and safety of food products [63].

Active packaging is an inventive concept which refers to the utilization of active materials including moisture absorbent, scavengers, and antimicrobial- and antioxidant-releasing systems that are used in food-enveloping environment to enhance the performance of packaging systems [64].

The major aims of active packaging are to prevent moisture infusion and microbial attack, reduce oxidation, regulate respiratory process, etc. It can be achieved with the help of CO_2 scavengers/emitters, time-temperature sensors, biosensors, aroma emitters, ripeness indicators, ethylene scavengers, and prolonged release of antioxidants into the package during storage period.

A range of compounds such as organic acids including propionate, benzoate, sorbate and bacteriocins (pediocin and nisin), enzymes like lysozyme, fungicides, and metals were tested previously in food packaging for their antimicrobial activity [65–67]. For example, in Japan they have incorporated Ag-substituted zeolite as antimicrobial agent in packaging films. The Ag-ions have wide antimicrobial spectrum, and in active packaging films they inhibit variety of metabolic enzymes. However, there are some limitations that exist such as Ag-zeolite is costly and so far there are few descriptions reported regarding their application as packaging material. LDPE films comprising potassium sorbate have shown very good inhibitory effect against yeast cells. Currently, there are two commercial biocidal films available in the market; one is chlorine dioxide and the other one is a chlorinated phenoxy compound. The biocidal agent in both films resides in the polymer spaces and is released upon food contact or in response to changes in the environment.

3.1 Antimicrobial Packaging Concept

The antimicrobial agent may be coated onto films, or it can be directly incorporated into polymer material or packaging films to produce antimicrobial packaging films. The utilization of active antimicrobial compounds included in packaging material could be one approach for controlling bacterial pathogens in the food packaging system. This would ensure microbial food safety for consumer and also helps in extension of food's shelf life.

The mechanism of action in antimicrobial film may be migrating or non-migrating, it depends on the interaction between food matrix and the packaging. The antimicrobial agents can be infused in vapor or gradually diffused through food surface for migrating film applications, whereas it can be applied over the surface for non-migrating film applications. The release of active antimicrobial compounds in the food packaging should be tightly regulated and controlled; otherwise it might pose a safety risk to consumers.

3.1.1 Bacteriocins

Bacteriocins are peptidicantimicrobials which are synthesized mostly by lactic acidproducing bacteria and show bactericidal activity against major food pathogens. Bacteriocins can be used in antimicrobial packaging to improve product quality, safety, and shelf life as their use in food has been well recognized by the US FDA, WHO, and FAO. For example, the population of lactic acid bacteria has been reduced many folds in ham and sliced cheese stored at refrigerated temperatures, when they were applied with antimicrobial agent like immobilized bacteriocins lacticin 3,147 and nisin, thereby extending the shelf life. In a different study, low-density polyethylene film coated with sonorensin, a subfamily of bacteriocins, effectively reduced growth of Gram-positive food spoilage bacterial pathogens like *Listeria monocytogenes* and *S. aureus* in chicken meat and tomato samples [68]. Recently, Emiliano et al. demonstrated that triticale flour films with bacteriocin like substance effectively controlled the growth of *Listeria innocua* in food packaging containers [69]. Natamycin-based anti-fungal coating is commercially available under the brand name SANICO® to be used in cheese and sausages [70].

3.1.2 Enzymes

Enzyme immobilization can be employed as an effective system for antimicrobialbased food packaging. Lysozyme has been permitted to be used as antimicrobial agent by the US FDA, and its use as a food additives falls under Directive 94/2/EC. Lysozyme is a single peptide protein which targets and destroys the glyosidic linkages in the peptidoglycans of Gram-positive bacteria. Cellulose triacetate (CTA) films immobilized with lysozyme have reduced *M. lysodeikticus* cell numbers by 7 log cycles (equivalent mass) within 24 h, suggesting its potential for food packaging applications [71]. In a different study, lysozyme-chitosan composite films incorporated with 60% lysozyme have reduced *Streptococcus faecalis* and *E. coli* by 3.8 and 2.7 log cycles (equivalent mass), respectively [72]. The covalent immobilization of lysozyme over the surface of ethanol vinyl alcohol copolymers have reduced the growth of Gram-positive *Listeria monocytogenes* (1.08 log reduction for an equivalent mass of covalently immobilized lysozyme) with no migration of lysozyme from the films, suggesting utilization of these films for food packaging applications [73]. The antimicrobial membranes attained from polyamide 11(PA11) and nano-hybrid composed of halloysite nanotubes (HNTs) filled with lysozyme were effective as antimicrobial pads for chicken meat storage. The membrane filled with 5.0 wt% of HNTs-lysozyme reduced the growth of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* for up to 13 days of storage at 4°C [74]. Antilisterial films of lysozyme based on zein were developed with a consumer-controlled and pH-triggered release mechanism. During transportation the antimicrobial stress is increased over pathogens in consumer-controlled release mechanisms [75].

3.1.3 Plants Extracts and Phytochemicals

A great interest has been shown in the utilization of plant extracts for edible polymerbased food packaging applications. Incorporation of phytochemicals into polymerbased packaging material has shown to improve its physiochemical properties. For example, incorporation of clove, star anise, and cinnamon extracts into hydrolyzed gelatin film has reduced their water vapor permeability and improved tensile strength. In a different study, incorporation of grape seed extract (GSE) into soybean protein isolate films resulted in bactericidal effects against food safety pathogens including Listeria monocytogenes, Escherichia coli 0157:H7, and Salmonella typhimurium [76–78]. Antimicrobial activity of plant-based antimicrobial films may be attributed due to the high phenolic content containing components like carvacrol, thymol, and eugenol. For example, thymol and carvacrol (8 wt%) have shown promising application as active additives in polypropylene (PP) films with dual response of controlled antioxidant and antimicrobial release into food material. Thus, they can be able to replace synthetic antioxidants employed in PP film formulations [79]. Nanocomposite antimicrobial films prepared using LDPE and carvacrol have displayed remarkable oxygen barrier property and thermal stability with significant antimicrobial activity against *Pseudomonas* stains [79]. In another study, five chitosan-based films containing carvacrol showed antimicrobial activity against Bacillus subtilis, Escherichia coli, Listeria innocua, and Salmonella enteritidis. The minimal vapor inhibitory concentration obtained for S. enteritidis was 1.08×10^{-7} g mL⁻¹ ($K_{\text{mass}} = 1.01 \times 10^{-4}$), and for *B. subtilis*, *E. coli*, and L. innocua, it was 4.62×10^{-8} g mL⁻¹ ($K_{\text{mass}} = 1.13 \times 10^{-6}$), respectively. Carvacrol-activated active films have displayed antimicrobial effect at their vapor phase against bacterial pathogens [80].

3.1.4 Essential Oils

Essential oil incorporation into packaging system reduces transparency and improves the antimicrobial and water barrier properties. Essential oils extracted from plants and spices such as cumin, fennel, laurel, mint, sage, savory, garlic, clove, and cinnamon are rich source of antimicrobial compounds. Major antimicrobial action mechanisms include disruption of phospholipid bilayer of cell membrane, disruption of enzyme activity, effect on protein synthesis, and production of hydrogen peroxide [81, 82]. Antimicrobial properties of garlic, rosemary, and oregano essential oils dispersed in whey protein isolate (WPI) films were tested against Lactobacillus Salmonella enteritidis. plantarum, Staphylococcus aureus. Escherichia coli, and Listeria monocytogenes by means of assay of zone of inhibition. Results indicated that the films incorporated with oregano oil (2%) were observed to be effective against bacteria when compared with other spices [83]. In a different study, essential oil of rosemary has been incorporated in chitosan films, and it showed effective antibacterial activity against bacteria like Streptococcus agalactiae and Listeria monocytogenes [84]. Biodegradable trays (polyvinyl alcohol and cassava bagasse) containing oregano and clove essential oils were manufactured by two methods: direct incorporation (6.5-10.0%) and surface coating (2.5-7.5%); high antimicrobial activities were observed for surface-coated trays against spoilage yeasts, molds, and Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria [85]. Electrospun polyvinyl alcohol/β-cyclodextrin(PVA/CEO/β-CD)/cinnamon essential oil nanofibrous antimicrobial film has shown effective antimicrobial activity against Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus with MBC of approximate 7–8 mg/mL and MIC of 0.9⁻¹ mg/mL [86]. Dextrin-based nanosponges incorporated with coriander essential oil (CEO) have shown significant bactericidal effect against food safety pathogens. Authors reported that whole essential oils incorporated in nanosponges (CD-NS) displayed efficient ability in controlling the oil release, while restraining bacterial growth, hence providing a promising strategy in overcoming the inefficiency of present antimicrobial food packages [87].

3.2 Antioxidant Release

Antioxidants are utilized into active packaging films to maintain oxidation stability of lipids and to prolong shelf life of dried products and O₂-sensitive foods. Natural, synthetic, and nanoparticle-based antioxidants have been successfully developed into multiple layer films. The synthetic antioxidants like thioester, butylated hydroxytoluene, and organophosphates sometimes migrate into food products, thereby creating potential toxicity issues, and due to this, the usage of such antioxidants are restricted in active packaging [88]. Hence, such artificial additives are currently replaced with natural alternatives like essential oils and plant extracts which exhibit antioxidant properties. The oxidative damage caused to foods can be reduced by employing edible-coated films which does it by reducing the oxygen transmission rate. The selection of bioactive compound depends on its compatibility with the packaging. For example, food packaging material ethylene vinyl alcohol copolymer (EVOH) matrix incorporated with antioxidants like quercetin, ferulic acid, green tea extract, and ascorbic acid had significantly decreased water permeability. Moreover, green tea extract incorporated films has shown great protection

against lipid oxidation [89]. In a different study, cassava starch films comprising rosemary extracts have shown better barrier properties against UV light and good antioxidant activity [90]. Solvent casting method was used to incorporate oregano, rosemary, and thyme essential oils (EOs) into polylactic acid resin (PLA, concentration 10% w/w) to produce antioxidant packaging films. Addition of EOs significantly reduced lipid oxidation and improved the shelf life of the product [91]. An active packaging material of κ -carrageenan incorporated with different amounts of mulberry polyphenolic extract (MPE) has improved water vapor, UV light barrier, antioxidant, and pH-sensitive activity of the films [92].

One of the major advantages of using antioxidant incorporated packaging films rather than antioxidants directly added to food is that the active antioxidant materials incorporated in packaging could be able to provide a controlled release of them into food, when compared to constant usage of antioxidants during storage [93]. Taken together, sometimes direct coating of antioxidants over the surface of packaging material and/or food may result in sensory disapproval. Hence, when packaging materials are produced by incorporating antioxidants in the packaging matrix, it may aid in improving food safety and quality by reducing direct accumulation of chemicals.

4 Conclusion

Nowadays due to recent advancements in technologies and awareness among people to conserve our planet, there is a great potential for using bioplastics as food packaging materials. Most of bioplastics are currently employed in the production of loose film which is having potential to be used for service packaging such as cutlery, cups, carry bags, and plates and for recent packaging like active packaging (antimicrobial, antioxidant), intelligent packaging, modified atmospheric packaging, etc. Over the last few years, there were much efforts undertaken to enhance the functional properties like flexibility, functionality, biodegradability, stability, and processability of bioplastics through physical, biological, and chemical treatment such as blending, compounding, copolymerization, and fermentation. The bioplastics developed by improving the functional properties may have almost same properties like petroleum-based plastics, but due the high developmental costs involved, the cost of production of biopolymers are still high. More investigations are needed in the future toward the development of cost effective intelligent and smart packaging systems, which can be able to provide information related to properties of the food within the package (microbiological safety, quality, shelf life, nutritional value). The smart packaging systems not only provide information regarding food to customers; they also act as potential barrier in safeguarding the food and ensuring the integrity of food properties. On the other note, it is also expected that more support is needed from the governments, particularly in the developed countries to cut down the large price difference between biodegradable packaging and conventional plastic packaging.

References

- Bayer IS, Guzman-Puyol S, Heredia-Guerrero JA, Ceseracciu L, Pignatelli F, Ruffilli R, Cingolani R, Athanassiou A (2014) Direct transformation of edible vegetable waste into bioplastics. Macromolecules 47:5135–5143. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma5008557
- Rydz J, Musioł M, Zawidlak-Węgrzyńska B, Sikorska W (2018) Present and future of biodegradable polymers for food packaging applications. In: Biopolymers for food design. Academic Press, Cambridge, pp 431–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811449-0.00014-1
- Malathy AN, Santhosh KS, Nidoni U (2014) Recent trends of biodegradable polymer: biodegradable films for food packaging and application of nanotechnology in biodegradable food packaging. Curr Trends Tech Sci 3:73–79
- Babu RP, O'Connor K, Seeram R (2013) Current progress on bio-based polymers and their future trends. Prog Biomater 2(8):1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/2194-0517-2-8
- Reddy MM, Vivekanandhan S, Misra M, Bhatia SK, Mohanty AK (2013) Biobased plastics and bionanocomposites: current status and future opportunities. Prog Polym Sci 38:1653–1689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2013.05.006
- Mittal V (2012) Polymers from renewable resources. In: Mittal V (ed) Renewable polymers synthesis, processing, and technology. Scrivener, Salem, pp 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781118217689.ch1
- Berruezo M, Ludueña LN, Rodriguez E, Alvarez VA (2014) Preparation and characterization of polystyrene/starch blends for packaging applications. J Plast Film Sheet 30(2):141–161. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2F8756087913504581
- Girones J, Lopez JP, Mutje P, Carvalho AJF, Curvelo AAS, Vilaseca F (2012) Natural fiberreinforced thermoplastic starch composites obtained by melt processing. Compos Sci Technol 72:858–863. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2012.02.019
- Lu DR, Xiao CM, Xu SJ (2009) Starch-based completely biodegradable polymer materials. Express Polym Lett 6:366–375. https://doi.org/10.3144/expresspolymlett.2009.46
- Rejak A, Wójtowicz A, Oniszczuk T, Niemczuk D, Nowacka M (2014) Evaluation of water vapor permeability of biodegradable starch-based films. TEKA Comm Motor Energetics Agric 14:89–94
- 11. Briassoulis D (2004) An overview on the mechanical behaviour of biodegradable agricultural films. J Polym Environ 12:65–81. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOOE.0000010052.86786.ef
- The DP, Debeaufort F, Voilley A, Luu D (2009) Biopolymer interactions affect the functional properties of edible films based on agar, cassava starch and arabinoxylan blends. J Food Eng 90:548–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.07.023
- Ortega-Toro R, Collazo-Bigliardi S, Talens P, Chiralt A (2016) Influence of citric acid on the properties and stability of starch-polycaprolactone based films. J Appl Polym Sci 133:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.42220
- 14. Medina OJ, Pardo VOHC, Ortiz CA (2012) Modified arracacha starch films characterization and its potential utilization as food packaging. Vitae 19(2):186–196. http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0121-40042012000200005&lng=pt&tlng=en
- Sanyang ML, Sapuan SM, Jawaid M, Ishak MR, Sahari J (2015) Effect of plasticizer type and concentration on tensile, thermal and barrier properties of biodegradable films based on sugar palm (Arenga pinnata) starch. Polymers 7:1106–1124. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym7061106
- Siracusa V, Rocculi P, Romani S, Rosa MD (2008) Biodegradable polymers for food packaging: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 19:634–643
- Muller CMO, Laurindo JB, Yamashita F (2011) Effect of nanoclay incorporation method on mechanical and water vapor barrier properties of starch-based films. Ind Crop Prod 33:605–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2010.12.021
- Liao H, Wu C (2009) Preparation and characterization of ternary blends composed of polylactide, poly(ε-caprolactone) and starch. Mater Sci Eng 515:207–214. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.msea.2009.03.003

- Kamel S, Ali N, Jahangir K, Shah SM, El-Gendy AA (2008) Pharmaceutical significance of cellulose: a review. Express Polym Lett 11:758–778. https://doi.org/10.3144/expresspolymlett. 2008.90
- El Halal SLM, Colussi R, Deon VG, Pinto VZ, Villanova FA, Carreño NLV, Zavareze EDR (2015) Films based on oxidized starch and cellulose from barley. Carbohydr Polym 133:644–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2015.07.024
- 21. Pawar PA, Purwar AH (2013) Biodegradable polymers in food packaging. Am J Eng Res 2:151–164
- 22. Rodríguez FJ, Torres A, Peñaloza Á, Sepúlveda H, Galotto MJ, Guarda A, Bruna J (2014) Development of an antimicrobial material based on a nanocomposite cellulose acetate film for active food packaging. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess 31:342–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2013.876105
- De Moura MR, Mattoso LHC, Zucolotto V (2012) Development of cellulose-based bactericidal nanocomposites containing silver nanoparticles and their use as active food packaging. J Food Eng 109:520–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2011.10.030
- 24. Laxmeshwar SS, Kumar DJM, Viveka S, Nagaraja GK (2012) Preparation and properties of biodegradable film composites using modified cellulose fibre-reinforced with PVA. ISRN Polym Sci 154314:8. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/154314
- Sirviö JA, Liimatainen H, Niinimäki J, Hormi O (2013) Sustainable packaging materials based on wood cellulose. RSC Adv 3:16590–16596. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RA43264E
- Kim BR, Suidan MT, Wallington TJ, Du X (2000) Biodegradability of trifluoroacetic acid. Environ Eng Sci 17:337–342. https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2000.17.337
- Macedo MJ, Moura I, Oliveira M, Machado AV (2015) Development of bioplastics from agrowastes. In: Abstract in MATERIAIS 2015, Porto, Portugal
- Dias AB, Müller CMO, Larotonda FDS, Laurindo JB (2011) Mechanical and barrier properties of composite films based on rice flour and cellulose fibers. LWT Food Sci Technol 44:535–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2010.07.006
- Müller CMO, Laurindo JB, Yamashita F (2009) Effect of cellulose fibers addition on the mechanical properties and water vapor barrier of starch-based films. Food Hydrocoll 23:1328–1333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2008.09.002
- 30. Sanchez-Garcia M, Lagaron J (2010) On the use of plant cellulose nanowhiskers to enhance the barrier properties of polylactic acid. Cellulose 17:987–1004. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-010-9430-x
- Petersson L, Oksman K (2006) Biopolymer based nanocomposites: comparing layered silicates and microcrystalline cellulose as nanoreinforcement. Compos Sci Technol 66:2187–2196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2005.12.010
- Siqueira G, Bras J, Dufresne A (2010) Cellulosic bionanocomposites: a review of preparation. Polymers 2:728–765. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym2040728
- Oksman K, Mathew AP, Bondeson D, Kvien I (2006) Manufacturing process of cellulose whiskers/polylactic acid nanocomposites. Compos Sci Technol 66:2776–2784. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.compscitech.2006.03.002
- 34. Pei A, Zhou Q, Berglund LA (2010) Functionalized cellulose nanocrystals as biobased nucleation agents in poly(L-lactide) (PLLA) – crystallization and mechanical property effects. Compos Sci Technol 70:815–821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2010.01.018
- Pracella M, Haque MM-U, Alvarez V (2010) Functionalization, compatibilization and properties of polyolefin composites with natural fibers. Polymers 2:554. https://doi.org/10.3390/ polym2040554
- Braun B, Dorgan JR (2009) Single-step method for the isolation and surface functionalization of cellulosic nanowhiskers. Biomacromolecules 10:334–341. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm8011117
- 37. Peelman N, Ragaert P, De Meulenaer B, Adons D, Peeters R, Cardon L, Van Impe F, Devlieghere F (2013) Review: application of bioplastics for food packaging. Trends Food Sci Technol 32(2):128–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2013.06.003

- Auras R, Harte B, Selke S (2004) An overview of polylactides as packaging materials. Macromol Biosci 4:835–864
- Auras R, Singh SP, Singh JJ (2005) Evaluation of oriented poly(lactide) polymers vs. existing PET and oriented PS for fresh food service containers. J Packag Technol Sci 18:207. https://doi. org/10.1002/pts.692
- Tang Z, Chen X, Pang X, Yang Y, Zhang X, Jing X (2004) Stereoselective polymerization of rac-lactide using a monoethylaluminum Schiff base complex. Biomacromolecules 5:965–970. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm0344670
- Vasanthan N, Ly O (2009) Effect of microstructure on hydrolytic degradation studies of poly (L-lactic acid) by FTIR spectroscopy and differential scanning calorimetry. Polym Degrad Stabil 94:1364–1372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2009.05.015
- 42. Okamoto K, Ichikawa T, Yokohara T, Yamaguchi M (2009) Miscibility, mechanical and thermal properties of poly(lactic acid)/polyester-diol blends. Eur Polym J 45:2304–2312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2009.05.011
- Lim LT, Auras R, Rubino M (2008) Processing technologies for poly(lactic acid). Prog Polym Sci 33:820–852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2008.05.004
- 44. Rasal RM, Janorkar AV, Hirt DE (2010) Poly(lactic acid) modifications. Prog Polym Sci 35:338–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2009.12.003
- Bordes P, Pollet E, Averous L (2009) Nano-biocomposites: biodegradable polyester/nanoclay systems. Prog Polym Sci 34:125–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2008.10.002
- 46. Pillin I, Montrelay N, Grohens Y (2006) Thermo-mechanical characterization of plasticized PLA: is the miscibility the only significant factor? Polymer 47:4676–4682. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.polymer.2006.04.013
- Yokesahachart CC, Yoksan R (2011) Effect of amphiphilic molecules on characteristics and tensile properties of thermoplastic starch and its blends with poly(lactic acid). Carbohydr Polym 83:22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.07.020
- Wu CS, Liao HT (2007) Study on the preparation and characterization of biodegradable polylactide/multi-walled carbon nanotubes nanocomposites. Polymer 48:4449–4458. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2007.06.004
- Chen B, Shih C, Chen AF (2012) Ductile PLA nanocomposites with improved thermal stability. Compos A Appl Sci Manuf 43:2289–2295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compositesa.2012.08.007
- 50. Jiang L, Zhang J (2011) Biodegradable and biobased polymers. In: Kutz M (ed) Applied plastics engineering handbook processing and materials. Elsevier, Oxford, pp 145–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-39040-8.00007-9
- Bandera D, Meyer VR, Prevost D, Zimmermann T, Boesel LF (2016) Polylactide/montmorillonite hybrid latex as a barrier coating for paper applications. Polymers 8(3):75–83. https://doi. org/10.3390/polym8030075
- Mallet B, Lamnawar K, Maazouz A (2014) Improvement of blown film extrusion of poly (lactic acid): structure–processing–properties relationships. Polym Eng Sci 54(4):840–857. https://doi. org/10.1002/pen.23610
- 53. Iotti M, Fabbri P, Messori M, Pilati F, Fava P (2009) Organic-inorganic hybrid coatings for the modification of barrier properties of poly(lactic acid) films for food packaging applications. J Polym Environ 17(1):10–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-009-0120-4
- 54. Hirvikorpi T, Vähä-Nissi M, Nikkola J, Harlin A, Karppinen M (2011) Thin Al2O3 barrier coatings onto temperature-sensitive packaging materials by atomic layer deposition. Surf Coat Technol 205:5088–5092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surfcoat.2011.05.017
- Koller I, Owen AJ (1996) Starch-filled PHB and PHB/HV copolymer. Polym Int 39:175–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/(ISSN)1097-0126
- 56. Modi SJ (2010) Assessing the feasibility of poly-(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-valerate) (PHBV) and poly-(lactic acid) for potential food packaging applications. Thesis, Ohio State University. http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=osu1268921056

- 57. Tharanathan RN (2003) Review e biodegradable films and composite coatings: past, present and future. Trends Food Sci Technol 14:71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-2244(02)00280-7
- Castilho LR, Mitchell DA, Freire DMG (2009) Production of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) from waste materials and by-products by submerged and solid-state fermentation. Bioresour Technol 100:5996–6009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.03.088
- 59. Rai R, Roy I (2011) Polyhydroxyalkanoates: the emerging new green polymers of choice. In: Sharma SK, Mudhoo A (eds) A handbook of applied biopolymer technology. Synthesis, degradation and applications. Royal Society of Chemistry, London, pp 79–101
- Barham PJ, Keller A (1986) The relationship between microstructure and mode of fracture in polyhydroxybutyrate. J Polym Sci 24:69–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/polb.1986.180240108
- Haugaard VK, Danielsen B, Bertelsen G (2003) Impact of polylactate and poly (hydroxybutyrate) on food quality. Eur Food Res Technol 216:233–240. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00217-002-0651-6
- Boufarguine M, Guinault A, Miquelard-Garnier G, Sollogoub C (2013) PLA/PHBV films with improved mechanical and gas barrier properties. Macromol Mater Eng 2013(298):1065. https:// doi.org/10.1002/mame.201200285
- Dobrucka R, Cierpiszewski R (2014) Active and intelligent packaging food-research and development-a review. Pol J Food Nutr Sci 64(1):7–15. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10222-012-0091-3
- 64. López-Rubio A, Almenar E, Hernandez-Muñoz P, Lagarón JM, Catalá R, Gavara R (2004) Overview of active polymer-based packaging technologies for food applications. Food Rev Intl 20(4):357–387. https://doi.org/10.1081/FRI-200033462
- Han JH, Floros JD (1997) Casting antimicrobial packaging films and measuring their physical properties and antimicrobial activity. J Plast Film Sheet 13(4):287–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 875608799701300405
- 66. Ming X, Weber GH, Ayres JW, Sandine WE (1997) Bacteriocins applied to food packaging materials to inhibit Listeria monocytogenes on meats. J Food Sci 62(2):413–415. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1997.tb04015.x
- Padgett T, Han IY, Dawson PL (1998) Incorporation of food-grade antimicrobial compounds into biodegradable packaging films. J Food Prot 61(10):1330–1335. https://doi.org/10.4315/ 0362-028X-61.10.1330
- Chopra L, Singh G, Kumar Jena K, Sahoo DK (2015) Sonorensin: a new bacteriocin with potential of an anti-biofilm agent and a food biopreservative. Sci Rep 5:13412. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep13412
- 69. Salvucci E, Rossi M, Colombo A, Pérez G, Borneo R, Aguirre A (2019) Triticale flour films added with bacteriocin-like substance (BLIS) for active food packaging applications. Food Packag Shelf Life 19:193–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fpsl.2018.05.007
- Majid I, Thakur M, Nanda V (2018) Innovative and safe packaging technologies for food and beverages: updated review. In: Innovations in technologies for fermented food and beverage industries. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74820-7_13
- 71. Appendini P, Hotchkiss JH (1997) Immobilization of lysozyme on food contact polymers as potential antimicrobial films. Packag Technol Sci 10(5):271–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1099-1522(199709/10)10:5<271::AID-PTS412>3.0.CO;2-R
- 72. Park SI, Daeschel MA, Zhao Y (2004) Functional properties of antimicrobial lysozymechitosan composite films. J Food Sci 69(8):M215–M221. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2004.tb09890.x
- Muriel-Galet V, Talbert JN, Hernandez-Munoz P, Gavara R, Goddard JM (2013) Covalent immobilization of lysozyme on ethylene vinyl alcohol films for nonmigrating antimicrobial packaging applications. J Agric Food Chem 61(27):6720–6727. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jf401818u

- 74. Bugatti V, Vertuccio L, Viscusi G, Gorrasi G (2018) Antimicrobial membranes of bio-based PA 11 and HNTs filled with lysozyme obtained by an electrospinning process. Nano 8(3):139. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano8030139
- Boyacı D, Yemenicioğlu A (2018) Expanding horizons of active packaging: design of consumer-controlled release systems helps risk management of susceptible individuals. Food Hydrocoll 79:291–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2017.12.038
- 76. Hong Y-H, Lim G-O, Song KB (2009) Physical properties of gelidium corneum–gelatin blend films containing grapefruit seed extract or green tea extract and its application in the packaging of pork loins. J Food Sci 74(1):C6–C10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2008.00987.x
- 77. Kakaei S, Shahbazi Y (2016) Effect of chitosan-gelatin film incorporated with ethanolic red grape seed extract and Ziziphora clinopodioides essential oil on survival of Listeria monocytogenes and chemical, microbial and sensory properties of minced trout fillet. LWT Food Sci Technol 72:432–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LWT.2016.05.021
- Kanmani P, Rhim J-W (2014) Antimicrobial and physical-mechanical properties of agar-based films incorporated with grapefruit seed extract. Carbohydr Polym 102:708–716. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2013.10.099
- 79. Ramos M, Jiménez A, Peltzer M, Garrigós MC (2012) Characterization and antimicrobial activity studies of polypropylene films with carvacrol and thymol for active packaging. J Food Eng 109(3):513–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG.2011.10.031
- Kurek M, Moundanga S, Favier C, Galić K, Debeaufort F (2013) Antimicrobial efficiency of carvacrol vapour related to mass partition coefficient when incorporated in chitosan based films aimed for active packaging. Food Control 32(1):168–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. FOODCONT.2012.11.049
- Calo JR, Crandall PG, O'Bryan CA, Ricke SC (2015) Essential oils as antimicrobials in food systems – a review. Food Control 54:111–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCONT.2014. 12.040
- Hammer KA, Carson CF, Riley TV (1999) Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and other plant extracts. J Appl Microbiol 86(6):985–990. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.1999. 00780.x
- Seydim AC, Sarikus G (2006) Antimicrobial activity of whey protein based edible films incorporated with oregano, rosemary and garlic essential oils. Food Res Int 39(5):639–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2006.01.013
- 84. Abdollahi M, Rezaei M, Farzi G (2012) Improvement of active chitosan film properties with rosemary essential oil for food packaging. Int J Food Sci Technol 47(4):847–853. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2011.02917.x
- Debiagi F, Kobayashi RKT, Nakazato G, Panagio LA, Mali S (2014) Biodegradable active packaging based on cassava bagasse, polyvinyl alcohol and essential oils. Ind Crop Prod 52:664–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.11.032
- Wen P, Zhu DH, Wu H, Zong MH, Jing YR, Han SY (2016) Encapsulation of cinnamon essential oil in electrospun nanofibrous film for active food packaging. Food Control 59:366–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.06.005
- Silva F, Caldera F, Trotta F, Nerín C, Domingues FC (2019) Encapsulation of coriander essential oil in cyclodextrin nanosponges: a new strategy to promote its use in controlledrelease active packaging. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 56:102177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ifset.2019.102177
- Gómez-Estaca J, López-de-Dicastillo C, Hernández-Muñoz P, Catalá R, Gavara R (2014) Advances in antioxidant active food packaging. Trends Food Sci Technol 35(1):42–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2013.10.008
- López-De-Dicastillo C, Gómez-Estaca J, Catalá R, Gavara R, Hernández-Muñoz P (2012) Active antioxidant packaging films: development and effect on lipid stability of brined sardines. Food Chem 131(4):1376–1384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.10.002

- 90. Piñeros-Hernandez D, Medina-Jaramillo C, López-Córdoba A, Goyanes S (2017) Edible cassava starch films carrying rosemary antioxidant extracts for potential use as active food packaging. Food Hydrocoll 63:488–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.09.034
- 91. Zeid A, Karabagias IK, Nassif M, Kontominas MG (2019) Preparation and evaluation of antioxidant packaging films made of polylactic acid containing thyme, rosemary, and oregano essential oils. J Food Process Preserv 43(10):e14102. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.14102
- 92. Liu Y, Qin Y, Bai R, Zhang X, Yuan L, Liu J (2019) Preparation of pH-sensitive and antioxidant packaging films based on κ-carrageenan and mulberry polyphenolic extract. Int J Biol Macromol 134:993–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.05.175
- Mastromatteo M, Mastromatteo M, Conte A, Del Nobile MA (2010) Advances in controlled release devices for food packaging applications. Trends Food Sci Technol 21(12):591–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2010.07.010

Valorization of Waste Algal Boom for Value-Added Products



A. Annam Renita and P. Senthil Kumar

Contents

1	Introduction		130		
2	Algal Bloom Valorization		131		
	2.1	Biogas	131		
	2.2	Biochar	132		
	2.3	Biooil	132		
	2.4	Bioethanol	133		
	2.5	Adsorbent	133		
	2.6	Biofertilizer	133		
3	Sum	nary	134		
Re	References				

Abstract Undesirable algal boom causes serious disposal problems which can be cost inductive and can cause secondary pollution problems. There is a need for valorization of such waste algal biomass which is otherwise disposed of as solid waste in land filling or incinerated. The algal blooms which are problematic can be processed technically to value-added products, and this in turn will also provide a sustainable solution to eutrophication hassles. Valorization techniques involve industrial processing of algal waste which can be converted or recycled into useful products or serve as a source of energy thereby increasing the value of the original material. This technology is the most promising solution to achieve low carbon economy. This review outlines the valorization techniques which can be adopted to convert the waste algal biomass which can be used in industries like energy, agriculture, and wastewater treatment plants.

129

A. Annam Renita (🖂)

Department of Chemical Engineering, Sathyabama Institute of Science and Technology, Chennai, India e-mail: annamrenita.chem@sathyabama.ac.in

P. Senthil Kumar

Department of Chemical Engineering, SSN College of Engineering, Chennai, India e-mail: senthilkumarp@ssn.edu.in

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 129–138, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_579, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 17 July 2020

Keywords Algal biomass, Application, Biofuel, Valorization, Value products

1 Introduction

Eutrophication of water bodies has been a long-term problem for which a permanent solution has not yet been found. The factors for eutrophication are the nutrient enrichment of water bodies and favorable growth factors like temperature, poor circulation, and physical dimensions [1, 2]. Eutrophication disturbs the aquatic ecosystem being superfluous in growth. The direct damage from eutrophication are (1) reduced biodiversity, such as the loss of dominant species, (2) damage to the water environment due to increased toxicity, and (3) changes in the physical properties of water like increased turbidity [3]. Moreover, algal blooms affect the ecosystem locally and indirectly the economy of the nation [4]. Economic losses of approximately \$2.2 billion for freshwater algal blooms and \$100 million for coastal algal blooms are being incurred every year in the USA [5]. The disposal cost of Ulva species from Brittany's coasts amounted up to US\$ 10-150 per ton in 2011 [6]. Severe Microcystis and Aphanizomenon flos-aquae algal blooms in freshwater Dianchi Lake, China pose health threats to animals and human, and their cell density could be as high as 10^9 units/L [7]. Ten thousand wet tons of *Ulva lactuca* are being produced approximately in shallow coastal estuaries in West Cork [2]. One million tons of Ulva rigida, Valonia aegagropila, Chaetomorpha aerea, and Gracilaria confervoides are being produced annually in Venice lagoon, Italy [8, 9]. Brown macroalgae Fucus vesiculosus predominates the algal bloom along the German/ Danish coastline of the Baltic Sea [10]. Green tide, a rapid reproduction of toxic marine green plankton, is often encountered in countries like Denmark, France, Japan, China, Italy, Ireland, Australia, and Argentina [2, 8, 11–17]. Red tides have been reported in countries like USA, Norway, Sweden, Spain, Chile, Japan, and China due to proliferation of the toxic red algae. [18–22].

Algal bloom has now become a universal problem which is progressing in frequency and size throughout the world. Problematic algal blooms are also found in industrial effluents like effluent treatment plants where nitrogen and phosphorus content and photic zones enhance their growth. Microalgal consortium of Leptolyngbya foveolaurum and Chlorococcum infusionum was collected from coke-oven effluent treatment plant in Durgapur, India [23]. Algal blooms not only contaminate the water bodies but also release toxins which prove to be harmful to humans and animals. The third largest lake in China, Taihu Lake which provides drinking water for more than two million people, was contaminated by the foul bluegreen algal bloom during the summer of 2007. Algal bloom releases toxins in the water bodies which find way to humans and animals through food chain or through water pipeline systems. *Microcystis aeruginosa*, a cyanobacteria, produces toxins that can damage the liver, intestines, and nervous system leading to liver failure and diarrhea [24]. Hence it becomes imperative to find a solution to the disposal of such nuisance causing algae since their growth is very difficult for prediction. The methods usually adopted is skimming the algae by mechanical or manual means and then dumping in landfill, compositing, or incineration. But these algal blooms which are disposed off as waste can be valorized industrially to increase their original value.

Algae has been identified as an untapped source of value-added products like biofuel, food supplement, pigments, adsorbent, fertilizer, biogas, cosmetics, etc. Usually these algae are cultivated in-house in monitored culturing conditions because of the safety of the end use, especially in cosmetic, pharmaceutical, and food industries. Nevertheless, the algal bloom which grows in mixed cultures of wild condition cannot be used for such purposes, but it can be processed to products like biochar, biooil, and biogas and as an adsorbent which have market value and are subtly outlined in this review.

2 Algal Bloom Valorization

Algae both microalgae and macroalgae have vast potential application in industries like food, pharmaceutical, water treatment, nutraceutical, textile, and energy [25–29]. New applications are surfacing in recent years in industries like agriculture, polymer, construction, solar cells, and printing inks [30–32]. Nevertheless, researchers all over the world will accept algae to have enormous market potential in terms of its application. Algae are usually cultured by providing the required nutrient medium and light energy to produce value-added products which have huge market base. But very less attention which is evident from the few research papers showcases the possibility of converting the annoying algal bloom to value-added products like their cultured counterparts. Algal bloom can be valorized by technical processing like pyrolysis, compositing, fermentation, solvent extraction, and gasification to products of higher value than the original algal bloom since the algal composition like lipids, carbohydrates, proteins, etc. remains more or less the same.

2.1 Biogas

Biogas having a composition of methane, carbon dioxide, and traces of nitrogen, hydrogen, oxygen, and hydrogen sulfide is a renewable energy source for electricity, thermal, and transport fuel which can also be stored and utilized [33, 34]. The algal biomass is subjected to anaerobic digestion where the end products are obtained after hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis of the raw materials. Microbial consortium is added to facilitate faster breakdown of substrates. Algal biomass can be used as such or can be codigested with other organic substrates for the production of biogas. Biogas was produced by anaerobic digestion of blue algae which was skimmed from Taihu Lake, China, which reported a yield of 189.89 mL g^{-1} VS⁻¹ with a methane concentration in the biogas as 36.72% [35]. Biogas was produced by codigestion of corn straw and Taihu Lake blue

algae which gave a biogas yield of 1,184 mL g⁻¹ VS⁻¹ with 54.9%, methane content for a cumulative 30 days period [36]. Fresh *Ulva* gave a biomethane yield of 183 L CH₄/kg VS, and dried, washed, and macerated *Ulva* gave a biomethane yield of 250 L CH₄/kg VS. Codigestion with diary slurry gave a biomethane yield of 220 L CH₄/kg VS [2]. It should be noted that due to seasonal variations, the methane yield will be different for various species of algae [37]. Generally macroalgae commonly known as seaweeds yield a considerably lower amount of methane [38]. Mixed samples of *Pilayella* sp., *Ectocarpus* sp., *Polysiphonia* sp., *Cladophora* sp., and *Enteromorpha* sp. with small amount of seagrass *Z. marina* which were collected from Sopot beach, Poland, and Skåre beach in Sweden were found to have good C/N ratio and could be an alternative solution for codigestion with other biomass [39]. Methane production from anaerobic digestion of whole seaweeds or their residues after alginate extraction is more viable from an environmental point of view than the exploitation of natural gas [40].

2.2 Biochar

Biochar can be produced from algal blooms by pyrolysis which is a high temperature thermal decomposition in an inert atmosphere. *Lyngbya* species and *Cladophora* species, algal blooms, from Maumee bay of Lake Erie, USA, were collected and pyrolyzed at 510–600°C to yield a biochar (48 wt% of algal mass) having a calorific value of 25.6 (MJ/kg). Algal biochar made by this thermochemical method also had a significantly higher nitrogen content [41]. Biochar can be used as a soil amendment which increases quality of soil by increasing nutrient retention capability of soil. Biochar has good tensile strength and hence can be used in the production of carbon nanotubes, activated carbon, and carbon fibers [42]. Synthesis gas can also be produced by steam reformation of biochar [43].

2.3 Biooil

Biooil or more specifically algal oil can be produced by subjecting the algal bloom to thermal degradation in the absence of air at temperatures usually ranging from 300 to 900°C. *Microcystis* species, a blue-green alga which was harvested from Dianchi Lake in China, was subjected to pyrolysis in a fixed bed reactor from 300 to 700°C, and a maximum of 54.97% biooil was obtained with a heating value of 31.9 MJ/kg which was much higher than pyrolysis of cellulose materials [44]. Algal bloom from Meiliang Bay of Taihu Lake, China, was pyrolyzed from 300 to 700°C in a fixed bed reactor to yield 59% biooil with a higher heating value of 21 MJ/kg [45]. It is the most promising product which has high heating value and can be used for production of electricity or heat or for cogeneration or as feed stock for industrial operations.

2.4 Bioethanol

Ethanol can be produced from algal bloom by fermenting the algae with microorganisms which is capable of metabolizing sugars. Algae have various carbohydrates such as starch, cellulose, laminarin, mannitol, and agar which can be fermented with suitable microorganisms to give a good yield of bio ethanol [27]. The kelp *Laminaria digitata* which is highly prevalent along the coast of the UK especially in the month of July was fermented with yeast *Pichia angophorae* owing to its high laminarin and mannitol content. A maximum yield of 167 mL ethanol at approximately 69 h incubation was obtained at 5% dry weight kelp, pH 4, and at 24°C [37]. Laminarales especially *L. hyperborean* collected from the Norwegian coast was fermented with *Zymobacter palmae* under anaerobic conditions and gave a maximum ethanol yield of 0.38 g ethanol (g mannitol)⁻¹. This yield was attributed to the carbohydrates present in the *Laminarales* fronds [46]. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was used to ferment *L. japonica* collected from the floating residue of *L. japonica* industry, China, at 30°C for 36 h, and 0.143 L ethanol from 1 kg floating residue could be achieved on acid pretreatment followed by enzymatic hydrolysis [47].

2.5 Adsorbent

Algae has the ability to store fluorides and heavy metals than any other land or aquatic species [48–54]. Algal biomass is collected, dried, and used such as an adsorbent or can be subjected to chemical treatment to enhance its adsorption capacity. Algal bloom in a wastewater treatment plant in coke-oven industry was valorized into a potential biosorbent. A consortia of Leptolyngbya foveolaurum and Chlorococcum infusionum was found in the storage tank of wastewater effluent treatment plant. The algal bloom hindered the reuse of the water after tertiary treatment by increasing the pH and biological oxygen demand of the treated water. The dry biomass was subjected to adsorption of fluoride, and the adsorption capacity of the mixed consortia was found to be 34.36 mg/g at temperature 30°C for an adsorbent dosage of 3.5 g/L. The adsorption characteristics were best explained by Freundlich isotherm model and first-order kinetic model [23]. A similar case was reported for the algal biomass collected from ponds in Osmania University campus, Hyderabad, India. The algal biomass was dried, and the dried algal biomass was used for fluoride removal which gave a fluoride removal of 64% for 300 min and followed a pseudofirst-order kinetic model [55].

2.6 Biofertilizer

Algae can be dried, powdered, and applied as such to plants or can be composted with other biomass before application as fertilizer. Eutrophied algal bloom compost can be both mature and highly stable which has high potential as a soil amendment [56]. The high fiber content of seaweed acts as a soil conditioner and assists moisture retention, while the mineral content is a useful fertilizer and source of trace elements [57]. Algal bloom collected from Sopot beach along the Baltic Sea was dried and ground to a powder. Stages of algal degradation were studied, and growth tests were carried out with the algal powder and were successful as a biofertilizer [58]. Inoculation studies of Undaria pinnatifida (wakame) seaweed collected from Amagasaki Port of Japan with alginate-degrading bacteria Gracilibacillus sp. not only shortened the length of composting but also created seaweed compost with good fertilizer qualities [59]. The kelp Laminaria digitata obtained from the intertidal zone of the beach at East Haven Scotland was chopped and applied to the soil. The study of 90 days proved that on the addition of the algal biomass to the soil increased the aggregate stability and the pore volume of the soil [60]. Posidonia oceanica collected from Apulia Region, Italy, when mixed with residues of olive pruning and green wastes provided high-quality composts showing high organic content, low heavy metals content, and no phytotoxicity which suggest safe utilization of eutrophied algae as soil fertilizer in agriculture [61]. Seaweeds Melanothamnus afaqhusainii, Spatoglossum variabile, and Halimeda tuna from Buleji Beach, India, when applied as a pesticide showed suppressive effect on root pathogens of tomato and sunflower by reducing fungal root infection and nematode's galls on roots and nematode's penetration in roots [62].

3 Summary

Eutrophied algal blooms cause secondary pollution problems and incur huge amount of money in their removal from their aquatic ecosystem and in proper waste disposal. Algae are valuable resources which have many useful applications apart from it being the best carbon sequestrant, and it is being wasted off in algal blooms. Moreover they do not have the disadvantages of other biomass counterparts of utilizing land or water which makes it an attractive alternative. This review highlights the possibility of algal bloom valorization to produce biochar, biooil, biogas, biofertilizer, and bioethanol and as an adsorbent which have huge market value. Biogas and biochar processes are the simplest valorization techniques compared to others because of its relatively low number of processing steps. Energy industries especially biofuels need to consider such options which can make their process viable, sustainable, and economical.

References

 Valiela I, McClelland J, Hauxwell J, Behr PJ, Hersh D, Foreman K (1997) Macroalgal blooms in shallow estuaries: controls and ecophysiological and ecosystem consequences. Limnol Oceanogr 42:1105–1118

- 2. Allen E, Browne J, Hynes S, Murphy JD (2013) The potential of algae blooms to produce renewable gaseous fuel. Waste Manag 33:2425–2433
- Chen Y, Sun L, Liu Z, Martin G, Sun Z (2017) Integration of Waste Valorization for Sustainable Production of Chemicals and Materials via Algal Cultivation. Top Curr Chem 375:89
- 4. Mossbauer M, Haller I, Dahlke S, Schernewski G (2012) Management of stranded eelgrass and macroalgae along the German Baltic coastline. Ocean Coast Manag 57:1–9
- Dodds WK, Bouska WW, Eitzmann JL, Pilger TJ, Pitts KL, Riley AJ, Schloesser JT, Thornbrugh DJ (2009) Eutrophication of U.S. freshwaters: analysis of potential economic damages. Environ Sci Technol 43:12–19
- 6. Smetacek V, Zingone A (2013) Green and golden seaweed tides on the rise. Nature 504:84-88
- Zhou CL, Song LR (2009) Phytoplankton community in a large shallow eutrophic lake (Lake Dianchi, Southwest China). In: 3rd international conference on bioinformatics and biomedical engineering (ICBBE), Beijing, pp 1–4
- Rigoni-Stern S, Rismondo R (1990) Anaerobic digestion of nitrophilic algal biomass from the Venice lagoon. Biomass 23:179–199
- 9. Cecchi F, Pavan P, Mata-Alvarez J (1996) Anaerobic co-digestion of sewage sludge application to the macroalgae from the Venice lagoon. Resour Conserv Recycl 17:57–66
- Barbot YN, Falk HM, Benz R (2015) Thermo-acidic pretreatment of marine Brown algae *Fucus* Vesiculosus to increase methane production – a disposal principle for macroalgae waste from beaches. J Appl Phycol 27(1):601–609
- Matsui T, Koike Y (2010) Methane fermentation of a mixture of seaweed and milk at a pilotscale plant. J Biosci Bioeng 110:558–563
- 12. Liu D, Keesing JK, Xing Q, Shi P (2009) World's largest macroalgal bloom caused by expansion of seaweed aquaculture in China. Mar Pollut Bull 58:888–895
- Briand X, Morand P (1997) Anaerobic digestion of Ulva sp. 1. Relationship between Ulva composition and Methanisation. J Appl Phycol 9:511–524
- Charlier RH, Morand P, Finkl CW, Thys A (2007) Green tides on the Brittany coasts. Environ Res Eng Manag 3:52–59
- 15. Zhang J, Huo Y, Yu K, Chen Q, He Q, Han W, Chen L, Cao J, Shi D, He P (2013) Growth characteristics and reproductive capability of green tide algae in Rudong coast. China J Appl Phycol 25:795–803
- Lauder S (2009) Potentially toxic algae bloom threatens Murray-Darling. ABC News online. http://www.abc.net.au/news/2009-03-28/potentially-toxic-algae-bloom-threatens-murray/ 1633630. Accessed 05 Dec 2019
- Eyras MC, Rostagno CM, Defosse GE (1998) Biological evaluation of seaweed composting. Compost Sci Utiliz 6:74–81
- Smayda TJ, White AW (1990) Has there been a global expansion of algal blooms? If so is there a connection with human activities? In: Granelli E (ed.) Toxic marine phytoplankton. pp 516–157
- 19. Viviani R (1992) Eutrophication, marine biotoxins, human health. Sci Total Environ (Suppl):631–662
- 20. Tester P, Steidinger KA (1997) *Gymnodinium breve* red tide blooms: initiation, transport and consequences of surface circulation. Limnol Oceanogr 45:1039–1051
- Van Dolah FM (2000) Marine algal toxins: origins, health effects and their increased occurrence. Environ Health Perspect 108(1):133–141
- 22. Kirkpatrick B, Fleming LE, Squicciarini D, Backer LC, Clark R, Abraham W, Benson J, Cheng YS, Johnson D, Pierce R, Zaias J, Bossart GD, Baden GD (2004) Literature review of Florida red tide: implications for human health effects. Harmful Algae 3(2):99–115
- Biswas G, Pokkatt P, Ghosh A, Kamila B, Adhikari K, Dutta S (2018) Valorization of waste micro-algal biomass – collected from coke oven effluent treatment plant and evaluation of sorption potential for fluoride removal. Water Sci Technol 78(1):132–146
- 24. Guo L (2007) Doing battle with the green monster of Taihu Lake. Science 317(5842):1166
- McHugh DJ (2003) A guide to the seaweed industry. http://www.fao.org/docrep/006/y4765e/ y4765e00.htm#Contents
- Bixler HJ, Porse H (2010) A decade of change in the seaweed hydrocolloids industry. J Appl Phycol 23:321–335
- Jung KA, Lim S, Kim Y, Park JM (2013) Potentials of macroalgae as feedstocks for biorefinery. Bioresour Technol 135:182–190
- 28. Renita AA, Sreedhar N, Peter DM (2014) Optimization of algal methyl esters using RSM and evaluation of biodiesel storage characteristics. Bioresour Bioprocess 1:19
- 29. Kumar PS, Pavithra J, Suriya S, Ramesh M, Kumar KA (2015) Sargassum wightii, a marine alga is the source for the production of algal oil, bio-oil, and application in the dye wastewater treatment. Desalin Water Treat 55(5):1342–1358
- Roesijadi G, Jones SB, Snowden-Swan LJ, Zhu Y (2010) Macroalgae as a biomass feedstock: a preliminary analysis (PNNL-19944). http://www.pnl.gov/main/publications/external/techni cal_reports/PNNL-19944.pdf
- Lammens TM, Franssen MCR, Scott EL, Sanders JPM (2012) Availability of protein-derived amino acids as feedstock for the production of bio-based chemicals. Biomass Bioenergy 44:168–181
- 32. Jard G, Marfaing H, Carrère H, Delgenes JP, Steyer JP, Dumas C (2013) French Brittany macroalgae screening: composition and methane potential for potential alternative sources of energy and products. Bioresour Technol 144:492–498
- Börjesson P, Mattiasson B (2008) Biogas as a resource-efficient vehicle fuel. Trends Biotechnol 26:7–13
- 34. Frigon J, Guiot SR (2010) Biomethane production from starch and lignocellulosic crops: a comparative review. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4:447–458
- 35. Yuan XZ, Shi XS, Zhang DL, Qiu YL, Guo RB, Wang LS (2011) Biogas production and microcystin biodegradation in anaerobic digestion of blue algae. Energy Environ Sci 4 (4):1511–1515
- 36. Zhong WZ, Zhang ZZ, Luo YJ, Qiao W, Xiao M, Zhang M (2012) Biogas productivity by co-digesting Taihu blue algae with corn straw as an external carbon source. Bioresour Technol 114:281–286
- Adams JMM, Toop TA, Donnison IS, Gallagher JA (2011) Seasonal variation in Laminaria digitata and its impact on biochemical conversion routes to biofuels. Bioresour Technol 102:9976–9984
- Vivekanand V, Eijsink VH, Horn SJ (2013) Biogas production from the brown seaweed Saccharina latissima: thermal pretreatment and codigestion with wheat straw. J Appl Phycol 24:1295–1301
- 39. Bucholc K, Szymczak-Żyła M, Lubecki L, Zamojska A, Hapter P, Tjernström E, Kowalewska G (2014) Nutrient content in macrophyta collected from Southern Baltic Sea beaches in relation to eutrophication and biogas production. Sci Total Environ 473:298–307
- 40. Langlois J, Sassi JF, Jard G, Steyer JP, Delgenes JP, Hélias A (2012) Life cycle assessment of biomethane from offshore-cultivated seaweed. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 6:387–404
- Maddi B, Viamajala S, Varanasi S (2011) Comparative study of pyrolysis of algal biomass from natural lake blooms with lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 102:11018–11026
- 42. Lehmann J, Joseph S (2009) Biochar for environmental management science and technology. Earthscan, London
- Chaudhari TS, Dalai KA, Bakhshi NN (2003) Production of hydrogen and/or syngas via steam gasification of biomass-derived chars. Energy Fuels 17:1062–1067
- 44. Hu Z, Zheng Y, Yan F, Xiao B, Liu S (2013) Bio-oil production through pyrolysis of blue-green algae blooms (BGAB): product distribution and bio-oil characterization. Energy 52:119–125
- 45. Li R, Zhong ZP, Jin BS, Zheng AJ (2012) Selection of temperature for bio-oil production from pyrolysis of algae from lake blooms. Energy Fuel 26:2996–3002
- Horn SJ, Aasen IM, Ostgaard K (2000) Production of ethanol from mannitol by Zymobacter palmae. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 24:51–57

- 47. Ge L, Wang P, Mou H (2011) Study on saccharification techniques of seaweed wastes for the transformation of ethanol. Renew Energy 36:84–89
- Gunasundari E, Kumar PS (2016) Higher adsorption capacity of Spirulina platensis alga for Cr (VI) ions removal: parameter optimisation, equilibrium, kinetic and thermodynamic predictions. IET Nanobiotechnol 11(3):317–328
- 49. Suganya S, Saravanan A, Kumar PS, Yashwanthraj M, Rajan PS, Kayalvizhi K (2017) Sequestration of Pb(II) and Ni(II) ions from aqueous solution using microalga *Rhizoclonium hookeri*: adsorption thermodynamics, kinetics, and equilibrium studies. J Water Reuse Desalination 7(2):214–227
- Gunasundari E, Kumar PS (2017) Adsorption isotherm, kinetics and thermodynamic analysis of Cu(II) ions onto the dried algal biomass (*Spirulina platensis*). J Ind Eng Chem 56:129–144
- Young GE, Langille WM (1958) The occurrence of inorganic elements in marine algae of the Atlantic provinces of Canada. Can J Bot 36:301–310
- Rao CKV, Indusekhar VK (1984) Fluoride content of certain marine algae and seawater from Saurashtra coast (*Caulerpa scalpelliformis*, *Ulva lactuca*, *Codium dwarkense*). Ind J Mater Sci 13:47–58
- Bhatnagar M, Bhatnagar A (2000) Algal and cyanobacterial responses to fluoride. Fluoride 33 (2):55–65
- 54. Sen S, Dutta S, Guhathakurata S, Chakrabarty J, Nandi S, Dutta A (2017) Removal of Cr (VI) using a cyanobacterial consortium and assessment of biofuel production. Int Biodet Biodeg 119:211–224
- 55. Mohan SV, Ramanaiah SV, Rajkumar B, Sarma PN (2007) Biosorption of fluoride from aqueous phase onto algal spirogyra IO1 and evaluation of adsorption kinetics. Bioresour Technol 98:1006–1011
- 56. Han W, Clarke W, Pratt S (2014) Composting of waste algae: a review. Waste Manag 34:1148–1155
- 57. Mat-Atko J (1992) Experiments with the preparation bio-Algeen S-90 in hops. Chemelarstvi 65:53
- Filipkowska A, Lubecki L, Szymczak-Żyła M, Kowalewska G, Żbikowski R, Szefer P (2008) Utilisation of macroalgae from the Sopot Beach (Baltic Sea). Oceanologia 50:255–273
- 59. Tang JC, Wang M, Zhou QX, Nagata S (2011) Improved composting of Undaria pinnatifida seaweed by inoculation with Halomonas and Gracilibacillus sp. isolated from marine environments. Bioresour Technol 102:2925–2930
- 60. Haslam SFI, Hopkins DW (1996) Physical and biological effects of kelp (seaweed)added to soil. Appl Soil Ecol 3:257–261
- Cocozza C, Parente A, Zaccone C, Mininni C, Santamaria P, Miano T (2011) Comparative management of offshore Posidonia residues: composting vs. energy recovery. Waste Manag 31:78–84
- 62. Sultana V, Baloch GN, Ara J, Ehteshamul-Haque S, Tariq RM, Athar M (2011) Seaweeds as an alternative to chemical pesticides for the management of root diseases of sunflower and tomato. J Appl Bot Food Qual 84:162–168

Algal Biomass for Biofuels and Bioproducts



Babuskin Srinivasan and Garima Kulshreshtha

Contents

1	Introduction	140		
2	Identification of Potential Strain 14			
3	3 Cultivation of Microalgae			
	3.1 Open Ponds	144		
	3.2 Closed Cultivation System	145		
4	Modes of Cultivation	146		
	4.1 Heterotrophic Cultivation	146		
	4.2 Mixotrophic Cultivation	147		
5	Site Selection and Resources Requirement	147		
6	Factors Affecting Microalgae Growth Rate			
7	Harvesting Techniques	148		
	7.1 Flocculation	149		
	7.2 Gravity-Based Technologies	149		
	7.3 Filtration-Based Separation Technologies	150		
8	Post-Harvest Processing: Conversion of Microalgal Biomass to Biofuels			
	and Bioproducts	151		
9	Utilization of Wastewater for Microalgae Cultivation	152		
10	Bioenergy Options from Microalgal Biomass	153		
11	Conclusions	156		
Ref	erences	156		

Abstract In recent times, due to rapid consumption of fossil fuels and increased pollution levels, the demand for biofuels has been on raise. Currently the resources utilized for biofuel production are derived through conventional agriculture; it may pose a significant danger to food security. Switching over in the direction of third

B. Srinivasan (🖂)

G. Kulshreshtha

Department of Industrial Chemistry, Arba Minch University, Arba Minch, Ethiopia e-mail: buski87@gmail.com

Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 139–160, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_580, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 2 July 2020

generation biofuels (from algae) is one among the best possible solutions for this problem. Moreover algae contain substantial quantity of carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins, thereby making them as a potential candidate for the manufacture of biofuels like bioethanol, biohydrogen, biodiesel, biobutanol, etc. Apart from biofuel production, algae can also be able to produce valuable products like omega-3 fatty acids, carotenoids, protein-rich supplements, etc. This chapter offers an insight into the modern practices being followed in the manufacture of biofuel like screening of potential strains, avoiding contamination risks, optimization of mass cultivation conditions, easy harvesting, and extraction methods. The key concerns of these process and opportunities on the employment of algal biomass in multiple applications like fuel, food, and environment will also be discussed.

Keywords Algal biomass, Biofuels, Bioproducts, Extraction techniques, Optimization

Abbreviations

Biological oxygen demand
Chemical oxygen demand
Dry algal biomass
Fatty acid methyl esters
Hydrothermal liquefaction
Photobioreactor
Polyunsaturated fatty acids

1 Introduction

In the current era due to fast population growth and exhausting exploitation of non-renewable fossil fuel resources, there is an increasing demand for energy and resources. Therefore the requirement for alternative resources and processes is becoming impellent. A sustainable development approach should be able to reduce greenhouse effect and produce energy from non-fossil sources, along with the need of securing food to all people. These resources should be renewable to match with the sustainability principles. A renewable feedstock is a resource that have unlimited supply or be restocked over time by natural processes. Biofuel is a renewable, non-hazardous, natural fuel manufactured from diverse feed stocks [1]. Among them, biofuel from algae (third-generation biofuel feedstock) has garnered profound attraction in current times owing to their low water consumption, fast growth and usage of non-arable land for growth, etc. Moreover it does not involve the "food-versus-fuel" controversy, associated with application of various dedicated bioenergy crops like *Jatropha curcas* or food crops such as soybeans. Apart from these algae are having great potential to absorb carbon dioxide (1.8 times the biomass), ability to

make use of organic wastes, and also can be able to produce important products like omega-3 fatty acids, carotenoids, protein-rich supplements, etc. [2].

Algae by acting as green cell factories are having the ability to transform light, nutrients, and CO_2 into numerous compounds of high monetary value [3]. Due to their high CO_2 sequestering ability and good solar conversion, algae can produce more amounts of biomass and metabolites when compared with terrestrial plants [4].

Microalgae are wide set of aquatic organisms flourishing in different environments like sea water, fresh water, and saline conditions. Many algal strains that are viable industrially are extremophiles; i.e., they can able to adapt and grow in intense ecological conditions like salt pans (high salinity, e.g., *Dunaliella* sp. [5]), polar regions (psychrotolerant, e.g., *Koliella antarctica* [6]), alkaline waters (*Spirulina* sp.), high-nutrient wastewaters (*Chlorella* sp., *Scenedesmus* sp., *Monoraphidium* sp. [7]), etc. The ability of algae to survive in polluted environments having rich nutrients (nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium), the high tolerance of them to some greenhouse gases like CO_2 , SOx, NOx, etc., makes them appealing, and they can able to potentially transform organic wastes to biofuel and other value-added bioproducts. The way of simultaneous waste treatment and production of biomass is called "integrated cultivation process" [7].

Majority of the algae are phototrophic performing solar to chemical conversion via photosynthesis. The key advantage of microalgae is that they have shown ability to synthesize high lipid content, which then can be transformed into biodiesel. However, the key bottleneck is high costs when microalgae are employed as energy source.

For long microalgae are known to produce macromolecules like proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids; hence it has been utilized as a potential stock in the manufacture of industrially valuable co-products. Different products used in cosmetics, food, and feed industries like polysaccharides, pigments, and hydrocarbons/lipids can be produced from microalgal biomass by altering the processing techniques (Fig. 1).

Microalgal lipids can potentially be converted into biofuels, polyols, polymers, and specialty lipids like polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs). Pigments like phycobiliproteins, carotenoids can be utilized as natural colorants and sterols for the production of steroids, nutraceuticals. The starch, glucans, and other complex polysaccharides can be utilized for production of bioethanol, biofuel additives, and bioplastics [8]. The defatted algal biomass produced after extraction of metabolites might find its applications in biogas generation, animal feed, or can be used as absorbent in removing synthetic dyes [9]. Thus total algal biomass can be converted to worthy co-products.

The key steps involved in biofuels production and other value-added products from microalgae are screening (identification of potential strain), cultivation (algal growth in media by providing required nutrients), harvesting (separation of biomass), and post-harvest processing (extraction of products from biomass) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1 Overview of products from microalgal biomass (with permission from [8])

2 Identification of Potential Strain

Microalgae are microscopic organisms that are found in extensive range of fresh and marine water environments. Some algal species can be able to accumulate up to 48%of lipid on dry weight basis, whereas other species are known for their ability to produce protein [10]. The lipid and carbohydrate contents are transformed into different kinds of biofuels, whereas the protein content could be converted into nutritional supplements, animal feed, and biofertilizer. Therefore, the selection of suitable strain is of high importance as it plays major role in deciding the overall cost and kind of end products. There are four different groups of classification in microalgae: (a) Cyanobacteria (blue and green algae), (b) Chlorophytes (green algae), (c) Rhodophytes (red algae), and (d) Chromophytes (all other algae). There are around more than thousand varieties of strains under every group of algae [11]. However so far only few numbers of cultures are exploited, and the more extensively used microalgae are Chrysophyceae, Chlorophytes, Bacillariophyceae, and Cyanobacteria. Strains like Phaeodactylum, Chlorella, and Nannochloropsis have exhibited good biomass productivity, and they display immense potential for industrial-level productions [12].

The strains should be screened depending on their physiological properties, such as tolerance to higher levels of CO₂, NOx, and other pollutants, environmental adaptability, and accumulation of high valuable products.





3 Cultivation of Microalgae

Microalgae can be nurtured by familiar practices like open-pond raceway system and closed photobioreactor system.

3.1 Open Ponds

These systems are accepted for being simple, easy to manage, and inexpensive (low capital and control costs). They can be effortlessly clean up subsequent to cultivation [13], and less process control is required. They are effective systems for lower value products with large markets. Raceway ponds (Fig. 3a), spherical ponds tanks, shallow large length ponds, and closed ponds are presently used in industrial research.



Fig. 3 Reactor configurations for microalgae cultivation (a) raceway pond, (b) external loop tubular reactor, (c) horizontal tubular reactor (with permission from [14])

In open ponds, it's almost impossible to control essential growth parameters like temperature, pH, concentration of dissolved oxygen, and light intensity. Predator contamination is another issue associated with open ponds. So far many studies have evaluated the potential of cultivating microalgae in open pond. In a study, it was reported that barely few microalgae (Chlorella, Spirulina, Dunaliella) can withstand the strict culture environment (high salinity, high alkalinity) [15]. Chlorella and Spirulina are cultivated for their protein content, whereas Dunaliella is well known for carotenoid production. In a study, *Chlorophyta* sp. and *Chlorella* sp. was effectively cultivated in raceway ponds with steady photosynthetic efficiency [16]. In another study, Muriellopsis sp. was grown in open paddle wheel ponds for the production of lutein [17]. Open ponds are very difficult to operate because there are high chances of it getting contaminated by photosynthetic microorganisms which may appear via rain or air. Recently Sapphire Energy Inc. tried mass cultivation of algae (100 acres) in open ponds, but they couldn't able to accomplish owing to problems like invasion of species and broth evaporation [18]. Therefore there has been great challenge still exists in successful cultivation of microalgae in open ponds.

3.2 Closed Cultivation System

Closed system provides more options than open systems in control and optimization of microalgal growth, thus enabling them to produce high yield of biomass. Product standardization can be attained since each factor associated with production like light exposure, pH, CO_2 , temperature, water supply, mixing regime, and culture density can be controlled. Photobioreactors, which are usually used for cultivation in closed systems, provides fine control of CO_2 transfer and also minimizes the evaporation loss of culture medium.

3.2.1 Photobioreactors

Photobioreactors are closed systems in which almost all factors correlated with microalgal growth can be controlled to achieve high productivity [3]. Plate type and tubular photobioreactors are normally used. The tubular reactor comprises tubes arranged in coils and straight line configurations. In tubular vertical, helical, external loop (Fig. 3b), and horizontal (Fig. 3c) arrangements are stated to be used in numerous studies [19]. However, there exist some limitations associated with the utilization of photobioreactors due to their very high specificity to microalgae strain, high start-up and operating cost, and difficulty in scale-up [14, 20]. Some authors have carried out detailed investigations to build cost-effective, simple, and effortlessly scalable PBR [21–23]. Some very good practices like intensive mixing, use of genetically improved strain, and light dilution by employing different methods were performed earlier to maximize yield and productivity [24–26].

In photobioreactor systems, high costs are involved in providing continuous intense illumination, system sterilization, to scale-up and operate the reactors [27]. To make microalgae production in photobioreactors more competitive, more innovative system configurations along with optimization of already available technology are much needed and important.

4 Modes of Cultivation

Conventional microalgal growth techniques depend on cultivation of phototrophic algae in open ponds or indoor in photobioreactors. These techniques are normally not cost-effective because of high operating costs, culture inefficiency, light insufficiency, and low biomass production. Several studies have stated that microalgal growth via heterotrophic and mixotrophic methods is cost-effective [28–30]. A lot of microalgal strains are having the ability to utilize organic carbon sources in mixotrophy (light) or heterotrophy (dark) and grow. These modes of microalgal cultivation also play a major role in boosting the production of essential fatty acids.

4.1 Heterotrophic Cultivation

Some microalgae species can be grown in dark conditions, utilizing an organic carbon substrate rather than CO_2 and light to supply energy to the cells growth. The advantages associated with the heterotrophic microalgae cultivation are exclusion of light requirements, easier bioreactor operation, increased growth rates, and improved lipid and protein production.

The organic carbon resources that these algae could metabolize are lactate, ethanol, acetate, pyruvate, C6 sugars, amino acids, C5 monosaccharides, disaccharides, and glycerol [31]. However the high cost of these carbon sources represents the main downside of this operation mode. Previous studies have demonstrated that glucose occupies major of the total medium cost (80%) [32]. Therefore it is imperative to find other low-cost carbon sources. Indeed, recent studies have focused on the utilization of cheap carbon sources like food waste hydrolyzate or whey permeate for microalgal cultivation [33, 34].

Heterotrophic growth mode has produced elevated lipid content owing to their high rate of algal growth and cell concentrations [35]. When compared with photoautotrophic conditions, the oils produced under heterotrophic were more saturated, making them apt for biodiesel manufacture. The class and quantity of biodiesel produced depends on the ability of strain to effectively uptake the given carbon source, grow, and accumulate oil [36]. However, new researches on cheap carbon sources are desired for the improvement of cost-efficient processes for food, feed, and biofuel production.

4.2 Mixotrophic Cultivation

In mixotrophic mode, microalgal growth happens majorly through photosynthesis apart from the utilization of CO_2 and organic compounds [37]. As mixotrophic mode accumulates lipid via photosynthesis and also involved in sequestering CO_2 , it was considered good and much sustainable than heterotrophic mode [38]. Higher growth rates were attained for some microalgae in mixotrophic than phototrophic conditions, and they produce compounds that are synthesized during both phototrophic and heterotrophic conditions [39]. It can be considered as a potential approach for producing wide array of economically viable microalgal products in a short span of time. Mixotrophic cultivation can effectively be used for producing seed cells; subsequently it can then be used as inoculums for phototrophic microalgal biomass and lipid production.

Different culture conditions may influence the algal productivity and final composition of a microalga. Therefore a detailed investigation on all parameters relevant to microalgal composition is crucial. Light intensity in particular represents one such vital parameter. Most microalgae metabolites are obligate photoautotrophs; therefore they require light (natural or artificial) to grow [15]. However some species have the ability in consuming the carbon resources in the medium to gain energy for their metabolism, according to a heterotrophic configuration.

Although various strategies like closed PBRs, open ponds, fermentation tanks, and hybrid systems (mixotrophic and heterotrophic) are available for algae cultivation, as a piece of information, there is not a standard single approach in culturing algae at an industrial scale. To economically produce microalgal biomass, it's very important to consider set of factors like algal species type and expected end products, geographical location, and availability of resources on site for mass production. Aside from culture management, temperature and light radiation can play important role for algae-based biotechnology.

5 Site Selection and Resources Requirement

Microalgae can adapt their metabolism to changing environments, and it is feasible to culture them in diverse aquatic environments like sea and fresh water, metropolitan wastewaters, and industrial wastewaters, providing that there are sufficient measures of carbon (C) (natural or inorganic), nitrogen (N) (urea, ammonium, or nitrate), and phosphate (P), and additionally other essential components available in the growing medium [40]. When compared to sea and fresh waters, wastewaters have more nutrients appropriate for microalgae cultivation [40, 41]. The choice of cultivation site is also an important requirement for the algal growth and biomass production. The production costs may be decreased notably by positioning the plant close to the easy availability of other resources such as CO_2 , nutrients, water, sunlight, and other requirements such as electricity supply. Significant cost reduction is attainable (up to 50%) with good co-location facilities and CO₂ sources [42].

6 Factors Affecting Microalgae Growth Rate

To obtain maximum yield of biodiesel and bioproducts, the microalgae culture conditions should be optimized to provide excellent growth conditions. The following are the key factors that determine rate of microalgal growth:

- Properties of growing medium: water is one of the vital growth medium for algae production. Therefore, the water composition along with key parameters like temperature, salinity, and pH value are main factors. The temperature of the growth medium must be maintained in the optimum range, and for most algal species, the most favorable temperature range usually remains within 16–27°C.
- Properties of light: light is one important factor required for the photosynthesis process. The proposition of lipids and other microalgal products differs with the light intensity used and light exposure duration. The cells shading and equal exposure of all cells to light can be accomplished by doing proper mixing. To cut down the biofuel production costs, algal growth should depend on sunlight available throughout the day, though there are seasonal changes in intensity of natural light [3, 43].
- CO₂: CO₂ is one of the crucial necessities for algal growth. Therefore, an adequate supply of CO₂ must be ensured for its proper growth. Proper aeration should be given to boost the rate of algal growth and for proper mixing.
- Nutrients: essential nutrients like phosphorus (P), iron (Fe), nitrogen (N), and in some cases silicon (Si) are essential for the nourishment of algal cells to grow and mature. To make cells absorb maximum nutrients, ample supply of nutrient should be dispersed in the growth medium.

7 Harvesting Techniques

The microalgae are very small in cell size and are submerged into water. The harvest of fully matured microalgae happens by filtering and drying them toward the production of microalgal biomass which act as a feedstock for future applications.

The different techniques like biological, chemical, electrical, and mechanicalbased systems can be utilized for harvesting the algal biomass. Some of the broadly used methods are centrifugation, filtration, sedimentation, flocculation, etc. Some method might be used as preliminary technique to enhance coagulation, aggregation, and easy removal, and chemical flocculation is one such technique normally used to boost the molecular dimension of microalgae before utilizing another technique. In centrifugation method (mechanical system), most of solid biomass can be recovered rapidly with high reliability. In another mode, the algal cells passes via electric field and gets collected as result of adding negative charge to biomass particles [44].

The decrease in harvesting cost can be attained with proper design of dewatering system and via nutrients and water recycling. The technique employed for microalgae harvest must be able to process huge volumes of grown culture by utilizing less energy and cost. Initially very less concentration of algal biomass (0.5 g L^{-1}) is present in culture broth, but during the harvesting period, the broth thickens leading to rise in concentration of biomass (up to 200 g L⁻¹). To make harvesting more simple and effective, it is imperative to use combined technologies instead of using single technology [45, 46]. The harvesting methods employed must not disturb or intervene the culture medium recycling (e.g., if intervene it may cause contamination).

7.1 Flocculation

In flocculation process when flocculating agents (bioflocculants, chemicals, metals) are added to broth, many microalgal cells combine together to form large particles known as flocs.

The flocs added during process should be effortlessly removed from microalgal biomass and recoverable; otherwise these chemicals might end up as contaminants in biomass further hindering the post-harvest operations. Another interesting approach is reducing the pH may leads in microalgae flocculation. The flocculation happened in microalgal cells when the pH of the medium was tuned near 4; it leads to protonation and neutralization of carboxylic acids on cell surface of microalgae to form flocculates [47].

7.2 Gravity-Based Technologies

7.2.1 Sedimentation

Gravity sedimentation involves the usage of cheap infrastructure and low energy for sedimentation process as it is done in simple settling tanks.

Gravity sedimentation done in simple settling tanks is a very attractive option because it requires very little energy and relatively low-cost infrastructure. As it is a very slow process, this may sometimes result in degradation of biomass quality during harvesting. Due to production of dilute slurry, the gravity sedimentation could chiefly be used as pre-concentration mechanism before employing other methods like filtration, flocculation, and centrifugation [48, 49]. In Israel, Algatech has initially used gravity sedimentation for harvesting *Haematococcus* cysts rich in astaxanthin (oral communication, Algatech). As the sluggish process of sedimentation had affected quality of biomass produced, they switched on shortly to other harvesting methods like centrifugation.

Due to sluggish process that resulted in deterioration of biomass quality, they later switched to centrifugation as a harvesting method. For the quick harvesting technique and to evade biomass deterioration, it is important to have high settling rate.

7.2.2 Centrifugation

Centrifugation is extensively used for microalgae that produce high-value products, as it involves more energy and cost. There are various types of industrial centrifuges exist. Some of the key benefits of harvesting via centrifugal methods are it is rapid, it involves no added harmful chemicals, and also it won't degrade the biomass quality. On the other hand, use of this technique has some drawbacks like elevated investment cost and high demand of energy. Some of the following approaches to a certain extent can able to reduce the energy demand of the centrifugation method.

In a study, Evodos (the Netherlands) have developed a spiral plate centrifuge which increased the surface area by means of decreasing the distance travelled by settling microalga. Even though the harvesting efficiency is low, this technique has significantly consumed very little energy for harvesting per unit of biomass [50]. Another approach relies in pre-concentration of biomass, which significantly reduces volume of culture and thus resulting in reducing energy demand for centrifugation. This can be achieved through flocculation, which increases the particle size, thereby enhancing easy separation.

7.3 Filtration-Based Separation Technologies

Filtration, a physical process performed by using semipermeable membrane like filter cloth, screens for the separation of solids. The pressure drop across the membrane formed due to vacuum, gravity, or pressure acts as the driving force of filtration method. High recovery efficiency, reuse of filter permeate, separation with no added chemicals, and capability to separate shear-sensitive species all these factors make filtration an attractive option for harvesting microalgal biomass. However few drawbacks like clogging and fouling of membranes and high investment costs of pumps and membranes make filtration a costly process [51–53]. For effective microalgal biomass filtration, clogging and fouling must be avoided, and membrane cost should also be reduced. The harvesting process can be made cost-effective by performing combined harvesting techniques. A novel solution is to combine flocculation with a lamella settler and then use a filter press to dewater the sludge. Another method is filtration of the membrane for pre-concentration of biomass shared with centrifugation to produce an algal paste. Because of their heterogeneous existence, every form of microalgae needs different harvesting

approaches. The harvesting approach must be performed with at most care that it should not damage (e.g., due to shear forces) or contaminate (e.g., due to application of chemical flocculent) the biomass. The acceptable level of contamination depends on the final use of the biomass, and therefore the selection of method of harvesting may depend on the application of biomass. As microalgae cells (5–20 μ m) are small in size, the application of both filtration and gravity-based methods are tricky, and the other key limitation is high harvesting cost of microalgae biomass [21, 46, 49, 54].

The efficiency of extraction and harvesting methods is based on physical characteristics of the microalgae strain (e.g., cell wall property and cell size) and the end product's application.

By properly designing the dewatering or harvesting method and via recycling of nutrients and water, the processing costs can be reduced. The algal biomass harvesting can be made easy by selective cultivation of colonial species [55]. The water requirement can be decreased to a greatest extent (up to 90%) by proper recycling of water after the harvest of biomass or use of sea or wastewater. The choice of harvesting method varies from species to species, and also it is based on the cost criteria of energy extraction process.

8 Post-Harvest Processing: Conversion of Microalgal Biomass to Biofuels and Bioproducts

Once harvest is complete, the algal biomass obtained should be dried for further processing and manufacture of bioproducts and biofuels. This can be done by performing different techniques of drying such as sun drying, freeze drying, lyophilization, heat-/oven-based drying, and spray drying. Each approach however has its own advantages and disadvantages. For instance, heat or oven drying consumes more energy, whereas sun and drum drying are not effective and economical as quoted by [56]. Other procedures, such as freezing and lyophilization, are seen as efficient but expensive methods. The drying techniques are based on a number of factors like species type, time, maintenance of culture, reuse of media, and suitability for industrial scale [51, 57]. The present techniques used for drying and harvesting are not efficient, and more innovations are the need of the hour.

After drying, cell disruption of microalgae to release cellular components and oil bodies can be performed by various methods, which include ultrasonic-assisted extraction, high press machine, chemical method, supercritical fluid extraction, enzymatic method, microwave, autoclaving, bead beating, osmotic pressure method, Soxhlet method, and homogenizer. Sometimes the extraction of lipids could not be effective due to poor cell disruption and improper lipid extraction process. This can be overcome by careful cell disruption selection and lipid extraction techniques. Sometimes renowned lipid extraction techniques such as Folch et al. [58] and Bligh and Dyer [59] using solvents such as chloroform, hexane, and dichloromethane

152

might not extract incomplete, essentially free fatty acids from lipids. This method sometimes may also remove large amounts of non-saponifiable and non-nutritious material such as pigments. To address this problem, a range of modern and advanced methods were implemented by improving existing methods for extracting microalgae oil bodies. Ramluckana et al. [60], for example, used single, binary, and more than two organic solvents at a time to extract oil bodies, while Boutekedjiret et al. [61] proposed the use of green bio-solvents (terpenes) extracted from aromatic plants. The oil bodies should undergo transesterification for biodiesel production, and the process comprises of methanolysis or ethanolysis in the fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) forms. The process of transesterification requires catalysts, which may be acidic or alkaline in nature. Such catalysts have their own pros and cons. The transesterification of complex lipids and free fatty can be performed by using acid catalysts, whereas basic catalysts could not be able to esterify free fatty acids.

Acid catalysts can transesterify both complex lipids and free fatty acids, while basic catalyst cannot esterify free fatty acids.

The difficulty associated with the usage of acid catalyst is it needs extended reaction time than a basic catalyst with the additional heating requirement [62]. To prevail over these hurdles, some complementary approaches are reported. Heaton et al. [63], for example, utilized both base and acid catalyst along with alcohol. Carrapiso and Garcia [62] later used a blend of a base and acid catalyst in methanol. Initially, algal biomass is wrecked down into its key contents: lipid, carbohydrate, protein, and remaining mass through extraction/fractionation technology to make them apt for conversion to bioproducts and biofuels.

The extraction method varies based on the type of product extracted from the biomass and also on the particular composition of the biomass feedstock. Chemical conversion techniques like pyrolysis, gasification, anaerobic digestion, liquefaction, fermentation, and transesterification are normally used to transform algal biomass into fuels such as ethanol, biodiesel, methane, hydrogen, acetone, charcoal, and butanol. The transformation of harvested biomass to biofuels and other bioproducts is one of the main technical challenges, and it is also not cost-effective.

9 Utilization of Wastewater for Microalgae Cultivation

Algae can effectively be grown even on harsh environment (not appropriate for other purposes) and with wastewater or water not suitable for food production [64, 65]. The algae are having the ability to grow on non-cultivable land, by using wastewater; algae could be able to produce large amounts of biofuels (per acre) when compared to oil-producing plant.

Microalgae have shown great promise in removal of phosphorus and nitrogen (as these nutrients are recycled), and it can effectively be transformed into algal biomass at cheap cost through solar energy. Biofuels produced from algae have 50% less greenhouse emissions than petroleum fuel. By overcoming the economic

hurdles through innovate research, it is feasible to produce high energy oil feedstocks which act as transportation fuels from algal biomass. We need to build biomass production systems which can produce the highest yields with the lowest inputs in future to gain more energy return on investment and to improve carbon capture efficiency [66].

The synergistic model based on production of algae biofuel combined with urban and agricultural wastewater bioremediation addresses many economic hurdles in earlier algal systems and encourages value-added products [67, 68]. The strains of dominant algae usually found in wastewater ponds include *Chlorella*, *Actinastrum*, *Scenedesmus*, *Selenastrum* and *Euglena*. They are capable of extracting organic matter and nutrients from wastewater, grow quickly, and generate biomass.

Municipal sewage water, agricultural wastewater, and livestock waste slurries contain elevated amounts of P and N, which can potentially be utilized by microalgae for biodiesel production. In a study, *Botryococcus braunii* have effectively removed nitrate (up to 80%) and displayed higher growth rates in piggery wastewater consisting of 800 mg L^{-1} nitrates [69]. Microalgae are having the ability to grow in effluents of industries such as tanneries, textile industries, agro-industries, distilleries, and pulp and paper industries which may contain high concentrations of organic material (carbohydrate, starch, cellulose, hemicelluloses), harmful microorganisms, toxic heavy metals, etc. [70]. Normally effluents from industries may contain high COD and BOD, and there are variations in chemical compositions from one industry to another. Waters produced from meat processing industry consists of antibiotics, hormones, body fluids, and other organic waste while simple sugars are present in confectionary wastewaters. Waters from pulp and paper industries are polluted with high concentrations of suspended solids, which are rich in inorganic acid and alkali salts.

10 Bioenergy Options from Microalgal Biomass

Algal biomass presents four modes of energy production such as (a) biomass anaerobic digestion to produce methane (biogas); (b) thermo-chemical liquefaction of biomass to produce bio-oil; (c) biomass lipid extraction and transesterification to produce biodiesel; and (d) fermentation of carbohydrate and bioethanol production via distillation [71–73]. The complete transformation steps of biomass to various energy resources are represented in Fig. 4.

The lipid biomass extraction and transesterification is one of the most widely followed bioenergy production routes. This mode of biofuel production demands relatively higher lipid content in the alga biomass. Many times transesterification is a costlier process due to parameters like catalyst ratio, solvent requirement, and high process temperatures leading to negative energy balance, that is, higher input energy over output energy, nearly 2 [71].

By adopting a biorefinery approach, the sustainability and economic viability of the production of biodiesel from microalgal biomass can be greatly improved. This





approach aims in efficient utilization of residues or co-products for further applications.

34 kg of co-products (glycerol, lipids, defatted biomass) are produced for every 24 kg of algal biodiesel generated [74]. Glycerol and lipids (unsaponifiable) can act as precursors in the manufacturing of industrial chemicals like 1,3-propanediol which are used normally in paint and polymer factories [75]. The DAB could be utilized for production of biogas via anaerobic digestion [76] or as an animal feed (carbon-neutral) [9].

Dry algal biomass could potentially be cracked at very high temperatures of nearly 500°C under anaerobic environment for a period of 30–120 min through process called pyrolysis [77]. It contains three major steps such as dehydration (intracellular components vaporized at 80–190°C), volatilization and condensation (volatile components are produced in the temperature ranges of 190–500°C and condensed to form stable liquid or gases), and decomposition at temperatures equal to or above 500°C to generate solid biochar [77, 78]. The bio-oil yield of 20–45% having an approximate energy value of 35 kJ g⁻¹ was attained via pyrolysis.

Pyrolysis results in yield 20–45% of bio-oil with an average energy content of 35 kJ g^{-1} . However, the major issue involved with the usage of pyrolysis biocrude is due to their acidic nature (2.5 and 3.7); it causes storage concerns [79].

Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) is another alternative technique for transformation of wet algae biomass to energy dense heavy oil. One of the key benefits of this technique is that it can potentially transform high-moisture wet biomass (moisture content above 75%) by heating at subcritical temperatures (200–350°C) and by employing high pressure (5–20 MPa) to oil. HTL can be able to produce biocrude oil comprising of energy-dense hydrocarbons of chain length C17-C18 and PAHs. The resultant biocrude oil has heating value of about 30–40 kJ g⁻¹ with an approximate yield of 30–50% of initial wet biomass. It also generates various by-products like mixture of gases like CO₂, H₂, CH₄, C₂H₄, C₂H₆, and N₂ which may be recycled for production of energy [77]. The residual solids generated through HTL have C content >20%, which shows promise to be used for energy conversion either by anaerobic digestion or by biomass gasification. The yield of biocrude oil is significantly affected by the biomass composition in both HTL and pyrolysis process, where higher lipid content results in higher yield of biocrude.

In addition to HTL and pyrolysis, direct biomass gasification offers a third route for generating bioenergy based on thermal decomposition strategy from dry algal biomass. In gasification technique, the biomass is partially oxidized at high temperatures varying between 800 and 1,000°C. Gasification produces a mixture of flammable gases like C_2H_4 , CH_4 , CO_2 , and H_2 [77]. Gasification is a highly energy-intensive process with low product calorific value (only 4–6 MJ kg⁻¹). The mixture of gases can be directly used for burning, in engines, or as syngas, and as feedstock for chemical production like methanol [80]. However, this method is very much energy-consuming with low economic profitability.

11 Conclusions

Biofuels can supplement the existing conventional energy sources to a great extent. Microalgae are capable of producing bio-sustainable goods that do not seem to threaten the human right to food, water, and safety and do not damage the environment as they can be produced in non-agricultural land and do not need fresh water for their growth. Moreover as the system is carbon-neutral, it is the best possible choice and sustainable substitute to nonrenewable energy sources. Nevertheless, microalgae feedstocks are not yet become cost-effective in bioproducts and biofuel production, given their exceptional potential and the well-known cultivation options. Even after many years of hard work and huge sum of dollars (billions) in investments, its unacceptably high cost remains the ultimate drawback in the industrialization of algal biofuel.

New species discovery and usage of genetically modified microalgal strains via synthetic biology approaches which can produce higher yields and could potentially reduce the cost of production on a commercial scale. To capitalize on the research benefits, both socially and economically, synergistic combination of production of microalgae biofuel and biotechnological applications, such as bioremediation of environmental pollutants and manufacture of high economic value bio-byproducts, could be an effective way of achieving economically feasible biofuel production. In addition, more research and development is required to make harvesting techniques more reliable and cost-effective to reduce future production costs. Furthermore, the techniques for biomass production (i.e., PBR and open-pond systems) often need much focus to produce algae at cheaper costs and to make it environmentally sustainable. Apart from biofuel production, several other valuable co-products like food supplements with nutritional values, animal feed, and various pharmaceutical ingredients for producing medicines, cosmetics, toiletries, and other goods including bioplastics and biofertilizer may be produced from algal biomass feedstock. The production cost can be reduced by adapting a strategy of co-production of both biofuel and valuable by-products from microalgae. It can therefore be inferred that algal biofuels can be an ideal substitute for fossil fuel in the future if the cost of production of biofuels is minimized.

References

- Chi NTL, Duc PA, Mathimani T, Pugazhendhi A (2018) Evaluating the potential of green alga *Chlorella* sp. for high biomass and lipid production in biodiesel viewpoint. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 17:184–188
- 2. Wijffels RH, Barbosa MJ (2010) An outlook on microalgal biofuels. Science 329 (5993):796–799
- 3. Chisti Y (2007) Biodiesel from micro-algae. Biotechnol Adv 25:294-306
- Larkum AWD (2010) Limitation and prospects of natural photosynthesis for bio-energy production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 21:271–276

- Ben-Amotz A, Avron M (1990) The biotechnology of cultivating the halotolerant alga Dunaliella. Trends Biotechnol 8:121–126
- Fogliano V, Andreoli C, Martello A, Caiazzo M, Lobosco O, Formisano F, Carlino PA, Meca G, Graziani G, Rigano VM, Vona V, Carfagna S, Rigano C (2010) Functional ingredients produced by culture of *Koliella Antarctica*. Aquaculture 299:115–120
- 7. Sivakumar G, Xu J, Thompson RW, Yang Y, Smith PR, Weathers PG (2012) Integrated green algal technology for bioremediation and biofuel. Bioresour Technol 107:1–9
- Olguin EJ (2012) Dual purpose microalgae-bacteria-based systems that treat wastewater and produce biodiesel and chemical products within a biorefinery. Biotechnol Adv 30:1031–1046
- Vidyashankar S, VenuGopal KS, Chauhan VS, Muthukumar SP, Sarada R (2014) Characterisation of defatted *Scenedesmus dimorphus* algal biomass as animal feed. J Appl Phycol 27:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-014-0498-9
- Barry A, Wolfe A, English C, Ruddick C, Lambert D (2016) National algal biofuels technology review, 2016. USDOE Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE), Bioenergy Technologies Office (EE-3B)
- Hochman G, Zilberman D (2014) Algae farming and its bio-products. In: Plants and bioenergy. Springer, New York, pp 49–64
- Griffiths MJ, Harrison STL (2009) Lipid productivity as a key characteristic for choosing algal species for biodiesel production. Appl Phycol 21:493–507
- Ugwu CU, Aoyagi H, Uchiyama H (2008) Photobioreactors for mass cultivation of algae. Bioresour Technol 99(10):4021–4028
- 14. Harun R, Singh M, Forde GM, Danquah MK (2010) Bioprocess engineering of microalgae to produce a variety of consumer products. Renew Sust Energ Rev 14(3):1037–1047
- Lee YK (2001) Microalgal mass culture systems and methods: their limitation and potential. J Appl Phycol 13(4):307–315
- Hase R, Oikawa H, Sasao C, Morita M, Watanabe Y (2000) Photosynthetic production of microalgal biomass in a raceway system under greenhouse conditions in Sendai City. J Biosci Bioeng 89(2):157–163
- Blanco AM, Moreno J, Del Campo JA, Rivas J, Guerrero MG (2007) Outdoor cultivation of lutein-rich cells of *Muriellopsis* sp. in open ponds. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73(6):1259–1266
- 18. White RL, Ryan RA (2015) Long-term cultivation of algae in open-raceway ponds: lessons from the field. Ind Biotechnol 11(4):213–220
- Hall DO, Acien Fernandez FG, Guerrero EC, Rao KK, Grima EM (2003) Outdoor helical tubular photobioreactors for microalgal production: modeling of fluid dynamics and mass transfer and assessment of biomass productivity. Biotechnol Bioeng 82(1):62–73
- Lehr F, Posten C (2009) Closed photo-bioreactors as tools for biofuel production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:280–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2009.04.004
- Brennan L, Owende P (2010) Biofuels from microalgae a review of technologies for production, processing, and extractions of biofuels and co-products. Renew Sust Energ Rev 14:557–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.10.009
- Morweiser M, Kruse O, Hankamer B, Posten C (2010) Developments and perspectives of photobioreactors for biofuel production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:1291–1301. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00253-010-2697-x
- Posten C (2009) Design principles of photo-bioreactors for cultivation of microalgae. Eng Life Sci 9:165–177. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.200900003
- 24. Richmond A (2004) Biological principles of mass cultivation. In: Handbook of microalgal culture. Blackwell, Oxford, pp 125–177. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470995280.ch8
- Radakovits R, Jinkerson RE, Darzins A, Posewitz MC (2010) Genetic engineering of algae for enhanced biofuel production. Eukaryot Cell 9:486–501. https://doi.org/10.1128/EC.00364-09
- 26. Zijffers J-WF, Salim S, Janssen M, Tramper J, Wijffels RH (2008) Capturing sunlight into a photobioreactor: ray tracing simulations of the propagation of light from capture to distribution into the reactor. Chem Eng J 145:316–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2008.08.011

- Richardson JW, Johnson MD, Zhang X, Zemke P, Chen W (2014) A financial assessment of two alternative cultivation systems and their contributions to algae biofuel economic viability. Algal Res 4:96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2013.12.003
- Bumbak F, Cook S, Zachleder V, Hauser S, Kovar K (2011) Best practices in heterotrophic high-cell-density microalgal processes: achievements, potential and possible limitations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 91(1):31–46
- Cerón García MC, Camacho FG, Mirón AS, Sevilla JF, Chisti Y, Grima EM (2006) Mixotrophic production of marine microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* on various carbon sources. J Microbiol Biotechnol 16(5):689
- 30. Choi WY, Oh SH, Seo YC, Kim GB, Kang DH, Lee SY, Lee HY (2011) Effects of methanol on cell growth and lipid production from mixotrophic cultivation of *Chlorella* sp. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 16(5):946–955
- Morales-Sanchez D, Martinez-Rodriguez O, Kyndt J, Martinez A (2014) Heterotrophic growth of microalgae: metabolic aspects. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 31:1–9. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11274-014-1773-2
- 32. Li X, Xu H, Wu Q (2007) Large-scale biodiesel production from microalga *Chlorella protothecoides* through heterotrophic cultivation in bioreactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 98:764–771. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21489
- Espinosa-gonzalez I, Parashar A, Bressler DC (2014) Heterotrophic growth and lipid accumulation of *Chlorella protothecoides* in whey permeate, a dairy by-product stream, for biofuel production. Bioresour Technol 155:170–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.12.028
- 34. Pleissner D, Lam WC, Sun Z, Lin CSK (2013) Food waste as nutrient source in heterotrophic microalgae cultivation. Bioresour Technol 137:139–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2013.03.088
- 35. Rodolfi L, Zittelli GC, Bassi N, Padovani G, Biondi N, Bonini G, Tredici MR (2009) Microalgae for oil: strain selection, induction of lipid synthesis and outdoor mass cultivation in a low-cost photobioreactor. Biotechnol Bioeng 102:100–112
- Eroglu E, Smith SM, Raston CL (2015) Biomass and biofuels from microalgae, vol 2. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16640-7
- Berninger UG, Caron DA, Sanders RW (1992) Mixotrophic algae in 3 ice-covered lakes of the Pocono mountains USA. Freshw Biol 28(2):263–272
- Miao X, Wu Q (2006) Biodiesel production from heterotrophic microalgal oil. Bioresour Technol 97(6):841–846
- 39. Cheirsilp B, Torpee S (2012) Enhanced growth and lipid production of microalgae under mixotrophic culture condition: effect of light intensity, glucose concentration and fed-batch cultivation. Bioresour Technol 110(1):510–516
- 40. Zhou W, Chen P, Min M, Ma X, Wang J, Griffith R, Hussain F, Peng P, Xie Q, Li Y, Shi J, Meng J, Ruan R (2014) Environment-enhancing algal biofuel production using wastewaters. Renew Sust Energ Rev 36:256–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.073
- Mobin S, Alam F (2014) Biofuel production from algae utilizing wastewater. In: 19th Australasian fluid mechanics conference, Article no. 27
- 42. Slade R, Bauen A (2013) Micro-algae cultivation for biofuels: cost, energy balance, environmental impacts and future prospects. Biomass Bioenergy 53:29–38
- Pulz O (2001) Photobioreactors: production systems for phototrophic microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 57(3):287–293
- 44. Kumar H, Yadava P, Gaur J (1981) Electrical flocculation of the unicellular green alga Chlorella vulgaris Beijerinck. Aquat Bot 11:187–195
- 45. Pahl SL, Lee AK, Kalaitzidis T, Ashman PJ, Sathe S, Lewis DM (2013) Harvesting, thickening and dewatering microalgae biomass. In: Michael AB, Navid RM (eds) Algae for biofuels and energy. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 165–185
- 46. Uduman N, Qi Y, Danquah MK, Forde GM, Hoadley A (2010) Dewatering of microalgal cultures: a major bottleneck to algae-based fuels. J Renew Sustain Energy 2:12–30

- 47. Liu J, Zhu Y, Tao Y, Zhang Y, Li A, Li T, Sang M, Zhang C (2013) Freshwater microalgae harvested via flocculation induced by pH decrease. Biotechnol Biofuels 6:98–105
- Smith BT, Davis RH (2012) Sedimentation of algae flocculated using naturally-available, magnesium-based flocculants. Algal Res 1:32–39
- Vandamme D, Muylaert K, Fraeye I, Foubert I (2014) Floc characteristics of *Chlorella vulgaris*: influence of flocculation mode and presence of organic matter. Bioresour Technol 151:383–387
- Dassey AJ, Theegala CS (2013) Harvesting economics and strategies using centrifugation for cost effective separation of microalgae cells for biodiesel applications. Bioresour Technol 128:241–245
- 51. Al Hattab M, Ghaly A, Hammoud A (2015) Microalgae harvesting methods for industrial production of biodiesel: critical review and comparative analysis. J Fundam Renew Energy Appl 5:100–154
- Barros AI, Goncalves AL, Simoes M, Pires JCM (2015) Harvesting techniques applied to microalgae: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 41:1489–1500
- 53. Mo W, Soh L, Werber JR, Elimelech M, Zimmerman JB (2015) Application of membrane dewatering for algal biofuel. Algal Res 11:1–12
- 54. Molina Grima E, Belarbi EH, Fernandez FG, Robles Medina A, Chisti Y (2003) Recovery of microalgal biomass and metabolites: process options and economics. Biotechnol Adv 20:491–515
- 55. Craggs R, Sutherland D, Campbell H (2012) Hectare-scale demonstration of high rate algal ponds for enhanced wastewater treatment and biofuel production. J Appl Phycol 24:329–337
- 56. Mata TM, Martins AA, Caetano NS (2010) Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 14:217–232
- 57. Concas A, Pisua M, Caoa G (2015) Micro algal cell disruption through Fenton reaction: experiments, modeling and remarks on its effect on the extracted lipids composition. Chem Eng Trans 43:367–372
- Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH (1957) A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. Biol Chem 226:497–509
- 59. Bligh EG, Dyer WJ (1959) A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Biochem Physiol 8:911–917
- 60. Ramluckana K, Moodleya GK, Bux F (2014) An evaluation of the efficacy of using selected solvents for the extraction of lipids from algal biomass by the soxhlet extraction method. Fuel 116:103–108
- Boutekedjiret C, Vian MA, Chemat F (2014) Terpenes as green solvents for natural products extraction. Alternative solvents for natural products extraction green chemistry and sustainable. In: Green chemistry and sustainable technology. Springer, Berlin, pp 205–219
- Carrapiso AI, Garcia C (2000) Development in lipid analysis: some new extraction techniques and in situ transesterification. Lipids 11:1167–1177
- Heaton EA, Flavell RB, Mascia PN, Thomas SR, Dohleman FG, Long SP (2008) Herbaceous energy crop development: recent progress and future prospects. Curr Opin Biotechnol 19:202–209
- 64. Kumar A, Singh JS (2017) Microalgae and cyanobacteria biofuels: a sustainable alternate to crop-based fuels. In: Singh JS, Singh DP (eds) Microbes and environmental management. Studium Press, New Delhi, pp 1–20
- Kumar A, Kaushal S, Saraf SA, Singh JS (2018) Microbial bio-fuels: a solution to carbon emissions and energy crisis. Front Biosciences (Landmark) 23:1789–1802
- 66. Barry AN, Starkenburg SR, Sayre RT (2015) Strategies for optimizing algal biology for enhanced biomass production. Front Energy Res 3:1–9
- Lyon SR, Ahmadzadeh H, Murry MA (2015) Biomass and biofuels from microalgae, vol 2. Springer, Berlin, pp 95–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16640-7_695
- Muylaert K, Beuckels A, Depraetere O (2015) Biomass and biofuels from microalgae, vol 2. Springer, Cham, pp 75–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16640-7

- 69. An JY, Sim SJ, Lee JS, Kim BW (2003) Hydrocarbon production from secondarily treated piggery wastewater by the green alga *Botryococcus braunii*. J Appl Phycol 15:185–191
- 70. Rawat I, Ranjith Kumar R, Mutanda T, Bux F (2011) Dual role of microalgae: phycoremediation of domestic wastewater and biomass production for sustainable biofuels production. Appl Energy 88:3411–3424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2010.11.025
- Mehrabadi A, Craggs R, Farid MM (2014) Wastewater treatment high rate algal ponds (WWT HRAP) for low cost biofuel production. Bioresour Technol 184:202–214
- Park JBK, Craggs RJ, Shilton AN (2013) Enhancing biomass energy yield from pilot-scale high rate algal ponds with recycling. Water Res 47(13):4422–4432
- 73. Ravishankar GA, Sarada R, Vidyashankar S, VenuGopal KS, Kumudha A (2012) Cultivation of micro-algae for lipids and hydrocarbons, and utilization of spent biomass for livestock feed and for bio-active constituents. In: Makkar HPS (ed) Biofuel co-products as livestock feed – opportunities and challenges. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, pp 423–446. ISBN: 978-92-5-107299-8
- 74. Sander K, Murthy GS (2010) Life cycle analysis of algae biodiesel. Int J Life Cycle Assess 15:704–714
- 75. Yazdani SS, Gonzalez R (2007) Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol: a path to economic viability for the biofuels industry. Curr Opin Biotechnol 18:213–219
- 76. Sarat Chandra T, Suvidha G, Mukherji S, Chauhan VS, Vidyashankar S, Krishnamurthi K, Sarada R, Mudliar SN (2014) Statistical optimization of thermal pretreatment conditions for enhanced biomethane production from defatted algal biomass. Bioresour Technol 162:157–165
- 77. López Barreiro D, Prins W, Ronsse F, Brilman W (2013) Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) of microalgae for biofuel production: state of the art review and future prospects. Biomass Bioenergy 53:113–127
- Porphy SJ, Farid MM (2012) Feasibility study for production of biofuel and chemicals from marine microalgae *Nannochloropsis* sp. based on basic mass and energy analysis. ISRN Renew Energy 2012:11–17. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/156824
- Babich IV, Van der Hulst M, Lefferts L, Moulijn JA, O'Connor P, Seshan K (2011) Catalytic pyrolysis of microalgae to high-quality liquid bio-fuels. Biomass Bioenergy 35(7):3199–3207
- Amin S (2009) Review on biofuel oil and gas production processes from microalgae. Energy Convers Manag 50(7):1834–1840

Applications and Efficacy of Exceptional Bioactive Compounds from Microalgae



Surbhi Sinha, Kavya Bisaria, Tithi Mehrotra, and Rachana Singh

Contents

1	Introduction 1		
2	Microalgae-Derived Bioactive Compounds		
	2.1	Polysaccharides	164
	2.2	Carotenoids	165
	2.3	Antioxidants	165
	2.4	Lipids	166
	2.5	Proteins	166
	2.6	Diterpenes	167
3	Applications		
	3.1	As Antimicrobial Agents	167
	3.2	As Anticancerous Agents	167
	3.3	As Anti-inflammatory Agents	169
	3.4	As Antioxidant Agents	170
4	Futur	re Prospects	170
5	Conc	lusion	171
Re	ferenc	es	171

Abstract Microalgae are microscopic photosynthetic organisms that are found in both freshwater and marine environment. These are successfully used as food and feed supplements and are efficient producers of fine chemicals and biofuels. Microalgae are also an excellent source of bioactive compounds like vitamins, proteins, polyphenols, polyunsaturated fatty acids, or polysterols with antiviral, antibacterial, antifungal, and anticancer activities. Currently, the demand of these natural bioactive compounds is increasing as they impart health benefits when included and consumed in a functional food or in nutraceuticals. Thus, the utility of microalgae for the production of natural bioactive compounds should be explored

161

S. Sinha, K. Bisaria, T. Mehrotra, and R. Singh (🖂)

Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: ssinha2@amity.edu; kbisaria@amity.edu; tithimehrotra_6@yahoo.com; rsingh2@amity.edu

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 161–176, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_581, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 2 July 2020

at the commercial and industrial sector to harness the growing demands. The chapter gives the overview of different bioactive compounds produced by microalgae which have a wide range of application in different kinds of industries.

Keywords Anticancerous, Anti-inflammatory, Antimicrobial, Antioxidants, Bioactive compounds, Microalgae

1 Introduction

All around the world, research has been initiated to develop greener technologies for the production of substances that are not only beneficial to the environment but also to the human health. Thus, a substantial amount of study has been focused on utilizing natural resources for producing bioactive compounds as compared to the traditional synthetic approach [1]. Utilizing greener technologies or natural sources for production of value added compounds makes the entire process cost-effective, sustainable, and recyclable and eco-friendly [2]. Recently, microalgae have attracted a lot of attention as a potential candidate for the continuous and sustainable production of several different bioactive compounds [3]. Microalgae are a group of prokaryotic and eukaryotic photosynthetic organism found both in freshwater and marine environment. For more than hundred years, these microalgae have been used as food, fodder, fertilizer, and a source of variety of chemicals [4]. Additionally, they can be a very intriguing source of natural compounds with very high biological activity that could be successfully used in different industrial sectors. As a matter of fact, when these microalgae are exposed to adverse environmental conditions like changes in temperature, salinity, nutrient, etc., they secrete a wide variety of functional, biologically active secondary metabolites, and other substances like proteins, pigments, polyphenol, antioxidants, polyunsaturated fatty acids, vitamins, polysaccharides, and natural plant growth hormones such as cytokinin, gibberellins, and auxin to survive which most of the organisms are not capable of [5]. Table 1 summarizes some of the important bioactive compounds produced from different types of algae. These natural bioactive compounds produced from microalgae are fascinating researchers as they have immense potentiality for commercialization in the coming future because of their prospective therapeutic activities such as antiviral, antifungal, antibacterial, anti-malarial, anti-inflammatory effects, and other applications in food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic industries [6]. Table 2 lists the biological activity of some of the compounds secreted by microalgae. Apart from these benefits, microalgae also have the advantage of simple and effortless cultivation, rapid growth, and feasibility of regulating the production of bioactive compounds by exploiting the culture conditions. Although microalgae have a lot of advantages, still a large number of bioactive compounds from them remain unexplored. Among the thousands of microalgal species that are present universally, very few have been studied and utilized for the production of bioactive compounds. According to a

[A] Polysaccharide	[B] Pigments
Cellulose	Phycocyanin
Laminarin	Phycoerythrin
Fucoidan	Chlorophyll a, b, c
Agar	β-Carotene
Alginate	α-Carotene
Carrageenan	Fucoxanthin
Porphyran	Astaxanthin
Xylan	Lutein
Amylose	
Amylopectin	
[C] Growth-promoting compounds	[D] Other compounds
Fucosterol	Vitamins
Ergosterol	Carotenoids
Cholesterol	Polyphenols
Ethylene	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
Cytokine	Minerals
Auxin	Diterpenes
Gibberellin	Proteins
Abscisic acid	
Polyamines	

 Table 1
 Different bioactive compounds extracted in algae

Table 2	Biological activity
of differe	ent bioactive com-
pounds e	xtracted from algae

Biological activity/property	Bioactive compounds
Antibacterial	Polyphenols Polyunsaturated fatty acids Proteins Pigments
Antitumors	Polysaccharide Polyphenols Carotenoids
Antifungal	Polyunsaturated fatty acids Diterpenes Proteins and pigments
Anti-inflammatory	Polysaccharides Proteins Sterols Carotenoids
Antioxidative	Polyunsaturated fatty acids Polysaccharide Proteins Polyphenols Carotenoid Glutathione Tocopherol

report, microalgae produce a variety of compounds which are approximately ten times higher than any well-studied organism. Thus, more microalgae should be explored for the extraction of natural bioactive compounds as these can prove to be of significant importance in human welfare. The first part of the present chapter primarily focuses on the different bioactive compounds isolated from algal biomass to progress in the field of biomedical and biotechnology. The second part of the chapter outlines the properties of the bioactive compounds along with their potential application.

2 Microalgae-Derived Bioactive Compounds

At present, the interest in microalgae for industrial use is growing swiftly owing to the presence of diverse and novel bioactive compounds, viz., antioxidants, fatty acids, polysaccharides, proteins, vitamins, etc. Some of the important bioactive compounds produced from microalgae are outlined below.

2.1 Polysaccharides

Polysaccharides are considered the most important product obtained from algae, as per their economic value [7] with numerous reports on their structure and function [7-9]. Algal polysaccharides can be extracted by several green techniques such as microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) and enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) [10-12]. In recent years, these algal polysaccharides have been extensively studied due to their biological activities like antiadhesive, antitumor, antitoxin, antioxidant, anticoagulant, anti-infection, and immunomodulatory effects. Certain polysaccharides extracted from microalgae exhibits exceptional biomedical properties and thus can have promising application in food, medicine, nutraceuticals, and cosmeceuticals. For example, carrageenan, agar, and alginate are some of the commonly used algal polysaccharides in food and pharmaceutical industries [13]. Some other polysaccharides like ulvans from Chlorophyta, carrageenans, porphyran from Rhodophyta and fucans, and laminarin from Phaeophyta activate and enhance the defense response against pathogens in plants [14]. Moreover, these algal polysaccharides can directly or indirectly induce several signaling pathways, leading to the activation of the immune system. For example, enhanced phagocytosis was observed by a polysaccharide extracted from Porphyra haitanensis in RAW264.7 [15]. Algal polysaccharides also have remarkable antitumor activity both in vitro and in vivo which is ascribed to the activation of cell-mediated immune responses [16]. For example, polysaccharides isolated from Sargassum fusiforme were found to notably arrest the growth of human HepG2 cell-transplanted tumor in nude mice [17]. Polysaccharide galactan sulfate isolated from Agardhiella tenera was found effective against HIV-1 and HIV -2 [18]. Sulfated polysaccharides and xylogalacto fucan extracted from Sphacelaria indica showed antiviral activity against herpes simplex viruses [19]. Polysaccharides from algae possess antioxidative potential and, hence, can be utilized in protecting the body from oxidative damage like a polysaccharide from

Saccharina latissima, which showed scavenging activity towards the radical 2,2-'-azinobis-(3-ethylbenzothiazolin-6-sulphonate) [20].

2.2 Carotenoids

Carotenoids are a large family of yellow to orange colored pigments containing eight isoprene units [21]. These carotenoids are composed of C-40 hydrocarbon chains, providing a backbone that imparts unique molecular structure and chemical properties like light absorption which is a requisite for photosynthesis process [22]. The demand for new, unique natural compounds and colorants in food, cosmetic, and pharmaceutical industry has evoked interest in carotenoids derived from microalgae as these are a potential source of variety of high value carotenoids. Astaxanthin, β -carotene, lutein, violaxanthin, and fucoxanthin are some of the algal carotenoids that are successfully utilized for biomedical applications. Microalgae are preferred over other biological materials for the production of carotenoids because of their abundant biomass, high yield, cost-effective, simple, and eco-friendly process of production [23, 24]. Algal carotenoids showcase antioxidant, antitumor, antifungal, antiviral, antibacterial, and anti-inflammatory properties [25, 26] and are usually extracted by green technologies like microwave-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, pressurized liquid extraction, etc. [23, 24]. Astaxanthin from Haematococcus pluvialis and Chlorella vulgaris, violaxanthin from Chlorella pyrenoidosa, lutein from Chlorella pyrenoidosa, Haematococcus pluvialis, and Scenedesmus obliguus have antioxidant properties. Astaxanthin from Haematococcus pluvialis and violaxanthin from Chlorella ellipsoidea are known to have antiinflammatory property. Fucoxanthin from Odontella aurita, Chaetoseros sp., and Isochrysis galbana displayed anticancer activities [27].

2.3 Antioxidants

Presently, large numbers of antioxidants are utilized by different food and pharmaceutical industries to reduce the oxidative adulteration of food products and medicines. However, the utilization of synthetic antioxidants like butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), and t-butyl hydroquinone for the production of food and medicines has been cramped owing to its toxic effects [28]. Consequently, there is a requirement to explore novel, natural, and cheap antioxidants from natural sources. Microalgal extracts are a potential source of natural antioxidants like vitamin C, vitamin E, astaxanthin, tocopherols, catechins, tannins, flavonoids, etc. that can be successfully used as supplement in human nutrition, in meat to prevent oxidation process, as animal feed and in aquaculture [29–32]. Some of the microalgal species that are utilized for the production of antioxidants are *Chlamydomonas nivalis* [33], *Chlorella* spp. [34, 35], *Botryococcus braunii* [36], and *Scenedesmus* spp. [34].

2.4 Lipids

Algae are a valuable source of a variety of lipids. The lipid fraction of microalgae primarily consists of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) like omega 3 fatty acids, omega 6 fatty acids, arachidonic acids, eicosapentaenoic acid, etc. Due to their antibacterial, antifungal, and antioxidative properties, PUFAs are considered of immense importance for proper functioning of the human body [8, 37]. Essential polyunsaturated fatty acids especially omega-3 and omega-6 are well-known to have several positive effects on human health such as in the prevention of hypertension. type 2 diabetes, coronary heart disease, pulmonary disease, etc. [38]. Microalgal polyunsaturated fatty acids are extracted through novel extraction techniques such as supercritical fluid extraction, microwave-assisted extraction, pressurized liquid extraction, ultrasound assisted extraction, and enzyme assisted extraction [23, 24]. Out of these, carbon dioxide lipid extraction method offers high rate, is non-toxic, produces solvent-free lipids, and has high selectivity towards acylglycerols, and therefore, it is a promising technique for large-scale extraction of lipid from microalgae. It is disadvantageous in the fact that it requires high cost and energy for supercritical fluid compression [23, 24]. Sterols are also a type of lipids extracted from micro- and macroalgae, having applications in pharmaceuticals production by steroidal therapeutics, nutrition as anticholesterol additives in food, nutraceuticals, and cosmetics [39]. Another promising use of lipids from algae is in biodiesel production since it promises reduction in dependence on petro fuels, thereby lowering greenhouse gas emission. Extraction of lipid from algae has a great potential for an impressive future market accompanied with simultaneous production of value-added co-products [40]. The current obstruction in large-scale biodiesel production from algae is cultivation and efficient lipid extraction methods. However, methods such as UAE, MAE, and SFE are being utilized for the extraction of lipids, but none of these methods have been exploited at a large scale [41, 42].

2.5 Proteins

Microalgae are contemplated as a potential source of proteins and essential amino acids. Comprehensive and nutritional analysis has revealed that the proteins derived from algae are of high standards and very much similar to the regular vegetable proteins [43]. Due to their high digestibility, nutritional value, and protein content, microalgae like *Spirulina*, *Arthrospira*, *Chlorella*, and many more are considered currently as green food. Recently, algal proteins are receiving a lot of attention on grounds of bioactive and functional properties like anti-inflammatory, anticancerous,

antioxidant, neuroprotective, and immunomodulatory activities [44, 45]. Microalgae are familiarly consumed as a dietary supplement in the form of pills, tablets, or powder. Howbeit, they have also been included into a variety of functional foods, such as bread, noodles, drinks, biscuits, beer, and sweets. Several companies sell algal products, such as AlgaVia[®] which produces protein- and lipid-rich algal flour from *Chlorella protothecoides* [46]. Large amount of microalgal proteins being produced by recombinant DNA technology are used as drugs and referred as biopharmaceuticals and biologics.

2.6 Diterpenes

Diterpenes are a large class of structurally distinct natural compounds which are extensively present in marine brown algae belonging to the family Dictyotaceae. These algal diterpenes are propitious drug candidate attributable to their incredible pharmacological activity. Diterpenes like dictyodial, dicytol H, dicytol C from *Dictyota ciliolate* exhibit potent cytotoxic and antiviral activities [47]. Diterpenes extracted from *D. menstrualis* were found to be effective against HIV-1 [48].

3 Applications

3.1 As Antimicrobial Agents

In spite of the fact that microalgae can produce significant amount of bioactive compounds, their use as antimicrobials is still in its early stages. Until now, very small number of compounds have been extracted and utilized commercially. Some of the compounds extracted from microalgae have potential applications in market as antibacterial, antifungal, and antiviral drugs. Table 3 lists some of the antimicrobial compounds extracted from different types of algae.

3.2 As Anticancerous Agents

The conventional techniques available for the treatment of cancer kill randomly the normal cells and multiply cancer cells consequently damaging the DNA. However, the microalgal compounds shield the normal cells from damage and cause cytotoxic effects on the cancerous cells. Some of the anticancerous compounds extracted from microalgae are represented in Table 4.

		Compound/			
S. No	Property	fraction	Chemical nature	Source	Reference
1.	Antiviral	Naviculan	Polysaccharide	Navicula directa	Lee et al. [49]
		Marennine	Pigment	Haslea ostrearia	Gastineau et al. [50]
		p-KG03	Exopolysaccharide	Gyrodinium impudicum	Yim et al. [51]
2.	Antibacterial	Ethanol extract	-	Chlorella marina	Elkomy et al. [52]
		Water extract	-	Phormidium formosum	Elkomy et al. [52]
		Acetone extract	-	Navicula f. delicatula	Elkomy et al. [52]
		Chlorellin	-	Chlorella vulgaris	Pratt et al. [53]
		α-Linolenic acid	-	Chlorococcum HS-101	Ohta et al. [54]
		Methanolic extracts	-	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Pane et al. [55]
		Organic extract	_	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Ali and Doumandji [56]
		Hexane extract	Fatty acids	Coccomyxa onubensis	Navarro et al. [57]
3.	Antibiofilm	Acetone extract	-	L. danicus (FE322) L. aporus (FE332)	Lauritano et al. [58]
4.	Antifungal	-	Polysaccharides	Chaetoceros lauderi	Viso et al. [59]
		Microalgal supernatant	-	Chlorella vulgaris	Ghasemi et al. [60]
		Organic sol- vent extracts and beta caro- tene, chlo- rophyll a and chloro- phyll b	Pigments	Chlorococcum humicola	Bhagavathy et al. [61]
		Microalgal supernatant	-	Heterochlorella luteoviridis	Mudimu et al. [62]
			Short-chain fatty acids	Haematococcus pluvialis	Santoyo et al. [63]
		Organic sol- vent extracts	-	Scenedesmus quadricauda	Abedin and Taha [64]
		-	Phycobiliproteins	Porphyridium aerugineum	Najdenski et al. [65]

 Table 3
 Antimicrobial properties of compounds extracted from microalgae

Compound	Chemistry	Source	Reference
Nonyl 8-acetoxy-6-	Fatty alcohol	P. tricornutum	Samarakoon et al. [66]
methyloctanoate (NAMO)	ester		
Decadienal, octadienal, and	Unsaturated	Skeletonema	Sansone et al. [67]
heptadienal	aldehydes	marinoi	
Fucoxanthin	Carotenoid	Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Liu et al. [68]
Astaxanthin	Carotenoid	Chlorococcum sp.	Kim et al. [69]
β-Carotene	Carotenoid	Haematococcus sp.	Davidi et al. [70]
Monogalactosyldiacylglycerol (MGDG)	Glycolipid	Gymnodinium mikimotoi	Maeda et al. [71]
Digalactosyldiacylglycerol (DGDG)	Glycolipid	Stephanodiscus sp.	Hossain et al. [72]
Sulfo-quinovosyl-acyl-glyc- erol (SQAG)	Glycolipid	Stephanodiscus sp.	Hossain et al. [72]
Sulfated polysaccharide	Polysaccharide	Chlorella	Guzman et al. [73],
2-(1,3)-glucan		vulgaris	Nomoto et al. [74]
Sulfated polysaccharide	Polysaccharide	Isochrysis galbana	Sadovskaya et al. [75], Matsui et al. [76], Bae
		Porphyridium	et al. [//]
		sp. Gvrodinium	
		Impudicum	
Extracellular polysaccharide s-Spirulina	Polysaccharide	Arthrospira platensis	Challouf et al. [78]
Phycobiliproteins	Proteins	Porphyridium	Romay et al. [79],
		sp.	Zheng et al. [80]
Acetone extract		S. marinoi FE60/2	Lauritano et al. [58]
Fucoidan	Fucose-rich sul- fated hetero polysaccharide	S. polycystum	Palanisamy et al. [81]

 Table 4
 Anticancerous properties of compound extracted from microalgae

3.3 As Anti-inflammatory Agents

Inflammation occurs in the living body after some kind of physical abrasion or by intrusion of tumor cells, viruses, and bacteria. Thus, it is a complex process that demands stimulation of the immune system [82]. The application of synthetic agents to impede inflammation has revealed some very promising results in the treatment of type II diabetes [83]; howbeit, the chronic application of these agents has also led to detrimental gastrointestinal effects [84], lung disease [85], and atherosclerosis [86]. The employment of anti-inflammatory agents synthesized by microalgae completely reduces the chronic infection caused by inflammation. Table 5

Compound/extract	Chemistry	Source	Reference
Fucoxanthin	Carotenoids	Diatoms	Peng et al. [87]
Digalactosyldiacylglycerols		Nannochloropsis granulata	Blunt et al. [88]
β-Carotene	Carotenoid	Dunaliella salina	Ramos et al. [89]
Violaxanthin	Carotenoid	Dunaliella tertiolecta	Pasquet et al. [90]
Zeaxanthin	Carotenoid	Chlorella saccharophila	Singh et al. [91]
Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA)	Fatty acid	Tetraselmis sp.	Mobraten et al. [92]
Sulfated extracellular Polysaccharide	Polysaccharide	Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Guzman et al. [73]
Phycobiliproteins	Proteins	Spirulina platensis Porphyridium sp.	Romay et al. [79]
Acetone extract	-	C. closterium FE2/1, O. mobiliensis FE326/1, and P. pseudodelicatissima FE1098_1/ 1	Lauritano et al. [58]

Table 5 Anti-inflammatory properties of compounds extracted from microalgae

summarizes some of the common anti-inflammatory compounds biosynthesized by microalgae.

3.4 As Antioxidant Agents

Presently, the global interest is growing towards discovering novel, safe, potent, and robust antioxidants from microalgae to reduce the oxidative vandalism on the living cells and the commercialized products like pharmaceuticals, food, and nutraceuticals. Antioxidants extracted from microalgae are not that non-toxic as compared the synthetic antioxidants whose carcinogenic effect has already been reported [93]. Table 6 lists some of the common antioxidants synthesized by microalgae.

4 Future Prospects

Currently, the use of microalgae for the extraction of bioactive compounds is encouraged due to healthy food and health care and to maintain a clean environment, but still there are concerns that can be looked into in the coming future for efficient production and application of bioactive compounds. Firstly, large-scale industries

Compound/			
fractional extract	Chemistry	Source	Reference
Fucoidan	Fucose-rich sulfated hetero	S. polycystum	Palanisamy
	polysaccharide		et al. [81]
Ethanol extract	Carotenoids, polyphenols,	Dunaliella sp.,	Maadane
	and PUFA	Tetraselmis sp., and	et al. [94]
		Nannochloropsis gaditana	
Fucoidan	Sulfated polysaccharide	Chnoospora minima	Fernando
			et al. [95]
Water/ethanol	Phenols	Bifurcaria bifurcata	Agregán
extract			et al. [96]
Methanol extracts	Phenols	Desmodesmus sp.	Safafar et al.
			[97]

Table 6 Antioxidant properties of compounds extracted from microalgae

still use the same classic solvent extraction technique despite having limitations like denaturation of the extracted compound and use of large amount of solvent for extraction. Gradually, some economical green extraction techniques should be developed for use at industrial scale to overcome the aforementioned problems. Secondly, very less algal products are being commercialized, and thus, attention should be given to the development of newer products associated with other industries as well. And lastly, new regulations should be established by the countries to regulate the use of algal extracts as pharmaceuticals, food, or biostimulants.

5 Conclusion

In the present chapter, the importance of algae as a multiple source of bioactive compounds has been reported. Microalgae have the capacity to produce unusual natural bioactive compounds with remarkable biological properties. The compounds like fucoxanthin, astaxanthin, polyunsaturated fatty acids, proteins, glycolipid, and polysaccharides have been successfully used to treat diseases like cancer, malaria, Alzheimer's, TB, and many others. Despite having many advantages, very limited species of microalgae have been studied till date. Thus, newer species of microalgae can be explored for novel compounds with enhanced activity exhibiting a prolific approach in the area of biotechnology and biomedical applications.

References

1. Khan RA (2018) Natural products chemistry: the emerging trends and prospective goals. Saudi Pharm J 26(5):739–753

- Centella MH, Arevalo-Gallegos A, Parra-Saldivar R, Iqbal HM (2017) Marine-derived bioactive compounds for value-added applications in bio-and non-bio sectors. J Clean Prod 168:1559–1565
- Liu L, Pohnert G, Wei D (2016) Extracellular metabolites from industrial microalgae and their biotechnological potential. Mar Drugs 14(10):191
- 4. Suganya T, Varman M, Masjuki HH, Renganathan S (2016) Macroalgae and microalgae as a potential source for commercial applications along with biofuels production: a biorefinery approach. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 55:909–941
- 5. de Morais MG, Vaz BD, de Morais EG, Costa JA (2015) Biologically active metabolites synthesized by microalgae. Biomed Res Int 2015:835761
- 6. Singh R, Parihar P, Singh M, Bajguz A, Kumar J, Singh S et al (2017) Uncovering potential applications of cyanobacteria and algal metabolites in biology, agriculture and medicine: current status and future prospects. Front Microbiol 8:515
- Kraan S (2012) Algal polysaccharides, novel applications and outlook. In: Chang C-F (ed) Carbohydrates – comprehensive studies on glycobiology and glycotechnology. IntechOpen, Rijeka
- Borowitzka MA (2013) High-value products from microalgae their development and commercialisation. J Appl Phycol 25(3):743–756
- 9. Holdt SL, Kraan S (2011) Bioactive compounds in seaweed: functional food applications and legislation. J Appl Phycol 23(3):543–597
- Ko SC, Lee SH, Ahn G, Kim KN, Cha SH, Kim SK, Jeon BT, Park PJ, Lee KW, Jeon YJ (2012) Effect of enzyme-assisted extract of Sargassum coreanum on induction of apoptosis in HL-60 tumor cells. J Appl Phycol 24(4):675–684
- Rodriguez-Jasso RM, Mussatto SI, Pastrana L, Aguilar CN, Teixeira JA (2011) Microwaveassisted extraction of sulfated polysaccharides (fucoidan) from brown seaweed. Carbohydr Polym 86(3):1137–1144
- Wang B, Tong GZ, Qu YL, Li L (2011) Microwave-assisted extraction and in vitro antioxidant evaluation of polysaccharides from *Enteromorpha prolifera*. Appl Mech Mater 79:204–209
- Ibañez E, Herrero M, Mendiola JA, Castro-Puyana M (2012) Extraction and characterization of bioactive compounds with health benefits from marine resources: macro and micro algae, cyanobacteria, and invertebrates. In: Hayes M (ed) Marine bioactive compounds. Springer, Boston, pp 55–98
- Vera J, Castro J, Gonzalez A, Moenne A (2011) Seaweed polysaccharides and derived oligosaccharides stimulate defense responses and protection against pathogens in plants. Mar Drugs 9(12):2514–2525
- 15. Liu QM, Xu SS, Li L, Pan TM, Shi CL, Liu H, Cao MJ, Su WJ, Liu GM (2017) In vitro and in vivo immunomodulatory activity of sulfated polysaccharide from Porphyra haitanensis. Carbohydr Polym 165:189–196
- Kang Y, Li H, Wu J, Xu X, Sun X, Zhao X, Xu N (2016) Transcriptome profiling reveals the antitumor mechanism of polysaccharide from marine algae Gracilariopsis lemaneiformis. PLoS One 11(6):e0158279
- 17. Fan S, Zhang J, Nie W, Zhou W, Jin L, Chen X, Lu J (2017) Antitumor effects of polysaccharide from Sargassum fusiforme against human hepatocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells. Food Chem Toxicol 102:53–62
- Yasuhara-Bell J, Lu Y (2010) Marine compounds and their antiviral activities. Antiviral Res 86 (3):231–240
- Bandyopadhyay SS, Navid MH, Ghosh T, Schnitzler P, Ray B (2011) Structural features and in vitro antiviral activities of sulfated polysaccharides from Sphacelaria indica. Phytochemistry 72(2–3):276–283
- Jiménez-Escrig A, Gómez-Ordóñez E, Rupérez P (2015) Infrared characterisation, monosaccharide profile and antioxidant activity of chemical fractionated polysaccharides from the edible seaweed sugar Kombu (Saccharina latissima). Int J Food Sci Technol 50(2):340–346
- Gong M, Bassi A (2016) Carotenoids from microalgae: a review of recent developments. Biotechnol Adv 34(8):1396–1412
- Guedes AC, Amaro HM, Malcata FX (2011) Microalgae as sources of carotenoids. Mar Drugs 9 (4):625–644
- Michalak I, Chojnacka K (2014) Algal extracts: technology and advances. Eng Life Sci 14 (6):581–591
- Michalak I, Chojnacka K (2014) Review. Algal extracts: technology and advances. Eng Life Sci 14:581–591
- Hosikian A, Lim S, Halim R, Danquah MK (2010) Chlorophyll extraction from microalgae: a review on the process engineering aspects. Int J Chem Eng 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/ 391632
- Kadam SU, Tiwari BK, O'Donnell CP (2013) Application of novel extraction technologies for bioactives from marine algae. J Agric Food Chem 61(20):4667–4675
- 27. Moreau D, Tomasoni C, Jacquot C, Kaas R, Le Guedes R, Cadoret JP, Muller-Feuga A, Kontiza I, Vagias C, Roussis V, Roussakis C (2006) Cultivated microalgae and the carotenoid fucoxanthin from *Odontella aurita* as potent anti-proliferative agents in bronchopulmonary and epithelial cell lines. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 22(1):97–103
- Ito N, Hirose M (1989) Antioxidants-carcinogenic and chemopreventive properties. Adv Cancer Res 53:247–302
- 29. Gupta S, Abu-Ghannam N (2011) Recent developments in the application of seaweeds or seaweed extracts as a means for enhancing the safety and quality attributes of foods. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 12(4):600–609
- Lee SH, Jeon YJ (2013) Anti-diabetic effects of brown algae derived phlorotannins, marine polyphenols through diverse mechanisms. Fitoterapia 86:129–136
- Yoshie Y, Wang W, Petillo D, Suzuki T (2000) Distribution of catechins in Japanese seaweeds. Fish Sci 66(5):998–1000
- 32. Yuan YV, Bone DE, Carrington MF (2005) Antioxidant activity of dulse (*Palmaria palmata*) extract evaluated in vitro. Food Chem 91(3):485–494
- Duval B, Shetty K, Thomas WH (1999) Phenolic compounds and antioxidant properties in the snow alga *Chlamydomonas nivalis* after exposure to UV light. J Appl Phycol 11(6):559
- 34. Becker W (2004) 18 Microalgae in human and animal nutrition. In: Amos R (ed) Handbook of microalgal culture: biotechnology and applied phycology, vol 312. Wiley Online library
- 35. Running JA, Severson DK, Schneider KJ (2002) Extracellular production of L-ascorbic acid by *Chlorella protothecoides*, Prototheca species, and mutants of P. moriformis during aerobic culturing at low pH. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 29(2):93–98
- 36. Babu B, Wu JT (2008) Production of natural butylated hydroxytoluene as an antioxidant by freshwater phytoplankton 1. J Phycol 44(6):1447–1454
- Chojnacka K, Saeid A, Witkowska Z, Tuhy L (2012) Biologically active compounds in seaweed extracts-the prospects for the application. Open Conf Proc J 3(1):20–28
- Simopoulos AP (1999) Essential fatty acids in health and chronic disease. Am J Clin Nutr 70 (3):560s–569s
- 39. Francavilla M, Colaianna M, Zotti M, Morgese MG, Trotta P, Tucci P, Schiavone S, Cuomo V, Trabace L (2012) Extraction, characterization and in vivo neuromodulatory activity of phytosterols from microalga Dunaliella tertiolecta. Curr Med Chem 19(18):3058–3067
- 40. Foley PM, Beach ES, Zimmerman JB (2011) Algae as a source of renewable chemicals: opportunities and challenges. Green Chem 13(6):1399–1405
- Brentner LB, Eckelman MJ, Zimmerman JB (2011) Combinatorial life cycle assessment to inform process design of industrial production of algal biodiesel. Environ Sci Technol 45 (16):7060–7067
- 42. Silva C, Soliman E, Cameron G, Fabiano LA, Seider WD, Dunlop EH, Coaldrake AK (2013) Commercial-scale biodiesel production from algae. Ind Eng Chem Res 53(13):5311–5324
- 43. Becker EW (2007) Micro-algae as a source of protein. Biotechnol Adv 25(2):207-210

- 44. Manirafasha E, Ndikubwimana T, Zeng X, Lu Y, Jing K (2016) Phycobiliprotein: potential microalgae derived pharmaceutical and biological reagent. Biochem Eng J 109:282–296
- 45. Talero E, García-Mauriño S, Ávila-Román J, Rodríguez-Luna A, Alcaide A, Motilva V (2015) Bioactive compounds isolated from microalgae in chronic inflammation and cancer. Mar Drugs 13(10):6152–6209
- Bleakley S, Hayes M (2017) Algal proteins: extraction, application, and challenges concerning production. Foods 6(5):33
- 47. Manzo E, Ciavatta ML, Bakkas S, Villani G, Varcamonti M, Zanfardino A, Gavagnin M (2009) Diterpene content of the alga *Dictyota ciliolata* from a Moroccan lagoon. Phytochem Lett 2 (4):211–215
- 48. Pereira H, Leão-Ferreira LR, Moussatché N, Teixeira VL, Cavalcanti DN, Costa LJ, Diaz R, Frugulhetti IC (2004) Antiviral activity of diterpenes isolated from the Brazilian marine alga Dictyota menstrualis against human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). Antiviral Res 64 (1):69–76
- 49. Lee JB, Hayashi K, Hirata M, Kuroda E, Suzuki E, Kubo Y, Hayashi T (2006) Antiviral sulfated polysaccharide from Navicula directa, a diatom collected from deep-sea water in Toyama Bay. Biol Pharm Bull 29(10):2135–2139
- Gastineau R, Turcotte F, Pouvreau JB, Morançais M, Fleurence J, Windarto E, Prasetiya F, Arsad S, Jaouen P, Babin M, Coiffard L (2014) Marennine, promising blue pigments from a widespread Haslea diatom species complex. Mar Drugs 12(6):3161–3189
- 51. Yim JH, Kim SJ, Ahn SH, Lee CK, Rhie KT, Lee HK (2004) Antiviral effects of sulfated exopolysaccharide from the marine microalga Gyrodinium impudicum strain KG03. Marine Biotechnol 6(1):17–25
- 52. Elkomy R, Ibraheem IB, Shreadah M, Mohammed R, Ismael A (2015) Antimicrobial activity of three microalgae isolated from Mediterranean Sea coast, Egypt. J Pure Appl Microbiol 9 (4):2751–2758
- Pratt R, Daniels TC, Eiler JJ, Gunnison JB, Kumler WD, Oneto JF, Strait LA, Spoehr HA, Hardin GJ, Milner HW, Smith JH (1944) Chlorellin, an antibacterial substance from Chlorella. Science (Washington):351–352
- 54. Ohta S, Shiomi Y, Kawashima A, Aozasa O, Nakao T, Nagate T, Kitamura K, Miyata H (1995) Antibiotic effect of linolenic acid from Chlorococcum strain HS-101 and Dunaliella primolecta on methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. J Appl Phycol 7(2):121–127
- 55. Pane G, Cacciola G, Giacco E, Mariottini G, Coppo E (2015) Assessment of the antimicrobial activity of algae extracts on bacteria responsible of external otitis. Mar Drugs 13 (10):6440–6452
- 56. Ali HI, Doumandji A (2017) Comparative phytochemical analysis and in vitro antimicrobial activities of the cyanobacterium Spirulina platensis and the green alga Chlorella pyrenoidosa: potential application of bioactive components as an alternative to infectious diseases. Bulletin de l'Institut Scientifique, Rabat, Section Sciences de la Vie 39:41–49
- 57. Navarro F, Forján E, Vázquez M, Toimil A, Montero Z, Ruiz-Domínguez MD, Garbayo I, Castaño MÁ, Vílchez C, Vega JM (2017) Antimicrobial activity of the acidophilic eukaryotic microalga Coccomyxa onubensis. Phycol Res 65(1):38–43
- 58. Lauritano C, Andersen JH, Hansen E, Albrigtsen M, Escalera L, Esposito F, Helland K, Hanssen KØ, Romano G, Ianora A (2016) Bioactivity screening of microalgae for antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, anti-diabetes, and antibacterial activities. Front Mar Sci 3:68
- Viso AC, Pesando D, Baby C (1987) Antibacterial and antifungal properties of some marine diatoms in culture. Bot Mar 30(1):41–46
- 60. Ghasemi Y, Moradian A, Mohagheghzadeh A, Shokravi S, Morowvat MH (2007) Antifungal and antibacterial activity of the microalgae collected from paddy fields of Iran: characterization of antimicrobial activity of *Chroococcus dispersus*. J Biol Sci 7:904–910
- Bhagavathy S, Sumathi P, Bell IJ (2011) Green algae Chlorococcum humicola-a new source of bioactive compounds with antimicrobial activity. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed 1(1):S1–S7

- 62. Mudimu O, Rybalka N, Bauersachs T, Born J, Friedl T, Schulz R (2014) Biotechnological screening of microalgal and cyanobacterial strains for biogas production and antibacterial and antifungal effects. Metsbolites 4(2):373–393
- 63. Santoyo S, Rodríguez-Meizoso I, Cifuentes A, Jaime L, Reina GG, Señorans FJ, Ibáñez E (2009) Green processes based on the extraction with pressurized fluids to obtain potent antimicrobials from Haematococcus pluvialis microalgae. LWT-Food Sci Technol 42 (7):1213–1218
- 64. Abedin RM, Taha HM (2008) Antibacterial and antifungal activity of cyanobacteria and green microalgae. Evaluation of medium components by Plackett-Burman design for antimicrobial activity of Spirulina platensis. Global J Biotechnol Biochem 3(1):22–31
- 65. Najdenski HM, Gigova LG, Iliev II, Pilarski PS, Lukavský J, Tsvetkova IV, Ninova MS, Kussovski VK (2013) Antibacterial and antifungal activities of selected microalgae and cyanobacteria. Int J Food Sci Technol 48(7):1533–1540
- 66. Samarakoon KW, Ko JY, Lee JH, Kwon ON, Kim SW, Jeon YJ (2014) Apoptotic anticancer activity of a novel fatty alcohol ester isolated from cultured marine diatom, *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. J Funct Foods 6:231–240
- 67. Sansone C, Braca A, Ercolesi E, Romano G, Palumbo A, Casotti R, Francone M, Ianora A (2014) Diatom-derived polyunsaturated aldehydes activate cell death in human cancer cell lines but not normal cells. PLoS One 9(7):e101220
- Liu J, Sun Z, Gerken H, Liu Z, Jiang Y, Chen F (2014) Chlorella zofingiensis as an alternative microalgal producer of astaxanthin: biology and industrial potential. Mar Drugs 12 (6):3487–3515
- 69. Kim Y, Seo JH, Kim H (2011) β -Carotene and lutein inhibit hydrogen peroxide-induced activation of NF- κ B and IL-8 expression in gastric epithelial AGS cells. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 57(3):216–223
- Davidi L, Shimoni E, Khozin-Goldberg I, Zamir A, Pick U (2014) Origin of β-carotene-rich plastoglobuli in *Dunaliella bardawil*. Plant Physiol 164(4):2139–2156
- 71. Maeda N, Kokai Y, Ohtani S, Sahara H, Kumamoto-Yonezawa Y, Kuriyama I, Hada T, Sato N, Yoshida H, Mizushina Y (2008) Anti-tumor effect of orally administered spinach glycolipid fraction on implanted cancer cells, colon-26, in mice. Lipids 43(8):741
- 72. Hossain Z, Kurihara H, Hosokawa M, Takahashi K (2005) Growth inhibition and induction of differentiation and apoptosis mediated by sodium butyrate in Caco-2 cells with algal glycolipids. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 41(5–6):154–159
- 73. Guzman S, Gato A, Lamela M, Freire-Garabal M, Calleja JM (2003) Anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities of polysaccharide from Chlorella stigmatophora and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Phytother Res 17(6):665–670
- 74. Nomoto K, Yokokura T, Satoh H, Mutai M (1983) Antitumor activity of chlorella extract, PCM-4, by oral administration. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho 10(3):781–785
- 75. Sadovskaya I, Souissi A, Souissi S, Grard T, Lencel P, Greene CM, Duin S, Dmitrenok PS, Chizhov AO, Shashkov AS, Usov AI (2014) Chemical structure and biological activity of a highly branched (1 \rightarrow 3, 1 \rightarrow 6)- β -d-glucan from Isochrysis galbana. Carbohydr Polym 111:139–148
- 76. Matsui MS, Muizzuddin N, Arad S, Marenus K (2003) Sulfated polysaccharides from red microalgae have antiinflammatory properties in vitro and in vivo. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 104(1):13–22
- 77. Bae SY, Yim JH, Lee HK, Pyo S (2006) Activation of murine peritoneal macrophages by sulfated exopolysaccharide from marine microalga Gyrodinium impudicum (strain KG03): involvement of the NF-κB and JNK pathway. Int Immunopharmacol 6(3):473–484
- 78. Challouf R, Trabelsi L, Ben Dhieb R, El Abed O, Yahia A, Ghozzi K, Ben Ammar J, Omran H, Ben OH (2011) Evaluation of cytotoxicity and biological activities in extracellular polysaccharides released by cyanobacterium Arthrospira platensis. Braz Arch Biol Technol 54(4):831–838
- Romay CH, Gonzalez R, Ledon N, Remirez D, Rimbau V (2003) C-phycocyanin: a biliprotein with antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects. Curr Protein Pept Sci 4 (3):207–216

- Zheng LH, Wang YJ, Sheng J, Wang F, Zheng Y, Lin XK, Sun M (2011) Antitumor peptides from marine organisms. Mar Drugs 9(10):1840–1859
- Palanisamy S, Vinosha M, Manikandakrishnan M, Anjali R, Rajasekar P, Marudhupandi T, Manikandan R, Vaseeharan B, Prabhu NM (2018) Investigation of antioxidant and anticancer potential of fucoidan from *Sargassum polycystum*. Int J Biol Macromol 116:151–161
- Calder PC (2006) N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. Am J Clin Nutr 83(6):1505S–1519S
- Esser N, Paquot N, Scheen AJ (2015) Anti-inflammatory agents to treat or prevent type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 24 (3):283–307
- 84. Sostres C, Gargallo CJ, Arroyo MT, Lanas A (2010) Adverse effects of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs, aspirin and coxibs) on upper gastrointestinal tract. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 24(2):121–132
- Di Rosanna P, Salvatore C (2012) Reactive oxygen species, inflammation, and lung diseases. Curr Pharm Des 18(26):3889–3900
- Hulsmans M, Van Dooren E, Holvoet P (2012) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and risk of atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep 14(3):264–276
- Peng J, Yuan JP, Wu CF, Wang JH (2011) Fucoxanthin, a marine carotenoid present in brown seaweeds and diatoms: metabolism and bioactivities relevant to human health. Mar Drugs 9 (10):1806–1828
- Blunt JW, Copp BR, Keyzers RA, Munro MH, Prinsep MR (2015) Marine natural products. Nat Prod Rep 32(2):116–211
- Ramos AA, Polle J, Tran D, Cushman JC, Jin ES, Varela JC (2011) The unicellular green alga Dunaliella salina Teod. As a model for abiotic stress tolerance: genetic advances and future perspectives. Algae 26(1):3–20
- 90. Pasquet V, Morisset P, Ihammouine S, Chepied A, Aumailley L, Berard JB, Serive B, Kaas R, Lanneluc I, Thiery V, Lafferriere M (2011) Antiproliferative activity of violaxanthin isolated from bioguided fractionation of Dunaliella tertiolecta extracts. Mar Drugs 9(5):819–831
- Singh D, Puri M, Wilkens S, Mathur AS, Tuli DK, Barrow CJ (2013) Characterization of a new zeaxanthin producing strain of *Chlorella saccharophila* isolated from New Zealand marine waters. Bioresour Technol 143:308–314
- 92. Mobraten K, Haug TM, Kleiveland CR, Lea T (2013) Omega-3 and omega-6 PUFAs induce the same GPR120-mediated signalling events, but with different kinetics and intensity in Caco-2 cells. Lipids Health Dis 12(1):101
- 93. Pokorný J (1991) Natural antioxidants for food use. Trends Food Sci Technol 2:223-227
- Maadane A, Merghoub N, Ainane T, El Arroussi H, Benhima R, Amzazi S, Bakri Y, Wahby I (2015) Antioxidant activity of some Moroccan marine microalgae: Pufa profiles, carotenoids and phenolic content. J Biotechnol 215:13–19
- 95. Fernando IP, Sanjeewa KK, Samarakoon KW, Lee WW, Kim HS, Kim EA, Gunasekara UK, Abeytunga DT, Nanayakkara C, de Silva ED, Lee HS (2017) FTIR characterization and antioxidant activity of water soluble crude polysaccharides of Sri Lankan marine algae. Algae 32(1):75–86
- 96. Agregán R, Munekata P, Franco D, Carballo J, Barba F, Lorenzo J (2018) Antioxidant potential of extracts obtained from macro-(Ascophyllum nodosum, Fucus vesiculosus and Bifurcaria bifurcata) and micro-algae (Chlorella vulgaris and Spirulina platensis) assisted by ultrasound. Medicine 5(2):33
- 97. Safafar H, Van Wagenen J, Møller P, Jacobsen C (2015) Carotenoids, phenolic compounds and tocopherols contribute to the antioxidative properties of some microalgae species grown on industrial wastewater. Mar Drugs 13(12):7339–7356

Supercritical Water Gasification (SCWG) Technology for Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Treatment



A. A. Gado, Anbazhagi Muthukumar, Muthukumar Muthuchamy, and Terrell M. Thompson

Contents

1	Intro	duction	178	
	1.1	Background and Context	179	
2	Conv	ventional Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Treatment Technologies	182	
3	Advanced Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Treatment Technologies			
	3.1	Plasma Arc	183	
	3.2	Autoclaving	185	
	3.3	Microwave Technology	187	
	3.4	Biorefinery (Bioconversion)	188	
4	Advanced Thermal Treatment (Hydrothermal Treatment of Municipal Solid Wastes)			
	4.1	Hydrothermal Technology	190	
	4.2	The Basic Principle of Supercritical Water	191	
	4.3	Supercritical Water Gasification of Biomass (SCWG)	192	
	4.4	Syngas Treatment Chain	195	
	4.5	Advantages of Supercritical Water Gasification of Biomass (SCWG)	196	
5	Cond	clusion	197	
Re	ference	ces	197	

A. Muthukumar (🖂) and M. Muthuchamy

Department of Environmental Science, School of Earth Science Systems, Central University of Kerala Kasaragod, Periye, Kerala, India e-mail: sanbazhagi@gmail.com

T. M. Thompson

Department of Chemical and Materials Engineering, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 177–200, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_582, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 8 July 2020 177

A. A. Gado

Department of Environmental Science, School of Earth Science Systems, Central University of Kerala Kasaragod, Periye, Kerala, India

Department of Physics, Kebbi State University of Science and Technology, Aliero, Kebbi, Nigeria

Abstract This chapter highlighted conventional and advanced waste treatment technologies in details, for sustainable wastes management. The chapter also reviewed Supercritical Water Biomass Gasification (SCWBG) from Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) at the temperature and pressure of 700°C and 350 bar, respectively. The findings show that gasification of organics from MSW using Supercritical Water Gasification (SCWG) technology can be a potential solution to the increasing biodegradables in the municipal solid wastes. However, with the ability of the system to allow the complete gasification of biomass below the working temperatures, this makes it even more attractive technology for sustainable wastes to wealth. With the wide varieties of sustainable fuels and chemicals that can be generated in the process, Supercritical Water Gasification (SCWG) technology can be a candid sustainable and economical energy solution for power generation and transport renewable fuel for automobiles (methane and hydrogen gas).

Keywords Biomass, Municipal solid wastes, Supercritical water gasification, Waste treatment technologies, Waste to energy

1 Introduction

The global energy sector is making efforts in turning waste to wealth especially in consideration of the global energy security and its allusion to global warming and climate change. In recent years, the municipal solid waste disposed of in most the developed, developing and underdeveloped countries has become a major challenge to the environment [1–3]. The global environmental problems related to municipal solid wastes (MSW) make it necessary for the discovery of the methods that can be used in converting waste to wealth. The traditional method of MSW disposal (Landfill) if not controlled properly is not only harmful and misappropriating the land for human but also contributes to the deteriorating of the climate, human health and great agent in the emission of greenhouse gases [4].

The composition of MSW varies from one country to another and from time to time. However, the most important aspect is that the per capita MSW generation defends on the economy of a giving country. The global composition of municipal solid waste (MSW) is mainly organic matters comprising about 51%, recyclables 17.5% and the rest including inert waste having 31% of the proportion. This heterogeneous nature of MSW makes it a very good alternative source of fuel for the global energy sector. The energy derived from MSW is already classified as a renewable source of energy because, if the waste is not treated, it will be dangerous to the fauna and flora, as well as a considerable source of greenhouse gases.

At present, much has not been done in developing and underdeveloped countries on waste management and disposal. Even waste to energy (WtE), which is among the most common technologies that are well developed and established across the globe, is facing many issues ranging from policy uncertainties, economic barriers, technical difficulties and logistical challenges in the developing and underdeveloped countries. The benefit of WtE in developing countries cannot be overemphasised, despite all the challenges highlighted that are all not clearly defined or understood in the country. Given that the average heating value of municipal solid waste (MSW) is approximately 10 MJ/kg, the prospects of utilising MSW as a source of energy cannot be overemphasised. Recent studies highlighted that, in the United States, incineration with energy recovery (WtE) from MSW alone reduces the percentage MSW to about 75% of its annual increase, living only the ash as an issue. However, huge progress has been reported in utilising this form of ash for different applications ranging from use as constituent in building and in road constructions [5, 6].

Although several MSW treatment technologies are employed in waste management and disposal across the globe, there is no single treatment technology that can be used to solve all the problems associated with the MSW. This chapter gives a comprehensive and detailed highlight of the conventional and advanced waste treatment technologies for sustainable wastes management giving more emphasis on hydrothermal waste treatment technology, using supercritical water biomass gasification (SCWBG) for the treatment of organics, from municipal solid waste (MSW) at the temperature and pressure of 700°C and 350 bar, respectively.

Supercritical water gasification (SCWG) seems to be the most promising solution to the increasing percentage of MSW in India. The hydrothermal treatment processes using supercritical water biomass gasification (SCWG) technology can convert the organics from MSW which are mainly biomass (food waste, woods, paper and paperboard, yard trimmings, textiles, etc.) to syngas and other refuse-derived fuels (RDF).

1.1 Background and Context

Effective MSW is the major challenge of most cities with high population across the globe because of the heterogeneous nature of the waste and dependence on the economy of a giving population [7, 8]. However, despite the dependence of waste generation on the economy of the country, one of the greatest advantages is that the per capita waste generation in low and middle-income countries generally constitutes a large proportion of organic wastes as indicated in Fig. 1.

It is clear from the figure that, regardless of the economy of a country, biomass or biodegradable wastes constitute a significant percentage of the generated waste. Unfortunately, even with the waste management hierarchy, in Fig. 2. which is designed to curtail landfilling of biodegradable wastes and other fragments of the MSW, in most countries of the globe including developed countries, a larger percentage of biodegradable wastes in the MSW directly end up in the landfills. It is worth remarking that this is a very alarming issue because the decomposition processes of biodegradable wastes in the landfills always produce methane which is a greenhouse gas. Starting from this viewpoint, one can notice that municipal solid



Fig. 1 Municipal solid wastes composition by the income of countries [9]



Fig. 2 Wastes management triangle (Adapted with permission from: [10])

waste management is a complex field which goes beyond prevention, collection, treatment and disposal of waste; it is about preserving, protecting and improving the quality of the environment and human health, promoting a circular economy and ensuring the efficiency of resources by turning waste to wealth [7].

Figure 2 presents the waste management hierarchy with waste prevention as the most preferable option, to disposal or landfilling as the least favoured option. However, with rapid urbanisation, many countries are facing considerable challenges in the management and treatment of waste. The recent waste generation data in India, the second populous country in the globe, indicates that about 62 million tonnes of municipal solid wastes are generated per annum across the towns and cities of India. Reports also show that only 43 million tonnes of the generated wastes are collected, out of which only 38% is treated. This means, 31 million tonnes of the collected waste is dumped in the landfills, in addition to the 19 million tonnes of the uncollected wastes. Although virtually all Indian municipal authorities provide basic solid waste management (SWM) services, in keeping the major cities clean, however, most of the collected waste by the municipalities unsystematically goes to landfill sites located within or outside the cities [11, 12]. The story is not different in China, the most populous country in the globe.

Wang et al. [13] reported in a recent study that even in rural China the daily per capita waste generation is in the range of 1.07 kg which is comparable to many developed countries such as Japan, 1.08 kg; Czech Republic, 0.72 kg; Romania, 0.9 kg; and Bulgaria, 1.2 kg. Furthermore, not only in rural China, even the urban regions of China are lacking waste management facilities and effective high-quality measures for MSW management and disposal. Although the Chinese government has developed quite a number of initiatives and laws on the prevention and control of environmental pollution by solid wastes, studies revealed that kitchen waste in urban solid waste makes up the highest proportion (at approximately 60%) of the waste stream, but about 91.4% of the generated wastes in China goes to landfills [14].

Even in the European countries, it has been expressed by the European Commission that the EU's economy is currently losing a significant amount of potential secondary raw materials which are found in the waste streams. According to the recent studies, only 43% of the generated municipal waste in the European Union is being recycled, the rest of the generated municipal solid wastes 31% are being landfilled, and 26% of the percentage is incinerated without energy recovery [7]. The problem of MSW in Africa is not different from what has been discussed in other continents of the world. In Nigeria, the most populous country in the African continent, the per capita waste generation in the country is estimated at 0.65-0.95 kg per day which is equivalent to an average of 42 million tonnes of wastes generated annually. This is very alarming because it is more than half of 62 million tonnes of waste generated in sub-Saharan Africa annually. Unfortunately, only 20-30% of the 42 million tonnes of wastes generated annually in Nigeria is collected although 52% of wastes generated are organic wastes which can be used as sources of fuel [15]. Globally, about 71% of MSW is ending up in landfills although it contains, mostly, hazardous substances including some batteries, paints, mercury-containing waste, pharmaceuticals, vehicle maintenance products and many other products. This is so unfortunate and alarming because more than 53% of the landfilled wastes consist of hardboard paper, yard waste, papers and food that are biodegradable by the anaerobic bacteria for the generation important by-products that can be used in diverse applications [16].

Based on the background study presented in this section, it is clear that with the annual municipal solid waste increase in the globe of which biodegradables constituting reasonable percentage, research reconstitution across the globe is required to speed up the development in the municipal solid waste management across all levels. This will help immensely in saving the globe from the dangerous two-degree scenario and tackling the GHG's emissions related to improper waste management. In this chapter, most of the different techniques and technologies involved in the treatment of wastes are highlighted. This can be a key to efficient waste management in many developed, developing and underdeveloped countries across the globe as a way forward towards long-term visions in municipal solid waste management.

2 Conventional Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Treatment Technologies

Conventionally, several methods are used in the treatment and management of waste across the globe, and the widely adopted conventional municipal solid wastes management techniques are highlighted in Fig. 3.

The conventional MSW management technologies include biological treatment (which constitute aerobic and anaerobic digestions), thermal treatments of waste (incineration with energy recovery, pyrolysis, gasification, combined pyrolysis and gasification), mechanical treatment (sorting and separation, mechanical thermal treatment using autoclaving) and landfills (aerobic and anaerobic digestions that can also generate gases which can be used to generate energy in the form of recovery). The heterogeneous nature of MSW is the major driving factor for having several MSW treatments technologies since there is no single treatment technology that can be used to solve the heterogeneous challenges of MSW.

Characterising heterogeneous wastes presents a number of special problems which made it very difficult in achieving maximum waste to wealth implementation in compliance to waste management triangle across the globe. Due to the



Fig. 3 Various conventional MSW treatment processing technologies (Original)

heterogeneous nature of MSW, generation of electricity in the form of incineration with energy recovery turns to be the most promising options that can reduce the challenging issue of the heterogeneous nature of the MSW. Waste to energy (WtE) technology can help immensely in the generation of green energy (heat and electricity). The technology in the form of Energy Recovery Facility (ERF) generates heat by burning MSW in a specially controlled environment; the heat is turned into steam for generation of electricity and heat for large-, medium- and small-scale applications. This technology is widely utilised in different countries, and it is proven to be economical and safer to the environment, though the most challenging issue with this system is the emission control [17, 18].

Although MSW incineration with energy recovery allows maximum treatment of different types of wastes in MSW stream including the plastics wastes which are essentially hydrocarbons with calorific values in the range between 30 and 40 MJ/kg, and food solid wastes which are sustainable and important source for certain industrial chemicals, it worth noting that the impact of incinerating the plastics and other non-biodegradable materials is hazardous to the environment due to the release of more greenhouse gases than landfill. To address this challenging issue, it is, therefore, necessary to develop some advanced waste treatment technologies for sustainable development in the process of turning wastes to wealth.

3 Advanced Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) Treatment Technologies

All the MSW management techniques have advantages as well as some disadvantages when applied in practical cases. This is the reason why a variety of waste treatment technologies are available, but there is no technology thats is optimal solution to the increased MSW all over the globe. This shows that there is a need for integrated development in MSW treatment technologies for achieving a maximum level of waste to wealth conversion from MSW [19]. The quest of achieving maximum reduction of the increased MSW across the globe resulted in the development of advanced MSW treatment technologies. These advanced technologies are developed with the aim of using different treatment methods for achieving maximum reduction of the different types of waste in the municipal solid wastes stream prior to disposal. In this section, the various advanced MSW treatment technologies are highlighted.

3.1 Plasma Arc

The plasma arc is formed when quasineutral gas particles are ionised between two medium of positive and negative particles [20, 21]. The plasma arc operates on



principles similar to an arc welding machine, where an electrical arc is struck between two electrodes. The high-energy arc creates high temperatures as higher as 13,000°C. In the process of MSW treatment using plasma arc technology, the waste materials are fed into the chamber, and the intense heat of the plasma breaks down organic molecules (such as oil, solvents and paint) into their elemental atoms. Since the treatment process is in a carefully controlled environment, these atoms will recombine into harmless gases such as carbon dioxide.

With plasma arc technology, there is no burning or incineration and no formation of ash; the solids components such as glass and metals are melted to form materials, similar to hardened lava, in which toxic metals are encapsulated. Plasma arc technology is generally divided into two major technology types which are plasma torch and plasma arc (or DC) melter.

Plasma torch systems in the plasma touch systems (Fig. 4), an arc is struck between a copper electrode and another electrode of different polarity. This process has high destructive efficiency and is very robust in the treatment of any form of wastes without pretreatment. When using the plasma torch systems for treatment of wastes with organic contents, the organic portion of the waste is usually retained in the stable, leach-resistant slag. However, it is worth noting that the air pollution control in the plasma touch systems is usually larger than the plasma arc systems due to the need for stabilising the touch gas in the system.

Plasma arc systems the plasma arc system depicted in Fig. 5 has a very high destruction efficiency which makes them very robust in the treatment of any type of wastes in the MSW stream with or without pretreatment. The plasma arc system uses carbon electrodes to strike an arc in the bath of molten slag. The high temperature produced by the arc converts the organic contents of the feed wastes into lights organics and other primary elements. In the plasma arc systems, the consumable carbon electrodes are continuously inserted into the chamber, thereby eliminating the needs for shutting down the system for maintenance or electrode replacement. It is worth noting that, the potential of air pollution in the plasma arc systems is low because of the electrical heating in the chamber in the absence of free oxygen.

Fig. 4 Plasma touch



Fig. 5 Plasma arc system (Adapted with permission from: [23])

Furthermore, the combustible gas is cleaned in the off-gas system and is oxidised to CO_2 and H_2O in the bed oxidisers.

The plasma arc technology is receiving attention in the global waste treatment studies as a result of its reduced emission to the atmosphere in comparison to other treatment technologies. The major concern about plasma arc technology is a significant investment cost. However, another issue of chief concern is ensuring that the gaseous emissions are kept to the minimum required values before being released to the atmosphere.

3.2 Autoclaving

Autoclaving is a technology that involves higher pressure sterilisation of the MSW by the use of super steam. This technology cooks the waste, in so doing killing all the bacteria's contained in the waste as well as reducing the moisture content of the wastes [24, 25]. The schematic of the working principle of autoclaving technology is shown in Fig. 4. Autoclaving technology is also another form of mechanical heat treatment (MHT) since it uses thermal and mechanical methods to treat wastes Fig. 6.

Municipal solid waste autoclaving is one of the waste treatment techniques being used to pretreat the recyclable component of the MSW and is often applied to the residual wastes after recycling. The autoclaving system uses a combination of heat, steam, pressure and mechanical rotation for the feed wastes in the chamber. The most common autoclaving systems employed in the treatment of MSW are the steam autoclaves. Steam autoclaves are steel horizontal-type devices that are designed to operate safely under high temperatures and pressures.



Fig. 6 Small-scale autoclave facility (With permission from: [4])

 Table 1
 Typical outputs and aggregates of the autoclaving process

Component	Percentage (%)
Organic fibre	64
Recyclables	17.5
Aggregate	2.5
Other materials suitable for landfill	16
Mixed plastics	9
Glass	4
Steel	3.5
Aluminium	1

In using the autoclaving systems in the treatment of MSW, the wastes may initially be screened for the removal of any large items and in some cases possibly shredded. The wastes components are then sealed in the autoclave chamber that rotates to agitate and mix the wastes. Because of the residence time of the wastes in the chamber and high temperature and pressure, all the bacteria content in the wastes will be destroyed, thereby sterilising all the wastes in the chamber. However, a significant reduction of up to 60% in the volume of the wastes can be achieved with a significant reduction of the moisture content of the wastes.

The cellulose of the organic components of the feed wastes including food, garden wastes, papers, cards and all sorts of organic components in the MSW stream is broken down to mush of fibre also known as floc or fluff. After the autoclaving process, the wastes are usually discharged for treatment using mechanical separation technologies. The typical outputs and aggregates of the autoclaving process are given in Table 1.

It is clear from the table that, the fibre is the main output of the MSW autoclaving process since biodegradables constitute the highest proportion in the MSW stream. Diverse applications are proposed for the recycling and recovering the fibre among

which includes composting, anaerobic digestion and refuse-derived fuel (RDF). The glasses and plastic components are separated for recycling and reuse as aggregates, while the metals are extracted for recycling. The water used in the system is usually trapped and recycled in the process, and the final wastewater is discharged as an effluent stream which removes pollutants from the process. The great advantages of this technology are its ability on the treatment of all form of wastes in the MSW stream, including those that are not recyclables like metals. The technology also enables the reuse option for plastics, as well as sterilising plastic wastes before the recycling. The metals and plastic wastes treated using this technology are always comparable to virgin materials. The autoclaving plants are modular in nature because they are made up of units which can be added or taken away based on changes of the waste stream or volume of the wastes. Huge development is witnessed in using the cellulosic pulps from the treated wastes using this technology in biofuel production.

3.3 Microwave Technology

Microwave technology is becoming widely used in the globe, in the treatment and remediation of environmental problems related to municipal solid waste. Since the first use of this technology in the 1940s by *Percy Spencer*, microwave heating is constantly getting serious attention by different researchers across the globe [26, 27]. In recent years, microwave technology is proven to be an attractive technology for the treatment of municipal solid wastes in addition to many astonishing applications in different areas of human life. Microwave technology operates by delivering direct energy to the microwave absorbing material for complete heating of the material from the outside and inside as shown in Fig. 7. Microwave operates in the region between the electromagnetic spectrum and infrared radiation region. Microwaves are defined as waves having wavelengths ranging from about 1 m to 1 mm, which correspond to frequencies between 300 MHz (1 m) and 300 GHz (1 mm).



Fig. 7 Microwave and conventional heating patterns (With Permission from: [28])

Using microwave technology for the treatment of MSW, the issue of long heating periods energy lost to the environment and thermal gradients are minimised because the materials are heated from outside and inside different from the conventional heating as shown in Fig. 7. For the treatment of biodegradables in the MSW stream, since thermal and non-thermal impacts are created in the materials, this will lead to the rupturing of the crystalline structures of the lignocellulosic materials, thereby enhancing the reactivity of the materials.

The major advantages of using this technology include reducing the volume of wastes, selective heating of the wastes and ability to treat the waste in situ. Recent results on the use of this technology in biodegradable waste treatment show that 1 tonne of waste can produce reasonable barrels of oil, with a reasonable amount of carbon black. The oil generated can be used in the generation of green electricity and many other applications.

3.4 Biorefinery (Bioconversion)

Biorefinery (bioconversion) technology converts organic wastes or biodegradable fraction of the MSW to chemicals using the anaerobic digestion. This technology converts the biodegradables from the MSW to varieties of marketable products that can be used to generate fuels, chemicals, and fibres [29, 30]. The concept of the biorefinery is not different from the conventional refinery process which produces multiple fuels and products from crude oil as starting product. Biorefinery process utilises biomass from the municipal solid wastes for conversion to liquid and gaseous biofuels. Generally, in biorefinery facilities, the organics fractions of the MSW are usually converted into biogas, while the non-organic components are converted into solid refuse fuels (SRF) used in syngas production. Starting from the syngas, the fuel synthesis facilities such as in Fig. 8 will convert the syngas various fuels such as bio-jet fuel, bio-diesel, bio-ethanol, bio-methanol, dimethyl ether, etc. which can be used for various energy applications. It is worth noting that, in the process of syngas production from the SRF, several thermochemical steps are involved at different temperatures ranging from torrefaction, gasification and pyrolysis.

As depicted in Fig. 8, a sustainable biorefinery configuration must produce bio-products in conjunction with bioenergy and biofuels. To maximise the efficiency of the biorefinery process, most of the advanced biorefinery facilities are usually integrated with efficient and flexible biomass feedstock conversion systems which involves a combination of physical, chemical, biochemical, and thermochemical processes for the production of multiple products from the biomass. This technology is recognised as one of the most promising technologies for the effective implementation of modern sustainable energy policies, especially in the transportation sector.

Although biorefinery offers environmental benefits, it is important to consider prevention of biodiversity loss during the conception of a biorefinery by utilising



Fig. 8 Schematics of a generic advanced biorefinery (Adapted with Permission from: [31])

only the biomass components from the MSW or other sources that are not having the potential of causing issues in the food cycle.

4 Advanced Thermal Treatment (Hydrothermal Treatment of Municipal Solid Wastes)

Hydrothermal technology is specifically targeted technology for the treatment of organic wastes in both wet and dry forms, as well as the destruction of hazardous and chemical wastes. The use of hydrothermal technology in the treatment of biodegradable wastes in the MSW is increasing in global literature because it is believed to serve as a reliable solution to the issues related to fossil fuels and their emissions. This technology is believed to be the everlasting solution to the ever-increasing biodegradable wastes in the MSW stream across the globe. The technology is tested and proven to be an alternative solution in tackling the energy shortage and environmental pollution, as well as a potential alternative source of green fuels [32, 33].

4.1 Hydrothermal Technology

The term 'hydrothermal' is used to refer to any heterogeneous reaction in the manifestation of aqueous solvents or mineralisers, under conditions of high temperature and pressure, to dissolve and recrystallise materials that are relatively insoluble at normal conditions. Hydrothermal technology got its first successful commercial application in the extraction of ores in the twentieth century. In this century, hydrothermal technology has found many applications in the branches of science and technology in the production of environmentally safe and green energy, especially in waste biomass treatment [34, 35].

The application of hydrothermal technology in MSW treatment is aimed at solving the problem of organic wastes, which has the highest proportion in the MSW. However, the technology can also be used in the treatment of hazardous wastes, wastes with higher water contents, halogenated wastes and chemical wastes. The various chemistries involved in the treatment of organics using hydrothermal technology are highlighted in Fig. 9.

The hydrothermal technique has become the most popular, garnering interest from scientists and technologists of different disciplines, particularly in the last 15 years. It is worth noting that, despite the fact that this technology has made tremendous progress in all angles of science and technology, there is no unanimity about its definition. As shown in the figure, the hydrothermal technology involves subjecting the organic components of the MSW to the action of water at higher temperature considered as above critical temperature (370°C), and higher pressure is referred to as supercritical [34].



Fig. 9 Hydrothermal processing technologies (Original)



Fig. 10 Pressure-temperature diagram for water (With Permission from: [37])

4.2 The Basic Principle of Supercritical Water

The experiments conducted by Modell and Amin, to convert carbohydrates in supercritical water at Massachusetts in the mid of 1970s, encourage the development of this technology across the global laboratories [36]. The general basics of supercritical water are depicted in Fig. 10. When the pressure and temperature of the water reach a critical point, the supercritical condition is achieved. The pressure and temperature at this level correspond to $Pc \ge 22.1$ MPa and $Tc \ge 374^{\circ}C$. At this point, all the physiochemical characteristics of water such as ion product, viscosity, water density and dielectric properties will be extremely higher. However, this will equally change the chemical properties like dipole moment, pH, polarity, etc. which will make water not only solvent for ionic species but for non-ionic species [38]. The property of water at this point makes it very attractive and environmentally potential reaction medium for organic and inorganic compounds. This draws the attention of the researchers looking for green and environmentally friendly solvents for chemical reactions without pollution to the atmosphere [39].

4.3 Supercritical Water Gasification of Biomass (SCWG)

The global energy crisis is the driving factor for the development of this technology, as hydrogen that can be used as fuel can be produced. In recent years, supercritical water at temperature 374° C and higher pressure of 221 bar is widely employed in converting biomass to liquid and gaseous fuels, which can be detached easily from the reacting phase (i.e. water) by simple cooling to ambient temperature [40].

Understanding the influence of this novel technology on biomass is a difficult task because of the different components available in the biomass structure. However as stated earlier, hydrogen which is crucial for the development of a bio-economy can be produced easily with this technology. Despite the prospect of the hydrothermal technology in hydrogen and other fuel production, the only workable biomass that can be sustainable for this technology is biomass source that avoided any potential competition with food cycle. In this context, the best biomass source that can serve this purpose is the biomass from MSW source.

Almost 90% of the available land biomass structure and cell walls of all terrestrial plants is made up of lignocellulose. Lignocellulosic biomass consists of 40–55% cellulose fibres and 15–35% hemicellulose surrounded in 20–40% of lignin. In the three components of lignocellulosic biomass, i.e. cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin, celluloses and hemicelluloses are polysaccharides of C6 and C5 monomers connected by β -(1–4)-glycosidic linkages. The main compounds in the lignin are polymers of para-hydroxyphenyl (H lignin), guaiacyl (G lignin) and syringyl (S lignin) alcohol as shown in Fig. 11.

Most of the cellulose in biomass is crystalline, although a small portion is amorphous. The crystalline cellulose is built up by 5,000–15,000 glucose units β -1,4 glycosidic and hydrogen bonds, while the amorphous hemicellulose consists of branched C5- and C6-sugars (xylose, manose, arabinose, glucose and galactose) linked by β -1,4 glycosidic bonds with a polymerisation degree of 100–1,000. Lignin is composed of p-hydroxy-propyl-benzene structures, namely, p-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol and sinapyl alcohol, connected by ether and C–C bonds to build a three-dimensional network, although the proportion of units in lignin varies from



Fig. 11 Lignocellulose structure and constituents (With Permission from: [41])

biomass species to species. It is very clear that biomass consists of different components, and understanding the influence of the components during the gasification process is quite a complex task. Another complex issue in utilising this technology in the treatment of biomass from MSW is the higher water content. In this section, VERENA pilot reactor, a down flow reactor depicted in Fig. 12, is reviewed to explained the supercritical water gasification of biomass from the MSW.

The VERENA pilot reactor depicted in Fig. 12 has a total throughput of 100 kg/h (max. 20% dry biomass) and is designed to operate at a pressure of 35 MPa at a maximum temperature of 700°C. The plant is operated usually at a flow rate of 100 kg/h at a maximal reaction temperature of 660° C at a pressure of 28 MPa.

4.3.1 Feeds System

The biomass contained in the MSW constitutes different types of organics in both wet and dry forms. As highlighted, biomass contains cellulose, lignin and



Fig. 12 The basic flow of supercritical gasification process (Adapted with permission from: [42])

hemicellulose. The cellulose and hemicellulose are carbohydrates types, while lignin contains aromatic derivatives, which when hydrolysed, products such as phenol and other carbohydrates derivatives are produced. The feeds system of the reactor contains enhanced setups, designed and developed to handle the common organics found in MSW. As part of the handling methods, the biomass size is reduced to a suitable size for the plant using the inbuilt cutting mill. The most common available reactors are designed to operate at a capacity of 100 kg/h, with a maximum of 20% dry biomass, at 350 bar and 700°C operating pressure and temperature, respectively. This means, it is enhanced to handle a high percentage of wet biomass, which are the most challenging components of MSW. The feed system of the reactor is dosed into the reaction chamber by a mass flow controlled, high-pressure metering pump serving as a heat exchanger.

4.3.2 Reaction System

As shown in the diagram, the VERENA pilot reactor depicted in Fig. 12 is a down flow reactor. The vessel in the lower part of the reactor takes the mixture from down through the head of the reactor and to the heat exchanger. The VERENA pilot reactor is generally a different supercritical reactor in the sense that heterogamous catalysts are not required for the production of gases. The system utilises the brine produced from biomass as a catalyst for the system. This makes it a promising MSW biomass treatment technology, as it can handle even biomass containing chlorine, sulphur, etc. which are the major challenges of other technologies [42].

The process of heating the biomass moderately to critical temperature helps in preventing the precipitation of inorganic salts in the heat exchanger. However, since the heating of the biomass to the working temperature takes place in the downstream part of the reactor, the biomass wastes are then mixed with hot stream water and the salt transported downward by gravitational action. The excess salt produced from the process is then removed by the brine removal system. A typical overall reaction for glucose taking place in the process can be written as:

$$2C_6H_{12}O_6 + 7H_2O \rightarrow 9CO_2 + 2CH_4 + CO + 15H_2$$

The end gases depend on the working temperature of the system. Based on the reaction pathway, three main pathways for the production of gases are highlighted which are:

- For substitute natural gas production, CO has to be minimised.
- For hydrogen production, H₂ has to be maximised.
- Synthesis gas production requires CH₄ to be minimised.

4.3.3 Separation System

At the supercritical working conditions, the gases are soluble in the working supercritical water and will leave the reactor and passes to the heat exchanger and cooler. After cooling, the gases are separated from the water phase which is equipped with CO_2 scrubber. The gasses separated are then stored in the storage containers for further treatments.

Figure 13 depicts the composition of the product gases. As shown in the figure, a significant percentage of important gases can be generated using this technology. However, it is worth noting that the composition of the product gases depends on the choice end gases as identified earlier.

4.4 Syngas Treatment Chain

After treatment, different products are obtained among which includes chemicals, diesel, coal, petcoke, natural gas and naphtha, methanol, dimethyl ether (DME, also known as wood ether), ammonia, Fischer-Tropsch liquid (renewable transportation fuels like Fischer-Tropsch diesel), etc. The treatment chain of the synthesis gas is shown in Fig. 14.

The different products from the process can be classified according to their uses as follows:

- Hydrogen Hydrogen can be used in electricity generation in the form of fuel cells, as well as transportation fuel. Hydrogen technology is already well developed across the global transportation sector.
- Steam The steam generated in the process can also be used to drive turbines for electricity generation.



Fig. 13 Composition of product gases (With permission from: [42])



Fig. 14 Synthesis gas treatment schematics (Original)

- Carbon monoxide Carbon monoxide is used in several chemical industries as feedstock for different applications and also as fuel.
- Carbon dioxide Since the process is in control conditions and environment, the carbon dioxide can be easily captured for injection into the sequestration wells or for other applications.

4.5 Advantages of Supercritical Water Gasification of Biomass (SCWG)

The advantages of supercritical water gasification of biomass contained in municipal solid wastes cannot be overemphasised. The advantages of using this novel technology in MSW management include:

- This method requires no drying of wet biomass. This means the cost and the energy needed for MSW moisture evaporation can be avoided. In addition, another interesting feature of using this technology is that the water contained in the biomass is another important parameter for additional hydrogen formation in the system.
- CO₂ is separated in the easiest possible way because CO₂ is much more soluble in water at high pressure and ambient temperature than CH₄ and H₂.
- In other reactors, salts or ash needs to be added to achieve low CO. However, this configuration saves the resources as it used the salt in the biomass for these reasons.
- The burnable product gas is gained at high pressure, and further compression does not consume much energy.

5 Conclusion

There is a serious need for curtailing the ever-increasing biodegradables in the global MSW using more viable and environmentally friendly techniques. This chapter highlighted conventional and advanced waste treatment technologies in details for sustainable waste management. The chapter embarks on more detailed and rigorous consideration of the fundamental principle of advanced thermal treatment using hydrothermal technology for gasification of organics in municipal solid wastes and methods involve in the supercritical water gasification (SCWG) process.

It is concluded that the recent struggle and efforts towards finding clean resources from MSW for sustainable development can be achieved with this technology. The technology can serve as a potential solution to fossil fuel consumption in the energy sector (electricity, heat and transportation). Meanwhile, with the wide varieties of sustainable fuels that can be generated from this technology, such as hydrogen (as automobile fuel), methane (for sustainable fuels and electricity generation), dimethyl ether (for blending with diesel), petcoke, natural gas and naphtha, methanol, etc., this technology can surely lead to zero carbon emission to the environment and hence help in building a greater sustainable environment.

References

- 1. Cheng H, Hu Y (2010) Municipal solid waste (MSW) as a renewable source of energy: current and future practices in China. Bioresour Technol 101(11):3816–3824
- Kumar A, Sharma MP (2014) Estimation of GHG emission and energy recovery potential from MSW landfill sites. Sustain Energy Tech Assess 5:50–61
- Muthuramana M, Namiokaa T, Yoshikawab K (2010) A comparison of co- combustion characteristics of coal with wood and hydrothermally treated municipal solid waste. Bioresour Technol 101:2477–2482

- 4. Lu L, Namioka T, Yoshikawa K (2011) Effects of hydrothermal treatment on characteristics and combustion behaviours of municipal solid wastes. Appl Energy 88:3659–3664
- Corinaldesi V, Tittarelli F, Coppola L, Moriconi G (2001) Feasibility and feasability and performance of recycled aggregate in concrete containing fly ash for sustainable buildings. Spec Publ 202:161–180
- Ferreira C, Ribeiro A, Ottosen L (2003) Possible applications for municipal solid waste fly ash. J Hazard Mater 96(2–3):201–216
- Malinauskaite J, Jouhara H, Czajczyńskab D, Stanchev P, Katsou E, Rostkowski P, Thorne RJ, Colón J, Ponsá S, Al-Mansour F, Anguilano L, Krzyżyńska R, López IC, Vlasopoulos A, Spencer N (2017) Municipal solid waste management and waste-to-energy in the context of a circular economy and energy recycling in Europe. Energy 141(15):2013–2044
- Tanmoy K, Bhagat RM, Bhattacharyya P (2012) Municipal solid waste generation, composition, and management: the world scenario. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 42(15):1509–1630
- 9. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2012) Shanghai manual: a guide for sustainable Urban development in the 21st century. [Online]. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?page=view&type=400&nr=633&menu=35. Accessed 18 Dec 2018
- Ferrari K, Gamberini R, Rimini B (2016) The waste hierarchy: a strategic, tactical and operational approach for developing countries. The case study of Mozambique. Int J Sustain Dev Plan 11(5):759–770
- Gupta N, Yadav KK, Kumar V (2015) A review on current status of municipal solid waste management in India. J Environ Sci 37:206–217
- Talyan V, Dahiya RP, Sreekrishnan TR (2008) State of municipal solid waste management in Delhi, the capital of India. Waste Manag 28(7):1276–1287
- Wang A, Zhang L, Shi Y, Rozelle S, Osborn A, Yang M (2017) Rural solid waste management in china: status, problems and challenges. Sustainability 9(506):1–18
- Zhang DQ, Tan SK, Gersberg RM (2010) Municipal solid waste management in China: status, problems and challenges. J Environ Manage 91(8):1623–1633
- Ike CC, Ezeibe CC, Anijiofor SC, Nik Daud NN (2018) Solid waste management in Nigeria: problems, prospects, and policies. J Solid Waste Technol Manag 44(2):163–170
- Hussein IA-S, Mansour MSM (2018) Solid waste issue: sources, composition, disposal, recycling, and valorization. Egypt J Pet 27:1275–1290
- Bourtsalas TAC, Seo Y, M TA, Seo Y-C (2019) The status of waste management and waste to energy for district heating in South Korea. Waste Manag 85:304–316
- Luke M, Jutidamrongphan W, Techato K-a (2018) The evolution of waste- to-energy incineration: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 91:812–821
- Zaman A (2010) Comparative study of municipal solid waste treatment technologies using life cycle assessment method. Int J Environ Sci Technol 7(2):225–234
- Byun Y, Cho M, Hwang S-M, Chung J (2012) Thermal plasma gasification of municipal solid waste (MSW). In: Yongseung Y (ed) Gasification for practical applications. IntechOpen, Rijeka. 10.5772/48537. https://www.intechopen.com/books/gasification-for-practical-applica tions/thermal-plasma-gasification-of-municipal-solid-waste-msw-
- Ojha A, Reuben AC, Sharma D (2012) Solid waste management in developing countries through plasma arc gasification–an alternative approach. APCBEE Procedia 1:193–198
- 22. Strickland J (2007) How plasma converters work. https://science.howstuffworks.com/environ mental/energy/plasma-converter1.htm. Accessed 8 Dec 2018
- Zafar S (2019) Gasification of municipal wastes. Gasification of municipal wastes. https://www. bioenergyconsult.com/gasification-municipal-wastes/. Accessed 7 Feb 2019
- Friends of the Earth (2008) Autoclaving. [Online]. http://www.foe.co.uk/sites/default/files/ downloads/autoclaving.pdf. Accessed 20 Dec 2018
- 25. Kamaruddin MA, Yusoff MS, Ibrahim N, Zawawi MH (2017) Resource recovery from municipal solid waste by mechanical heat treatment: an opportunity. In: Advanced materials engineering and technology V, AIP conference proceedings, vol 1835. 020031-1-020031-5

- Motasemi F, Afzal MT (2013) A review on the microwave-assisted pyrolysis technique. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 28:317–330
- Zimmermann K (2017) Microwave as an emerging technology for the treatment of biohazardous waste: a mini-review. Waste Manag Res 35(5):471–479
- Arshad H, Sulaiman SA, Hussain Z, Naz Y, Basrawi F (2017) Microwave assisted pyrolysis of plastic waste for production of fuels: a review. In: MATEC Web of conferences, vol 131, p 02005
- Beacon Wales (2019) The biorefining opportunities in Wales: from plants to products. [Online]. http://beaconwales.org/uploads/resources/biorefining-opportunities-in-wales.pdf. Accessed 18 Mar 2019
- 30. Vitor PP, Secchi AR, Melo PA (2018) Preliminary design of a municipal solid waste biorefinery for environmentally friendly NH3 production. Ind Eng Chem Res 57(45):15437–15449
- Brown TR, Thilakaratne R, Guiping Hu RBC (2013) Regional differences in the economic feasibility of advanced biorefineries: fast pyrolysis and hydro processing. Energy Policy 57:234–243
- 32. Guo Y, Wang SZ, Xu DH, Gong YM, Ma HH, Tang XY (2010) Review of catalytic supercritical water gasification for hydrogen production from biomass. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:334–343
- 33. Hwang IH, Aoyama H, Matsuto T, Nakagishi T, Matsuo T (2012) Recovery of solid fuel from municipal solid waste by hydrothermal treatment using subcritical water. Waste Manag 32 (3):410–416
- 34. Byrappa K, Yoshimura M (2001) Handbook of hydrothermal technology a technology for crystal growth and materials processing. William Andrew, LLC Norwich. http://www.coema. org.cn/bbs/uploadfile/2009-1/200911210302664295.pdf. [Online]. Accessed 24 Dec 2013
- Maša KH, Kravanja G, Knez Ž (2016) Hydrothermal treatment of biomass for energy and chemicals. Energy 116(2):1312–1322
- 36. Schmieder H, Abeln J (1999) Supercritical water oxidation: state of the art, Chem Eng Technol 22(11):903–908
- 37. Pioro I, Mokry S (2011) Thermophysical properties at critical and supercritical pressures. In: Belmiloudi A (ed) Heat transfer – theoretical analysis, experimental investigations and industrial systems. InTech, Rijeka. ISBN: 978-953-307-226-5. http://www.intechopen. com/books/heat-transfer-theoreticalanalysis-experimental-investigations-and-industrial-systems/ thermophysical-properties-at-critical-andsupercritical-pressures
- Brunner G (2009) Review: near critical and supercritical water. Part I hydrolytic and hydrothermal processes. J Supercrit Fluids 47:373–381
- 39. Phillip ES (1999) Organic chemical reactions in supercritical water. Chem Rev 99:603-621
- Catalina RC, Kruse A (2018) Supercritical water gasification of biomass for hydrogen production – review. J Supercrit Fluids 133(2):573–590
- 41. Sadhukhan J, Martinez-Hernandez E, Murphy RJ, Ng DKS, Hassim MH, Ng KS, Kin WY, Jaye IFM, Leung MY, Hang P, Andiappan V (2018) Role of bioenergy, biorefinery and bioeconomy in sustainable development: strategic pathways for Malaysia. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 81 (2):1966–1987
- 42. Boukis N, Galla U, Müller H, Dinjus E (2007) Biomass gasification in supercritical water. Experimental progress achieved with the VERENA pilot plant. In: 15th European biomass conference & exhibition, pp 1013–1016

Hydrothermal Conversion of Biomass into Fuel and Fine Chemicals



Chitra Devi Venkatachalam, Mothil Sengottian, and Sathish Raam Ravichandran

Contents

1	Intro	duction	202		
2	Hydrothermal Conversion				
	2.1	Hydrothermal Carbonization	206		
	2.2	Hydrothermal Liquefaction	206		
	2.3	2.3 Hydrothermal Gasification			
	2.4	Conversion Chemistry	207		
3	Hydrothermal Conversion Process Conditions				
	3.1	Effect of Temperature	210		
	3.2	Effect of Hydrothermal Media	213		
	3.3	Effect of Biomass to Solvent Ratio	213		
	3.4	Effect of Catalyst	215		
4	Biomass to Fuel				
5	Biomass to Fine Chemicals				
6	Conclusion				
Re	References 22				

Abstract Hydrothermal conversion is an important thermochemical conversion technique that is used to convert waste biomass into valuable products or biofuel. The process is usually performed in the presence of water at high temperature and high pressures. The biomass is depolymerized to form three phases such as biocrude, biogas, and biocarbon into small components in water. Based on the process conditions (temperature, pressure, catalyst, and time), the yield of the phases varies accordingly. Comparing to other thermochemical conversion techniques like combustion, pyrolysis, and gasification, the hydrothermal conversion is highly appropriate for handling biomass with high moisture content. According to the physicochemical properties of water, the process can be classified as hydrothermal

C. D. Venkatachalam (⊠), M. Sengottian, and S. R. Ravichandran Kongu Engineering College, Erode, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: erchitrasuresh@gmail.com

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 201–224, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_583, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 8 July 2020

carbonization, hydrothermal liquefaction (at subcritical conditions *T*, 250–374°C, and *P*, 4–22 MPa), and hydrothermal gasification (at supercritical conditions T > 374°C and P > 22 MPa). There has been significant research reported on the hydrothermal conversion of lignocellulosic biomasses, algal biomasses, and also coutilization of these two with other waste materials. The interaction of water with the biomass results in formation of various chemicals like acids, alcohols, cyclic ketones, phenols, and methoxyphenols and more condensed structures like naph-thols and benzofurans. This chapter focuses on the influence of the process parameters and types of biomass as not only an energy source but also as a viable source for value-added chemicals is discussed.

Keywords Biocrude, Biomass, Fine chemicals, Hydrothermal conversion

1 Introduction

Energy Alternatives India (EAI) estimates 450-500 million tons of biomass is produced from various sources in that 31.2% of it is highly utilized for production of bioenergy [1]. Bioenergy is one of the key renewable resources taken from different sources that is awfully heterogeneous. Bioenergy is the most suitable form of alternate energy that is derived from biological substances rich in organic substance - biomasses. For each generation of feedstock, the compositions vary broadly and are tedious to classify as most biomasses are wastes of various biochemical processes and are heterogeneous. The first-generation feedstocks are edible crops like sugarcane, palm oil, and rapeseed that were used for thermochemical conversion [2], whereas second-generation feedstocks are nonedible crops of lignocellulosic biomass like wood, straw, etc., used to avoid the shortage of food compared to first-generation feedstock [3]. In both generations, the plants or crops fix carbon through photosynthesis in the form of carbohydrates. When processed, they leave out carbon dioxide (CO_2) , and thus the vent gas can be recycled by other plant. In the past few years, the third-generation feedstocks, i.e., algal biomasses, emerges loudly and attract the researchers than the first- and second-generation feedstocks [4]. They can be broadly classified into microalgae and macroalgae based on its size, and like plants, algae store energy in the form of carbon-rich lipids through photosynthesis.

In a crude point, the various classifications of biomass based on their primary source are given in Table 1.

The two major categories of biomass that are going to be discussed are lignocellulosic and algal biomass. The lignocellulosic plants belong to the division Spermatophyta of the subkingdom Phanerogame in the kingdom Plantae where the

Source	Туре	Example		
Forest	Forestry plantations from natural forests and woodlands	Wooden blocks, logs and sticks		
	Forestry by-products	Wood chips; tree branches from thinning; bark		
Agricultural wastes	Plants and agricultural residue	Cane trash; stover, straw, hay from small grains; cobs (corn, maize); stalk (cotton, jute, hemp, flax, kenaf); shells (almond, pistachio, walnut, pecan, macadamia, Brazil nut, hazelnut, peanut, olive); pith(coconut, palm, date, peach, <i>Sabal</i>); seed burs, pods, leaves, and roots		
	Shrubs and herbaceous green residue	Garden wastes, shrubs, creepers, reeds, grasses (switch, canary, and Coastal Bermuda)		
	Livestock waste	Animal waste (cattle, goat, sheep, pigs) and poultry		
	Others	Weeds and aquatic plants		
Algae	Fresh water and marine	Green algae (Chlorophyceae, Charophyceae, Micromonadophyceae, Pleurastrophyceae); brown algae (Phaeophyceae); dinoflagellates (Dinophyceae); diatoms (Cryptophyceae); red algae (Rhodellophyceae, Compsopogonophyceae); euglenoids (Euglenophyceae)		
Industry	Wood and lumber industry residues	Waste wood residue from timber mills and saw mills (barks, chips, offcuts, and sawdust);		
	Food industry residues	Sugarcane bagasse; starch residue (potatoes, yam, cassava, sugar beet, tapioca, sweet sorghum); fruit peels; residues such as husks, hulls, and shells (barley, cereal, rice, wheat, maize, rye, and oil seeds like cottonseed, linseed, sunflower, rape- seed, etc.)		
	Meat processing industry waste	Poultry houses and slaughterhouse wastes, wastes from dairies and fisheries		
	Others	Winery wastes, distillery ethanolic wastes, paper industry wastes such as pulp, black liquor, and cellulosic sludge		
Domestic	Organic waste	Food waste materials, kitchen-generated vegeta- ble wastes and used cooking oil; sewage sludge		
	Municipal waste	Food waste, plastics, paper, rubber, leather, wood, cardboard, cloth rags, and inerts		

Table 1 Biomass classification based on the source

algae belong to the division Thallophyta of the subkingdom Cryptogamae in the kingdom Plantae. There are major differences in the structure and composition of both biomasses. For a terrestrial lignocellulosic plant, the cell wall is made of uniformly arranged layers of cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, and pectin [5]. It also contains smaller amounts of proteins, soluble extractives, sugars, nitrogenous amino compounds, resins, waxes, oils, chlorophyll, and ash [6]. While the main

composition of algae is proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids, their percentage might vary even in a single alga depending upon the conditions of growth and age of the culture, and there are some algal species like *Coleochaete thallus* which even contains lignin as well in smaller percentages [7].

Cellulose is a polymer of D-glucose subunits linked by α -(1,4)-glycosidic bonds throughout its length that forms the organized fibrous linear structure. These long fibrous polymeric chains are packed into bundles of microfibrils by hydrogen bonds and weak van der Waals bonds. These microfibrils are concealed by hemicelluloses and lignin, thereby adding additional strength to the cell wall. The hemicellulose is a heteropolymer made of short lateral chains and branches of sugars and polysaccharides linked by α -(1,4)-glycosidic bonds like cellulose and occasionally by α -(1,3)glycosidic bonds. Xylose is the major sugar component, and it also includes arabinose, rhamnose, glucose, galactose, mannose, and other uronic acids like 4-Omethylglucuronic and D-glucuronic, and D-galacturonic acids [8]. Lignin has a complex cross-linked polymeric structure with large molecular weight which mainly constitutes coniferyl alcohol, p-coumaryl alcohol, and sinapyl phenyl propionic alcohols as monomers which are linked together by alkyl-alkyl, alkyl-aryl, and aryl-aryl ether bonds [9]. Extractives include some organic compounds like alkaloids, phenolics, glycosides, saponins, terpenes, pectins, waxes, gums, mucilages, resins, and oils. They act as plant's energy storage units and also as a defense against insects and microbes that take plants as food. They also contribute to the wood properties such as color, odor, and decay resistance. Ash is the inorganic final residue that remains after complete combustion of the biomass at a high temperature [10]. Proteins are made of one or more peptide chains with various percentages of amino acids, namely, lysine, cysteine, methionine, and tyrosine folded together into a solid or fibrous form. They act as the means of nitrogen storage for the algal cells which decreases as it grows with age [11]. Carbohydrates consist of starches and sugars that are formed as a result of energy absorbed by the chloroplasts and reduction of carbon dioxide into 3-phosphoglycerate in the presence of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase. They act as the structural part of the algal cell wall and provide energy needed for metabolism under dark conditions [12]. Lipids are long carbon chain molecules with carbon numbers 16-24 that consist of polar and neutral constituents of fatty esters, fatty acids, hydrocarbons, and triglycerides. They are formed in the inter-thylakoidal space of the chloroplast and stored inside the cytoplasm which serves as a structural component of the cell membrane. The increased lipid content in algae decreases the specific gravity, making the cells buoyant [13].

The chemical composition of the biomass varies from one plant species to another. The lignocellulosic and algal biomass compositions with their constituents of some of the feedstock are given in Tables 2 and 3, respectively.

The chemical energy stored in the biomass can be converted into energy and useful products by numerous ways. The two frequently and majorly used pathways are (a) thermochemical processes and (b) biochemical processes. Thermal conversion processes include combustion, gasification, pyrolysis, carbonization, and hydrothermal conversion techniques, while biochemical processes include anaerobic digestion, fermentation, transesterification, and biohydrogen production. Though

		Constituents (wt% in dry basis)		
Category	Feedstock	Cellulose	Hemicellulose	Lignin
Woody biomass	Pine wood	45.3	22.5	26.8
	Oak wood	38.1	23	32
	Spruce wood	45.6	20	28.2
Agricultural residue	Rice straw	41.1	23.8	19.5
	Common reed	43.3	29.6	27.1
	Corncob	38.8	33	13.1
	Cotton cocoon shell	32.6	10.2	48.7

Table 2 Lignocellulosic biomass feedstock composition

Table 3	Algal	biomass	feedstock	composition
rable 5	nigai	olomass	recusioer	composition

		Constituents (wt% in dry basis)			
					Others (ash and
Category	Feedstock	Protein	Carbohydrate	Lipids	fibers)
Macroalgae	Caulerpa serrulata	14.48	45.6	4.24	27.66
	Daviesia divaricata	8.89	14.6	10.51	38.99
	Padina tetrastromatica	3.87	15.54	3.92	34.58
	Turbinaria triquetra	4.13	16.3	1.62	53.19
	Sargassum subrepandum	4.22	17.21	3.83	39.73
Microalgae	Chaetoceros calcitrans	34	6.0	16	44
	Nannochloropsis oculata	35	7.8	18	39.2
	Dunaliella tertiolecta	20	12.2	15	52.8
	Chroomonas salina	29	9.1	12	49.9
	Isochrysis galbana	29	12.9	23	35.1

there are many methods available, this chapter focuses on one of the fastest and costeffective conversion methods, which is hydrothermal conversion.

2 Hydrothermal Conversion

The biomass is converted into biochar, biocrude, and biogas in the presence of subcritical or supercritical water at high temperatures and pressures. The three phases of water and various points can be identified from the phase diagram as given in Fig. 1. Water at subcritical conditions breaks the long chain macromolecules of the biomass into smaller fragments by acting as a catalyst due to its higher ionic product that favors acids or base-catalyzed reactions [14]. In general, hydro-thermal conversion is further divided into three separate processes: (1) hydrothermal carbonization, (2) hydrothermal liquefaction, and (3) hydrothermal gasification depending on the severity of its operating conditions.



Fig. 1 Phase diagram for water

2.1 Hydrothermal Carbonization

This is a process in which the biomass is kept suspended in water at elevated operating temperature and pressure range of 180–350°C and 2–10 MPa, where high-potential solid chars of moderate calorific value are obtained. Generally, the process is exothermic since it utilizes the oxygen and hydrogen present in the raw material [15]. The reaction pressure is not actually controlled; rather presence of liquid in biomass helps to promote the pressure up to a maximum of 10 MPa [16]. Though the process is carried over at mild operating conditions, care should be taken in keeping the water under subcritical state. Sometimes the medium becomes alkaline due to the drop in pH, and this is because of the formation of by-products inside the reactor. The main advantage of HTC is handling of high moisture content feedstock; the solid char is highly sterilized (biologically) due to the thermal conversion, and energy incentive product is derived [17]. But still HTC was found to gain less interest among the researchers because of the datum that hydrochar possesses less energy-carrying space for solid products than liquefaction and gasification [18].

2.2 Hydrothermal Liquefaction

Biomass with higher percentage of moisture can be utilized for the liquefaction process. Unlike hydrothermal carbonization, liquefaction is carried out under lower temperature (250–450°C) and high pressure (4–20 MPa) in presence of water or

other organic solvents like hexane, methanol, acetic acid, acetone, etc. [19]. At this range the solvent behaves like a compressible fluid which generates high solvation environment, thus making the long chain hydrocarbons dissociate into the shorter chain [20]. A wide variety of raw feedstocks can be utilized for HTL conversion like lignocellulosic biomass, algal biomass, solid wastes that contain organic matters, etc. The primary product from HTL is the biocrude that should be further moved for upgradation. Along with the primary product, other by-products like hydrochar, aqueous, and biogas are produced. HTL finds its own place in attracting the research group because of its integrated characteristics of solvents like high ion product and low dielectric constant [21]. The major advantages of HTL than other thermochemical conversions are the following: effort for preconditioning of feed is not mandatory; it operates at moderate temperature; and heating rates can be slower than pyrolysis [22].

2.3 Hydrothermal Gasification

The other way of depolymerizing biomass is by hydrothermal gasification in which water reacts with biomass to produce gaseous hydrocarbon. Based on the operating conditions, they are classified into supercritical water gasification, near-critical water gasification, and low-temperature aqueous-phase reforming [23]. For low temperature HTG the sugar-like fructose or sugar alcohols like galactitol, sorbitol APR is considered as raw material. For high-temperature SCWG, raw materials like glucose, mannose, and fructose can be considered as good feedstocks [24]. To understand the background of HTG, the behaviors of solvents at high temperature and high pressure should be studied. The operating temperature for gasification ranges between 350 and 700°C which yields the gaseous products like H₂, CH₄, and CO₂ [25]. Unlike other hydrothermal conversions, HTG produces hydrocarbon gas that has high HHV and negligible percentage of tar that is considered as advantage over other hydrothermal processes.

2.4 Conversion Chemistry

It is necessary to understand the behavior and mechanism by which the lignocellulosic and algal biomass degrades in the subcritical and supercritical environment. In case of lignocellulosic biomass, the major constituents present are cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, which influence the yield and composition of the products formed. Likewise for algal biomass, the degradation of carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids is to be studied. Due to different structures and properties of the major constituents, the depolymerization reaction pathways are different in the hydrothermal environment as given in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Hydrothermal conversion reaction pathways

Conversion of Cellulose Hydrothermal depolymerization of cellulose involves several reaction pathways where linear bulk chain of molecules is fragmented into small fractions by hydrolysis and Lobry de Bruyn-Alberda van Ekenstein transformation. It was also observed that the molecular interaction was different in alkaline and acidic environments during the hydrothermal treatment. The alkaline environments led the products from hydrolysis to further degrade by retro-aldol transformation, followed by rearrangement of aldehydes, hydration, and dehydration into simpler acid and alcohols, while acidic environment resulted in the production of mostly 5-hydroxmethylfurfural (5-HMF) and its acid derivatives [26].

Conversion of Hemicellulose Hemicelluloses constitute about 20–40% of the total plant biomass, where during high pressure hot compressed water uncatalysed solvolysis on various wood and herbaceous biomass materials showed that 100% hemicellulose was hydrolyzed and selectively decomposed into saccharides at 230°C, 34.5 MPa at 200 reaction time of 2 min [27]. Sasaki et al. [28] experimented on D-xylose, which is a substitute compound for hemicellulose under subcritical and supercritical water extraction, which confirmed the same reaction pathway at lower temperatures. At higher temperatures and pressures of 360–420°C and 25–40 MPa with a time of 0.02–1 s, retro-aldol condensation and dehydration resulting in glycolaldehyde, glyceraldehyde, and dihydroxyacetone followed.

Conversion of Lignin Lignin consists of p-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and sinapyl alcohol units of p-hydroxy-phenylpropanoids held together by C-C or C-O-C bonds. Compared to cellulose and hemicellulose, lignin is relatively resistant to chemical or enzymatic degradation during hydrothermal conversion. In alkaline hydrolysis conditions of lignin, the C-O-C bonds result in phenols and methoxyphenols, where the condensation of these phenolic products resulted in significant amounts of solid residue.

Thus to reduce the solid residue and increase the yield of biocrude, the feedstock chosen must be in such a way that its lignin content is carefully balanced with cellulose and hemicellulose. The hydrothermal conversion of pure lignin at higher temperatures of 350°C, carried out by Wahyudiono et al. [29], resulted in products catechol, phenols, and cresols, which confirms the existence of secondary hydrolysis of methoxy groups. Similar results were found for hydrothermal conversion of Kraft pine resulting in major products as phenol, 4-ethylguaiacol, and methyl dehydroabietate [30].

Conversion of Carbohydrates The carbohydrates in algae mainly constitute polysaccharides, celluloses, hemicelluloses, and starches. They are hydrolyzed to form simple sugars with glucose as the main product; the glucose is then rapidly converted to fructose which in turn degrades with fragmentation to form carbon-carbon double bond components like aldehydes and phenols which are intermediates, thus converting into gaseous products like H₂, CO₂, CH₄, etc. [31].

Conversion of Proteins Proteins mostly consist of linear polymeric amino acids that are connected to carboxylic and amine group using C-N bond links. During the hydrothermal conversion process, these bonds get hydrolyzed to produce free amino acids which quickly undergo decarboxylation and deamination to produce hydrocarbons, amines, aldehydes, and acids [32].

Conversion of Lipids Lipids are mainly comprised of fatty acid triglycerides (TAG) which are nonpolar components with aliphatic characteristics. TAG is hydrolyzed to form fatty acids and glycerol, where glycerol readily gets converted into water-soluble components. Free fatty acids are pretty much stable but partially get converted into hydrocarbons via decarboxylation [33].

3 Hydrothermal Conversion Process Conditions

The hydrothermal conversion processes depend upon various parameters: temperature and heating rate, solvent or hydrothermal media, biomass to solvent loading, residence time, and catalysts. Once the reaction is over, the reaction products are taken out and filtered for the residual water. Then it is washed with extraction solvent to leach out the biocrude from the biochar, where the excess solvent is removed by vacuum evaporation. There are various methods by which the recovery of the products is calculated, and most widely used conventions are given below:

Biocrude yield(wt%) =
$$W_{\rm es}/W_{\rm f} \times 100$$
 (1)

Biogas yield(wt%) =
$$W_c - W_{rp}/W_c \times 100$$
 (2)

Biochar yield(wt%) =
$$W_r/W_f \times 100$$
 (3)
Water Soluble Products yield(wt%) =
$$100 - (Crude + Gas + Residue)$$
 (4)

where $W_{\rm f}$ is the weight of the biomass (dry basis); $W_{\rm es}$ is the weight of products soluble in extraction solvents (ether, acetone, acetone, dichloromethane, etc.); $W_{\rm c}$ is the charged weight (biomass + hydrothermal media); $W_{\rm rp}$ is the weight of reaction products; and $W_{\rm r}$ is the weight of solid residue, i.e., biochar.

Some of the woody and algal feedstock, their possible hydrothermal pathway, type of reactor and its specifications, hydrothermal media used, catalyst, and the extraction solvent used are listed Table 4.

3.1 Effect of Temperature

Temperature plays an important role in the hydrothermal processing irrespective of biomasses. The temperature for a typical hydrothermal conversion process ranges between 180 and 700°C, and it mainly depends on the type of feedstock and its constituent composition (Table 4). Under such given elevated temperatures, it shows symbiotic effect in the yield of resultant products (biochar, biocrude, and biochar) from the biomass. The increased temperature depolymerizes the long chain complex organic molecule of length 800-10,000 units into chemicals of C_{15+} to simple gases like H₂, CH₄, and CO₂. Such conditions not only improved the reaction rate but also created variation in reaction mechanisms. Tungal and Shende [34] explained the effect of temperature on pine sawdust under carbonization and liquefaction conditions, where the biocrude yield increased from 24.04 to 30.5% at 1:10 biomass loading and 90 min reaction time [34]. The tar formed during the hydrothermal conversion process is due to the impact of temperature under the subcritical condition, and its formation is extremely lowered under supercritical conditions. The two reasons that controlled this reaction are (1) reduced dielectric constant which led to free-radical reactions to leaving away with gaseous products and (2) under supercritical region tarry material which behaves like a solvent [51]. From studies it is observed that when operating temperature is elevated beyond $500-600^{\circ}C$, the depolymerization reaction occurs resulting in dissociation of complex bonds into simpler gaseous molecules [35]. Figure 3 shows the effect of temperature (225-600°C) on the yield of different hydrothermal products. This effect was also confirmed by a recent study by Alper et.al [38] on hydrothermal liquefaction of spruce wood at 250–300°C; the yield of biocrude increased slightly from 3.9 to 6.6 wt%. But beyond 300-350°C, the yield progressively decreased to 4.9 wt% due to the vaporization of biocrude at this temperature range [38]. Similar phenomena was observed beyond the supercritical condition $(>374^{\circ}C, 219 \text{ bar})$ in the case of algal biomass Posidonia oceanica due to the stimulation of steam-reforming and methanation reactions reducing the liquid and solid residue while increasing the gaseous products [50].

Feedstock (possible		Temperature	Hydrothermal			
hydrothermal routes)	Reactor specifications	range (°C)	media	Catalyst	Extraction solvent	Ref
Pine wood (HTC, HTL)	300 mL SS316 PARR reactor with heating rate 5 K/min	200–275	Water	5 wt% Ni(NO ₃) ₂	Ethyl acetate, acetone	[34]
Pine wood (HTG)	100 mL SS 316 batch-type autoclave reactor with heating rate of 8–10 K/ min	500-600	Water	10 wt% K2CO3	1	[35]
Pine wood (HTC, HTL)	600 mL stainless steel autoclave reactor with heating rate of 10 K/min	200–350	50% aqueous EtOH, MeOH	1	Acetone	[36]
Oak wood (HTL)	10 mL AISI 316 tubular microreactor with heating rate of 60 K/min	260–320	Water	Fe, Fe ₂ O ₃ , Fe ₃ O ₄ (0.05– 0.3 g/g biomass)	Acetone	[37]
Spruce wood (HTL)	600 mL Parr 4,848 high-pressure reactor with heating rate of 5 K/min	250-300	Water	KF/Al ₂ O ₃	Dichloromethane	[38]
Rice straw (HTC)	2 L stainless steel pressure reactor	180–300	Water	1	1	[39]
Rice straw (HTL)	1,000 mL GSHA-1 type autoclave with heating rate of 3 K/min	260–300	EtOH-water, 2-propanol- water	1	Tetrahydrofuran	[40]
Common reed (HTL)	250 mL SS316 autoclave reactor with heating rate of 3 K/min	250–290	EtOH, MeOH	10 wt% NaOH	Benzene, diethyl ether	[41]
Corncob (HTL)	250 mL Parr reactor with heating rate of 5 K/min	300–360	Water, EtOH	5–10% NaOH, KOH	Acetone	[42]
Cotton cocoon shell (HTL)	100 mL SS316 cylindrical autoclave reactor with heating rate 5 K/min	235–300	Acetone, water	NaOH, Na ₂ CO ₃ , KOH, K ₂ CO ₃	Benzene, acetone	[43]
Nannochloropsis sp. (HTC, HTL)	500 mL SS316 batch reactor (MMJ500) with heating rate of 6 K/ min	210–250	Water	5 wt% Nano-Ni/SiO ₂ , synthesize zeolite, Na ₂ CO ₃	Dichloromethane	[44]
Enteromorpha prolifera (HTL)	1,000 mL stainless steel autoclave	250–310	Water	0.02 M H ₂ SO ₄ , 0.2 M CH ₃ COOH	Dichloromethane	[45]
					(conti	nued)

Table 4 Reaction parameters of different woody and algal species

Table 4 (continued)						
Feedstock (possible		Temperature	Hydrothermal			
hydrothermal routes)	Reactor specifications	range (°C)	media	Catalyst	Extraction solvent	Ref
Chlorella pyrenoidosa	100 mL Parr 4,593 stainless steel	240–280	Nanopure®	Pd/C, Pd/Al ₂ O ₃ , Pt/C,	Toluene	[46]
(HTL)	reactor with heating rate of 6 K/min		water	Pt/Al ₂ O ₃ , Al-Ni, NaOH, Na ₂ CO ₃		
Nannochloropsis	PARR 4593 stainless steel bench top	180–330	Water	I	Dichloromethane	[47]
gaditana, Chlorella sp. (HTC, HTL)	reactor					
Spirulina (HTL)	100 mL 316 stainless steel batch	230-290	Water	Ni/TiO ₂	Dichloromethane	[48]
	reactor					
Tetraselmis sp. (HTL)	7.5 mL micro-tubing reactor	250–350	Water	I	Dichloromethane,	[49]
					n-hexane	
Posidonia oceanica (HTL, HTG)	100 mL batch-type reaction vessel	300-600	Water	1	1	[50]

(continued)	
4	
ble	



Fig. 3 Effect of temperature on yield of hydrothermal products

3.2 Effect of Hydrothermal Media

The hydrothermal media are generally called solvents, and they enhance the stability and solubility of the depolymerized macromolecules. Under subcritical conditions, these solvents act not as molecules but as radicals and induce the ionic reactions [52]. In most of the cases, deionized water is used as solvent, and sometimes Nanopure[®] water having ionic purity of 18.2 M Ω was used to eliminate any effects caused by the minerals present in tap water [46]. Few other studies [36, 40–43] revealed that replacing a portion of water with compounds like ethanol, methanol, acetone, and 2-propanol enhances the ionic product of the mixture yielding maximum biocrude and minimum biochar at 50:50 solvent to water ratio as shown in Figs. 4 and 5.

3.3 Effect of Biomass to Solvent Ratio

The amount of solvent/hydrothermal media present inside the reactor is very crucial for the process. If the quantity is very less, it enhances carbonization, and on excess it promotes gasification of all residual materials irrespective whether it is of lignocellulosic or algal origin. Hence the biomass to solvent ratio has to be maintained carefully. Tungal and Shende [34] explained the effect of biomass to solvent ratio on



Fig. 4 Effect of hydrothermal media on biocrude yield



Fig. 5 Effect of hydrothermal media on biochar yield

pine sawdust under liquefaction conditions of 250°C, where the biocrude yield increased from 22.14 to 33.1% with catalyst loading of 5 wt% $Ni(NO_3)_2$ and 120 min reaction time [34]. This effect is shown in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6 Effect of hydrothermal media on biochar yield

3.4 Effect of Catalyst

Water acts itself as a catalyst during subcritical or supercritical hydrothermal conditions, and yet the products resulted with mostly oxygenated compounds with low high heating value (HHV). Thus to reduce the high O/H ratio in the resulting biocrude, it is required to add more catalysts into the reacting system. The addition of catalysts improves the gasification efficiency and reduces the solid residue (tar and char) by suppressing the condensation and repolymerization into stable macromolecules. Alkali salts and hydroxides have been frequently used as homogeneous catalysts, whereas Ni, Fe, Al, Pd, Pt, and Ti were used as heterogeneous catalysts, which were utilized to enhance the yield of biocrude.

Homogeneous Catalysts Homogeneous catalysts improve gasification by accelerating the water-gas shift reaction, thereby increasing the liquid product yields. They raise pH of the mixture to more alkaline, which in turn inhibits the dehydration of the cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin; thereby increasing the H/C ratio in the biocrude and biochar. Alkali addition suppresses tar and biochar formation during the hydrothermal conversion process. It also prevents higher degree of oxygen removal in the biocrude, and instead of decarboxylation, it might result in the formation of unstable unsaturated compounds that can be easily polymerized into char and tar.

Küçük and Ağırtaş [41] investigated alkali-catalyzed hydrothermal liquefaction of common reed in subcritical water environment, where catalytic solvent (ethanol) + 10% NaOH resulted in high conversion of 57.6% at 290° C [41]. In another

study, Khampuang et al. [42] observed that liquefaction performed for 60 min at 340°C with a 1:1 (v/v) ethanol/water with addition of 10 wt% of NaOH resulted in oil yield of 50.2–57.2%; rather with no catalyst it was 49.0%. The oil yield with KOH addition (51.4–57.5%) was slightly higher than that with NaOH (50.5–56.4%) [42]. Similarly, alkali especially potassium in the form of K₂CO₃ exhibited a progressive effect on yield of biocrude. The hydrothermal treatment of cotton showed catalytic cocoon shell а activity which is as follows: $KOH > NaOH > K_2CO_3 > Na_2CO_3$ [43]. The alkali catalysts weaken the C-C bond, thereby decreasing the activation energy. It also triggers biomass swelling and increase in the surface area exposed, enhancing the retro-aldol cleavage. These alkali catalysts have the tendency to promote water-gas shift reaction during the hydrothermal conversion, thus favoring H_2 and CO_2 formation from CO. The resulting hydrogen gas in turn acts as a reducing agent, increasing the HHV and quality of the biocrude.

Heterogeneous Catalysts Heterogeneous catalysts have been mostly used in hydrothermal gasification process and low-temperature applications, where they enhance the quality of the biocrude obtained. de Caprariis et al. [37] investigated that HTL of oak wood with addition of Fe as a catalyst increases the quality and quantity of biocrude. Fe acts as a sacrificial catalyst, which in turn undergoes surface oxidation into Fe₂O₃, thereby reducing the acids and aldehydes formed during the process. Gasification is crucial to a certain extent for biocrudes containing higher percentages of oxygenated compounds. Few other studies show that by doping oxides like Al₂O₃ with active substance like KF, Pd, and Pt and using it as a catalyst, the yield of the biocrude increased significantly [38, 46]. However, extensive gasification will reduce the biocrude yield. Some of the other heterogeneous catalysts reported for hydrothermal conversion of lignocellulosic and algal biomass include Ni doped over SiO₂, TiO₂, and zeolite [44, 48].

4 Biomass to Fuel

The useful products obtained from the hydrothermal processing are biochar, biocrude, and biogas, which have their own significance. These products were always energy intensified compared to their feedstock. This was confirmed by elemental analysis of the feedstock and the resulting products. The biochar obtained is converted into pellets and used for various applications, whereas the biocrude and biogas are further purified to get fine chemicals. The main parameter that is to be noted for any fuel is its heating value. The energy density of products can be compared by calculating the HHV using the united formula by Channiwala and Parikh [59] that can be used for both feedstock and the resulting products [59]:

$$\begin{aligned} HHV(MJ/kg) &= 0.3491(C) + 1.1783(H) + 0.1005(S) + 0.1034(O) \\ &\quad + 0.0151(N) + 0.021(A) \end{aligned} \tag{5}$$

$$O = 100 - (C + H + N + S)$$
(6)

Energy Densification(ED) = $HHV_{(Biochar or Biocrude)}/HHV_{Biomass}$ (7)

The elemental composition of the raw material, biochar, and biocrude obtained from the hydrothermal carbonization and liquefaction process is given in Table 5.

The high heating value (HHV) of the hydrothermal products compared to the feedstock is increased significantly due to the carbonization. It is observed from Table 5 that the hydrothermal products (biochar and biocrude) have a high energy densification ratio higher than 1, which proves the decarboxylation and deoxygenation reactions were involved during the hydrothermal carbonization and liquefaction. Table 6 shows the elemental composition of reference feedstock. Figure 7 depicts the van Krevelen plot, and it shows that the lignocellulosic feedstock is converted to products similar to that of lignite and liquefaction of algal biomass resulted in biocrude that resembles petroleum crude. The only disadvantage is the high nitrogen content in the biocrude.

Compared to other energy intensification processes, the hydrothermal processes have higher ratios and also low heat of reactions as the subcritical and supercritical water lowers the activation energy. Additionally, the mechanical dewatering or any other preheating is not required, as the feedstock of the process is moist biomass.

Hydrothermal coal is also called biocoal and has ash melting point similar to lignite, although in the case of algal biomass, the minerals in the solid product fuse together to form a sticky dense slurry-like material that changes the behavior of biochar entirely compared to lignocellulosic biochar. The algal biochar and solid residue are hygroscopic, and they are difficult to separate. Materials that are obtained from hydrothermal carbonization also have shown promising properties with varying functionalities, morphologies, and porosities [60]. They have important applications in a variety of modern fields such as electrode materials in superior performance supercapacitors, Na-based batteries, Li-ion batteries, and fuel cells [14].

At supercritical conditions, hydrogen and methane from biomass can also be manufactured from single-step hydrothermal gasification process without the formation of any solid residue:

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 + 6H_2O \to 6CO_2 + 14H_2$$
 (8)

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \to 3CH_4 + 3CO_2 \tag{9}$$

Thus, Table 7 shows promising results that both lignocellulosic and algal biomass can be used for hydrogen gas production.

ר אומש	LINUES IIIMIL		am num (noon -										
											VHH		
			Temp (°C)	С	Η	Z	S	0	H/C	O/C	MJ/kg	ED	Ref
PS	Raw			52.5	6.32	0.10	0.05	40.6	1.44	0.29	29.98		
	Biochar	HTL	250	72.4	6.31	0.78	1	20.51	1.05	0.11	34.84	1.162	[34]
	Biocrude	HTL	250	63.5	6.78	0.65	I	29.07	1.28	0.17	33.17	1.107	
RS	Raw			36.81	5.025	1.059	0.416	56.69	1.64	0.58	24.69		
	Biochar	HTC	220	45.50	4.43	1.56	0.15	21.59	1.17	0.18	23.37	0.947	[53]
	Biocrude	HTL	300	71.34	8.509	1.451	0.211	18.489	1.43	0.10	36.89	1.494	[40]
BW	Raw			49.1	5.7	0.3	0.05	44.5	1.39	0.34	28.47		
	Biochar	HTC	210	56.9	5.7	0.3	0.2	36.9	1.20	0.24	30.42	1.069	[5 4]
	Biocrude	HTL	300	68.2	6.8	1	1	27.3	1.20	0.15	34.64	1.217	[55]
cc	Raw			43.1	5.8	0.23	0.12	44.6	1.61	0.39	26.51		
	Biochar	HTC	210	56.7	4.72	0.53	0.06	31.5	1.00	0.21	28.63	1.080	[56]
	Biocrude	HTL	280	63.0	6.87	0.42	1.31	28.82	1.31	0.17	33.21	1.253	[57]
NS	Raw			49.93	7.91	6.33	0.64	28.71	1.90	0.22	29.88		
	Biochar	HTC	210	54.89	6.42	5.98	0.50	21.79	1.40	0.15	29.12	0.975	<u>4</u>
	Biocrude	HTC	250	72.65	10.19	5.13	0.42	10.88	1.68	0.06	38.61	1.292	
EP	Raw			35.20	5.20	2.10	I	32.98	1.77	0.35	21.86		
	Biocrude	HTL	290	69.2	6.8	3.9	1	20.1	1.18	0.11	34.31	1.570	[45]
SP	Raw			46.16	7.14	10.56	0.74	35.44	1.86	0.29	28.43		
	Biocrude	HTL	350	73.73	8.90	6.30	0.90	10.17	1.45	0.05	37.46	1.318	[58]
PS pine	sawdust, <i>RS</i> ric	ce Straw, <i>E</i>	3W beech wood,	CC Comco	b, <i>NS Nann</i>	ochloropsis	s sp., <i>EP En</i>	teromorpha	prolifera,	SP Strept	omyces pla	tensis	

speci
algal
and
woody
۱ of
ensification
int
Energy
Table 5

es

	C	Н	N	S	0	H/C	O/C	HHV
Coke	87.91	0.88	1.19	0.66	9.36	0.12	0.04	32.78
Coal	83.02	3.89	1.59	1.03	10.47	0.56	0.047	34.78
Lignite	67.8	5.2	0.8	0.8	25.4	0.92	0.14	32.51
Petroleum crude 1	79.5	14.8	3.5	0.1	2.1	2.23	0.01	45.47
Petroleum crude 2	87.1	11.5	0.1	0.5	0.8	1.58	0.003	44.09

 Table 6
 Elemental composition of reference feedstock



Fig. 7 van Krevelen plot for biomass and hydrothermal products

 Table 7 Gaseous product composition result of hydrothermal conversion from woody and algal biomass (yield moles/kg biomass)

Feedstock	Temperature (°C)	H ₂	CO	CH ₄	CO ₂
Pine sawdust	225	1.32	2.85	0.03	7.80
	275	12.26	6.03	0.44	8.36
	500	15.52	7.12	2.25	13.81
	600	26.15	8.90	2.41	23.32
Enteromorpha prolifera	300	0.15	0.6	-	8.9
	400	0.9	0.5	0.3	10.2
	500	3.2	-	2.4	8.4
	600	10.2	-	6.1	6.7

		Relative	
Feedstock	Compounds	area %	Significance
Beech wood	Guaiacol	26.4	Flavoring agent in baking industry
	2,6-Dimethoxyphenol (Syringol)	18.6	Food industry to artificially produce smoky aroma to food items
	2-Methyl-2- cyclopenten-1-one	7.89	Ketonic group added as ingredient in fragrance
	Acetic acid	4.41	Production of vinyl acetate monomer, as solvent in recrystallization to purify organic compounds
Pine wood	2- Furancarboxaldehyde/ furfural	77.68	Herbicide, solvents in agricultural preparations
	1-Hydroxy-2- methoxybenzene	42.99	Herbicide and also in biomedical applications
	5-Methyldihydro-2 (3H)-furanone	8.85	Flavor and fragrance agents that give the caramel-like odor and brown-type flavor
	2-Oxo-3- cyclopentene-1- acetaldehyde	7.61	Solvent for extraction due to its high polarity
	Acetic acid, butyl ester	2.22	Solvents, flavoring agents
Corncob	p-Xylene	6.65	Polymer industry for production of polyethylene terephthalate
	Naphthalene, decahydro-	6.57	Solvent
	Ethylbenzene	3.60	Manufacturing products such as inks, insecticides, and paints
	Benzene, 1,3-dimethyl-	2.85	Smaller proportion in making resins, rugs, rubber lubricants, etc.
Nannochloropsis sp.	n-Hexadecanoic acid (C16:0)	23.45	Ingredient in soaps, cosmetics, etc.
	cis-9-Hexadecenoic acid (C16:1)	19.49	Disinfectants in water treatment
	Docosahexaenoic acid	8.50	Food industry as supplements
	Oleic acid (C18:1)	5.72	Manufacture of soaps as an emulsifying agent
	Tetradecanoic acid (C14:0)	5.68	Medicine preparation
	Pyrrolidine derivative	5.00	Pharma industry to produce tolmetin
Enteromorpha prolifera	1,4-Pentadiene	20.12	Paints, flavors, perfumes, varnishes as odor-causing agents
	3-Methyl-2- cyclopenten-1-one	10.26	Food additives, flavors, colorings, etc.
	Palmitic acid	9.78	Saponification of soaps

 Table 8 Essential chemicals from hydrothermal processing

(continued)

Feedstock	Compounds	Relative area %	Significance
	2,3-Dimethyl-2- cyclopenten-1-one	7.77	Solvent in many extraction process
	3-Methyl-1,2- cyclopentanedione	6.68	Ketonic group added as ingredient in fragrance

Table 8 (continued)

5 Biomass to Fine Chemicals

The primary objective of any hydrothermal processing is to derive value-added products (biochar, biocrude, and biogas) in which biocrude on further processing results in a significant amount of fine chemicals. All these years many researchers have confirmed the presence of various fine chemicals in the biocrude through GC-MS analysis. The chemicals identified in biocrude obtained from the hydrothermal conversion of few woody and algal biomass feedstock and its commercial significance are listed in Table 8.

6 Conclusion

The hydrothermal conversion of both lignocellulosic and algal biomasses was studied with the help of predefined reaction mechanisms of their respective constituents. This chapter briefly explained about the advanced technologies that are adapted in generation of energy-intensified fuels and value-added fine chemicals. The hydrothermal technologies with biorefinery would be a promising solution for sustainability as it can be implemented with minor modifications to the current industrial infrastructure. In the energy sector, the biocrude in addition to the natural crude can be used as such as the feed to existing refinery equipment, and there is no need for modification or retrofitting. Thus this technology is yet to be explored, and more value-added chemicals can be obtained from the hydrothermal conversion of lignocellulosic and algal biomass, thereby maximizing the yield of products with commercial significance.

References

Bhaskar T, Pandey A (2015) Advances in thermochemical conversion of biomass – introduction. In: Pandey A, Bhaskar T, Stöcker M, Sukumaran RK (eds) Recent advances in thermochemical conversion of biomass. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 3–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63289-0.00001-6

- Chen W, Chen Y, Yang H, Xia M, Li K, Chen X, Chen H (2017) Co-pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass and microalgae: products characteristics and interaction effect. Bioresour Technol 245:860–868
- Arvindnarayan S, Prabhu KKS, Shobana S, Kumar G, Dharmaraja J (2017) Upgrading of micro algal derived bio-fuels in thermochemical liquefaction path and its perspectives: a review. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 119:260–272
- Chen CY, Yeh KL, Aisyah R, Lee DJ, Chang JS (2011) Cultivation, photobioreactor design and harvesting of microalgae for biodiesel production: a critical review. Bioresour Technol 102 (1):71–81
- 5. Koppejan J, Van Loo S (2012) The handbook of biomass combustion and co-firing. Routledge, London
- Sticklen MB (2008) Plant genetic engineering for biofuel production: towards affordable cellulosic ethanol. Nat Rev Genet 9(6):433
- Sørensen I, Pettolino FA, Bacic A, Ralph J, Lu F, O'Neill MA, Fei Z, Rose JK, Domozych DS, Willats WG (2011) The charophycean green algae provide insights into the early origins of plant cell walls. Plant J 68(2):201–211
- Zhou X, Li W, Mabon R, Broadbelt LJ (2017) A critical review on hemicellulose pyrolysis. Energ Technol 5(1):52–79
- Bajpai P (2016) Structure of lignocellulosic biomass. In: Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for biofuel production. Springer, Singapore, pp 7–12
- Pettersen RC (1984) The chemical composition of wood. In: The chemistry of solid wood, vol 207. US Department of Agriculture, Forest service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, pp 57–126
- 11. Fowden L (1954) A comparison of the compositions of some algal proteins. Ann Bot 18 (3):257–266
- Markou G, Angelidaki I, Georgakakis D (2012) Microalgal carbohydrates: an overview of the factors influencing carbohydrates production, and of main bioconversion technologies for production of biofuels. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96(3):631–645
- Yao L, Gerde JA, Lee SL, Wang T, Harrata KA (2015) Microalgae lipid characterization. J Agric Food Chem 63(6):1773–1787
- 14. Kruse A, Funke A, Titirici MM (2013) Hydrothermal conversion of biomass to fuels and energetic materials. Curr Opin Chem Biol 17(3):515–521
- He C, Giannis A, Wang JY (2013) Conversion of sewage sludge to clean solid fuel using hydrothermal carbonization: hydrochar fuel characteristics and combustion behavior. Appl Energy 111:257–266
- Zhang S, Zhu X, Zhou S, Shang H, Luo J, Tsang DC (2019) Hydrothermal carbonization for hydrochar production and its application. In: Biochar from biomass and waste. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 275–294
- 17. Libra JA, Ro KS, Kammann C, Funke A, Berge ND, Neubauer Y, Titirici MM, Fühner C, Bens O, Kern J, Emmerich KH (2011) Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass residuals: a comparative review of the chemistry, processes and applications of wet and dry pyrolysis. Biofuels 2(1):71–106
- Funke A, Ziegler F (2010) Hydrothermal carbonization of biomass: a summary and discussion of chemical mechanisms for process engineering. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4(2):160–177
- Huang HJ, Yuan XZ (2015) Recent progress in the direct liquefaction of typical biomass. Prog Energy Combust Sci 49:59–80
- Eboibi BEO, Lewis DM, Ashman PJ, Chinnasamy S (2014) Hydrothermal liquefaction of microalgae for biocrude production: improving the biocrude properties with vacuum distillation. Bioresour Technol 174:212–221
- 21. Jin F, Enomoto H (2011) Rapid and highly selective conversion of biomass into value-added products in hydrothermal conditions: chemistry of acid/base-catalysed and oxidation reactions. Energy Environ Sci 4(2):382–397

- 22. Chopra J, Mahesh D, Yerrayya A, Vinu R, Kumar R, Sen R (2019) Performance enhancement of hydrothermal liquefaction for strategic and sustainable valorization of de-oiled yeast biomass into green bio-crude. J Clean Prod 227:292–301
- 23. Haiduc AG, Brandenberger M, Suquet S, Vogel F, Bernier-Latmani R, Ludwig C (2009) Sun CHem: an integrated process for the hydrothermal production of methane from microalgae and CO₂ mitigation. J Appl Phycol 21(5):529–541
- 24. Paida VR, Brilman DWF, Kersten SRA (2019) Hydrothermal gasification of sorbitol: H2 optimisation at high carbon gasification efficiencies. Chem Eng J 358:351–361
- Matsumura Y (2015) Hydrothermal gasification of biomass. In: Recent advances in thermochemical conversion of biomass. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 251–267
- Yin S, Tan Z (2012) Hydrothermal liquefaction of cellulose to biocrude under acidic, neutral and alkaline conditions. Appl Energy 92:234–239
- Mok WSL, Antal Jr MJ (1992) Uncatalyzed solvolysis of whole biomass hemicellulose by hot compressed liquid water. Ind Eng Chem Res 31(4):1157–1161
- Sasaki M, Hayakawa T, Arai K, Adschiri T (2003) Measurement of the rate of retro-aldol condensation of D-xylose in subcritical and supercritical water. In: Hydrothermal reactions and techniques. World Scientific Publishing, Singapore, pp 169–176
- 29. Kanetake T, Sasaki M, Goto M (2007) Decomposition of a lignin model compound under hydrothermal conditions. Chem Eng Technol 30(8):1113–1122
- 30. Zhang B, Huang HJ, Ramaswamy S (2007) Reaction kinetics of the hydrothermal treatment of lignin. In: Biotechnology for fuels and chemicals. Humana Press, Clifton, pp 487–499
- Takeuchi Y, Jin F, Tohji K, Enomoto H (2008) Acid catalytic hydrothermal conversion of carbohydrate biomass into useful substances. J Mater Sci 43(7):2472–2475
- 32. Shi F, Wang P, Duan Y, Link D, Morreale B (2012) Recent developments in the production of liquid fuels via catalytic conversion of microalgae: experiments and simulations. RSC Adv 2 (26):9727–9747
- 33. Tang S, Shi Z, Tang X, Yang X (2019) Hydrotreatment of biocrudes derived from hydrothermal liquefaction and lipid extraction of the high-lipid Scenedesmus. Green Chem 21 (12):3413–3423
- 34. Tungal R, Shende RV (2014) Hydrothermal liquefaction of pinewood (Pinus ponderosa) for H2, biocrude and biocrude generation. Appl Energy 134:401–412
- 35. Cengiz NÜ, Eren S, Sağlam M, Yüksel M, Ballice L (2016) Influence of temperature and pressure on hydrogen and methane production in the hydrothermal gasification of wood residues. J Supercrit Fluids 107:243–249
- 36. Cheng S, D'cruz I, Wang M, Leitch M, Xu C (2010) Highly efficient liquefaction of woody biomass in hot-compressed alcohol – water co-solvents. Energy Fuel 24(9):4659–4667
- 37. de Caprariis B, Bavasso I, Bracciale MP, Damizia M, De Filippis P, Scarsella M (2019) Enhanced bio-crude yield and quality by reductive hydrothermal liquefaction of oak wood biomass: effect of iron addition. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 139:123–130
- Alper K, Tekin K, Karagöz S (2019) Hydrothermal liquefaction of lignocellulosic biomass using potassium fluoride-doped alumina. Energy Fuel 33(4):3248–3256
- 39. Liu Y, Yao S, Wang Y, Lu H, Brar SK, Yang S (2017) Bio-and hydrochars from rice straw and pig manure: inter-comparison. Bioresour Technol 235:332–337
- 40. Yuan XZ, Li H, Zeng GM, Tong JY, Xie W (2007) Sub-and supercritical liquefaction of rice straw in the presence of ethanol–water and 2-propanol–water mixture. Energy 32 (11):2081–2088
- Küçük MM, Ağırtaş S (1999) Liquefaction of Prangmites australis by supercritical gas extraction. Bioresour Technol 69(2):141–143
- 42. Khampuang K, Boreriboon N, Prasassarakich P (2015) Alkali catalyzed liquefaction of corncob in supercritical ethanol–water. Biomass Bioenergy 83:460–466
- 43. Çağlar A, Demirbaş A (2001) Conversion of cotton cocoon shell to liquid products by supercritical fluid extraction and low pressure pyrolysis in the presence of alkalis. Energy Convers Manag 42(9):1095–1104

- 44. Saber M, Golzary A, Hosseinpour M, Takahashi F, Yoshikawa K (2016) Catalytic hydrothermal liquefaction of microalgae using nanocatalyst. Appl Energy 183:566–576
- 45. Yang W, Li X, Liu S, Feng L (2014) Direct hydrothermal liquefaction of undried macroalgae Enteromorpha prolifera using acid catalysts. Energy Convers Manag 87:938–945
- 46. Yu G, Zhang Y, Guo B, Funk T, Schideman L (2014) Nutrient flows and quality of bio-crude oil produced via catalytic hydrothermal liquefaction of low-lipid microalgae. Bioenergy Res 7 (4):1317–1328
- 47. Reddy HK, Muppaneni T, Ponnusamy S, Sudasinghe N, Pegallapati A, Selvaratnam T, Seger M, Dungan B, Nirmalakhandan N, Schaub T, Holguin FO (2016) Temperature effect on hydrothermal liquefaction of Nannochloropsis gaditana and Chlorella sp. Appl Energy 165:943–951
- Tian W, Liu R, Wang W, Yin Z, Yi X (2018) Effect of operating conditions on hydrothermal liquefaction of Spirulina over Ni/TiO2 catalyst. Bioresour Technol 263:569–575
- 49. Vo TK, Kim SS, Ly HV, Lee EY, Lee CG, Kim J (2017) A general reaction network and kinetic model of the hydrothermal liquefaction of microalgae Tetraselmis sp. Bioresour Technol 241:610–619
- Deniz I, Vardar-Sukan F, Yüksel M, Saglam M, Ballice L, Yesil-Celiktas O (2015) Hydrogen production from marine biomass by hydrothermal gasification. Energy Convers Manag 96:124–130
- Promdej C, Chuntanapum A, Matsumura Y (2010) Effect of temperature on tarry material production of glucose in supercritical water gasification. J Jpn Inst Energy 89(12):1179–1184
- 52. Watanabe M, Sato T, Inomata H, Smith Jr RL, Arai Jr K, Kruse A, Dinjus E (2004) Chemical reactions of C1 compounds in near-critical and supercritical water. Chem Rev 104 (12):5803–5822
- 53. Ying GAO, CHEN HP, Jun WANG, Tao SHI, Hai-Ping YANG, Xian-Hua WANG (2011) Characterization of products from hydrothermal liquefaction and carbonation of biomass model compounds and real biomass. J Fuel Chem Technol 39(12):893–900
- Tremel A, Stemann J, Herrmann M, Erlach B, Spliethoff H (2012) Entrained flow gasification of biocoal from hydrothermal carbonization. Fuel 102:396–403
- 55. Haarlemmer G, Guizani C, Anouti S, Déniel M, Roubaud A, Valin S (2016) Analysis and comparison of biocrudes obtained by hydrothermal liquefaction and fast pyrolysis of beech wood. Fuel 174:180–188
- 56. Zhang L, Wang Q, Wang B, Yang G, Lucia LA, Chen J (2015) Hydrothermal carbonization of corncob residues for hydrochar production. Energy Fuel 29(2):872–876
- Gan J, Yuan W (2013) Operating condition optimization of corncob hydrothermal conversion for biocrude production. Appl Energy 103:350–357
- Jena U, Das KC (2011) Comparative evaluation of thermochemical liquefaction and pyrolysis for biocrude production from microalgae. Energy Fuel 25(11):5472–5482
- Channiwala SA, Parikh PP (2002) A unified correlation for estimating HHV of solid, liquid and gaseous fuels. Fuel 81(8):1051–1063
- 60. Jain A, Balasubramanian R, Srinivasan MP (2016) Hydrothermal conversion of biomass waste to activated carbon with high porosity: a review. Chem Eng J 283:789–805

Biopolymer-Based Nanofibrous Membrane for Water Purification Treatment



Elakkiya Thangaraju and Rajendran Muthuraj

Contents

1	Introduction	226
2	Influence of Microorganisms in Drinking Water	227
3	Water Purification Techniques	229
4	Electrospinning Process	230
5	Cellulose Acetate Nanofibrous Membrane for Water Treatment	231
6	Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles	233
7	Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Dispersed Cellulose Acetate Nanofibrous Membrane	235
8	Conclusion	237
Re	ferences	237

Abstract The availability of the resources is limited due to ever increasing population, unplanned urbanization, industrialization, and improper waste management. Currently, one of the most important environmental issues is water pollution. The bacteria, viruses, intestinal parasites, and other pathogenic microorganisms mainly contaminated the drinking water and it causes the diseases such as diarrhea, dysentery, and typhoid. In 2015, the World Health Organization has reported that 321 children were killed every day by diarrhea. Globally, every year 1.8 million people mostly under 5 years died due to diarrheal diseases alone which is mainly related to water. At present, chemical disinfectants (e.g., chlorine) and polymer membrane-based water filtration system are employed to manage microbial pathogens in the water. The by-products of the chemical disinfectants are highly harmful and problematic. The major concerns in the water filtration of polymer membranes are biofouling and virus penetration. Furthermore, the membrane-based water filtration

e-mail: elakkiya.chemist@gmail.com

R. Muthuraj WornAgain Technologies Ltd., Biocity, Nottingham, UK

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 225–240, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_584, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 24 June 2020 225

E. Thangaraju (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, Sri Sarada College for Women (Autonomous), Salem, Tamil Nadu, India

has several challenges including membrane permeability, lifetime, and energy costs. Therefore, interconnected, highly porous nanofibrous polymer membrane filtration could be used to overcome these technical challenges. Owing to lightweight, high permeability, and small pore size, nanofibrous polymer membranes can be potential candidates to remove unwanted smaller particles in the water. The performance of the nanofibrous membrane depends on their fiber thickness, distribution, pore size, porosity, and tortuosity factor. Nanofibrous membrane with desired properties can be obtained for water filtration by electrospinning technique. The antimicrobial activity of the polymer nanofibrous membrane can be further improved by the incorporation of metal oxide nanoparticles because of their good antimicrobial effects. Due to the high antimicrobial effect, zinc oxide nanoparticles have been widely incorporated with polymer to produce nanofibrous membrane for water filtration. In particular, zinc oxide nanoparticles incorporated with bio-based polymer (cellulose acetate) nanofibrous membranes showed potential material for water filtration to ensure safe and easy access drinking water.

Keywords Cellulose acetate, Electrospinning, Nanofibrous membrane, Water purification treatment, Zinc oxide nanoparticles

1 Introduction

Water is a basic resource and it occupies more than 70% of the earth's surface, but its pollution causes millions of people to drink impure water [1]. Around the world, there are 80 countries facing numerous problems in water shortage, and 25% of the population do not have access to fresh drinking water. Therefore, the quality of drinking water is extremely important to avoid waterborne diseases. There are two major types of water pollution, namely, organic and chemical pollution. Organic water pollution is caused by excrement, animal, and vegetable wastes. On the other hand, the household products, heavy metals, drugs, nitrates, phosphates, pesticides, acids, and hydrocarbons used in industries are the main sources for chemical water pollution. In addition, the human activities such as modern agricultural practices, industries, marine dumping, radioactive wastes, urbanization, deforestation, and sewage and waste water are mainly responsible for water pollution. There are many strategies available to purify the water including waste water treatment, desalination, membrane bioreactor, membrane distillation, and heavy metal ion adsorption. Currently, human being is facing three major challenges such as water treatment for drinking purpose, sewage treatment infrastructure, and extreme use of water in agricultural. Water is abundant and accessible, but it is not used for drinking purpose by humans due to its unhealthy condition. In particular, the availability of fresh water for drinking purpose is in great demands in the developing countries. Many studies have reported the effect of various environmental factors of physical

and chemical parameters on the water pollution [2]. Therefore, it is necessary to understand the pathogen concentrations in the water and their treatment process to enhance the purity of water for drinking purpose. It was identified by American Academy of Microbiology that storing and aging are the main reasons to increase the contamination of water in urban areas [3]. A simple in-house water purification is greatly increased due to increasing environmental awareness. The drinking water is one of the main vehicles of pathogen transmission by the fecal-oral route [4]. Enhancing the water quality is the only way to reduce the fecal-oral disease transmission. Many researchers have been developing water treatment process to remove waterborne pathogens from drinking water. There are a variety of process to produce nanofibrous membrane which involves the removal of contaminants from drinking water, namely, synthetic templates, nanoparticles' self-assembly, phase separation and, electrospinning. In these, most of the nanofibrous materials are produced by electrospinning method due to its unique properties. Electrospinning is one of the proficient techniques to develop interconnected porous nanofibrous structure for filtering the microorganisms present in contaminated water [5]. The production of nanofibrous membrane by various biopolymers, namely, cellulose acetate, polysulfone, poly(vinyl alcohol), polyacrylonitrile, polyurethane, and poly (vinylidene fluoride), are commonly used for water purification [6]. The polymers like polyacrylonitrile, polysulfone, polyethersulfone, and poly(vinylidene fluoride) are hydrophobic polymers with excellent physical, chemical, and mechanical properties. However, they are required to have some kind of modification in order to be used in water purification [7]. For this reason, hydrophilic polymers like cellulose acetate is used in all commercial water filtration membranes especially in reverse osmosis process. However, the electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane alone has no antibacterial activity which has limited its application including water purification. Consequently, it is necessary to incorporate antibacterial agents in the electrospun nanofibrous membrane to destroy the bacteria in the drinking water during filtration [8, 9]. The electrospun nanofibrous membrane suffers from fouling during electrospinning process [10, 11]. For this reason, there are many surface modification strategies available, namely, grafting, coating, blending, and interfacial polymerization, respectively. For example, Gentamicin is used to eradicate the microorganism, and it reduces fouling. The additives and antimicrobial agents are used to modify the surface of the electrospun membranes to reduce the biofouling during water filtration [11].

2 Influence of Microorganisms in Drinking Water

The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that approximately 663 million people around the world have the problem to access the pure drinking water due to polluted water. According to the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), there are more than 500 waterborne pathogens present in the contaminated water [1]. These pathogens are the main sources for various chronic and acute level illnesses to the

S. No.	Microorganisms	Health problems
I.	Bacteria	
1.	Escherichia coli	Hemolytic uremic syndrome, nausea, vomiting, severe bloody
		diarrhea, and abdominal cramps
2.	Salmonella typhi	Typhoid and gastrointestinal problems
3.	Legionella pneumophila	Legionnaires disease
4.	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Tuberculosis
5.	Vibrio cholera	Cholera and gastrointestinal problems
6.	Shigella spp.	Diarrhea and gastrointestinal problems
7.	Campylobacter jejuni	Enteritis – cramping, diarrhea, fever, and malaise
8.	Salmonella enteritidis	Severe diarrhea
9.	Salmonella choleraesuis	Severe diarrhea
II.	Viruses	
10.	Adenoviruses	Bronchitis, pneumonia, infections in the respiratory, and intestinal tract
11.	Rotaviruses	Diarrheal disease for infants and young children
12.	Astroviruses	Diarrhea to encephalitis
13.	Enteroviruses	Infect the central nervous system
14.	Noroviruses	Gastroenteritis
15.	Hepatitis A virus	Dark urine, jaundice, stomach pain, fever, and fatigue
16.	Hepatitis E virus	Liver disease
17.	Sapoviruses	Stomach flu
III.	Protozoa	
18.	Cryptosporidium parvum	Severe painful diarrhea, stomach cramps and gastrointestinal problems
19.	Toxoplasma gondii	Toxoplasmosis
20.	Giardia lamblia	Giardiasis
21.	Dracunculus medinensis	Guinea worm disease
22.	Entamoeba histolytica	Amebiasis – amebic dysentery

Table 1 Microorganisms and its health problems.

human [1]. For instance, about 30 million Americans per year are affected by a gastrointestinal illness because of the contaminated drinking water [12, 13]. Some of the harmful microorganisms which are present in the water and its effect on health are summarized in Table 1 [1, 14–17]. The prevention of waterborne infection by such microorganism is of supreme importance.

Microsporidia and *Helicobacter pylori* are emerging pathogens which could be present in drinking water [18]. These pathogens are mostly dangerous because it can cause chronic level diseases and even lead to cancer [19, 20]. *Microsporidia* are

unicellular parasites which causes severe diarrhea and systemic illness in person with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) [21]. *Helicobacter pylori* are intestinal bacteria which have been classified as carcinogenic pathogen by WHO [22]. The microorganism, namely, *Legionella*, grows in piped water distribution systems, whereas guinea worm (*Dracunculus medinensis*) occurs in many water sources [23]. The water contaminants are not easily detected through naked eye, odor, and taste. The microorganisms which are present in water may be beneficial or harmful to human health [1]. Sometimes the very tiny level of microorganisms (*Escherichia coli, Giardia, Cryptosporidium*) is more dangerous [24–26]. All peoples are not equally affected from the contaminated water; it may depend on the individual health conditions. People with weak immune system particularly infants, young children, pregnant women, old age people and immune suppressive therapy patients, AIDS patients, cancer patients, and organ transplant patients are more vulnerable to the waterborne pathogens [27].

In general, the bacteria are consisting of cell membrane, cell wall and cytoplasm. Gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria are the two major types which presents in the contaminated water. The gram-positive bacteria have one cytoplasmic membrane with a multilayer of peptidoglycan polymer and a thicker cell wall (20–80 nm), whereas gram-negative bacteria wall is composed of two cell membranes, an outer membrane, and a plasma membrane with a thin layer of peptidoglycan with a thickness of 7–8 nm. The bacterial cells range from about 1–10 μ m in length and 0.2–1 μ m in width, while the viruses are 100 times smaller than bacteria at 0.004–0.1 μ m in size. The protozoan cysts are approximately 2–50 μ m in diameter [1]. The microorganisms present in the drinking water can be removed or destroyed by various water purification techniques.

3 Water Purification Techniques

There are many well-established techniques available to purify the water, namely, chlorination, membrane distillation, ultraviolet light, ozonation, electrodialysis, ion exchange, etc. [28]. The chlorination process is inexpensive, is easy to handle, destroys the bacteria, and gives long-term protection. The main disadvantage of using chlorine for water treatment is that it easily reacts with organic matters like iron and manganese, even at low concentration which leads to form carcinogenic by-products [29]. The chlorination process destroys the bacteria only at higher level concentration of chlorine which may lead to unpleasant odor and taste of water. The distillation process is one of the most effective methods to purify the contaminated water. The distillation process involves no chemicals but is expensive and has longer process, and mainly the storage of distilled water affects its quality. Ultraviolet light disinfection unit is not used separately; it may be used with mechanical filters, activated carbon filters, reverse osmosis, and water softeners. In ozonation process, ozone is unstable, and it also provides more powerful disinfectant than chlorine. The water treatment process includes sedimentation, precipitation,

adsorption, oxidation, photocatalysis, multistep coagulation, and flocculation [30]. In the 21st century, membrane technologies have been used for water purification due to its high stability, high separation efficiency, and high selectivity. The different types of membranes are available in the market to purify the water, namely, microfiltration, ultrafiltration, reverse osmosis, and nanofiltration, respectively. Generally, the microfiltration membrane pore size ranges between 0.1 and 10 µm which are mainly rejecting the small particles and microorganisms [31, 32]. The ultrafiltration membranes can filter the bacteria and soluble macromolecules such as proteins because it has smaller pores $(0.01-0.1 \,\mu\text{m})$ than the microfiltration membranes. Particularly in the reverse osmosis process, the cellulose acetate membranes are used, but it is nonporous, and, therefore, it eliminates the particles, salt ions, organics, etc. [33] The nanofiltration membranes were often called as loose reverse osmosis membranes, and it is porous in nature, but the pores are on the order of ten less; they behave as both reverse osmosis and ultrafiltration membranes [34]. In many countries peoples are using the reverse osmosis process for removing the impurities from water, but unfortunately it reduces the number of beneficial minerals in the drinking water. Therefore, drinking water purified by reverse osmosis process can create heart and muscle health disorder. The microorganisms in water are usually removed by boiling the water, but it is limited to use in all places. The microfiltration membrane fails to eliminate the small-size viruses, while it eliminates the bacterial pathogens. On the other hand, the nanofiltration membranes have a positive charge which can selectively reject the viruses and bacteria. The identification of the microorganism's presence in the water is expensive, and practically it is impossible to do all the time before drinking water. Recently, the polymeric membranes have gained a great attention for water treatment due to its good thermal, mechanical, and chemical properties [35]. There are many methods to develop the polymeric membranes such as interfacial polymerization, phase-inversion, self-assembly, stretching, track-etching, spin coating, and electrospinning [33]. Among them, electrospinning is one of the simple and versatile methods which can be used to produce nanofibrous membrane for water purification [36].

4 Electrospinning Process

The world is facing serious concern in safe drinking water; the electrospinning-based advance nanotechnology could be a promising strategy to purify the water in the near future. Electrospinning-based nanotechnology is playing a vital role in water purification because it can be used to produces innovative structured membrane compared to conventional membrane technique [37]. Electrospun nanofibrous membrane-based water purification can offer a high-standard water quality, viability, low cost, and accessibility of drinking water. Purifying the contaminated water by using electrospun nanofibrous membrane is a simple method to prevent drinking waterborne illness. In addition, the electrospun nanofibrous membrane can provide long-term protection, operated properly, and also remove the turbidity from the

contaminated water [37]. Electrospinning is one of the versatile methods to produce interconnected porous structure which has been useful for many commercial applications. The interconnected porous structure is beneficial for filtering the microorganisms from the contaminated water. Nowadays, the electrospun polymeric nanofibrous membranes have been used for different areas of water treatment process especially for removing the microorganisms and separation of oil-water emulsion [38]. It has been established that high voltage should be applied to the polymer solution during the electrospinning process which leads to the formation of a higher electrostatic field and eventually produces the nanofibers [39, 40]. The opposite charges are connected to the metal collector which is wrapped with aluminum foil. The environmental condition (temperature and humidity) and the electrospinning parameters influenced the quality of the resulting nanofibers. The syringe needle, polymer solution, flow rate, and collector are the important electrospinning parameters which can influence the nanofibrous properties. The bead-free nanofibrous membrane can be obtained by optimizing spinning solution viscosity, concentration, molecular weight, and tip to collector distance [40]. The low-density and interconnecting open-pore nanostructures of the electrospun fibrous membrane are the main advantages of using water purification treatment. The electrospun nanofibrous membrane in filtration application has some other advantages, namely, high flux, low operating pressure, low cost, light weight, textile-like structure, good retention of multivalent anions salts, and cost-effective maintenance.

5 Cellulose Acetate Nanofibrous Membrane for Water Treatment

Cellulose acetate is one of the best biocompatible Food and Drug Administrationapproved polymers and has drawn great attention for water filtration applications [41]. The electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane not only filters the microorganisms, but it may also remove the chromium, metal ions, and toxic organic hydrocarbons [42]. The magnetic nanoparticles immobilized on cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane have been fabricated for the removal of lead from polluted water [43]. The highly interconnected porous cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane with uniform distribution is observed in Fig. 1a. The average fiber diameter of the cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane is found to be 110 ± 30 nm. Hence, uniform, continuous, smooth, and interconnected porous nanosized fibers are present in the electrospun cellulose acetate membrane which is mainly suitable to filter the microorganisms present in the water. Flux and selectivity are the two factors to analyze the functionality of the membrane. The above two factors are mainly depends on the wettability, pore size, porosity, pressure drop and thickness of the electrospun membrane [44]. The wettability of the solid surface plays a main role in water purification treatment. The electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane contact angle is found to be 50.2° in 0 s as seen in Fig. 2. Increasing the time



Fig. 1 Scanning electron microscopic images of the electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane (a) before filtration and (b) after filtration



Fig. 2 Contact angle measurements of the electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane

decreases the contact angle which is also seen in Fig. 2. Hence, this result clearly gives that the hydrophilic nature of the electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane is suitable for water filtration applications.

After filtering the piped river water using the developed electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane morphology is as seen in Fig. 1b. The microorganisms are filtered and stayed in the surface of the electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane which is clearly seen in Fig. 1b. Similarly, the electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane was used to filter the bacteria, sand, coal particles, yeast, viruses, and few metal ions [39]. Therefore, the prepared electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane is undoubtedly filtering the microorganisms which are present in water. The prepared electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane filters the bacteria, but it does not completely destroy the bacteria which are stayed in the surface of the membrane. To overcome the above problem, the antibacterial agent is essential to prevent the growth of bacteria and reduce the harmful effects. In recent years, the metal oxide has been frequently used as antibacterial agents namely zinc oxide, titanium oxide, copper oxide, aluminum oxide, silicon oxide, iron oxide, and cerium oxide, respectively. Of these, zinc oxide has excellent antibacterial activities, and its application is versatile in nature. Hence, the antibacterial rich material like zinc oxide nanoparticle is incorporated into the cellulose acetate and develops the zinc oxide-cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane.

6 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles

Zinc oxide is one of the Food and Drug Administration-approved nanomaterial, and it is used as many ways in food additives [45]. Although, zinc oxide is a source of zinc which serves as an essential micronutrient in day-to-day life and behaves as a significant role in the growth and development of children and adult health. Zinc oxide nanoparticles are non-toxic and good biocompatibility to human cells but it is harmful to microorganisms due to its excellent antibacterial activity. The zinc oxide nanoparticles have excellent antimicrobial activities compared to bulk zinc oxide; the nanozinc oxide particles easily interact with the surface of the bacteria or core of the bacteria where it passes through the cell and then establishes the numerous bactericidal mechanisms. Due to these advantages, zinc oxide nanoparticles have been widely investigated and used in various fields, namely, wound dressings, cosmetics, tissue engineering, drug delivery, and food packaging. In recent years, zinc oxide nanoparticles have been used mainly for waste water treatment. The nanostructure zinc oxide loaded activated carbon-coated cloth is applied for the removal of copper from the waste water treatment [46]. The zinc oxide-incorporated poly(vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous membrane removes the uranium with copper and nickel from the contaminated water [47]. The synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles which incorporated activated carbon nanocomposites has excellent hydrophilic properties [43]. In addition, it has excellent adsorption capacity at 92 mg/g within a short period of time (45 min) and may be used for the removal of lead ions from wastewater treatment. The zinc oxide-loaded montmorillonite clay nanocomposite has been developed for the removal of lead and copper from the aqueous solution. Its adsorption capacity is observed at 99.22 mg/g within 90 min [48]. Zinc oxide has exhibit excellent mechanical properties, good chemical stability, and heat resistance which have been proven to be a promising material for antibacterial agent. Increasing the weight percentage of zinc oxide nanoparticles in cellulose composite is greater than the antibacterial activity. The core shell of the electrospun zinc oxidenylon 6,6 nanofibrous membrane has been used as a water treatment for the removal of organic pollutants due to their good photocatalytic properties, structural flexibility, and stability [49]. The incorporation of inorganic nanofillers like zinc oxide can enhance the polymer membrane properties. The inorganic fillers are added directly to the polymeric solution and electrospun to produce the single hybrid structure which enhances the characteristic properties and strength of the electrospun nanofibrous membrane [50].

Zinc oxide nanoparticles can be synthesized by many methods to control the synthesis parameters. Depending upon the application, various types of protocols are used, and the properties can be tailored by the shape and size of the zinc oxide. The significant parameters like chemical and physical parameters, namely, the solvent type, precursors, pH, and the temperature, are highly considered. A variety of zinc oxide morphologies such as nanorods, nanosphere, nanotubes, nanowires, nanoneedles, and nanorings have been successfully synthesized and used in many commercial applications. Each zinc oxide nanostructure has specific structural,





optical, electrical, and physicochemical properties using remarkable applications. These zinc oxide nanostructures have been developed by a variety of physical and chemical techniques; however, the chemical techniques offer better control of the particle size and morphology. The most approved synthesized methods include thermal evaporation of zinc oxide powders at 1400 °C, hydrothermal synthesis, sol-gel technique, simple thermal sublimation, self-combustion, polymerized complex method, vapor-liquid-solid technique, double-jet precipitation, and solution synthesis. The solution processes are used by few researchers to yield selective zinc oxide nanostructures. Normally, the antibacterial tests are done in aqueous media or cell culture media. Zinc oxide is known as nearly insoluble in water, and it agglomerates immediately with water during synthesis due to the high polarity of water leading to deposition. The matters of accumulation, re-precipitation, settling, or non-dissolution are delaying the synthesis processes.

The zinc oxide nanoparticles are prepared from the aqueous solution of zinc sulfate and sodium hydroxide in the ratio of 1:2. Initially, the synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles are identified by UV–Visible spectroscopy. The synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles are observed by UV–Visible absorption spectrophotometer as shown in Fig. 3. The spectrum shows a peak at 210 nm formed due to the conversion of bulk zinc oxide particles to nanozinc oxide particles. The bulk zinc oxide particles lies the bandgap wavelength of 388 nm while the nanozinc oxide particles bandgap wavelength at 210 nm due to the interband transition of copper electron from deep level of the valence band [51]. The particle size analyzer also confirms that the synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles are in nanosize at about approximately 296 nm as seen in Table 2. The average size of the synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles are further confirmed by SEM analysis (Fig. 4). The surface morphology of the

 Table 2
 Particle size analyzer data for the synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles

Z-Average (d. nm)	Size (d. nm)	% Intensity	Width (d. nm)	Pdl
295.7	207.6	100	39.6	0.460



Fig. 4 Scanning electron microscopic image of synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticle (a) magnification at $1 \ \mu m$ and (b) magnification at $0.2 \ \mu m$

synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles is found to be 150 nm–300 nm respectively. Therefore, UV–visible spectra, particle size analyzer, and scanning electron microscopy images confirm that the synthesized zinc oxide particles are in nanoform and it is fit for use in water purification treatment.

7 Zinc Oxide Nanoparticle Dispersed Cellulose Acetate Nanofibrous Membrane

Electrospinnig is one of the direct processes to produce nanofibrous membrane due to its easy incorporation of additives into the homogeneous polymer solution. The zinc oxide nanoparticles (0.5 wt %) are dispersed into the homogeneous 10 wt %cellulose acetate solution using sonicator for 4 h at room temperature. The electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibers are continuous, bead free, smooth, uniform in nature, and interconnected porous structure, and the average fiber diameter is found to be approximately 130 ± 30 nm as seen in Fig. 5. The average fiber diameter is increased from 110 ± 30 nm to 130 ± 30 nm which confirms the uniform distribution of zinc oxide nanoparticles in to the cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane. The smooth, continuous, uniform distribution of zinc oxide nanoparticles in to the cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane is once again clearly confirmed by transmission electron microscopy as seen in Fig. 6a. No other impurities are present in the electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane which is confirmed by energy-dispersive X-ray (EDX) spectrum (Fig. 6b). The theoretical expected stoichiometric mass percent value of the zinc is 80.3% and oxide is 19.7%, respectively [50]. The EDX spectrum result confirms the presence of zinc oxide nanoparticles, uniform distribution, and excellent purity (zinc content - 63.65% and oxygen content -



Fig. 5 Scanning electron microscopic images of electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticles dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane (a) before filtration and (b) after filtration



Fig. 6 Electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane in (a) transmission electron microscopic image and (b) EDX Spectrum

Element	Spectrum type	App conc.	Intensity corn	Weight %	Sigma %	Atomic %
O K	ED	29.67	1.3361	46.05	1.19	77.72
Zn K	ED	22.79	0.8763	53.95	1.19	22.28

Table 3 EDX data of zinc oxide nanoparticles

36.35%) as seen in Fig. 6b and Table 3. After filtering the piped river water using the electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane filtered the microorganisms (black circles) which is clearly seen in Fig. 5b. Therefore, the prepared electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane is not only filtering the bacteria, but it also destroys the bacteria which creates biofouling and harmful in water.

Fouling is one of the main disadvantages to use as electrospun nanofibrous membrane in water filtration applications. Therefore, the surface modification is essential to achieve the better mechanical stability. The zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane does not need surface modification because the zinc oxide nanoparticles could modify the surface, and fit for water filtration applications.

The electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane offers free of microorganisms, is reliable, and is a good drinking water for human consumption.

8 Conclusion

In the 21st century, the contaminants present in the valuable drinking water lead to enormous health problems, particularly in developing countries. Even in the developed countries, the consumption of drinking water is not microbial safe. The domestic animals and human activities are the main source of introducing waterborne pathogens. Electrospun nanofibrous membranes have an excellent higher surface-to-volume ratio than conventional micro- or nanofibers as long as efficient separation of particulate matters. The electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane is used to filter the microorganisms present in the piped river water, and the surface morphology is confirmed by scanning electron microscopy.

Hence, the overall studies show a simple, rapid, and economical route to develop the zinc oxide dispersed nanoparticle cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane. The smooth, continuous nanofibers with interconnected porous structure have the advantage to filter the microorganisms present in water. Further, this study mainly confirms to facilitate to water filtration applications due to their good antibacterial activity and interconnected porous structure. The electrospun zinc oxide nanoparticle dispersed cellulose acetate nanofibrous membrane could be used in the future because it is cheap, simple, safe, more efficient, and biocompatible in nature.

References

- 1. Ashbolt NJ (2015) Microbial contamination of drinking water and human health from community water systems. Curr Environ Health Rep 2(1):95–106
- Liu G, Bakker GL, Li S, Vreebutg JHG, Verberk JQJC, Medema GJ, Liu WT, Van Dijk JC (2014) Pyrosequencing reveals bacterial communities in unchlorinated drinking water distribution system: an integral study of bulk water, suspended solids, loose deposits, and pipe wall biofilm. Environ Sci Technol 48(10):5467–5476
- Sales-Ortells H, Medema G (2014) Screening-level microbial risk assessment of urban water locations: a tool for proritization. Environ Sci Technol 48(16):9780–9789
- Soller JA, Bartrand T, Ashbolt NJ, Ravenscroft J, Wade TJ (2010) Estimating the primary etiologic agents in recreational freshwaters impacted by humans sources of faecal contamination. Water Res 44(16):4736–4747
- 5. Balamurgan R, Sundarrajan S, Ramakrishna S (2011) Recent trends in nanofibrous membranes and their suitability for air and water filtrations. Membranes 1(3):232–248
- Nasreen SAAN, Sundarrajan S, Nizar SAS, Balamurugan R, Ramakrishna S (2013) Advancement in electrospun nanofibrous membranes modification and their application in water treatment. Membranes 3(4):266–284

- Roso M, Boaretti C, Lorenzetti A, Modesti M (2016) Electrospun nanofibrous membranes. In: Drioli E, Giorno L (eds) Encyclopedia of membranes. Springer, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-642-40872-4-1545-1
- Barhate RS, Ramakrishna S (2007) Nanofibrous filtering media: filtration problems and solutions from tiny materials. J Membr Sci 296(1–2):1–8
- 9. Mansouri J, Harrisson S, Chen V (2010) Strategies for controlling biofouling in membrane filtration systems: challenges and opportunities. J Mater Chem 20:4567–4586
- Dasari A, Quiros J, Herreo B, Boltes K, Garcia-Calvo E, Rosal R (2012) Antifouling membranes prepared by electrospinning polylactic acid containing biocidal nanoparticles. J Membr Sci 405-406:134–140
- 11. Zodrow K, Brunet L, Mahendra S, Li D, Zhang A, Li Q, Alvarez PJJ (2009) Polysulfone ultrafiltration membranes impregnated with silver nanoparticles show improved biofouling resistance and virus removal. Water Res 43(3):715–723
- Pandey PK, Kass PH, Soupir ML, Biswas S, Singh VP (2014) Contamination of water resources by pathogenic bacteria. AMB Express 4:51
- Hellard ME, Sinclair MI, Forbes AB, Fairley CK (2001) A randomized, blinded, controlled trial investigating the gastrointestinal health effects of drinking water quality. Environ Health Perspect 109(8):773–778
- Reynolds KA, Mena KD, Gerba CP (2008) Risk of waterborne illness via drinking water in the United States. In: Whitacre DM (ed) Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology, vol 192, pp 117–158
- 15. Karanis P, Kourenti C, Smith H (2007) Waterborne transmission of protozoan parasites: a worldwide review of outbreaks and lessons learnt. J Water Health 5(1):1–38
- Pitkanen T (2013) Review of Campylobacter spp. in drinking and environmental waters. J Microbiol Methods 95(1):39–47
- 17. Ashbolt NJ, Grabow WOK, Snozzi M (2001) Indicators of microbial water quality. In: Fewtrell L, Bartram J (eds) Water quality: guidelines, standards and health. Risk assessment and risk management for water-related infectious disease. IWA Publishing, London, pp 289–315
- Moreno Y, Piqueres P, Alonso JL, Jimenez A, Gonzalez A, Ferrus MA (2007) Survival and viability of *Helicobacter pylori* after inoculation into chlorinated drinking water. Water Res 41 (15):3490–3496
- Travis PB, Goodman KJ, O'Rourke KM, Groves FD, Sinha D, Nicholas JS, VanDerslice J, Lackland D, Mena KD (2009) The association of drinking water quality and sewage disposal with *Helicobacter pylori* incidence in infants: the potential role of water-borne transmission. J Water Health 8(1):192–203
- 20. Izquierdo F, Hermida JAC, Fenoy S, Mezo M, Gonzalez-Warleta M, del Aguila C (2011) Detection of microsporidia in drinking water, wastewater and recreational rivers. Water Res 45 (16):4837–4843
- 21. Desportes I, Le Charpentier Y, Galian A, Bernard F, Cochand-Priollet B, Lavergne A, Ravisse P, Modigliani R (1985) Occurrence of a new Microsporidan: *Enterocyozoon bieneusi* n.g., n. sp., in the enterocytes of a human patient with AIDS. J Protozool 32(2):250–254
- 22. Aziz RK, Khalifa MM, Sharaf RR (2015) Contaminated water as a source of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a review. J Adv Res 6(4):539–547
- Schoen ME, Ashbolt NJ (2011) An in-premise model for Legionella exposure during showering events. Water Res 45(18):5826–5836
- Szewzyk U, Szewzyk R, Manz W, Schleifer KH (2005) Microbiological safety of drinking water. Ann Rev Microbiol 54:81–127
- Hunter PR, de Sylor MA, Risebro HL, Nichols GL, Kay D, Hartemann P (2011) Quantitative microbial risk assessment of *Cryptosporidiosis* and *Giardiasis* from very small private water supplies. Risk Anal 31(2):228–236
- 26. Gelt J (1998) Microbes increasingly viewed as water quality threat. Arroyo 10(2):1-11

- 27. Inamori Y, Fujimoto N (2009) Microbial/biological contamination of water. Water quality and standards, vol. II. Encyclopedia of life support systems (EOLSS)
- 28. Hijnen W, Medema G (2007) Elimination of micro-organisms by drinking water treatment processes: a review.3rd edn. Kiwa Water Research, London, p 160
- 29. Chlorine Chemistry Council, Arlington and Canadian Chlorine Coordinating Committee (2003) Drinking water chlorination: a review of disinfection practices and issues. Chlorine Chemistry Council, Arlington and Canadian Chlorine Coordinating Committee, Ontario
- Rodriguez RA, Bounty S, Beck S, Chan C, McGuire C, Linden KG (2014) Photoreactivation of bacteriophages after UV disinfection: role of genome structure and impacts of UV source. Water Res 55:143–149
- Sahai R (2000) Membrane separations/filtration. In: Encyclopedia of separation science. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 1717–1724
- 32. Liao Y, Loh C-H, Tian M, Wang R, Fane AG (2018) Progress in electrospun polymeric nanofibrous membranes for water treatment: fabrication, modification and applications. Prog Polym Sci 77:69–94
- Ma H, Burger C, Hsiao BS, Chu B (2011) Ultra-fine cellulose nanofibers: new nano-scale materials for water purification. J Mater Chem 21:7507–7510
- Homaeigohar S, Elbahri M (2014) Nanocomposite electrospun nanofiber membranes for environmental remediation. Materials 7(2):1017–1045
- 35. Goetz LA, Jalvo B, Rosal R, Mathew AP (2016) Superhydrophilic anti-fouling electrospun cellulose acetate membranes coated with chitin Nanocrystals for water filtration. J Membr Sci 510:238–248
- 36. Matulevicius J, Kilucininkas L, Prasauskas T, Buivydiene D, Martuzevicius D (2016) The comparative study of aerosol filtration by electrospun polyamide, polyvinyl acetate, polyacrylonitrile and cellulose acetate nanofibers media. J Aerosol Sci 92:27–37
- 37. Tlili I, Alkanhal TA (2019) Nanotechnology for water purification: electrospun nanofibrous membrane in water and wastewater treatment. J Water Reuse Desal 9(3):232–248
- Arslan O, Aytac Z, Uyar T (2016) Superhydrophobic, hybrid, electrospun cellulose acetate nanofibrous mats for oil/water separation by tailored surface modification. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8(30):19747–19754
- Suja PS, Reshmi CR, Sagitha P, Sujith A (2017) Electrospun nanofibrous membranes for water purification. Polym Rev 57(3):467–504
- Bhardwaj N, Kundu SC (2010) Electrospinning: a fascinating fiber fabrication technique. Biotechnol Adv 28(3):325–347
- Voisin H, Bergstrom L, Liu P, Mathew AP (2017) Nanocellulose-based materials for water purification. Nano 7(3):57
- Teo WE, Ramakrishna S (2006) A review on electrospinning design and nanofibre assemblies. Nanotechnology 17(14):R89
- 43. Ibupoto AS, Qureshi UA, Arian M, Ahmed F, Khatri Z, Brohi RZ, Kim IS, Ibupoto Z (2019) ZnO/carbon nanofibers for efficient adsorption of lead from aqueous solutions. Environ Technol. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2019.1580774
- 44. Ma Z, Kotaki M, Ramakrishna S (2005) Electrospun cellulose nanofibers as affinity membrane. J Membr Sci 265(1–2):115–123
- 45. Zhao S-W, Guo C-R, Hu Y-Z, Guo Y-R, Pan Q-J (2018) The preparation and antibacterial activity of cellulose/ZnO composite: a review. Open Chem 16(1):9–20
- 46. Mosayebi E, Azizian S (2016) Study of copper ion adsorption from aqueous solution with different nanostructured and microstructured zinc oxides and zinc hydroxide loaded on activated carbon cloth. J Mol Liq 214:384–389
- Hallaji H, Keshtkar AR, Moosavian MA (2015) A novel electrospun PVA/ZnO nanofiber adsorbent for U(VI), Cu(II) and Ni(II) removal from aqueous solution. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng 46:109–118

- 48. Sani HA, Ahmad MB, Hussein MZ, Ibrahim NA, Musa A, Saleh TA (2017) Nanocomposite of ZnO with montmorillonite for removal of lead and copper ions from aqueous solutions. Process Saf Environ Prot 109:97–105
- 49. Kayaci F, Ozgit-Akgun C, Donmez I, Biyikli N, Uyar T (2012) Polymer-inorganic core-shell nanofibers by electrospinning and atomic layer deposition: flexible nylon-ZnO core-shell nanofibers mats and their photocatalytic activity. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 411:6185–6194
- Olaru N, Calin G, Olaru L (2014) Zinc oxide nanocrystals grown on cellulose acetate butyrate nanofiber mats and their potential photocatalytic activity for dye degradation. Ind Eng Chem Res 53(46):17968–17975
- Kumar H, Rani R (2013) Structural and optical characterization of ZnO nanoparticles synthesized by microemulsion route. Int Lett Chem Phys Astron 19:26–36

Material and Process Selection for Biosorption



Karl J. Samuel P N, Michael Rahul Soosai, I. Ganesh Moorthy, and Karthikumar Sankar

Contents

1	Introduction	242	
1	Discontents		
2	Biosorbents		
	2.1 Physical Characteristics	244	
	2.2 Chemical Characteristics	246	
3	3 Processing of Biosorbents		
4	Characterization of Biosorbents	248	
	4.1 Microscopy	248	
	4.2 Spectroscopy	248	
	4.3 Surface Area and Pore Size	249	
	4.4 Thermal Stability	249	
5 Mechanism of Biosorption			
6	Modes of Operation	250	
	6.1 Batch Mode	251	
	6.2 Continuous Mode	251	
7	Factors Influencing Biosorption	251	
	7.1 Temperature	251	
	7.2 pH	252	
	7.3 Biomass State and Concentration	252	
	7.4 Coexisting Ions	252	
	7.5 Contact Time with the Adsorbent	252	
8	8 Recovery and Regeneration of Biosorbents		
9	9 Kinetics and Models for Biosorption		
10	10 Summary		
Refe	References		

Abstract Pollution in all the essential elements such as air, water and land is a serious environmental problem for the last few decades. Among various methods for

Department of Biotechnology, Kamaraj College of Engineering and Technology, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

e-mail: skarthikumar@gmail.com

241

K. J. Samuel P N, M. R. Soosai, I. Ganesh Moorthy, and K. Sankar (🖂)

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 241–260, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_507, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 12 July 2020

removing pollutants from environment, adsorption is the most economic and eco-friendly method. Nowadays, the use of biosorption process for removal of pollutants has been increased due to its efficiency, reusability of biosorbents and low cost of operation. The rate and efficiency of biosorption depend on the selection of suitable biosorbent and the process. To select an effective biosorbent for any process, the characteristics such as porosity, surface area and other chemical natures need to be studied. This chapter describes the various types of biosorbents, treatments applied to biosorbents, techniques and methods to study the characteristics of biosorbents, mechanisms, modes of operation, recovery and regeneration of biosorbents, kinetics, and modelling studies. Microscopic techniques such as electron microscopy (SEM and TEM) and atomic force microscopy (AFM) can be used to reveal the surface characteristics of the biosorbents. Pore volume and surface area of the biosorbent can be determined by Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) analyser. Other characteristics such as thermal stability and particle size can be measured by instruments such as thermogravimetric analyser (TGA), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and particle size analyser. The mechanisms of biosorption at various locations (intracellular, cell surface and extracellular) are also discussed in detail in this chapter. The biosorption process can be performed in a batch and continuous modes depending on the type of pollutant removed. The selection of suitable mode of operation for different pollutants is emphasized. This chapter also covers the different factors influencing the biosorption process.

Keywords Biosorbents, Biosorption, Characterization techniques, Kinetics and modelling, Process selection

1 Introduction

Release of various pollutants into the water resources has been increased in recent times as a result of increasing industrialization and globalization. There are several methods such as precipitation, membrane separation, oxidation and chemical treatments available for removal of pollutants from aqueous solutions. Adsorption is a simple, eco-friendly and economically feasible method for large-scale removal and purification of aqueous solvents. According to De Gisi et al. [1], "Adsorption is a mass transfer process which involves the accumulation of substances at the interface of two phases, such as, liquid–liquid, gas–liquid, gas–solid or liquid–solid interface".

The substance being adsorbed is the *adsorbate* and the adsorbing material is termed the *adsorbent*. If the adsorbate and adsorbent have a physical interaction, then the adsorption is called as *physisorption*. If there is a chemical bonding between the adsorbate and adsorbent, then it is called as *chemisorption*. Adsorption involving biological materials as adsorbents is called as *biosorption*. The adsorbents used in

such process are called as *biosorbents*. Both physical and chemical interactions happen in biosorption.

Commonly adsorbents are carbon-based materials, zeolites, clay, alumina, sand and natural oxides. Carbon-based materials include activated carbons, carbonized materials, graphene-based adsorbents and carbon nanotubes.

Physisorption	Chemisorption		
Non-specific	Highly specific		
Occurs due to van der Waals's force	Occurs due to chemical bonds		
Activation energy is not essential	Activation energy is essential		
No electron transfer, while polarization of	Electron transfer leading to bond formation		
adsorbate occurs	between adsorbate and adsorbent		
Rapid process	Slow process		
Reversible	Irreversible		
Non-surface specific	Surface specific		
No dissociation of adsorbed species	May involve dissociation		
Mono layer or multilayer	Monolayer only		
Only significant at very low operational tem- perature (at higher temperature, the process of physisorption decreases)	Possible over a wide range of temperature (with increasing temperature, chemisorption first increases and then decreases)		
Enthalpies are in the region of -20 kJ/mol	Enthalpies are in the range of -200 kJ/mol		
More liquefiable gases are adsorbed readily	Gases which form compounds with adsorbent alone undergo chemisorption		
High pressure favours the process and low pressure causes desorption	High pressure is favourable, but low pressure does not cause desorption		

2 Biosorbents

Biosorbents are called so attributing to their biological nature. Bacteria [2], fungi [3], algae [4, 5], agricultural wastes [6, 7], seed husks [8–10], leaves [11], stems [12], animal shells [13], scales [14], bone powders [15] and biopolymers [16] are few of commonly used biosorbents. Another widely used biosorbent to remove environmental pollutants is biochar which is derived from the pyrolysis of substrates including food waste, agricultural wastes and saw dust. Biosorbents can be used as such available (native biosorbents) or modified by physical and chemical methods (modified biosorbents). Usually unicellular organisms are used as available [2–5]. Agricultural wastes [7], rice husk and wood wastes [17] can be burned and used as biochar.

Usually dead biomass is preferred over live biomass as it does not require growth medium and growth can cause increase in the biological and chemical oxygen demand. Also, dead biomass can be modified through various activation processes. Regeneration of dead biomass can also be done easily. Modified biosorbents can facilitate more surface area and a fine porous structure which has a large number of functional groups.

Some biomaterials like plant and animal tissues require a series of preliminary processing to make them more available as biosorbents. Properties of adsorbents depend on the raw material selected and the activation process applied. The physical and chemical treatments for the activation of adsorbent have effects on the properties of the adsorbents. Certain biomass has adsorption capacity higher than commercially available activated carbon, ion exchange resins and zeolites.

The following criteria should be considered while selecting a biosorbent for the biosorption process:

- 1. The biosorbent should be less expensive.
- 2. It should be reusable and the regeneration process should be less tedious.
- 3. Kinetics of the adsorption should be fast.



2.1 Physical Characteristics

2.1.1 Pore Size and Surface Area

IUPAC has classified the pores into three types based on the pore size, namely, microporous (<2 nm), mesoporous (2–50 nm) and macroporous (>50 nm) [18]. The size of the pores has a direct impact on the surface area available for adsorption. The surface area is defined as the area available on the surface of the adsorbent for the adsorbate to get adsorbed. It is expressed in m^2/g . The smaller the pore size, surface area will be more. As the surface area increases, the amount of adsorbate adsorbed on to the adsorbent increases.

In the selection of an adsorbent for a process, the size of the adsorbate is taken into consideration to select appropriate pore size adsorbent. For larger adsorbates, macroporous and mesoporous adsorbents are used, while for smaller adsorbates, microporous adsorbents are used. Microporous adsorbents have more surface area than that of mesoporous and macroporous adsorbents.

2.1.2 Iodine Number

The ability of the biosorbent to take up smaller molecules is denoted as iodine number. It is defined as the mg of iodine adsorbed per g of adsorbent and is expressed in mg/g of adsorbent. Generally the iodine number varies in the range of 500–1,200 mg/g for activated carbon adsorbents [1].

2.1.3 Point of Zero Charge

Another important characteristic of biosorbents is the point of zero charge (pH_{PZC}). It is defined as the pH at which the adsorbent surface has no charge, i.e. net electrical neutrality. When pH is greater than pH_{PZC} , adsorbent surface has a net negative charge and favours the uptake of cations, and when pH is lesser than pH_{PZC} , the surface will have a net positive charge and have higher affinity towards anionic particles.

The point of zero charge can be determined by the series of adsorption experiments with 0.01 mol/L of NaCl conducted at different pH ranges from 2 to 12. The zeta potential was measured and the graph of zeta potential versus initial pH is used to determine the pH_{PZC} (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Calculation of point of zero charge (pHPZC)
2.2 Chemical Characteristics

The surface of the biosorbents consists of functional groups such as amino, carboxyl, amide, carboxylate, thio-ether, thiols, sulphhydryl, imidazole, phenolic, phosphate and hydroxide from the biomolecules on the cell wall. These functional groups react with the pollutant and form covalent bond with them thus adsorbing them on the surface of the biosorbents.

Polyelectrolytic components of algal cell walls consist of peptidoglycan and teichuronic acid have specific charged groups with them. The pollutants in the aqueous solution will have ionic interaction with these charged groups and adsorb onto the cell surface [5].

3 Processing of Biosorbents

Pre-treatment of biomass to be used as adsorbents can involve physical treatments like grinding and chemical treatments such as alkali treatment, acid treatment, detergent treatment and treatment by organic solvents. These treatments increase the pore size, making functional groups available for adsorption.

When biomass is used as biosorbent, the cells are collected, dried and powdered and used as such. When live cells are used for biosorption, they can be used as such or can be immobilized on solid surfaces. This helps in creating adsorbent with properties necessary for the unit operations.

Burning of waste material in high temperatures decreases the oxygen and hydrogen contents and decreases the H/C and O/C ratio of the biochar. This increases the capacity of adsorption of aqueous contaminants. Also increasing temperatures leads to the increase in the surface area of the biochar [7]. Carbonized biomaterials by heating them in a furnace (up to 600°C) in the presence of nitrogen can also be used as biosorbents. This leads to the enrichment of carbon by decreasing the oxygen and nitrogen composition. Carbonization is also effective in opening the pores as a result of elimination of oxygen and nitrogen, thus increasing the surface area of the adsorbent [14].

 Fe_3O_4 nanoparticles are incorporated into biosorbents to produce magnetic biosorbents which can help in the easier phase separation process. Chelating groups such as ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), diethylenetriamine (DETA), polyamidoamine (PAMAM) and diglycolic amic acid (DGAA) offer strong binding sites for metal ions when incorporated into the biosorbents by chemical processes [19].

Different biosorbents used in water treatment and their pre-treatments are listed in Table 1.

Another most important pre-treatment in the processing of biosorbents is the immobilization of biosorbents. Also, immobilization of biosorbents has an advantage of increasing the reusability of biosorbent. Immobilization is done by mixing the biosorbents with alginate or agar and forming small beads with them.

Biosorbent	Adsorbate	Pre-treatments Reference			
Bacteria	Bacteria				
Micrococcus	coccus Thorium and No pre-treatment		Nakajima,		
luteus	uranium		Tsuruta [20]		
Bacillus	Copper and	Drying at 80°C and screening particle	Tunali et al.		
sp. (ATS-1)	Lead	size to 150 µm			
Pseudomonas	Lead and	Drying	Uslu and		
putida	copper		Tanyol [22]		
Bacillus	Chromium	Drying at 80°C	Zhou et al.		
licheniformis			[23]		
Streptomyces rimosus	Streptomyces Lead Drying at 50°C and size reduction to 50– <i>rimosus</i> 160 µm. 0.1 M NaOH treatment for		Selatnia et al.		
30 min					
Fungi					
Aspergillus niger	Chromium	Size reduction (grinded); 0.01 N NaOH,	Mungasavalli		
		0.1 N H ₂ SO ₄ , 50% v/v acetone, 10% v/v	et al. [25]		
		formaldehyde, 5% w/v CTAB, 1% w/v			
		PEI, 3% v/v APTS			
Aspergillus niger	Mercury	Size reduction (grinding)	Khambhaty		
4 .11			et al. [26]		
Aspergillus Chromium		Size reduction (grinding and sieving	Dhal et al.		
$\frac{Jumigatus}{1} \qquad \text{ through } 150 \ \mu m) \qquad [27]$					
Aigue	Manager	Contraction at 250°C for 2 h and size	Dalahah at al		
Sargassum	mercury, cad-	reduction to 0.074 mm	Deisnab et al.		
copper		[20]			
Oedogonium	Nickel	0.1 M HCl treatment for 8 h and size	Gunta et al		
hatei	THERE	reduction (150–250 µm)	[29]		
Anabaena	Anabaena Lead. Size reduction (0.2 mm)		Abdel-Atv		
sphaerica	cadmium		et al. [30]		
Jania rubens	Lead	36% v/v formaldehyde and 0.1 M HCl for	Hanbali et al.		
		1 h followed by 0.2 M sodium carbonate	[31]		
		solution			
Pelvetia	Nickel	0.5 M NaCl treatment	Bhatnagar		
canaliculata			et al. [32]		
Ochrophyta					
Cystoseira indica	Lead, uranium	0.1 CaCl_2 treatment for 3 h and size	Moghaddam		
	NT 1 1	$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$			
Chlorella vulgaris	Nickel	Size reduction	AKSU [34]		
Others			ļ		
Rice husk	Levofloxacin	Pyrolysis at 300 and 600°C	Yi et al [17]		
Rice husk and	Brilliant green	Dried size reduced to 400 um mixed and	Popoola et al		
snail shell	Billiant green	calcinated at 681.1°C for 2.6 h	[35]		
composite					
	1	1			

Table 1 Comparison of pre-treatment methods for various biosorbents and adsorbate

(continued)

Biosorbent	Adsorbate	Pre-treatments	Reference
Bengal Gram Congo red Seed husk		Size reduction (grinding and sieving between 53 and 75 µm mesh)	Somasekhara Reddy et al. [9]
Wood chip	Levofloxacin	Pyrolysis at 300 and 600°C	Yi et al. [17]
Fish scales Orange 16		Carbonization in the presence of N_2 at 600°C, washing by 1 M HCl, drying t 105°C and ground to a mesh of 250–500 μ m	Marrakchi et al. [14]
	Lanthanum	Size reduction to 425-600 µm size	Das et al. [36]
Animal bone meal	Rhodamine – B	Size reduction (grinding to powder)	El Haddad et al. [15]
Sorghum straw, oats straw, agave bagasse	Chromium (III)	Size reduction to 1 mm diameter, acid treatment by 0.01 N hydrochloric acid and drying at 50°C for 24 h	Bernardo et al. [6]
Potato plant leaves and stem	Methylene blue and mala- chite green	Boiling to separate fibres, size reduced by grinding to 100–150 µm	Gupta et al. [37]
Haloxylon recurvum	Methylene blue	Drying and size reduction by grinding	Hassan et al. [12]
Neem saw dust	Lanthanum	Size reduction to 425-600 µm size	Das et al. [36]

Table 1 (continued)

4 Characterization of Biosorbents

The physical nature of the biosorbents such as size, shape, surface area, pore size and chemical nature such as functional groups can be characterized by different methods. Some of the methods are listed below.

4.1 Microscopy

Physical structure and surface morphology of the adsorbent can be studied using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Pores in the surface of the biosorbent can be visualized by the SEM. Also the metal binding to the surface of the adsorbent can be visualized by the SEM images taken before and after the adsorption [21].

4.2 Spectroscopy

Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy and attenuated total reflection Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy are the methods to identify the functional groups and the bonding between the atoms in a compound. By analysing a

biosorbent by FTIR, the functional groups in the material can be revealed. The free functional groups in the adsorbent before treatment and after treatment and the functional groups after adsorption can also be studied using FTIR to elucidate the mechanism of biosorption [25].

X-ray photon spectroscopy is used to find the elemental composition of the biosorbents present. It is also helpful in deducing the empirical formula, electronic state and chemical state [19]. Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX or EDAX) is also used for elemental analysis of the material. EDS when used along with SEM gives the quantitative estimation of the metal adsorbed into the surface of the adsorbate.

X-ray fluorescence (XRF) spectroscopy and energy dispersive X-ray fluorescence (EDXRF) spectroscopy are also used to determine the elemental composition of the biosorbents. The secondary X-rays emitted from the sample when excited by a primary X-Ray are measured to determine the elemental composition. The metals adsorbed on the surface of the adsorbent are revealed by XRF and EDXRF spectroscopy.

Another technique used for elemental analysis is inductively coupled plasma atomic/optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES/ICP-OES). The inductively coupled plasma produces excited atoms that emit characteristic electromagnetic radiation which is used to determine the presence of the element.

4.3 Surface Area and Pore Size

Surface area (m^2/g) is determined by nitrogen adsorption-desorption studies at 77.3 K by Brunauer, Emmett and Teller method (BET analysis) [38], density function theory (DFT) methods and BJH methods [39]. BET analysis is the common method for determining the porosity and surface area of a material, while DFT and BJH methods are used to determine the pore volume (cm^3/g) of a material. Micrometrics[®] is one of the leading manufacturers of machines that can be used for BET analysis.

4.4 Thermal Stability

Thermal stability of the material is generally analysed by thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). In TGA, the sample is heated with a programmed heating rate, and the weight of the sample is monitored from time to time. Graph is plotted between temperature and weight loss. The sample is thermally stable till the temperature at which the weight loss begins.

5 Mechanism of Biosorption

Biosorption can be classified based on the metabolism dependence and on the location of the adsorption. Biosorption takes place either extracellular or intracellular. Extracellular biosorption may be precipitation or cell surface adsorption with the help of physical forces.

The cells produce compounds that can precipitate the metal pollutant and precipitate them around the cells or on the cell membrane. This process can be either metabolism dependent or due to chemical interaction between the cell surface and the adsorbate. Some bacteria are capable of secreting ligands, phosphates, acids and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) including proteins, polysaccharides, nucleic acids, lipids and glycoproteins. These EPS have a large diversity in the functional groups and are capable of sequestrating heavy metals and precipitating them. *Pseudomonas stutzeri*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Paenibacillus jamilae* and *Bacillus firmicus* are capable of sequestrating and removing lead from environmental samples [40]. *Arthrobacter* and *Pseudomonas* remove cadmium by detoxification system that precipitates cadmium on cell surface [41].

Physical forces involved in the cell surface adsorption include van der Waal's forces, electrostatic interaction and ion exchange. As microbial cell wall contains a large number of binding sites for metals in the form of carbonyl, phosphoryl, sulfhydryl and carboxyl groups, the adsorption can also take place through the chemical adsorption. The cell wall structure of fungi, algae and bacteria can adsorb metals such as copper, zinc, cadmium, lead, cobalt and even uranium. Fungal cells have chitin on their cell wall which can have electrostatic interaction with the adsorbate and adsorbs them. The natural polysaccharides on the cell wall of these biomasses have bivalent metal ions like K^+ , Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and/or Mg²⁺ which exchanges counter ions such as Co⁺, Cd⁺, Cu⁺ and Zn⁺. The polysaccharides on the cell wall are also capable of forming complexes with metal ions and thus adsorbing them on their cell surface. This process is called as complexation [42].

Intracellular biosorption requires the adsorbate to be transported into the cell. Heavy metals are taken into the cell by the same mechanism involved in transport of metabolically important ions. After transfer of the adsorbate into the cell, it can go through three processes: (1) binding to inner membrane of cell wall, (2) uptake as nutrient and (3) formation of complexes with adsorbate and precipitating them inside the cell. This kind of biosorption involving transport across cell membrane requires cells metabolism and takes place only on viable cells.

6 Modes of Operation

Biosorption for the removal of pollutants from water can be carried out in batch and continuous modes.

6.1 Batch Mode

The batch mode adsorption is carried out by putting the adsorbent in the solution and allowing it to adsorb for a specified period of time. Shift in the adsorption equilibrium due to the influence of various parameters such as temperature, pH, concentration of the adsorbate and adsorbent and time can be studied in batch mode. Agitated batch adsorption is recommended for efficient adsorption processes as it makes the biosorbent available throughout the reactor vessel. Small flasks can be agitated by placing them in a rotary shaker incubator or by using impellors or turbines.

6.2 Continuous Mode

Continuous mode of biosorption is carried out in columns packed with biosorbents. The raw or processed biosorbents are packed tightly inside a glass column, and the adsorbate is passed continuously through the column. The effluent concentration is monitored, and breakthrough curve is plotted to evaluate the effectiveness of the biosorption process. Mode of operation of column may be either top to bottom or bottom-up process. Flow rate of the adsorbate is maintained throughout the process.

The column may be a fixed bed [31] column in which the adsorbent is tightly packed or a fluidized bed column in which the adsorbent is loosely packed or immobilized in beads. When fluidized bed column is used, adsorbate is sent in through the bottom and collected at the top.

7 Factors Influencing Biosorption

In the treatment of waste water containing ions of minerals, there are various factors that influence the equilibrium of the biosorption process.

7.1 Temperature

Effect of temperature on biosorption is inconsistent with different authors. Some reported increase in the rate of adsorption with increase in temperature [34], while some reported decrease in rate of adsorption with increase in temperature [29]. From most of the works, temperature is not known to affect the biosorption equilibrium [43–46].

7.2 pH

Biosorbents are rich in carboxylic, amine, hydroxyl and thiol groups. These groups contribute to the characteristic acid-base property of the biosorbent. Hence, pH of the solution can alter the chemical nature of the functional groups present in the biosorbent and also the affinity of these groups towards metal ions. Some biosorbents and adsorbates have a buffering effect which can neutralize the effect of pH changes in the system [7, 17]. In many occasions, the change in pH alters the equilibrium of the biosorption process.

7.3 Biomass State and Concentration

The concentration of biomass in the solution directly constitutes the amount of surface area and functional groups available for the adsorption of the pollutants. Also, the state of biosorbent whether dead or alive also influences the rate of adsorption. At lower concentrations, the amount of adsorption doesn't seem to be affected, while in higher concentrations, the dead biomass adsorbs more than the live biomass [2].

7.4 Coexisting Ions

When biosorption is applied to treat waste water, the waste water may contain more than one ion in the solution. Presence of other coexisting ions can also influence the rate of biosorption. Fe^{2+} and Zn^{2+} can affect the adsorption of heavy metals by microorganisms. The microorganisms that uptake heavy metals such as uranium and thorium are found to be not affected by the presence of coexisting ions, while the presence of uranium and thorium might affect the adsorption of other metals [42].

7.5 Contact Time with the Adsorbent

The rate of adsorption also depends on the contact time for adsorbate and the biosorbent. Increase in contact time leads to the increase in the percentage removal of the biosorbent. However, the adsorption rate will be maximum initially and then slows down and reaches the equilibrium. This is due to the presence of more vacant sites for adsorption at the start than at the end of adsorption.

8 Recovery and Regeneration of Biosorbents

The major advantage of using biosorbents is its reusability. As the adsorbent is insoluble in the solution, it can be filtered or centrifuged to separate it from the solution. Then the adsorbate can be separated from adsorbent by desorption process. As the adsorbate and adsorbent are held together only by temporary interaction, they can be easily released by reversing the physical or chemical reactions. Alteration of pH to desorb the adsorbate from the adsorbent is common method used for desorption. The pH is altered from a range of 2–12 for a given period of time to desorb the adsorbate [9]. Addition of chemicals which have functional groups that react with the adsorbate will desorb the adsorbate from the adsorbent. This will return the adsorbent to its previous state in which it can be used for adsorption again. Acids, bases [25], chelating groups such as EDTA [6] and organic solvents [8] can be used to recover the adsorbate and regenerate the adsorbent. Regenerated adsorbent can be used for adsorption process again.

9 Kinetics and Models for Biosorption



For the representation of results, equilibrium data need to be analysed and an equation is needed to be developed for design purposes. For this, there are several equilibrium models and isotherms are available. Common isotherms include Freundlich, Langmuir and Redlich–Peterson isotherms. The common isotherms, their equation and the graph are presented in the below table [19, 35].



(continued)



10 Summary

Selection of materials and process for the removal of pollutants from environment starts with the selection and processing of the biosorbent used. Even though living microorganisms can be used, dead biomass is usually preferred to be used as biosorbents. Modification of biosorbents for better adsorption is not possible in living organisms. The biomass used for biosorption should have appropriate pore size, surface area, charge and appropriate functional groups on the surface to readily adsorb the pollutant passed through them. These properties can be incorporated into the biomass by various pre-treatment processes.

Pre-treatment process used should make the biosorbent more available to the adsorbate. The pre-treatment process should not complicate the recovery and regeneration process. Pre-treatment process should be determined according to the mechanism of biosorption involved and the type of material adsorbed. Some biosorbents does not require pre-treatment for removal of some materials. Treatment process includes drying and grinding, alkali or acid treatment, detergent treatment, carbonization process, boiling and pyrolysis. Grinding to a specific size makes the surface area of the material appropriate for the biosorption process. Alkali, acid, detergents and other chemical treatments will enhance the availability of the functional groups on the surface of the biosorbent for the adsorption process. Boiling helps in the separation of fibres from plant parts. Pyrolysis makes the biomass into biochar. Carbonization process removes moisture content and increases carbon content in the biosorbent used.

Visual characterization of the biosorbent can be done by scanning electron microscopy. FT-IR can be used to analyse the functional groups and to analyse the mechanism of the biosorption. X-ray photon spectroscopy, EDAX and ICP-AES/ICP-OES can be used to estimate the elemental composition of the adsorbent. The metals that are adsorbed onto the surface can also be estimated by above mentioned methods. Nitrogen adsorption/desorption studies are used to determine the pore size and surface area by BET, DFT and BHJ methods.

Mechanism of biosorption also plays a major role in the selection of material for biosorption. In whole cells used as biosorbents, the biosorption may be intracellular or extracellular. In case of physical and chemical attraction of the metals to the cell surface, dead cells can be used as biosorbents. Extracellular polymeric substances produced by microorganisms have a large diversity of functional groups that can adsorb various heavy metals and removes them by precipitation or complexation. The organisms that are capable of sequestrating metals by precipitation and complexation can be used alive. Intracellular biosorption requires active metabolism and thus requires a live cell. Live cells thus used may take the pollutant as nutrient or might require separate nutrition provided in the feed.

Biosorption can be carried in either batch mode or continuous mode. Batch mode is suitable for all types of biosorption process. Advantage of the batch biosorption process is that the biosorbent along with the pollutant adsorbed on the surface can be removed easily from the feed. Continuous mode can be used for live cells which can be immobilized and used for biosorption. The column for continuous biosorption may be fixed bed or fluidized bed.

Factors influence the biosorption such as temperature, pH, Biomass concentration, contact time influences the selection of process. These parameters can be optimized by statistical methods such as response surface methodology, etc. When contact time and biomass concentration needs to be high, batch process can be selected. Continuous process can be selected when the biomass concentration required is less so that it can process more feed.

The biomass can be regenerated by reversing the biosorption conditions. Alteration of pH by adding acids or bases and addition of chelating groups and organic solvents are common methods for the desorption of the adsorbate from the adsorbent. The biosorbent free of adsorbate can be reused for further processes.

The adsorption equilibrium can be analysed by various adsorption isotherm models such as Freundlich, Langmuir, Redlich–Peterson, Dubinin–Radushkevich, Temkin, Sips, Koble–Corrigan and Harkin–Jura models.

References

- De Gisi S, Lofrano G, Grassi M, Notarnicola M (2016) Characteristics and adsorption capacities of low-cost sorbents for wastewater treatment: a review. Sustain Mater Technol 9:10–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.susmat.2016.06.002
- Al-Gheethi AA, Efaq AN, Mohamed RM, Norli I, Kadir MO (2018) Potential of bacterial consortium for removal of cephalexin from aqueous solution. J Assoc Arab Univ Basic Appl Sci 24(1):141–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaubas.2016.09.002
- 3. Verma S, Kuila A (2019) Bioremediation of heavy metals by microbial process. Environ Technol Innov 14:100369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2019.100369
- Cheng SY, Show PL, Lau BF, Chang JS, Ling TC (2019) New prospects for modified algae in heavy metal adsorption. Trends Biotechnol 37(11):1255–1268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2019.04.007
- Rangabhashiyam S, Balasubramanian P (2019) Characteristics, performances, equilibrium and kinetic modeling aspects of heavy metal removal using algae. Bioresour Technol Rep 5:261–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2018.07.009
- Bernardo GR, Rene RM, Ma Catalina AD (2009) Chromium (III) uptake by agro-waste biosorbents: chemical characterization, sorption-desorption studies, and mechanism. J Hazard Mater 170(2–3):845–854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.05.046
- Yu F, Sun L, Zhou Y, Gao B, Gao W, Bao C, Feng C, Li Y (2016) Biosorbents based on agricultural wastes for ionic liquid removal: an approach to agricultural wastes management. Chemosphere 165:94–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.08.133
- Somasekhara Reddy MC, Nirmala V (2014) Bengal gram seed husk as an adsorbent for the removal of dyes from aqueous solutions – column studies. Arab J Chem 12(7):1695–1706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2014.08.026
- Somasekhara Reddy MC, Nirmala V, Ashwini C (2017) Bengal Gram Seed Husk as an adsorbent for the removal of dye from aqueous solutions – batch studies. Arab J Chem 10: S2554–S2566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2013.09.029
- Moyo M, Guyo U, Mawenyiyo G, Zinyama NP, Nyamunda BC (2015) Marula seed husk (*Sclerocarya birrea*) biomass as a low cost biosorbent for removal of Pb(II) and Cu(II) from aqueous solution. J Ind Eng Chem 27:126–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2014.12.026

- Adeniyi AG, Ighalo JO (2019) Biosorption of pollutants by plant leaves: an empirical review. J Environ Chem Eng 7(3):103100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103100
- Hassan W, Farooq U, Ahmad M, Athar M, Khan MA (2017) Potential biosorbent, Haloxylon recurvum plant stems, for the removal of methylene blue dye. Arab J Chem 10:S1512–S1522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2013.05.002
- Londono-Zuluaga C, Jameel H, Gonzalez RW, Lucia L (2019) Crustacean shell-based biosorption water remediation platforms: status and perspectives. J Environ Manag 231:757–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.10.096
- Marrakchi F, Ahmed MJ, Khanday WA, Asif M, Hameed BH (2017) Mesoporous carbonaceous material from fish scales as low-cost adsorbent for reactive orange 16 adsorption. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng 71:47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2016.12.026
- 15. El Haddad M, Mamouni R, Saffaj N, Lazar S (2016) Evaluation of performance of animal bone meal as a new low cost adsorbent for the removal of a cationic dye Rhodamine B from aqueous solutions. J Saudi Chem Soc 20:S53–S59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jscs.2012.08.005
- Sarode S, Upadhyay P, Khosa MA, Mak T, Shakir A, Song S, Ullah A (2019) Overview of wastewater treatment methods with special focus on biopolymer chitin-chitosan. Int J Biol Macromol 121:1086–1100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.10.089
- Yi S, Gao B, Sun Y, Wu J, Shi X, Wu B, Hu X (2016) Removal of levofloxacin from aqueous solution using rice-husk and wood-chip biochars. Chemosphere 150:694–701. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.112
- Mays TJ (2007) A new classification of pore sizes. In: Characterization of porous solids VII Proceedings of the 7th international symposium on the characterization of porous solids (COPS-VII), Aix-en-Provence, France, 26–28 May 2005. Studies in surface science and catalysis, pp 57–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-2991(07)80009-7
- Gupta NK, Gupta A, Ramteke P, Sahoo H, Sengupta A (2019) Biosorption-a green method for the preconcentration of rare earth elements (REEs) from waste solutions: a review. J Mol Liq 274:148–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2018.10.134
- Nakajima A, Tsuruta T (2004) Competitive biosorption of thorium and uranium by Micrococcus luteus. J Radioanal Nucl Chem 260(1):13–18. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JRNC. 0000027055.16768.1e
- Tunali S, Çabuk A, Akar T (2006) Removal of lead and copper ions from aqueous solutions by bacterial strain isolated from soil. Chem Eng J 115(3):203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej. 2005.09.023
- 22. Uslu G, Tanyol M (2006) Equilibrium and thermodynamic parameters of single and binary mixture biosorption of lead (II) and copper (II) ions onto Pseudomonas putida: effect of temperature. J Hazard Mater 135(1–3):87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2005.11.029
- Zhou M, Liu Y, Zeng G, Li X, Xu W, Fan T (2006) Kinetic and equilibrium studies of Cr (VI) biosorption by dead Bacillus licheniformis biomass. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 23 (1):43–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-006-9191-8
- 24. Selatnia A, Boukazoula A, Kechid N, Bakhti MZ, Chergui A, Kerchich Y (2004) Biosorption of lead (II) from aqueous solution by a bacterial dead Streptomyces rimosus biomass. Biochem Eng J 19(2):127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2003.12.007
- 25. Mungasavalli DP, Viraraghavan T, Jin Y-C (2007) Biosorption of chromium from aqueous solutions by pretreated Aspergillus niger: batch and column studies. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp 301(1–3):214–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2006.12.060
- 26. Khambhaty Y, Mody K, Basha S, Jha B (2009) Biosorption of inorganic mercury onto dead biomass of marine Aspergillus niger: kinetic, equilibrium, and thermodynamic studies. Environ Eng Sci 26(3):531–539. https://doi.org/10.1089/ees.2008.0056
- Dhal B, Abhilash PBD (2018) Mechanism elucidation and adsorbent characterization for removal of Cr(VI) by native fungal adsorbent. Sustain Environ Res 28(6):289–297. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.serj.2018.05.002

- Delshab S, Kouhgardi E, Ramavandi B (2016) Data of heavy metals biosorption onto Sargassum oligocystum collected from the northern coast of Persian Gulf. Data Brief 8:235–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2016.05.035
- Gupta VK, Rastogi A, Nayak A (2010) Biosorption of nickel onto treated alga (Oedogonium hatei): application of isotherm and kinetic models. J Colloid Interface Sci 342(2):533–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2009.10.074
- 30. Abdel-Aty AM, Ammar NS, Abdel Ghafar HH, Ali RK (2013) Biosorption of cadmium and lead from aqueous solution by fresh water alga Anabaena sphaerica biomass. J Adv Res 4 (4):367–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2012.07.004
- 31. Hanbali M, Holail H, Hammud H (2014) Remediation of lead by pretreated red algae: adsorption isotherm, kinetic, column modeling and simulation studies. Green Chem Lett Rev 7(4):342–358. https://doi.org/10.1080/17518253.2014.955062
- 32. Bhatnagar A, Vilar VJP, Santos JC, Botelho CMS, Boaventura RAR (2012) Valorisation of marine Pelvetia canaliculata Ochrophyta for separation and recovery of nickel from water: equilibrium and kinetics modeling on Na-loaded algae. Chem Eng J 200-202:365–372. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.06.071
- Moghaddam MR, Fatemi S, Keshtkar A (2013) Adsorption of lead (Pb2+) and uranium cations by brown algae; experimental and thermodynamic modeling. Chem Eng J 231:294–303. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.07.037
- 34. Aksu Z (2002) Determination of the equilibrium, kinetic and thermodynamic parameters of the batch biosorption of nickel(II) ions onto Chlorella vulgaris. Process Biochem 38(1):89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0032-9592(02)00051-1
- 35. Popoola LT, Yusuff AS, Adesina OA, Lala MA (2019) Brilliant green dye sorption onto snail shell-rice husk: statistical and error function models as parametric isotherm predictors. J Environ Sci Technol 12(2):65–80. https://doi.org/10.3923/jest.2019.65.80
- 36. Das D, Jaya Sre Varshini C, Das N (2014) Recovery of lanthanum(III) from aqueous solution using biosorbents of plant and animal origin: batch and column studies. Miner Eng 69:40–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mineng.2014.06.013
- 37. Gupta N, Kushwaha AK, Chattopadhyaya MC (2016) Application of potato (Solanum tuberosum) plant wastes for the removal of methylene blue and malachite green dye from aqueous solution. Arab J Chem 9:S707–S716. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2011.07.021
- Brunauer S, Emmett PH, Teller E (1938) Adsorption of gases in multimolecular layers. J Am Chem Soc 60(2):309–319. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01269a023
- Barrett EP, Joyner LG, Halenda PP (1951) The determination of pore volume and area distributions in porous substances. I. Computations from nitrogen isotherms. J Am Chem Soc 73(1):373–380. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01145a126
- Nong Q, Yuan K, Li Z, Chen P, Huang Y, Hu L, Jiang J, Luan T, Chen B (2019) Bacterial resistance to lead: chemical basis and environmental relevance. J Environ Sci 85:46–55. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2019.04.022
- Scott JA, Palmer SJ (1990) Sites of cadmium uptake in bacteria used for biosorption. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 33(2):221–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00176529
- 42. Veglio F, Beolchini F (1997) Removal of metals by biosorption: a review. Hydrometallurgy 44 (3):301–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-386x(96)00059-x
- Ahuja P, Gupta R, Saxena RK (1999) Zn2+ biosorption by Oscillatoria anguistissima. Process Biochem 34(1):77–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0032-9592(98)00072-7
- 44. Mehta SK, Gaur JP (2005) Use of algae for removing heavy metal ions from wastewater: progress and prospects. Crit Rev Biotechnol 25(3):113–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07388550500248571
- Kaduková J, Vircíková E (2005) Comparison of differences between copper bioaccumulation and biosorption. Environ Int 31(2):227–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2004.09.020
- Monteiro CM, Castro PM, Malcata FX (2012) Metal uptake by microalgae: underlying mechanisms and practical applications. Biotechnol Prog 28(2):299–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr. 1504

Check for updates

Removal of Acid Magenta Dye by Fly Ash: A Sustainable Tool for Textile Effluent Treatment

Riti Thapar Kapoor

Contents

1	Introduction		
2	Materials and Methods		
	2.1	Preparation of the Dye Stock Solution	263
	2.2	Adsorption Studies	264
	2.3	Phytotoxicity Study	264
	2.4	Seed Germination Test	264
	2.5	Germination Percentage	265
	2.6	Seedling Length	265
	2.7	Vigor Index	265
	2.8	Results and Discussion	265
	2.9	Effect of Contact Time	266
	2.10	Effect of Adsorbent Dose	267
	2.11	Effect of pH	267
	2.12	Effect of Temperature	268
	2.13	Phytotoxicity Study	268
3	Conc	lusion	269
Re	ferenc	es	270

Abstract The pollution caused by industrial waste has become a major problem for most of the countries. The present paper deals with the effect of activated carbon and fly ash on removal of acid magenta dye from aqueous solution under different experimental conditions such as exposure time, pH, temperature, and different amount of adsorbent. Maximum 85% and 91% acid magenta dye (20 ppm) removal was observed at low pH (pH 2) with activated carbon and fly ash treated dye solution, respectively. The phytotoxicity study exhibited that *Vigna radiata* seeds showed better response in the fly ash treated dye solution in comparison with the

R. T. Kapoor (🖂)

261

Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University, Noida, India e-mail: rkapoor@amity.edu

Manuel Jerold, Santhiagu Arockiasamy, and Velmurugan Sivasubramanian (eds.), *Bioprocess Engineering for Bioremediation: Valorization and Management Techniques*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 104: 261–272, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_585, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 7 July 2020

activated carbon. The results revealed that fly ash, one of the industrial wastes, can be used as low-cost and effective adsorbent for the removal of acid magenta dye from aqueous solution.

Keywords Acid magenta, Activated carbon, Fly ash, Wastewater treatment

1 Introduction

Water, food, and energy are the three main components which ensure human survival. The access to adequate power supply is essential for socioeconomic development of a country. In India, approximately 70% electricity is generated through the coal-based thermal power plants. According to Jambhulkar et al. [1], coal fly ash is produced in India approximately 120 million tons/year from more than 85 thermal power plants which may increase to 442 million tons/year by the year 2035. The management of huge quantity of fly ash is a challenging task for thermal power plant. Fly ash is used as a supplementary material in the production of cement [2], aerated concrete [3], clay bricks [4], etc. It can also be used as an agricultural fertilizer and soil conditioner due to its high water retention capacity [5]. Although the use of fly ash has been significantly increased from 8 to 70% from 1997 to 2010, still approximately 40% of the fly ash remain unused [6]. Fly ash pollutes water resources and soil if it is directly dumped into the environment [7]. Fly ash contains many heavy metals and trace elements which enters in the food chain and adversely affect human health [8]. Fly ash causes various disorders in human beings such as asthma, bronchitis, silicosis, allergy, fibrosis, cancer, etc. [9].

Dyes are extensively used in textile, paper, leather tanning, printing, plastic, cosmetic, and pharmaceutical industries [10, 11]. Dyes are undesirable type of pollutant, and presence of dye even at very low concentration (1 mg/L) in the effluent is visible [12]. The discharge of dye-contaminated effluent into the water bodies may cause oxygen depletion, eutrophication, and adverse impact on entire aquatic ecosystem. Synthetic dyes adversely affect human health due to their acute or chronic toxicity and mutagenic, carcinogenic, genotoxic, cytotoxic, and immune suppression effects [13, 14]. Many physical and chemical techniques such as photocatalytic degradation [15], nanofiltration [16], coagulation/flocculation [17], electrochemical treatment [18], and ozonation [19] have been developed for the removal of dyes from industrial effluent. The drawbacks associated with the abovementioned techniques are long operation time, high cost of application, intensive energy requirement, complex procedure, unable to completely remove the dyes, and waste generation. Activated carbon is capable of adsorbing dyes due to its high adsorption capacity, but it is in limited use due to its high cost [20]. The application of fly ash as an adsorbent in treatment of industrial effluent not only removes dye but also eliminates the problem of fly ash disposal. Fly ash is available at zero cost, and it can be used as a low-cost and efficient adsorbent for treatment of industrial effluents due to its high porosity and large surface area. Therefore, present investigation was conducted to compare the adsorption capacity of activated carbon and fly ash for removal of acid magenta dye from aqueous solution and their impact on *Vigna radiata* growth parameters.

2 Materials and Methods

The present investigation was conducted in the Plant Physiology Laboratory, Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University, Noida. Fly ash was collected from Badarpur Thermal Power Station, Delhi.

2.1 Preparation of the Dye Stock Solution

Activated carbon and acid magenta dye were procured from Sigma Aldrich, India. It is an anionic dye. The stock solution of acid magenta dye (1,000 ppm) was prepared initially, and it was diluted appropriately to produce acid magenta dye solution of desired concentrations. A calibration curve was plotted by analyzing different concentrations of acid magenta dye solution by using UV-Visible double beam spectrophotometer at 541 nm (Table 1).

Dyestuff	Acid fuchsin, acid violet 19			
Appearance	Dark green			
IUPAC name	Disodium 2-amino-5-[(Z)-(4-amino-3-sulfonatophenyl)(4-iminio-3-sulfonato- 2,5-cyclohexadien-1-ylidene)methyl]-3-methylbenzenesulfonate			
Empirical formula	$C_{20}H_{17}N_3Na_2O_9S_3$			
Molecular weight	585.538 g/mol			
Molecular structure	Na ⁺ 0 ⁻ S 0 ⁻ O 0 ⁻ O 0 ⁻ O NH ₂ ⁺			
$\lambda_{\rm max}$	541 nm			

Table 1 Details of acid magenta dye used in the experiment

2.2 Adsorption Studies

The experiments were conducted in a batch mode to check the applicability of activated carbon and fly ash as an adsorbent for the removal of acid magenta dye from aqueous solution. The effect of different parameters such as contact time (30–150 min), dye concentration (20–60 ppm), adsorbent dose (0.5–2.5 g), pH (from pH 2 to 10), and temperature (30–70°C) was investigated for the removal of acid magenta dye. In the batch adsorption study, 100 mL of acid magenta dye solution of different concentrations (50, 100, 150, and 200 ppm) was placed in four different Erlenmeyer flasks (250 mL capacity) with different amount of activated carbon and fly ash (0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5 g), respectively. The mixture was placed in an incubator shaker at 120 rpm until equilibrium was observed to be attained. The conical flasks were withdrawn at regular time interval, and analysis of the sample was made by following standard procedure. The pH of the solution was maintained by using 0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N NaOH solution.

Removal efficiency was calculated by the following formula:

Removal of Acid magenta dye (%) =
$$C_0 - C_t/C_0 \times 100$$

where C_0 and C_t are initial and final concentrations of acid magenta dye at time *t* in mg/L in the sample, respectively. All the measurements were done for three times, and mean values were presented.

2.3 Phytotoxicity Study

The toxicity of acid magenta dye before and after the treatment with activated carbon and fly ash was studied on the seeds of mung bean (*Vigna radiata*). Maximum concentration (60 ppm) of acid magenta dye was used to determine the toxicity.

2.4 Seed Germination Test

The empty and undeveloped seeds of *Vigna radiata* were discarded by floating in tap water. Seeds of *Vigna radiata* were thoroughly washed with tap water to remove dirt and dust for 5 min. The seeds were surface sterilized with 10:1 distilled water/bleach (commercial NaOCI) solution for 5 min for inhibition of microbial infection and then washed six to seven times with distilled water. Mung bean seeds were soaked in acid magenta dye solution before and after the treatment with activated carbon and fly ash for 4 h, respectively. The filter paper was placed in sterilized Petri dishes (20 cm diameter) and mung bean seeds which were soaked in dye solution transferred into Petri dishes. The Petri dishes were covered with sterilized polythene bags and kept in

a seed germinator for 8 days under 70% relative humidity at $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C with 12 h photoperiod following guidelines of ISTA [21] in three replicates with completely randomized block design.

Seed germination and different growth characteristics such as radicle and plumule length and vigor index were determined in control and treatment by the following methods:

2.5 Germination Percentage

Total number of seeds germinated/total number of seeds taken for germination \times 100.

2.6 Seedling Length

After 8 days of seed sowing, radicle and plumule length of the mung bean seedlings was measured as per standard methods of ISTA [21]. The radicle and plumule length was measured with a measuring scale, and values were expressed in centimeters.

2.7 Vigor Index

Vigor index of the mung bean seedlings was estimated according to the formula:

Vigor index = Total seedling length $(mm) \times$ germination percentage

[22].

2.8 Results and Discussion

In the present study, various parameters such as contact time, initial dye concentration, pH, adsorbent dose, and temperature were analyzed to study the effect of activated carbon and fly ash on the adsorption of acid magenta dye.

2.9 Effect of Contact Time

The batch experiments were carried out to study the effect of activated carbon and fly ash on various concentrations of acid magenta dye (20–60 mg/L) under different exposure period (30–150 min). Results showed that the adsorption capacity of activated carbon and fly ash increased rapidly with increasing contact time for the first 120 min (Fig. 1a, b). The 120 min was considered as the optimum exposure



Fig. 1 (a) Adsorption of acid magenta dye by activated carbon at different exposure period. (b) Adsorption of acid magenta dye by fly ash at different exposure period

period for acid magenta dye removal for both of the adsorbents. Fly ash exhibited better adsorption capacity in comparison with activated carbon.

2.10 Effect of Adsorbent Dose

The different amount of activated carbon and fly ash (0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, and 2.5 g) was taken in the experiment to evaluate their adsorption capacity for the acid magenta dye. The increase in rate of adsorption of acid magenta dye was observed with increase in the adsorbent amount and exposure time (Fig. 2). The adsorption capacity of activated carbon and ash showed following fly the trend: 2 g > 1.5 g > 2.5 g > 1 g > 0.5 g. The results of the present study indicated that fly ash was effective in removal of acid magenta dye from aqueous solution in comparison with activated carbon. It may be due to increased surface area and availability of more adsorption sites on the fly ash [23].

2.11 Effect of pH

The percentage of acid magenta dye adsorbed by the activated carbon and fly ash at different pH is shown in Fig. 3. It was observed that with decrease in the pH of the acid magenta dye solution, more dye molecules are protonated and get adsorbed on the surface of fly ash. At pH 2, maximum dye removal 85% and 91% was observed



Fig. 2 Adsorption of acid magenta dye by different adsorbent dose



Fig. 3 Adsorption of acid magenta dye at different pH by different adsorbents

with activated carbon and fly ash, respectively, for an initial dye concentration of 20 mg/L.

2.12 Effect of Temperature

The adsorption of acid magenta dye on the activated carbon and fly ash was carried out at initial acid magenta dye concentration (20 mg/L) at different temperature. The dye adsorption increased on the activated carbon and fly ash with a rise in temperature from 30 to 60° C (Fig. 4). This is mainly due to the increased surface activity at high temperature, suggesting that adsorption of acid magenta dye on activated carbon and fly ash obeys an endothermic process. Maximum removal of acid magenta dye 71 and 67% was observed with activated carbon and fly ash, respectively, at 50° C.

2.13 Phytotoxicity Study

The phytotoxicity test with seeds of *Vigna radiata* showed toxicity of acid magenta dye. The significant differences were observed among various treatments for all the parameters studied, i.e., seed germination and other growth characteristics such as length of plumule and radicle and vigor index of the mung bean seeds. In control 97% seed germination was observed, whereas dye (20 ppm) treated seeds of *V. radiata* exhibited only 40% germination [24]. The germination of mung bean



Fig. 4 Adsorption of acid magenta dye at different temperature

Table 2 Phytotoxicity comparison of acid magenta dye before and after treatment on seed germination and other growth parameters of *Vigna radiata*

	Seed	Plumule length	Radicle length	Vigor
Treatment	germination (%)	(cms)	(cms)	index
Control	97 ± 0.65	10.8 ± 0.45	3.4 ± 0.21	13,774
Acid magenta dye (20 mg/L)	40 ± 0.18	2.7 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.01	1,200
Activated carbon treated dye solution	62 ± 0.31	6.4 ± 0.71	1.8 ± 0.14	5,084
Fly ash-treated dye solution	84 ± 0.52	8.7 ± 0.64	2.9 ± 0.23	9,744

seeds significantly increased from 62 to 84% in dye solution treated with activated carbon and fly ash, respectively. In control, the plumule and radicle lengths were 10.8 and 3.4 cms which were significantly reduced to 2.7 and 0.3 cms in acid magenta dye solution. Fly ash-treated dye solution showed increase in plumule and radicle length in comparison with activated carbon. The vigor index of *Vigna radiata* seeds showed the following trend: control > fly ash-treated dye solution > activated carbon treated dye solution > acid magenta dye (Table 2).

3 Conclusion

The present study revealed that the removal of acid magenta dye by using fly ash is a simple, low-cost, and environmentally benign technology. The phytotoxicity test on mung bean seeds revealed the less toxic and growth-promoting nature of fly

ash-treated dye solution as compared to the toxic acid magenta dye. The present investigation may be useful in fabrication of economically viable treatment system by utilization of fly ash for the removal of acid magenta dye from textile effluent.

Acknowledgment The author is thankful to Dr. Chanderdeep Tandon, Director, Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University, Noida, for providing necessary laboratory facilities to carry out this study.

References

- 1. Jambhulkar HP et al (2018) Fly ash toxicity, emerging issues and possible implications for its exploitation in agriculture; Indian scenario: a review. Chemosphere 213:333–344
- 2. Bouzoubaa N, Lachemi M (2001) Self-compacting concrete incorporating high volumes of class F fly ash: preliminary results. Cem Concr Res 31:413–420
- Dilmore RM, Neufeld RD (2001) Autoclaved aerated concrete produced with low NOx burner/ selective catalytic reduction fly ash. J Energy Eng 127:37–50
- 4. Abbas S et al (2017) Production of sustainable clay bricks using waste fly ash: mechanical and durability properties. J Build Eng 14:7–14
- 5. Yao Z et al (2015) A comprehensive review on the applications of coal fly ash. Earth-Sci Rev 141:105–121
- Surabhi S (2017) Fly ash in India: generation vis-a-vis utilization and global perspective. Int J Appl Chem 13(1):29–52
- Belyaeva NO, Haynes JR (2012) Comparison of the effects of conventional organic amendments and biochar on the chemical, physical and microbial properties of coal fly ash as a plant growth medium. Environ Earth Sci 66:1987–1997
- Jambhulkar HP, Juwarkar AA (2009) Bioaccumulation of heavy metals on different plant species grown on fly ash dump. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 72:1122–1128
- 9. Donaldson K, Borm PJ (1998) The quartz hazards: a variable entity. Ann Occup Hyg 42:287–294
- 10. Yagub MT et al (2014) Dye and its removal from aqueous solution by adsorption: a review. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 209:172–184
- Dotto G et al (2015) Adsorption of methylene blue by ultrasonic surface modified chitin. J Colloid Interface Sci 446:133–140
- Oladipo AA, Gazi M (2014a) Enhanced removal of crystal violet by low cost alginate/acid activated bentonite composite beads: optimization and modelling using non-linear regression technique. J Water Process Eng 2:43–52
- Verma AK et al (2012) A review on chemical coagulation/flocculation technologies for removal of colour from textile wastewaters. J Environ Manag 93:154–168
- 14. Choi Y et al (2014) Catechin-capped gold nanoparticles: green synthesis, characterization, and catalytic activity toward 4-nitrophenol reduction. Nanoscale Res Lett 9:103
- 15. Wang H et al (2014) Removal of malachite green dye from wastewater by different organic acid-modified natural adsorbent: kinetics, equilibriums, mechanisms, practical application and disposal of dye-loaded adsorbent. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:11552–11564
- 16. Zhang HQ et al (2014) Cross-linked polyacrylonitrile/polyethyleneimine–polydimethylsiloxane composite membrane for solvent resistant nanofiltration. Chem Eng Sci 106:157–166
- 17. Liang CZ et al (2014) Treatment of highly concentrated wastewater containing multiple synthetic dyes by a combined process of coagulation/flocculation and nanofiltration. J Membr Sci 469:306–315
- Aquino JM et al (2014) Electrochemical degradation of a real textile wastewater using b-PbO2 and DSA® anodes. Chem Eng J 251:138–145

- Punzi M et al (2015) Combined anaerobic-ozonation process for treatment of textile wastewater: removal of acute toxicity and mutagenicity. J Hazard Mater 292:52–60
- 20. Patil S et al (2011) Kinetics of adsorption of crystal violet from aqueous solutions using different natural materials. Int J Environ Sci 1(6):1116–1134
- 21. ISTA (2008) International rules for seed testing. International Seed Testing Association, ISTA Secretariat
- 22. Abdul-Baki AA, Anderson JD (1973) Viability and leaching of sugars from germinating seeds by textile, leather and distillery industries. Indian J Environ Protect 11:592–594
- 23. Anbia M, Salehi S (2012) Removal of acid dyes from aqueous media by adsorption onto aminofunctionalized nanoporous silica SBA-3. Dyes Pigments 94:1–9
- Singh S et al (2015) Biodegradation of azo dye direct orange 16 by *Micrococcus luteus* strain SSN2. Int J Environ Sci Technol 12:2161–2168